
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

 

MONDAY 
5 DECEMBER 2016 
7.00 pm 
 
COURTYARD ROOM 
HAMMERSMITH 
TOWN HALL 
KING STREET  
LONDON W6 9JU 
 

Membership 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Michael Cartwright, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue 
and Resident Satisfaction 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Transport & Residents Services 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Regeneration 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education 
Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

Date Issued 
24 November 2016 

If you require further information relating to this agenda please 
contact: Kayode Adewumi, Head of Governance and Scrutiny, 
tel: 020 8753 2499 or email: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s 
website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 

 
 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE 

 
The Cabinet hereby gives notice of its intention to hold part of this meeting in private to 
consider items (19 to 24) which are exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, in that they relate to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person, including the authority holding the information.   
 
The Cabinet has received no representations as to why the relevant part of the meeting should 
not be held in private. 
 

 
Members of the Public are welcome to attend. 

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, together with disabled  
access to the building 

 

 

mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTATIONS 

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on non-exempt 
item numbers 4 - 16 on this agenda using the Council’s Deputation Request Form.  The 
completed Form, to be sent to Kayode Adewumi at the above address, must be signed by 
at least ten registered electors of the Borough and will be subject to the Council’s 
procedures on the receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of deputation requests: 
Wednesday 30 November 2016. 

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Wednesday 7 
December 2016.  Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability 
Committee. 
 
The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is:  Monday 12 December 2016. Decisions not 
called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be implemented. 
 
A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Monday 12 December 2016. 

 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
5 December 2016 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 7 NOVEMBER 
2016  

1 - 12 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  
 

 

4.   CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 - MONTH 5  13 - 48 

5.   CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITOR & BUDGET VARIATIONS 
2016/17 - SECOND QUARTER  

49 - 63 

6.   ICT TRANSITION - ASSURING SERVICE CONTINUITY PHASE 3 - 
TRANSFORMATION OF TELEPHONY AND NETWORK SERVICES  

64 - 69 



7.   SUBSCRIPTIONS/AFFILIATIONS FOR EXTERNAL 
ORGANISATIONS 2017/18  

70 - 75 

8.   COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR THE 
TRANSLATION AND INTERPRETING SERVICE  

76 - 81 

9.   EXTRA CARE PROCUREMENT & COMMISSIONING STRATEGY  82 - 90 

10.   DEVELOPING THE JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 
2016-2021  

91 - 130 

11.   EMISSION LINKED PARKING PERMITS  131 - 152 

12.   TFL FUNDED INTEGRATED TRANSPORT INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMME 2017/18  

153 - 165 

13.   ROLL-OUT OF TELEPHONE PARKING AND PROCUREMENT OF 
REPLACEMENT PAY AND DISPLAY MACHINES  

166 - 170 

14.   RIVERSIDE STUDIOS AND QUEENS WHARF, QUEEN CAROLINE 
STREET & CRISP ROAD - SECTION 278 HIGHWAY WORKS  

171 - 173 

15.   SEAGRAVE ROAD, RICKETT STREET AND LILLIE ROAD - 
SECTION 278 HIGHWAY WORKS  

174 - 177 

16.   IMPROVING PRIVATE RENTING  178 - 365 

17.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  366 - 385 

18.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 The Cabinet is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

19.   EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 7 
NOVEMBER 2016 (E)  

 

20.   ICT TRANSITION - ASSURING SERVICE CONTINUITY PHASE 3 - 
TRANSFORMATION OF TELEPHONY AND NETWORK SERVICES : 
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  

 

21.   COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR THE 
TRANSLATION AND INTERPRETING SERVICE : EXEMPT ASPECTS 

 



22.   EXTRA CARE PROCUREMENT & COMMISSIONING STRATEGY : 
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  

 

23.   ROLL-OUT OF TELEPHONE PARKING AND PROCUREMENT OF 
REPLACEMENT PAY AND DISPLAY MACHINES : EXEMPT 
ASPECTS (E)  

 

24.   EMISSION LINKED PARKING PERMITS : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)   

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
Minutes 

 

Monday 7 November 2016 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident 
Satisfaction 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents 
Services 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
 
ALSO PRESENT 
 
Councillor Sharon Holder  
 

 
70. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 10 OCTOBER 2016  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10th October 2016 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

71. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mike Cartwright, Sue 
Macmillan and Max Schmid.  
 
The Leader on behalf of the Cabinet extended his congratulations to Councillor 
Sue Macmillan who had a baby boy a couple of weeks ago and is now on 
maternity leave.  He stated that in her absence, the discharge of the executive 
functions of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education had been 
delegated to Councillor Sue Fennimore. Councillor Fennimore had taken on 
these responsibilities in addition to her current role.   
 
He also congratulated Councillor Max Schmid on his wedding and wished him 
and his wife a happy married life. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

. 
 
 

72. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

73. CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 4 - 31 JULY 2016  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1.1. That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account month 4 forecast 

revenue outturn variances, be noted. 

 

1.2. That the action plans amounting to £1.111m, seeking to address the 

General Fund overspend forecast variance of £4.585m. All overspending 

departments to respond with further actions to reduce the net forecast 

overspend of £3.474m, be noted. 

 
1.3. That the Councils’ Efficiency Plan was submitted in accordance with the 

Department of Communities and Local Governments deadline, be noted. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

74. COMMUNITY ASSET PROPOSAL  
 

Councillor Fennimore welcomed the opportunity to build on the support 
provided to local organisations by the Council.  Andy Sharpe, a resident, 
expressed his delight that the Council could secure the use of the three Council 
assets for local community use.  The Leader stated that the Administration’s 
ambition was to work with residents and empower them to do better and greater 
things within their local communities.  Masbro Centre had produced some 
outstanding work contributing to the growth and wellbeing of the local 
community. The Council was happy to support social entrepreneurship which 
will produce great benefit for the local community. 

 
 
 
 

Page 2



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Masbro Centre be transferred to UPG through freehold transfer 
with appropriate restrictive covenant and pre-emption rights which stipulates 
the building must in its entirety be retained for community use, subject to 
Secretary of State consent under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and that UPG is required to assume full responsibility for all running 
costs, repairs and maintenance of the property. The current lease between 
LBHF and UPG would be surrendered. 

2. That Edward Woods Community Centre be transferred to UPG through a 
freehold transfer with appropriate restrictive covenants and pre-emption 
rights which stipulates the building must in its entirety be retained for 
community use, subject to Secretary of State consent under Section 123 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and that UPG is responsible for all running 
costs, repairs, and maintenance of the property under the terms of the 
freehold transfer.   

3. That 49 Brook Green be transferred to UPG via a grant on the under-lease, 
for a 30 year term which specifies the use of the property. The transfer will 
be subject to, subject to Secretary of State consent under Section 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. The Council has capped the level of service 
charge payable to UPG and the details are outlined in the heads of terms.  
That £115,660 per financial year (or part thereof) be awarded to UPG for the 
running, staffing and management costs of Edward Woods Community 
Centre.  This funding is recommended for an initial term of 4 years three 
months (until March 2021), with the option of renewing the funding 
agreement for two further terms of 12 months each.  The funding for this will 
come from the Council’s existing budget for the Edward Woods Community 
Centre and funding released from the Amey contract for the facilities 
management costs of the property, which will be reinvested into the 
council’s corporate grants scheme.   

4. That £55,566 per year (or part thereof) be awarded to UPG for the running 
costs of 49 Brook Green.   This funding is recommended for an initial term of 
4 years three months (until March 2021), with the option of renewing the 
funding agreement for two further terms of 12 months each.  This funding 
will meet the costs of internal maintenance and repairs, business rates and 
running costs of the property, but also takes into consideration the income 
generated from the space.  This grant will be funded from the council’s 
existing budgets for the property (held by CSD and CPS), including funds 
currently held through the Amey contract, which will be re-routed into the 
council’s corporate grants budget.  

5. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Delivery and Value to 
undertake the TUPE transfer of staff from Edward Woods Community 
Centre to UPG following consultation with the staff affected during October 
2016 with effect from 1st December 2016.   

6. That the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and the Cabinet Member for 
Finance are given joint delegated authority to make further minor decisions 
related to the Community Asset Transfer in order to drive forward the 
programme and realise the administration’s ambitions.  

Page 3



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

75. APPROVAL TO DIRECTLY AWARD THE ELM GROVE EXTRA CARE 
CONTRACT  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That a prior waiver of the Contract Standing Orders of the requirement to seek 
competitive tenders to enable the Council to directly award a contract to the 
company named on the exempt report for the period 1 December 2016 to 31 
May 2018, be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

76. CREATION OF H&F SOCIAL LETTINGS AGENCY  
 
Councillor Homan expressed support for creation of the H&F Social Lettings 
Agency which was one of the Administration’s manifesto commitments.  She 
noted that social lettings covered one third of the lettings in the borough.  She 
commended officers for drafting the right model which will benefit residents.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1.1. That the Council establishes a social lettings agency that will co-locate with 

the existing Housing Property Procurement service. 
 

1.2. To approve expenditure of £200,290 to initiate phase two of the project that 
will include setting up, recruiting to, marketing and launching the social 
lettings agency funded from an invest to save bid. 

Page 4



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
1.3. To delegate to the Cabinet Member for Housing, in consultation with 

Director of Housing Growth & Strategy and Commercial Director, 
consideration of the options and the decision to establish the social lettings 
agency from the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 
 

1.4. To delegate to the Cabinet Member for Housing, in consultation with 
Director of Housing Growth & Strategy and Commercial Director, to agree 
the project plan for phase two and to progress setting up the agency. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

77. CREATION OF AN EDUCATION HUB AND NEW YOUTH PROVISION  
 
In commending the report, Councillor Fennimore stated that this was an 
exciting opportunity to provide a suite of excellent services from the site.  
Councillor Jones also noted that the projects will tie well into the Council’s wider 
economic growth strategy.  
 
RESOLVED: 

1.1. Subject to positive community engagement and a successful planning 
application, to delegate approval of the Heads of Terms, for all property 
agreements and commercial property negotiations of all aspects of this 
project, and suitable safeguards to protect the council’s financial and 
commercial interests to the Cabinet Member for Finance in consultation 
with the Director of Building and Property Management and the Strategic 
Finance Director. 

1.2. To delegate the decision on how the provision of Adult Learning is to be 
addressed in this project to the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration, in 
conjunction with the Director of Growth and Strategy.  
 

1.3. To delegate the approval of an operational agreement and for the 
appointment of Youth Onside as the provider of youth facilities, subject 
to a separate commissioning agreement to the Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education, in conjunction with the Director for Children’s 
Commissioning. 
 

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

1.4. To approve the rehousing of the site manager’s family to facilitate the 
redevelopment and delegate this to Director of Finance and Resources, 
Children Services. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

78. TRANSFORMING SERVICES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH 
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES BUSINESS CASE  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1.1. To approve Outcome Two Business Case 4: Transforming Services for 

Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities.   
 

1.2. To approve the Smarter Budgeting investment. The investment 
requirement of £687,500 will be funded from the Efficiency Projects 
Reserve.   

 
The investments required are outlined below: 

 
i) Investment to fund a Transfer Review Team to improve the 

delivery of Education, Health and Care Plans to meet statutory 
timescales including the transfer of existing SEN statements. 

ii) Resources to fund programme and project management costs for 
the Children and Families Act Implementation Programme and to 
support the delivery of the proposed savings from the SEN 
Service and the Disabled Children’s Team for 2017/18.      

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
 

79. MAXIMISING CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE EFFECTIVENESS' BUSINESS 
CASE  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1.1. To approve the business case for Maximising Social Care Effectiveness 

BC2 (appendix 1) as part of Outcome 2, Best Start in Life, Smarter 
Budgeting Programme.  

 
1.2. To approve the resources required to deliver this invest to save 

programme. The investment requirement will need to be funded from the 
Efficiency Projects Reserve. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

80. TRAVEL CARE AND SUPPORT SERVICES  
 
Councillor Fennimore endorsed the report which will ensure that some of our 
most vulnerable residents are supported with their travel care arrangements.  In 
supporting the recommendations, the Leader recalled that the previous contract 
was not fit for purpose.  It lacked the specialist care and support for the users.  
He noted that children were previously transported around the borough on the 
cheapest possible basis without due regard for their special needs.  He was 
happy to put a contract in place which was significantly better and met the 
needs of this vulnerable group of residents. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
 

1.1. To extend current contracts with existing providers on the Westminster 
Framework for up to 5 months in order to align the start of a new service 
with the start of a new academic year in 2017.  
 

1.2. To directly award contracts to existing providers on the West London 
Alliance Framework for up to 5 months in order to align the start of a new 
service with the start of the new academic year in 2017 and to also allow 
ASC services to adjust transport provision in the light of concurrent 
reviews of day care for Older People and People with Learning 
Disabilities. 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
1.3. To waive the Contract Standing Orders requirement for undertaking 

competitive bidding for these direct awards 
 

1.4. To commence an open procedure re-procurement of a framework 
agreement for contracts, for a period of up to 7 years (5 + 2) beginning in 
summer 2017, on a sovereign basis for minibuses and taxis for home to 
school transport which can be accessed by both Children’s and Adult 
Services. 
 

1.5. To seek Cabinet approval in April 2017 for the award of the framework 
agreement and contracts to enable a full term for mobilisation of the new 
transport service contracts in time for a September 2017 start.  
 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

81. H&F AIR QUALITY COMMISSION REPORT  
 
The Leader welcomed Rosemary Pettit (Chair) and other members of the 
Commission - David Chamberlain and Natalie Lindsay to the meeting. The 
Chair noted that the Commission was launched in December 2015 to review 
research and gather evidence on air quality in the borough with a view to 
reporting back on its findings to the Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and Accountability Committee (CSERS PAC) in 
autumn 2016. The Commission considered both oral and written evidence 
submitted by residents. CSERS PAC considered the report at its meeting of 21 
September where Members of the PAC and other attendees praised the report 
and the work of the Commission.  The report recommends actions which should 
be taken forward by the Council, Government, GLA and residents.   
 
The other members of the Commission also noted that the report was a moving 
body of work. Therefore, should be regarded as a progress report.  The Council 
should be proactive in introducing measures to reduce pollution in the borough. 
 
Councillor Harcourt welcomed the timely report in light of the recent 
announcement that 203 premature deaths were air pollution related.  He 
thanked the Commission for their work. Councillor Jones implored the 
committee members to feedback to their local community that the Council’s 
ambition is to put some of the recommendations into action. Particularly to look 

Page 8



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

at this as part of the local plan.   The Council will be engaging with residents on 
this key issue. 
 
The Leader thanked the Commission for all their hard work and contributions.  
He noted that their work was a very important mark on the debate about the 
environment.  A formal launch of the Commission’s report will take place soon. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1.1. That the Council welcomes the Air Quality Commission’s report findings. 
 
1.2. That the Council promotes the report’s findings and recommendations to 

central government, the Mayor of London and other parties to whom the 
recommendations are directed for action. 
 

1.3. That officers are tasked with producing an action plan and costings for 
the implementation of the recommendations directed at the Council.  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

82. H&F RESPONSE TO THE DRAFT SUSTAINABILITY AND 
TRANSFORMATION PLAN FOR NORTH WEST LONDON  

 
Councillor Lukey noted that the Secretary for Health had imposed Sustainability 
and Transformation Plans (STP) across all 44 regions of the country. The 
Council is supportive of the expansion of out-of-hospital services but is strongly 
opposed to the reduction in bed spaces and the downgrading of A&E services 
at Charing Cross hospital.  Both Ealing and Hammersmith and Fulham Councils 
cannot sign up to the plan.  She stated that there had been no public 
consultation on the proposals which was against our principle to work with 
residents.   Our response explains why we cannot support or sign up to the 
plan. She reported that the “Shaping a Healthier Future and the North West 
London” report which is a follow up to “The Independent Mansfield report” was 
published in October supporting our stand point. 
 
The Leader stated that the protection of our health service was a key policy 
issue for the Administration.  As a Council, we cannot support the Secretary of 
Health’s approach to managing our health service.   The Council is strongly 
opposed to downgrading Charing Cross hospital to a GP led Urgent Care clinic 
without specialist support.  The STP had not considered the population growth 

Page 9



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

in the region.  The Council will continue to intelligently challenge the 
government’s approach and policy. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1.1. That the Council agrees the draft response to the STP. 
 
1.2. That the Council agrees to append the Review of the STP, researched 

and written by Roger Steer, John Lister and Sean Boyle, to the H&F 
response. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

83. FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Key Decision List was noted. 
 
 

84. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
and press be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining items of business on the grounds that they contain information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of a person (including the 
authority)] as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
 
[The following is a public summary of the exempt information under S.100C (2) 
of the Local Government Act 1972.  Exempt minutes exist as a separate 
document.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
 

85. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 10 OCTOBER 
2016 (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10th October 2016 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

86. COMMUNITY ASSET PROPOSAL : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the appendices be noted. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

87. APPROVAL TO DIRECTLY AWARD THE ELM GROVE EXTRA CARE 
CONTRACT : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations in the exempt report, be agreed. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 
 

Page 11



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
88. CREATION OF H&F SOCIAL LETTINGS AGENCY : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the appendices be noted. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

89. TRAVEL CARE AND SUPPORT SERVICES : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To that the report be noted. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.40 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

CABINET 
 

5 DECEMBER 2016 
 

 

 

CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 5 – 31st AUGUST 2016 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For decision and for information 
Key Decision: Yes 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
 

Report Author: Jade Cheung – Finance Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3374 
Jade.Cheung@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The General Fund 2016/17 forecast outturn variance for month 5 is a gross 
overspend of £3.333m (a reduction of £1.252m compared with £4.585m in month 
4). In 2015/16, General Fund forecast outturn variance at month 5 was an 
overspend of £5.226m; with the final outturn variance an underspend £5.178m. 
 

1.2. The potential value of mitigating actions is £0.842m, if fully delivered, which will 
result in a net overspend of £2.491m (a reduction of £0.983m, compared with 
£3.474m at month 4). Delivery of action plans is assigned to relevant responsible 
Directors, which seek to address the total General Fund forecast overspend 
(1.9% revised budget compared with 2.6% month 4) as set out in section 4.2. 
 

1.3. The forecast overspend outturn variances reported by five departments in 
overspend value order are: (1) Adult Social Care primarily due to home care, 
direct payments and Better Care savings reasons; (2) Environmental Services; 
(3) Children’s Services mainly due to commissioning and support services 
functions; (4) Housing General Fund; and (5) Libraries. Libraries replace 
Centrally Managed Budgets which is predicting an underspend this month. 
 

1.4. The Housing Revenue Account outturn variance for 2016/17 is a surplus of 
£0.245m (compared with a surplus at month 4 of £0.270m). HRA general 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 
 

reserves of £1.061m remain forecast to be carried forward into 2017/18, with a 
HRA credit balance of £19.826m at year-end. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. To note the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account month 5 forecast 

revenue outturn variances. 

 

2.2. To note the action plans amounting to £0.842 million, seeking to address the 

General Fund gross overspend forecast variance of £3.333 million. All 

overspending departments to respond with further actions to reduce the net 

forecast overspend of £2.491 million. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The reasons for the recommendations are to report the revenue expenditure 
position for the Council and to comply with the Financial Regulations. 
 

4. CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR (CRM) 2016/17 MONTH 5 GENERAL 
FUND 

4.1. Table 1 below sets out the position for month 5. 
 
Table 1: 2016/17 General Fund Gross Forecast Outturn Variance – Month 5 

Department1 

Revised 
Budget 
Month 

5 
£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 
Month 5 

£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 
Month 4 

£m 

Variance 
Between 
Months 
4 and 5 

£m 

Month 4 
Forecast 
Variance 

% 

Adult Social Care 57.982 2.245 2.4802 (0.235) 1.3% 

Children's Services 47.581 0.580 0.832 (0.252) 0.3% 

Controlled Parking Account (22.406) (0.142) (0.060) (0.082) 0% 

Corporate Services 16.850 (0.364) 0 0 0% 

Environmental Services 44.763 0.940 1.023 (0.083) 0.5% 

Housing General Fund 8.158 0.082 0.082 0 0% 

Library & Archives Service 3.175 0.014 0 0 0% 

Public Health Services 0 0 0 0 0% 

Centrally Managed Budgets 21.656 (0.022) 0.228 (0.250) 0% 

Total 177.759 3.333 4.585 (1.252) 1.9% 

 
4.2. Action plans to mitigate the forecast overspends are summarised in table 2 

below. The potential value of mitigating actions is £0.842m, if fully delivered, 
which will result in a net overspend of £2.491m (a reduction of £0.983m, 
compared with £3.474m at month 4). All overspending departments to respond 

                                            
1
 Figures in brackets represent underspends 

2
 This figure assumes ASC earmarked departmental reserve drawdown 

Page 14



 
 

with further actions to reduce the net forecast overspend of £2.491m to nil. 
Delivery of action plans is assigned to relevant responsible Directors.  
 
Table 2: Summary of Net Forecast Outturn Variances After Action Plans 

Department 

Gross 
Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 
Month 5 

£m 

Potential 
Value of 

Action Plan 
Mitigations 

Month 5 
£m 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 

Net of 
Planned 

Mitigations 
£m 

Adult Social Care 2.245 0 2.245 

Children's Services 0.580 0.360 0.220 

Controlled Parking Account (0.142) 0 (0.142) 

Corporate Services (0.364) 0 (0.364) 

Environmental Services 0.940 0.386 0.554 

Housing General Fund 0.082 0.082 0 

Library & Archives Service 0.014 0.014 0 

Centrally Managed Budgets (0.022) 0 (0.022) 

Total 3.333 0.842 2.491 

% 100% 25% 75% 

 
 

5. CORPORATE REVENUE MONITOR 2016/17 MONTH 5 HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

5.1. The Housing Revenue Account currently forecasts a surplus outturn variance of 
£0.245m for 2016/17 compared with a surplus outturn variance of £0.270m in 
month 4 (appendix 10). 
 
Table 3: 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account Forecast Outturn - Month 5 

Housing Revenue Account £m 

Balance as at 31 March 2016 (18.520) 

Add: Budgeted (Contribution) / Appropriation to Balances  (1.061) 

Add: Forecast Surplus Outturn Variance (0.245) 

Projected Balance as at 31st March 2017 (19.826) 

 
6. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 

6.1. The 2016/17 General Fund budget included an efficiency savings target now 
revised to £15.866m. Progress against these is summarised in table 4 (and in 
appendices 1 to 10). The 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account efficiency savings 
target is £0.922m. 

 
Table 4: 2016/17 Medium Term Financial Strategy - Efficiency Savings 

Department 2016/17 
Savings 
Target 

Savings 
On Target 

 

Savings  
In 

Progress 

Savings 
Delayed / 

at risk 

Page 15



 
 

£m £m £m £m 

Adult Social Care 5.321 2.862 0.205 2.254 

Children’s Services 3.227 2.941 0.116 0.286 

Corporate Services 3.175 3.175 0 0 

Environmental Services 2.668 0.751 1.523 0.394 

Housing General Fund 0.405 0.265 0 0.140 

Libraries and Archives 0.020 0 0.016 0.004 

Centrally Managed Budgets  1.050 1.050 0 0 

General Fund Total 15.866 11.044 1.860 3.078 

GF % 100% 70% 12% 19% 

Housing Revenue Account 
Total 

0.922 0.922 0 0 

HRA % 100% 100% 0% 0% 

 
7. VIREMENTS & WRITE OFF REQUESTS 

7.1. Cabinet is required to approve all budget virements that exceed £0.1m. No 
budget virement requests have been requested for month 5. 

 
7.2. No write-off requests for month 5. 

 
8. CONSULTATION 

8.1. N/A. 
 

9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. Adjustments to budgets are not considered to have an impact on one or more 
protected groups so an equality impact assessment (EIA) is not required. 
 

10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. There are no legal implications for this report. 
 

11. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1. This report is financial in nature and those implications are contained within. The 
ongoing implementation of Managed Services and Agresso have financial 
implications which are being reviewed and may impact on the accuracy of the 
figures in this report. 
 

11.2. Implications completed by: Jade Cheung, Finance Manager, 0208 753 3374. 
 

12. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

12.1. There are no implications for local businesses. 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT 

13.1. Details of actions to manage financial risks are contained in appendices 1-10. 
 

14. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

Page 16



 
 

 
14.1. There are no implications for this report. 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Revenue budget monitoring 
reports 

Jade Cheung 
0208 753 3374 

Finance 

 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 

Appendix number Title 

Appendix 1 Adult Social Care Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 2 Children’s Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 3 Controlled Parking Account Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 4 Corporate Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 5 Environmental Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 6 Housing General Fund Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 7 Library & Archives Service Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 8 Public Health Services Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 9 Centrally Managed Budgets Revenue Monitor 

Appendix 10 Housing Revenue Account Revenue Monitor 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

APPENDIX 1: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Integrated Care  43,999 3,012 3,238 

1. A projected overspend of £1,768,000 on the Home Care and Direct 
Payments budgets. Similar to the last two years, there are continued 
pressures as part of the out of hospital strategy including 7 days social 
care services to support customers at home and avoid hospital 
admissions or to enable early discharge. This has naturally led to an 
increase in home care costs above that which is normally expected. In 
2016/17, further reasons for projected overspends are: 
 
A. Additional pressures on the home care budget due to the tendering of 
new home care contracts which are now operational from an increase in 
price to improve quality and potential increase in demand totalling 
£1,900,000. The Department is also proposing an additional transfer of 
£400,000 from ASC Reserves to partly offset the pressures out of a total 
of £800,000 as a number of customers remain to be transferred to the 
new contract. The financial modelling of the effects of the new contract 
will also include mitigations estimated at (£1,100,000) such as negotiating 
a contribution from the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and 
potential savings from new ways of working which are not factored into 
the projections at this stage of the year. 
 
B. There is an additional financial impact of the full year effect of 
customers from 2015/16. The projected overspend of £1,768,000 has 
been managed downwards by (£1,172,000) Better Care fund contribution 
and (£450,000) from Care Act funding. 

P
age 18



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

2. Better Care Funding Savings of £499,000 
Within the ASC 2016/17 base budget is an MTFS efficiency of £2m 
following the negotiations with health over the second year of the Better 
Care Fund. The £2m efficiency target has various target measures to 
deliver this saving which include avoidance of care in residential and 
nursing placement, reduction in home care hours, saving from jointly 
commissioning section 75 contracts and securing lower prices from 
placement providers. 
At this stage of the year the department is projecting the delivery of the 
following against this target: 
Reductions in residential and nursing placements is moving in the right 
direction with reduction in volumes of placements and supported living 
with savings of (£1,424,000) factored in. 
A number of contracts have been renegotiated relating to Elgin and Olive 
House homes with savings of (£182,000). 
There is a projected overspend in the PFI budget of £105,000 for Funding 
Nursing Contribution income shortfall due to reduced client numbers 
receiving nursing care. This leaves a shortfall of £499,000 from the £2m 
target efficiency. 
 

3. A projected underspend in Learning Disability Services of (£343,000) 
The management actions from the reviews are leading to reduction of 
costs of care in LD packages and placements. Within LD service there 
continues to be demand pressures within the Day Care services of 
£170,000 and this is proposed to be funded from ASC reserves. 
 
 
 

4. Mental Health Service is projecting an overspend of £404,000 

P
age 19



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

The budget pressures are due to demand pressures in Home Care and 
an increasing number of 50/50 placements with Health. The department 
has commenced a review plan which has been provided to the social care 
mental health lead. 
 

5. Total projected overspend on Social Care activity is £279,000 
The overspend of £205,000 is due to the Customer Journey shortfall in 
savings due to delays in implementation. There are pressures of £85,000 
continuing in the Assistive Equipment Technology budget due to the out 
of hospital strategy and additional spending on the Community 
Independence Service (CIS) to prevent entry into hospital. From 2016/17, 
there is CCG funding from the CIS model to assist with the budgetary 
pressure of (£29,000) and the balance of the shortfall of £56,000 is 
proposed to be funded from ASC reserves. Other variances total £18,000. 
 

6. Income shortfall of £315,000 on Careline Services 
This as a result of an unachievable MTFS measure resulting from no 
increase in charges. A new review has commenced exploring the options 
for the service. 
 

7. Cost pressures within the Parkview establishment centre of £90,000 
This is due to additional running costs which are proposed to be funded 
from ASC reserves. 

Strategic Commissioning 
& Enterprise 

5,648 (51) 33 8. There is a small underspend in this area. 

Finance & Resources 7,791 0 0  

Executive Directorate 544 0 (75) 9. Following discussion with the Learning and Development Manager, the 
Department has a revised training programme with the budget anticipated 
to be fully spend by the end of the year. 

P
age 20



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Total 57,982 2,961 3,196  

     

Funding from ASC 
Pressures and Demand 
Reserves 

 (716) (716) The department has obtained Cabinet approval for £716,000 from the ASC 
Pressures and Demand reserves to partly offset the budget pressures. 

Total 57,982 2,245 2,480  

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description Lower Limit Upper Limit 

 £000 £000 

Demand pressures on Adult Social Care services would continue to increase as the population 
gets older. We continue to experience increases in numbers during this financial year. 

250 546 

London Living Wage for Social Care Costs. 150 537 

Inflationary pressures greater than provided in the 2016/17 budget settlement. 150 300 

Total 550 1,383 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 21



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Adult Social Care MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 5,321 2,862 205 2,254 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Various savings are at risk 2,254 The department is projecting a number of savings at risk as a number of these 
savings are increasingly difficult to deliver considering the year on year 
savings the department has delivered in previous years. The department will 
continue to monitor these on a monthly basis and aim to deliver the savings. 

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
Adult Social Care (ASC) is projecting a gross overspend of £2,961,000 as at end of period five, which is a reduction in the overspend of 
(£235,000) compared to the period four projected overspend of £3,196,000. The reduction in overspend is due to the commencement of the 
action plan. After funding from the ASC Pressures and Demand reserve of (£716,000) which has Cabinet approval, this will mitigate the 
overall pressures to a net projected overspend of £2,245,000. The following services are proposed for a contribution from reserves: 
 
Home Care new contract price (1/2 year) £400,000 
Learning Disabilities Service   £170,000 
Parkview running costs    £ 90,000 
Equipment pressures    £ 56,000 
Total       £716,000 
 
The department is expected to deliver savings of £5,321,000 in this financial year and at this stage of the year 54% are on track to be 
delivered in full and a further 4% in progress. 
 
Similar to last year's forecasts, the projections should be treated with caution due to the on-going difficulties experienced following the 
introduction of the Agresso Managed Services system. Similar to last year when the department was projecting an overspend for the 
majority of the year, the action plan delivered reductions in the budget to the extent the department outturned with a (£62,000) underspend. 
Historically, the Department’s budget has had underlying budget pressures, which were mitigated by using a combination of one off 
reserves, the carry forward of underspends and funding from Health. 

P
age 22



 

 
 

 
APPENDIX 2: CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 
 

1: Variance by Departmental Division  
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Family Services 33,119 295 386 

The favourable movement from month 4 results from the 
confirmation of Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) funding in the 
Virtual Schools team. In addition, a review of the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) has resulted in the reduction of the 
in year forecast, and a small net reduction in forecast 
placement expenditure. 
 
There are a number of salary related pressures which total 
£305k within the directorate as follows: 
 
MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub) £146k - The on-
going costs related to the shared MASH service are forecast to 
exceed the budget initially established for the service. 
Looked After Children (LAC) and Leaving Care Teams £116k 
(within this staffing pressure, the service is forecasting a 65k 
pressure on LAC Assist). 
 
CAS (Contact and Assessment) £112k – There has been an 
increase in the demand for assessments. To address this 
demand, there has been an increase in the recruitment of 
agency supernumerary staff and a resulting pressure. 
 
Other staffing underspends (£69k) - Underspends held within 

P
age 23



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Early Help and Localities, plus Fostering and Adoption teams 
have helped to offset other overspends across the directorate. 
 
Virtual Schools £200k - Whilst the confirmation of PPG 
funding has reduced the forecast pressure, the historic MTFS 
target is not expected to be met in this financial year. 
 
Children with Disabilities (CWD) and Fostering & Adoption 
(£453k) – within Fostering and Adoption, there are forecast 
underspends against post order support budgets due to an 
ageing out of the population. However, the placement budget in 
the disabilities service, net of joint funding is forecast to be over 
spent at Period 5. This cost pressure is currently being 
mitigated within the service, whilst LAC and Care Leaver 
placement budgets including client transport, asylum and 
remand, are set to break even at year end. 
 
Fostering contract £66k - There is an overspend on contract 
spend in relation to the recruitment of internal fosterers.  
Contact Centre £37k - Forecast overspends on additional 
sessional and agency costs due to the delay in the 
implementation of the shared service contact centre to June 
2016. 
 
Other budget pressures £140k - These relate mainly to the 
contribution to the WLA (West London Alliance) Care Place 
work undertaken, Family Group Conferencing and a forecast 
overspend where additional resource for Adult Psychiatric 
assessments have been agreed in order to meet current 

P
age 24



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

demand for parenting assessments and prevent the use of spot 
purchase assessments. 

Education 3,508 7 124 

The current outturn forecast for LBHF Education is for the 
directorate to perform within budget.  
SEN (Special Education Needs) £259k - pressures relating to 
staffing costs for the SEN Transfers Team. A future business 
case is anticipated that will request a virement of £125k 
regarding such costs. If approved this would reduce the 
forecast overspend. 
Education Psychology (£105k) - increased level of traded 
income expected to be achieved.  
Passenger Transport (£81k) - favourable variance against 
contract spend. 
Further small underspends across the directorate (£66k). 

Commissioning 5,022 282 282 

Commissioning Team £544k - Costs relating to additional 
resource to support the transition to new structure and deliver 
departmental projects. 
Contracts and Joint Commissioning (£262k) – Due to 
underspends on youth contracts and CAMHS (Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services). 

Safeguarding, Review and Quality 
Assurance 

1,144 99 126 

Despite ongoing work by officers to reduce the forecast 
overspend by £27k from P4, a shortfall in delivery from prior 
year MTFS savings has resulted in a cost pressure on the 
service. Work is underway to find additional cost reduction 
within the service. 

Finance and Resources 4,788 (103) (86) 
Forecast pressures on salaries (£485k), offset by salary budget 
to be vired out to departments (-£523k), an underspend on the 
3BM contract (-£89k), and other minor variances (£24k). 

P
age 25



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Schools Funding 0 0 0  

Total 47,581 580 832  

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Passenger Transport – Additional cost of September and January cohort intake. 0 100 

Passenger Transport – Post 16. The transport costs of these young adults may be transferred back to 
ASC, dependent on an agreement between CHS and ASC. One of the aims of The Children's and 
Family's Act working group is to create a decision tree to allow these costs to be allocated in future. 

(30) 0 

Impact of Queen's Speech - Impact on extending our responsibilities for care leavers up to 25 (was 21) Unknown Unknown 

Total (30) 100 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 

Children’s Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 3,227 3,057 0 170 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Commissioning of a Children’s Services contact 
service centre 

37 Delay in the implementation until June 2016. 

Disabled Children Team 77 Staffing Pressures 

YOT 9 Staffing Pressures 

Reorganisation of Commissioning Team 47 Although the reorganisation has been implemented, there has been a 
need to recruit agency staff to cover vacancies. This will be subject of a 
separate report. 

Total 170  

P
age 26



 

 
 

4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
Overall, Family Services is continuing to see placement costs stabilise. Intensive work has been undertaken around reviewing care leavers 
placements to try and move them into more sustainable and cost effective placements. This is starting to take effect through increased 
Housing allocations and quicker closure of cases no longer eligible for Public Funding. In addition, Family Services DMT are looking at 
options to further mitigate the in-year directorate overspend position for 2016/17. 
 
As referred to above, as a result in a change of legislation set out by the Department for Education, Children’s Services are required to 
provide a conversion of Special Educational Needs (SEN) Statements into the new Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) format for 
young adults Post 16. The increased demand this requirement has placed upon the department has led to the establishment of a Transfer 
Team whose focus is to achieve the conversion rates set out by statute. There are 1634 plans that need to be converted and the plan is to 
have them converted by the end of December 2017. The requirement in order to convert these will be for 10 additional caseworkers and 1 
manager. A Cabinet paper requesting funding is being developed. 
 
There are significant capacity pressures within Commissioning and a significant work programme for Hammersmith and Fulham. The 
directorate is reviewing every opportunity to contain these pressures, however the resource required for the current work programme 
exceeds the available budget resource which will require a further cabinet paper. 
 
The Queen’s Speech set out plans to extend local authority responsibilities for care leavers up to 25 years of age (this was previously 21). 
As of yet, the impact in terms of additional cost pressure is unknown. Work needs to be undertaken by officers to identify eligible care 
leavers for the extended cohort, who may now return to the service for support.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 27



 

 
 

 
APPENDIX 3: CONTROLLED PARKING ACCOUNTS (CPA) 

BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 
 

1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Pay & Display (P&D) (11,808) (12) 43 

Income received in the first five months of 2016/17 from P&D (including 
phone payments and card payments) is higher than in the same period in 
the previous year. The budget has been adjusted to reflect activity, so 
there is a small surplus forecast of £12k. 

Permits (4,496) (139) (139) 
Income from resident permits in 2016/17 is higher than the same period 
last year. 

Civil Enforcement Officer 
(CEO) Issued Penalty 
Charge Notice (PCN) 

(6,814) 240 323 

The numbers of PCNs issued at the start of 2015/16 were lower than the 
same period last year, due to a number of vacant enforcement posts. 
Recruitment has taken place in August and the service is now fully staffed, 
however the forecast for the year is expected to be £240k less than 
budgeted. 

Bus Lane PCNs (1,257) (191) (207) 
The numbers of PCNs issued in the first five months of 2016/17 are 7.5% 
less than the same period in the previous year.  

CCTV Parking PCNs 0 (6) (6) 
There are restrictions on the areas where CCTV can be used for parking 
enforcement. The number of PCNs issued is at a minimal level and this is 
expected to continue for the rest of the year. 

Moving Traffic PCNs (6,314) 332 260 

The numbers of PCNs issued in 2016/17 are significantly lower than in the 
same period last year (14.15%). However, the previous years activity was 
higher than would normally be expected due to the numbers of days with 
works on roads being higher than usual. The current forecast assumes the 
activity seen in June and July will continue for the rest of the financial 
year. This will be monitored closely and the forecast adjusted as 
appropriate.  

P
age 28



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Parking Bay Suspensions (3,223) (71) (71) 

Income in the first five months of 2016/17 has increased in comparison 
with the previous year. The risk associated with suspensions income 
means that the forecast for the last 7 months has been assumed to 
remain at the level seen last year. The budgeted income was increased by 
£500k in the 2016/17 budget planning process. 

Towaways and Removals (325) 13 13 
Income to date is similar to the previous year, so the forecast outturn is 
expected to be in line with the 2015/16 outturn. 

Expenditure and Other 
Receipts 

11,831 (308) (276) 
Staffing costs are forecast to be underspent by £330k based on current 
staffing and enforcement posts that have been vacant for part of the year. 
Supplies and services are forecast to be overspent by £22k. 

Total (22,406) (142) (60)  

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Moving Traffic Offences – potential reduction in income level 0 1,500 

Economic downturn resulting in fewer parking bay suspension requests 0 1,000 

Total 0 2,500 

 
3: Supplementary Monitoring Information  
 
The parking forecast is an underspend of £142k, which is explained in details in the table above. Officers will continue to keep a close eye 
on the performance of Parking income and expenditure and in particular review regularly the Parking Bay Suspension income which may 
change at short notice due to fluctuations in demand. Measures have been put in place to ensure the full establishment of Civil 
Enforcement Officers is maintained. 
 
 

P
age 29



 

 
 

APPENDIX 4: CORPORATE SERVICES REVENUE MONITOR 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

H&F Direct 18,660  0  0 

Similar to last financial year, there is likely to be continued budget 
pressure on the recovery of court costs. However, currently it is 
anticipated that the favourable savings from the delivery of taxi cards will 
negate these pressures to ensure that the department is within its overall 
budget. 

Innovation & Change 
Management (ICM) 

(251) 0  0 
No change 

Legal and Electoral 
Services 

787  0  0 
No change 

Finance Services 379  0  0 No change 

Audit, Risk, Fraud and 
Insurance 

12  (199) 0 

£113k underspend on Corporate Investigation team due to £136k 
underspend on staffing cost due to 3 vacant posts, recruitment for 2 post 
are in process and £23k overspend on legal cost. £10k underspend on 
Internal Audit Supply & Services budget. £77k underspend on Bi-Borough 
Insurance Service is due to refund on S113 staffing charges (wrongly 
charged twice) from RBKC for 2015/16. 

Shared ICT Services (3,388) 0  0 No change. 

Commercial Directorate 70  0  0 
There is a budget pressure relating to the non-recovery of budgets from 
departments for savings assumed from the new stationery contract. This 
issue is expected to be resolved by the end of second quarter. 

Executive Services (721) 0  0 No change 

Human Resources 651  0  0 No change 

Delivery and Value 653  (165) 0 
£22k underspend on staffing budget due part year staff vacancy within the 
service, £8k underspend on Supply & services for Mayoral services and 

P
age 30



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

£135k underspend on grants funding. 

Total 16,850  (364) 0  

 
2: Key Risks 
 
None to report. 
 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Finance & Corporate Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 3,175 3,175   

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 31



 

 
 

APPENDIX 5: ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Cleaner, Greener & Cultural 
Services 

21,461 (711) (729) 

(£730k) Waste Disposal – A one-off rebate of £470k has been 
confirmed by Western Riverside Waste Authority, relating to 
underspends in 2015/16.  The change in tonnages between years has 
been very volatile for both general and recyclables in April - July with 
variances ranging from +5.2% to -7.2%. July tonnages were 
significantly lower than last year. The forecast assumes less volatility 
but this will continue to be monitored and reported. 
(£41k) Waste and Street Cleansing contract – actual contract 
inflation is less than included in the budget this year. Proposals to 
reallocate this budget to ongoing overspends within the service group 
are currently being considered.  
£24k Waste Policy and Development – recycling sack sponsorship 
income target will not be achieved due to lack of demand for waste 
related advertising. 
£40k Filming - pressure on income due to delay in launch of film 
location library 
(£4k) Other smaller underspends 

Safer Neighbourhoods 7,831 844 865 

£168k Transport – there is a £100k loss of management and repair 
income as a result of the Passenger Transport service which will be 
reprocured. There is an ongoing budget pressure of £100k for 2016/17 
and future years. Additional pressures from 2015/16 are expected be 
ongoing - mostly due to a smaller mark up being achieved on fuel, 
leases and the workshop as a result of declining activity. Budget 
growth is being pursued and options for the continuation of the 

P
age 32



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

workshop are being explored.  
£298k Phoenix Fitness Centre – Capital improvement works to 
increase the income generating potential of the centre, and therefore 
reduce its annual management fee have been delayed. Discussions 
with the school have been constructive and it is now expected that the 
works will be undertaken this year, enabling the management fee to be 
reduced to nil over a 3 year period. As such, part of this pressure will 
be ongoing into 2017/18 for which budget growth is being requested.  
£315k Parks and Open Spaces – Net underspend due to contract 
inflation being less than budgeted. Proposal to realign with ongoing 
pressures in the transport section is being considered as feedback 
from FCS is that contingencies to fund pressures will not be agreed. 
£382k pressure is included due to additional costs from stopping the 
use of glysophate weedkiller in parks. 
£48k CCTV Service – mostly relating to forecast salary overspends, 
which are being investigated.  
£15k Other smaller overspends 

Other LBHF Commercial 
Services 

45 (1) (3) 
The forecast includes drawdowns of £180k from departmental 
reserves to offset the income shortfall on the ducting contract (£291k 
income target, compared to £105k guaranteed income for 2016/17). 

Executive Support and 
Finance 

70 7 0  

People Portfolio Saving 150 150 150 

£150k People Portfolio Saving – this historic savings target is not 
expected to be met again this year. Proposals to permanently remove 
this target through a realignment of other service budgets are being 
considered. 
 

Building & Property 
Management (BPM) 

(2,779) 526 539 
£258k in Advertising Hoardings – It is anticipated that advertising 
hoarding income will be in line with budget for most sites except for the 

P
age 33



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Two Towers, L’Oreal and Bentworth Road sites. This accounts for the 
forecast adverse variance. The income forecasts are based on the 
average income for the six months to March 2016 in the absence of 
more current information. Given the challenges from the previous year, 
this area will be monitored closely.  
£75k - Rent and Other Properties. The unfavourable variance is due 
to unachievable MTFS savings of £61k and an unachievable income 
target on Galena Road of £14k.  
£264k in Civic Accommodation 
£44k Technical Support and BPM Business Support – The 
Overspend relates to staffing costs in Technical Support of £42k. 
Options for generating income and internal recharges are currently 
being investigated to reduce the overspend.  
£6k – Other overspends. (£78k) Valuation Services – Asset 
Management Team underspend by (£8k) and a proposed drawdown 
from reserve of (£70k) depending on the outturn. (£43k) Building 
Control – The favourable variance is due to additional income from 
large building control schemes. 

Transport & Highways 13,706 (151) (74) 
(£151k) Transport & Highways -The favourable overall variance is 
due to staff costs that could be charged to projects. 

Planning 1,982 237 239 

£237k - Planning - The overall unfavourable variance is due to an 
anticipated increase in legal charges and claimants costs from 
challenges to planning decisions made by the Council. The Planning 
Division are using existing reserves to fund a proportion of these 
costs. This leaves unfunded costs of £229k. It is very likely that these 
costs will increase further during the year. See the Risk Profile in 
section 2 below for further details. 

Environmental Health 3,021 23 19 
£23k Licensing Section – The adverse variance mainly relates to 
shortage of licensing income. 

P
age 34



 

 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Former TTS Support 
Services 

(724) 16 17  

Total 44,763 940 1,023  

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Advertising Hoarding Income – Significant risk due to lack of up to date information and uncertainty in 
income level on some advertising hoarding sites.  

200 500 

Unfunded Judiciary Review expenditure and exceptional items in Planning Division 300 450 

If unplanned costs arise from the termination of the LINK shared service 0 500 

Insurance of the Cecil French bequest - currently stored and insured at Sotheby's at nil cost. This 
arrangement is unable to continue. It is proposed the collection is to be stored in the strong room of 
Lilla Huset for free but the council will need to fund the insurance costs for which there is no budget. 

20 30 

It is unlikely that the council will receive any income from the ducting contract as we have recently 
learnt that the company is experiencing financial difficulties 

0 186 

Total 520 1,666 

 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 35



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Environmental Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 2,668 751 1,523 394 

Schemes Delayed/ At Risk £000 Reason 

Additional Rental income 61 Charge to Amey for accommodation is recharged back to the Council under 
the contract. 

Accommodation Savings 245 Delays on the sale of Fulham Town Hall. 

Street lighting Energy 50 Street lighting LED pilots are running, and plans are in place to roll out 
across the borough. Currently, 67% of the savings are expected to be 
achievable as a result of a start date that is later than assumed in the 
budget. 

Environmental Health-Private Sector Housing 38 Improving standards in the Private Rented Sector via licensing. The 
additional licensing scheme is not expected to come into effect until 2017/18. 

Total 394  

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
This year the Environmental Services budget is seeing the financial impact of a number of factors not within its control. All areas of 
the service group have been reviewed to identify areas where expenditure can be curtailed or additional income generated before 
year end. There are very limited options available. Potential mitigating actions (some of which are very high risk and may not be 
able to be relied upon). 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

P
age 36



 

 
 

APPENDIX 6: HOUSING DEPARTMENT - GENERAL FUND 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Housing Strategy, Options, Skills & 
Economic Development 

7,931 20 20 This mainly relates to a forecast overspend of £661k as a 
result of inflationary pressures on rents for suitable temporary 
accommodation from private sector landlords offset by: 
● a reduction in the net costs of Bed and Breakfast (B&B) 
accommodation of (£63k) due to lower average client 
numbers (106 forecast compared to 130 in the original 
budget), 
● a reduction in Bad Debt Provision (BDP) because of the 
better than expected collection performance on B&B (£65k) 
and on Private Sector Leasing (PSL) (£323k), 
● and income of (£190k) from the DWP New Burdens Fund 
for the removal of the TA Management Fee Subsidy. 

Housing Strategy & Regeneration 8 62 62 This relates to costs associated with the Earls Court 
Regeneration Project for 70 Lillie Road which cannot be 
funded from capital of £62k. 

Housing Services 44 0 0  

Strategic Housing Stock Options 
Appraisal - General Fund  

0 0 0  

Finance & Resources 175 0 0  

Total 8,158 82 82  

 
  

P
age 37



 

 
 

2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Temporary Accommodation Procurement Costs – recent months have seen increased difficulties in 
containing the inflationary cost pressures associated with procuring suitable temporary accommodation from 
private sector landlords. Officers are continuing to make use of incentive payments to private landlords in 
mitigating this risk. In the event that this risk crystallises, the resultant costs will be mitigated by the Temporary 
Accommodation reserve. 

82 205 

No recourse to public funds - recent legislative changes mean that asylum seekers granted Leave to Remain 
are not given access to public funds. This means that households have the legal right to remain in the UK but 
are unable to access benefits and social housing.  As a result, the Council has seen an increase in the number 
of applications for assistance. In mitigation, officers are reviewing the application and assessment process and 
liaising with colleagues from Adult and Children Services to identify funding.  

278 464 

Total 360 669 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Housing Department MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings £265k TA & £140k EDLS 405 265 0 140 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

 
Adult Learning and Skills Service MTFS 

 
140 

Officers are planning to achieve this saving through the implementation of a 
restructure. This is expected to be initiated shortly now the Director for 
Housing Growth& Strategy is in post. 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 38



 

 
 

4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
The Housing and Regeneration department currently expects the overall outturn for the year 2016/17 to overspend against the 
budget by £82k. There has been no change in the forecast since last month. The department continues to work on ways to 
mitigate this forecast overspend. 
It should be noted that it has not been possible to complete detailed budget monitoring via Agresso this month due to the delay on 
the roll out of key monitoring reports. However, finance officers have met with Heads of Service in order to identify significant 
variances from budget and to ensure that appropriate management action is taken in order to contain cost pressures. 
Nevertheless, there remains a significant risk to the accuracy of forecasts until Managed Services is fully implemented. 
 
Further details relating to the issues arising as a result of Managed Services are outlined in the Key Risks section above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 39



 

 
 

APPENDIX 7: LIBRARIES AND ARCHIVES SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Libraries Shared Services 3,175 14 0 

There is a forecast overspend of £14k for 2016/17. This is partly 
as a result of a Member decision to offer PC usage for free for 
the first hour instead of 30 minutes (£10k, this was identified as 
a risk in P4), and some delays in implementing new income 
streams, such as weddings at Fulham Library 

Total 3,175 14 0  

 
2: Key Risks 
 
N/A 
 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Libraries Shared Services MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 20  16 4 

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

Weddings at Fulham Library 4 There has been a delay to launching weddings at Fulham Library, due to 
issues with setting up card payment facilities. This has led to 6 months lost 
income. It is hoped that Fulham will be able to take bookings from the end 
of October 

 
 
  

P
age 40



 

 
 

4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
The risk of £10k is to reflect the reduced income from the decision to allow 1 hour free usage on PC’s, which will need to be 
mitigated through increased income elsewhere (in addition to MTFS requirements). This is currently rated as in progress as there 
is work being undertaken to identify the income streams, but not all of these have been introduced yet. This will be monitored 
closely throughout the year. There is ongoing Programme work to achieve the required savings in 2017/18 as well, for which a 
possible shortfall of £31k for programme resourcing has been identified. This is invest to save work, and a business case will be 
presented to the Smarter Budgeting group to try and secure this as a growth item. 
 
 
 

P
age 41



 

 
 

APPENDIX 8: PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Sexual Health 5,768  0  0  *See supplementary information below 

Substance Misuse 4,870  0  0  *See supplementary information below 

Behaviour Change 2,527  (157) (47) Health Trainers performance is below target with an estimated 
underspend £127k, which is similar to previous years. Health Checks also 
forecast to be below expectations by £30k.  

Intelligence and Social 
Determinants 

60  (10) (10) Specialist project work not required in current year. 

Families and Children 
Services 

6,440  343  0  Proposed savings for School Nursing will not be realised, due in part to 
delays in reprocurement and unattainable savings. 

Public Health Investment 
Fund (PHIF) 

2,162  39  39  Minor overspend of £39k which is due to projects spending in 2016/17 
which were agreed in the previous year. 

Salaries and Overheads 1,285  0  0  *See supplementary information below 

Drawdown from Reserves (596) 172  405  The current identified variances will reduce the estimated drawdown from 
reserves, which is budgeted at £596k and will instead be £424k. 

Public Health – Grant (22,516) (387) (387) Public Grant final allocation of £22.903m exceeds the original budget 
estimate of £22.516m, giving an increase in funding. This was due to the 
final allocation being issued at the end of February (after the budget-
setting process had concluded) 

Total 0 0 0  

 
 
  

P
age 42



 

 
 

2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower Limit 

£000 
Upper Limit 

£000 

Awaiting consultation response for proposals to amend the funding formula for 2016/17 onwards. 0 1,930 

Total 0 1,930 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 
N/A. 
 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
Relatively few invoices are paid in relation to the current financial year, so variance is based on budget manager forecasting, 
which will be analysed in greater depth once more invoices are received and paid. For the Sexual Health and Substance Misuse 
services in particular, suppliers of several large contracts are slow to invoice the Council for current activity. In previous years, this 
tends to be up-to-date by month 6, but until then will be based on last year’s charges. These services underspent last year, so any 
changes to the forecast are likely to be positive. 
 
For the Public Health Investment Fund (PHIF) expenditure, this is usually increased in-year along with Council priorities, so will 
change as the year progresses. 
 
Salaries and Overheads is one area that is subject to change as the year progresses, as the Public Health service is about to 
undergo a restructure. This may affect the forecast from month 9, but will be known in more detail at month 7. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 43



 

 
 

APPENDIX 9: CENTRALLY MANAGED BUDGETS 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 
 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Corporate & Democratic Core 5,863 0  0   

Housing and Council Tax Benefits (291) 0  0   

Levies 1,570 0  0   

Net Cost of Borrowing 32 300  300  The unfavourable variance forecast is due to the poor 
outlook for interest rates over the next year which will 
lead to reduced income on the cash balances held by 
the council. 

Other Corporate Items (Includes 
Contingencies, Insurance, Land 
Charges) 

5,032  (50) 200  A favourable variance of £250k on the corporate 
contingency held to fund the annual uplift in Non 
Domestic Rates is offset by a £200k adverse variance 
due to reduced Land Charge income caused by the 
slowdown in housing market activity. 

Pensions & Redundancy 9,450  (272) (272) Past Service costs less than budgeted. 

Total 21,656  (22) 228   

 
2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Interest rate fluctuations and changes in the Council’s cash balances could result in favourable or 
adverse movements in the Net Cost of Borrowing. 

(500) 0 

Total (500) 0 

  

P
age 44



 

 
 

3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Centrally Managed Budgets MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 1,050 1,050   

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000 Reason 

   

 
4: Supplementary Monitoring Information 
 
Currently there is £1.4m of approved expenditure from the Unallocated Contingency leave an available balance of £0.9m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



 

 
 

APPENDIX 10: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT – MONTH 5 

 
1: Variance by Departmental Division 

 

Departmental Division 
Revised 
Budget 

Variance 
Month 5 

Variance 
Month 4 

Variance Analysis 

 £000 £000 £000  

Housing Income (76,571) 0 0  

Finance and Resources 15,151 (369) (369) This underspend mainly relates to vacant posts (£165k), 
redundancy costs (£100k) and other minor underspends (£104k) 
including a delay in IT project spend. 

Housing Services 13,055 114 89 Increase in grounds maintenance costs, with an estimated 
additional £180k. These additional costs will be partially offset by 
(£91k) projected underspends in staffing and a further £25k on 
contract costs.  

Strategic Housing Stock Options 
Transfer 

0 0 0  

Property Services 2,405 0 0  

Housing Repairs 13,869 0 0  

Housing Options HRA 343 (14) (14) This mainly relates to higher than expected income from hostels 
due to a lower void rate than budgeted. 

Adult Social Care 48 0 0  

Regeneration 237 24 24 This relates to refurbishment costs at Mund Street, which are 
forecast at £24k.  

Safer Neighbourhoods 578 0 0  

Housing Capital 29,824 0 0  

(Contribution to)/ 
Appropriation From HRA  

(1,061) (245) (270)  

 
 
 

P
age 46



 

 
 

2: Key Risks 
 

Risk Description 
Lower 
Limit 
£000 

Upper 
Limit 
£000 

Universal Credit: A very prudent allowance was made in the budget for the impact of Welfare Reform, 
however, the full impact of Welfare Reform has not been felt yet. The timing of the roll out of Universal Credit 
and the resultant financial impact is being closely monitored and will be reported on monthly. 

unknown unknown 

Managed Services: the general lack of data available from the system, the lack of systems assurance and 
reconciliation reporting, the time taken to resolve payment issues, the delay in implementing the system for 
leaseholder service charges, delayed and missing cash files preventing rent arrears from being managed and 
the associated bad debt risk, the opportunity cost of officer time in managing issues arising and other factors 
are expected to have both a financial and non-financial impact on the department. 

unknown unknown 

Housing Development Programme: This relates to a reduction in the capitalisation of staffing costs resulting 
from delays in commencing construction on Housing Development programme projects compared to the 
position assumed when the original budget was prepared. 

0 200 

Termination of IT contract: the contract with Hammersmith & Fulham Bridge Partnership will terminate this 
year and it is expected that should there be any additional unbudgeted costs, these will be funded from an 
earmarked reserve set aside for this purpose. 

unknown unknown 

Total unknown unknown 

 
3: MTFS Progress (with explanations of schemes Delayed or at Risk) 
 

Housing Revenue Account MTFS Target On Track In Progress Delayed/ At Risk 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total MTFS Savings 922 922   

Schemes Delayed / At Risk £000s Reason 

   

 
  

P
age 47



 

 
 

 
4: HRA General Reserve 

 

 
B/Fwd 

Budgeted (Contribution 
to)/Appropriation from General 

Reserve 

HRA Variance 
(Surplus)/ 

Deficit 
Forecast C/F 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

HRA General Reserve (18,520) (1,061) (245) (19,826) 

 
5: Supplementary Monitoring Information 

 
The Housing Revenue Account is forecast to show an underspend of (£245k) against the budget for 2016/17. This represents an 
unfavourable movement of £25k since last month. However, this needs to be considered in the context of a number of risks as outlined 
in the Key Risks section above. 
 
It should be noted that it has not been possible to complete detailed budget monitoring via Agresso this month due to the delay on the 
roll out of key monitoring reports. Whilst BT has released these reports to LBHF, they still cannot be accessed by key staff. However, 
finance officers have met with Heads of Service in order to identify significant variances from budget and to ensure that appropriate 
management action is taken in order to contain cost pressures. Nevertheless, there remains a significant risk to the accuracy of 
forecasts until Managed Services is fully implemented. 
 
Further detail relating to the issues arising as a result of Managed Services are outlined in the Key Risks section above. 

P
age 48



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CABINET 
 

5th December 2016 
  

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITOR & BUDGET VARIATIONS, 2016/17 (SECOND 
QUARTER) 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Financee – Councillro Max Schmid 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:  FOR DECISION 
 

Key Decision:  Yes 
 

Wards Affected: ALL 
 

Accountable Director:  
Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Finance Director 
 

Report Author:  
Christopher Harris, Head of Corporate Accountancy 
and Capital 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 6440  Email: 
christopher.harris@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report provides a financial update on the Council’s Capital Programme and seeks 

approval for budget variations as at the end of the second quarter, 2016/17. A net 
decrease of £18.3m to the 2016/17 capital budget (as approved at the end of the first 
quarter, 2016/17) is proposed. This decrease is primarily associated with slippages to 
future years. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. To approve proposed technical budget variations to the capital programme totalling 

£18.3m (summarised in Table 1 and detailed in Appendix 2). 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. This report seeks revisions to the Capital Programme which require the approval of 
Cabinet in accordance with the Council’s financial regulations. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



 

4. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2016-17 –Q2 VARIATIONS 
 

4.1. The Council’s capital programme as at the end of the second quarter 2016/17 – including 
proposed variations - is summarised in Table 1 below. A full analysis of elements of the 
programme funded from internal Council resource is included in section 6. 

 
Table 1 – LBHF Capital Programme 2016-20 with proposed 2016/17 Q2 Variations  

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future years 

Addition/

(Reduction)
Transfers

Total 

Variations 

(Q2)

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Children's Services    45,566 (13,251) (1,008)              - (14,259)    31,307   23,754    7,334           -        62,395 

Adult Social Care      3,564 (1,052)                  -              - (1,052)      2,512        565       450    1,387          4,914 

Environmental Services    26,134 (3,735)           4,948              - 1,213    27,347   11,366    7,831    7,731        54,275 

Finance & Corporate Services         436              -                  -              -               -         436            -           -           -             436 

Libraries         285              -                  -              -               -         285            -           -           -             285 

Sub-total (Non-Housing)    75,985 (18,038) 3,940 -         (14,098)    61,887   35,685  15,615    9,118      122,305 

HRA Programme    50,532 (4,237)           3,929              - (308)    50,224   33,292  24,885  24,508      132,909 

Decent Neighbourhoods Programme    15,768 (4,067)             146              - (3,921)    11,847   16,836  13,234  25,181        67,098 

Sub-total (Housing)    66,300 (8,304)           4,075              - (4,229)    62,071   50,128  38,119  49,689      200,007 

 Total Expenditure  142,285 (26,342) 8,015              - (18,327)  123,958   85,813  53,734  58,807      322,312 

CAPITAL FINANCING

Specific/External Financing:

Government/Public Body Grants    33,648 (4,482) (870) 200 (5,152)    28,496     7,510    2,157    3,364        41,527 

Developers Contributions (S106)      8,659 (2,613) 4,460 (619) 1,228      9,887   11,354       559           -        21,799 

Leaseholder Contributions (Housing)      9,786              -                  -              -               -      9,786     2,849    2,849    2,849        18,333 

Sub-total - Specific Financing    52,093 (7,095) 3,590 (419) (3,924)    48,169   21,713    5,565    6,213        81,659 

Mainstream Financing (Internal):

Capital Receipts - General Fund    18,095 (3,735)                  - (4,037) (7,772)    10,323     9,922    3,840    3,840        27,925 

Capital Receipts - Housing*    31,098 (4,904) 4,075              - (829)    30,269     7,885  17,456  14,619        70,229 

Revenue funding - General Fund      1,662              -                  -       2,333 2,333      3,995        544       544       544          5,627 

Revenue Funding - HRA      3,048              -                  -              -               -      3,048     3,702       353    1,562          8,665 

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) 

[Housing]

   18,109              -                  -              -               -    18,109   17,820  17,404  19,794        73,127 

Earmarked Reserves (Revenue)      2,090              - 350 (1,890) (1,540)         550            -           -           -             550 

Sub-total - Mainstream Funding    74,102 (8,639) 4,425 (3,594) (7,808)    66,294   39,873  39,597  40,359      186,123 

Internal Borrowing    10,340 (5,358)                  -       4,013 (1,345)      8,995   18,977    8,573  12,235        48,779 

Funding to be identified/agreed      5,750 (5,250)                  -              - (5,250)         500     5,250           -           -          5,750 

 Total Capital Financing  142,285 (26,342) 8,015              - (18,327)  123,958   85,813  53,734  58,807      322,312 

Proposed Variations: Q1 Budget to Q2 Indicative Future Years Analysis

 
*Capital Receipts include use of brought forward Housing receipts  
 

4.2. A net reduction to the 2016/17 programme of £(18.3)m is proposed, decreasing total 
budgeted expenditure from £142.2m to £123.9m.  Of the proposed net variation, there is 
a reduction of £(26.3)m relating to slippages to future financial years.  This is netted 
against  an £8.0m increase that relates primarily to growth in the programme where 
external funding sources have now been confirmed or associated forecast funding has 
increased.  A detailed analysis of proposed variations for approval is included at Appendix 
2. 

 
4.3. The capital programme presented here is based on approved projects and known funding 

allocations.  The 2016/17 budget will be further updated throughout the year.  The 
indicative future years’ analysis (2017+) will be updated as pipeline schemes are 
confirmed or otherwise and these future years remain subject to approval in future capital 
programmes. Departments such as Children’s Services, whose capital programme has 
traditionally depended on external specific grants, will be updated as and when future 
grants are confirmed. 

Page 50



 

 

5. CAPITAL FINANCE REQUIREMENT (CAPITAL DEBT) 
 

5.1. The Capital Finance Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s long-term indebtedness.  
The current forecast for the General Fund Headline1 CFR is shown in Table 2 below.  The 
current HRA CFR forecast is shown in Table 3.  The CFR is explained in more detail in 
Appendix 4. 
 
Table 2 – General Fund CFR at Q2 2016-17 (including future years forecast) 

 

General Fund CFR Forecast 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£m £m £m £m

Closing CFR (Including DSG-funded Schools 

Windows borrowing)

54.05         55.55         63.63         64.45         

Closing CFR (Excluding DSG-funded Schools

Windows borrowing)

         48.15          42.66          44.42          46.01 

 
 

Table 3 – HRA CFR at Q2 2016-17 (including future years forecast) 
 

HRA CFR Forecast 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£m £m £m £m

Closing Forecast HRA CFR (excluding deferred 

costs of disposal)

203.44 215.19 215.19 225.78

Deferred Costs of Disposal 5.92 7.33 11.84 14.63

Closing Forecast HRA CFR (including deferred 

costs of disposal)

209.36 222.52 227.02 240.41

 

 
5.2. The General Fund CFR forecast is heavily dependent on the timing and certainty of 

capital receipts forecasts.  Where receipts are not available to fund mainstream 
expenditure, and no other sources of funding can be found, internal borrowing will 
increase.  This will increase the CFR.  The General Fund CFR is also sensitive to any 
transfer of assets between the HRA and the General Fund (a process known as 
‘appropriation’).  Where assets transfer from the HRA to the General Fund, the GF CFR 
increases by the market value of assets being transferred. 
 

6. GENERAL FUND – MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
 

6.1. The General Fund mainstream programme cuts across the departmental programmes 
and represents schemes which are funded from internal Council resource – primarily 
capital receipts.  The mainstream programme is summarised in Table 4 overleaf. 
 

6.2. Forecast General Fund Capital receipts for 2016-17 are currently £7.5m. A summary of 
expected receipts and their application to capital funding/debt reduction is included in 
Appendix 3. 
 

6.3. As at the end of the second quarter of 2016/17, £1m of deferred disposal costs have been 
accrued in respect of anticipated General Fund disposals.  These costs are netted against 
the receipt when received (subject to certain restrictions).  In the event that a sale does 
not proceed these costs must be written back to revenue. A summary of the deferred 
costs is included in Appendix 3. 
 

                                            
1
 Excludes items such as finance leases and PFIs, the MRP cost of which is funded through revenue 

budgets. 

Page 51



 

 

Table 4 – General Fund Mainstream Programme 2016-20 with proposed 2016/17 Q2 Variations  
 

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget

Variations 

(Q2) 2016/17 

Budget (Q2)

Indicative 

Budget 

2017/18

Indicative 

Budget 

2018/19

Indicative 

Budget 

2019/20

Total 

Budget (All 

years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Approved Expenditure 

Ad Hoc Schemes:

Schools Organisation Strategy [CHS] 

(mainstream element)

       2,423                -           2,423           807               -               -         3,230 

Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment 

(Mainstream Element/CPMP) [ENV]

              -         2,850           2,850         3,575        1,325        1,000         8,750 

Other Capital Schemes [ENV]        3,128            229           3,357                -               -               -         3,357 

Carnwath Road  [ENV]        3,070 (1,200)           1,870         1,200               -               -         3,070 

Fulham Cemetery (Porta Cabins) [ENV]            85 (85)                   -             85               -               -              85 

Rolling Programmes:

Disabled Facilities Grant [ASC]          533                -              533           450           450           450         1,883 

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme [ENV]        8,769 (5,300)           3,469         1,275        1,275        1,500         7,519 

Footways and Carriageways [ENV]        2,459 (64)           2,395         2,030        2,030        2,030         8,485 

Controlled Parking Zones [ENV]          333              333           275           275           275         1,158 

Column Replacement [ENV]          246             59              305           269           269           269         1,112 

 Parks Programme [ENV]          986            360           1,346           500           500           500         2,846 

 Total Mainstream Programmes      22,032 (3,151)          18,881       10,466        6,124        6,024       41,495 

 Financing 

Capital Receipts      15,923 (5,600)          10,323       15,218        3,840        3,840       33,222 

General Fund Revenue Account        3,737 808           4,545           544           544           544         6,177 

Increase/(Decrease) in Internal Borrrowing        2,372 1,641           4,013 (5,296) 1,740 1,640         2,097 

 Total Financing      22,032 (3,151)          18,881       10,466        6,124        6,024       41,495  
 

7. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

7.1. The expenditure and resource analysis for 2016-17 of the Housing Programme is 
summarised in Table 5 below: 

 
 

Table 5 – Housing Capital Programme 2016-20 with proposed 2016/17 Q2 Variations  
2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Total 

Variations 

(Q2)

2016/17 

Budget (Q2)

Indicative 

2017/18

Budget

Indicative 

2018/19

 Budget

Indicative 

2019/20

Budget

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Approved Expenditure 

Decent Neighbourhood Schemes 16,580 (4,089)         12,491 18,245 17,846 28,035

HRA Debt Repayment         1,563           1,563                -                 -                 -   

HRA Schemes 48,970 (308)         48,662 33,292 24,885 24,508

 Total Housing Programme - Approved Expenditure       67,113 (4,397)         62,716         51,537        42,731        52,543 

Adjustment for deferred costs          (813) 168           (645) (1,409)        (4,612)       (2,854)       

 Total Expenditure after deferred costs       66,300 (4,229)         62,071         50,128        38,119        49,689 

 Available and Approved Resource 

Capital Receipts - Unrestricted 29,224 237                   29,461 5,376 851           10,159

Capital Receipts - RTB (141) 1,365 (1,066)                    299 2,509 25             -            

Capital Receipts - Sale of new build homes 510              510 -             -            -            

Earls Court Receipts recognisable              -                    - -             16,581 4,460

Housing Revenue Account (revenue funding) 3,048           3,048 3,702          353           1,562        

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) 18,109         18,109 17,820 17,404 19,794

Contributions Developers (S106) 3,177 (2,480)              697 5,855          58             -            

Repayment of NHHT loan              -                    - 270             -            270           

Contributions from leaseholders 9,786               -             9,786 2,849 2,849 2,849

Internal Borrowing 1,082        (920)              162 11,747 10,595       

Total Funding 66,300 (4,230)         62,071         50,128        38,119        49,689  
 
 

7.2. The Decent Neighbourhoods Fund contains the Council’s Housing Capital Receipts 
which in accordance with the change in capital regulations, effective from 1 April 2013 
must be used for Housing or Regeneration purposes and shows how the Council plans 
to reinvest those receipts in Housing and Regeneration. 
 
 

Page 52



 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
 

8.1. There are no direct equalities implications in relation to this report.  This paper is 
concerned entirely with financial management issues and as such is not impacting 
directly on any protected group. 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. There are no direct legal implications in relation to this report. 
 

9.2. Implications verified/completed by: David Walker, Principal Solicitor, Commercial and 
Corporate Property, 020 7361 2211.  
 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1. This report is wholly of a finance nature. 
 

11. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

11.1. The Council’s Capital Programme represents significant expenditure within the 
Borough and consequently, where supplies are sourced locally, may impact either 
positively or negatively on local contractors and sub-contractors.  Where capital 
expenditure increases, or is brought forward, this may have a beneficial impact on local 
businesses; conversely, where expenditure decreases, or is slipped, there may be an 
adverse impact on local businesses. 

 
11.2. Implications completed by: Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business Investment 

Officer, Planning and Growth Dept. Tel: 020 8753 1698 
 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1. Large scale capital projects can operate in environments which are complex, turbulent 

and continually evolving. Effective risk identification and control within such a dynamic 
environment is more than just populating a project risk register or appointing a project 
risk officer.  Amplifying the known risks so that they are not hidden or ignored, 
demystifying the complex risks into their more manageable sum of parts and 
anticipating the slow emerging risks which have the ability to escalate rapidly are all 
necessary components of good capital programme risk management.  

 
12.2. Major capital projects can significantly enhance value based on how well they are 

executed. Considering their high impact nature, the levels of oversight, governance, 
risk management and assurance need to be in place.  For this the standards for the 
Council are set out in the financial regulations and scheme of delegation along with the 
key controls. A clearly defined enterprise wide risk management framework is now 
established across Shared Services which considers all relevant risk classes and 
provides a common definition and approach to risk management. This will ensure that  
a common language and understanding is secured. Capital projects form part of the 
strategic risks and monitoring of the programme is noted as a key mitigating action. 

 
12.3. Implications completed by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk Manager ext. 

2587  
 

Page 53



 

13. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 

13.1. There are no immediate procurement implications arising from this report. The 
corporate Procurement team will advise and support service departments on their 
major capital procurements as and when such support is required, including 
consideration of whether and how any social value, local economic and community 
benefits might be obtained from these.  

 
13.2. Implications verified/completed by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement (Job-

Share)  -  020 7361 2581.  
 
 
 

  
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Capital Programme 2016-20 
(Published Feb 2016) 

Christopher Harris tel. 
6440 

Finance Dept., 
Room10, 
Hammersmith 
Town Hall  

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1 – Detailed Capital Budgets, Spend and Variation analysis by Service 

Appendix 2 – Analysis of Budget Variations 

Appendix 3 – Capital Receipts Forecast 

Appendix 4 – Capital Finance Requirement 

Page 54



 

Appendix 1 – Detailed Capital Budget, Spend and Variation Analysis by Service  
 

Children's Services 

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total 

Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Lyric Theatre Development 2,145               -                   -              -                  -           2,145            -             -            - 2,145

Schools Organisational Strategy 33,128 (8,813) (1,008)              - (9,821)         23,307 16,524        501            - 40,332

Schools Window Replacement Project 9,258 (4,438)              - (4,438)           4,820 7,230      6,833            - 18,883

Other Capital Schemes 1,035               -                   -              -                  -           1,035            -             -            - 1,035

Total Expenditure      45,566 (13,251) (1,008)              - (14,259)         31,307   23,754      7,334            -    62,395 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government 25,857 (3,430)                   -              - (3,430)         22,427 4,968             -            - 27,395

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

          133 (133)                   -              - (133)                  - 5,499        501            -      6,000 

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-departmental 

public bodies

2,145               - (1,008)              - (1,008)           1,137            -             -            - 1,137

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies               -               -                   -              -                  -                  -            -             -            -             - 

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing      28,135 (3,563) (1,008)              - (4,571)         23,564   10,467        501            -    34,532 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts 2,193               -                   -              -                  -           2,193       807             -            - 3,000

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue funding) 230               -                   -              -                  -             230            -             -            - 230

Use of Reserves               -               -                   -              -                  -                  -            -             -            -             - 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding        2,423               -                   -              -                  -           2,423       807             -            -      3,230 

Borrowing        9,258 (4,438)                   -              - (4,438)           4,820 7,230      6,833            - 18,883

Funding to be identified/agreed        5,750 (5,250)                   - (5,250)             500    5,250             -            -      5,750 

 Total Capital Financing      45,566 (13,251) (1,008)              - (14,259) 31,307   23,754      7,334            -    62,395 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

 

P
age 55



 

Adult Social Care Services

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total 

Budget (All 

years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Extra Care New Build project (Adults' Personal 

Social Services Grant)

957 (957)                    -              - (957)                 -         20             -         937 957

Community Capacity Grant           244 (95)                    -              - (95)            149         95             -             - 244

Parkview Project               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

Transforming Care (Winterbourne Grant) 300                 -                    -              -                 -            300            -             -             - 300

Autism Capital Grant               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

Social Care Capital Grant 1,022                 -                    -              -                 -         1,022            -             -             - 1,022

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,041                 -                    -              -                 -         1,041 450 450 450 2,391

Total Expenditure        3,564 (1,052)                    -              - (1,052)         2,512       565         450      1,387      4,914 

;

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government 2,731 (1,052)                    -              - (1,052)         1,679       115             -         937 2,731

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

              -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

          300                 -                    -              -                 -            300            -             -             - 300

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing        3,031 (1,052)                    -              - (1,052)         1,979       115             -         937      3,031 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts 533                 -                    -              -                 -            533 450 450 450 1,883

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue funding)               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

Use of Reserves               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding           533                 -                    -              -                 -            533       450         450         450      1,883 

Borrowing               -                 -                    -              -                 -                 -            -             -             -             - 

 Total Capital Financing        3,564 (1,052)                    -              - (1,052)         2,512       565         450      1,387      4,914 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

 
 

P
age 56



 

Environmental Services

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total 

Budget (All 

years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme 8,769               -                   - (5,300) (5,300)         3,469 1,275 1,275 1,500 7,519

King Street Redevelopment                - (2,450)            4,250        5,300 7,100         7,100 3,575 1,325 1,000 13,000

Footways and Carriageways 2,395               -                   -               -                  -         2,395 2,030 2,030 2,030 8,485

Transport For London Schemes 3,005               -               138               - 138         3,143 2,157 2,157 2,157 9,614

Controlled Parking Zones 332               -                   -               -                  -            332 275 275 275 1,157

Column Replacement 305               -                   -               -                  -            305 269 269 269 1,112

Carnwath Road 3,070 (1,200)                   -               - (1,200)         1,870 1,200            -            - 3,070

Fulham Cemetery (Porta Cabin Facility) 85 (85)                   -               - (85)                 -         85            -            - 85

Hammersmith Bridge Strengthening 170               -                   -               -                  -            170            -            -            - 170

Other Capital Schemes 5,389               -               210               - 210         5,599            -            -            - 5,599

Parks Expenditure 1,426               -                   -               -                  -         1,426       500        500        500 2,926

Phoenix Centre Capital Improvements                -               -               350               -             350            350            -            -            - 350

Shepherds Bush Common Improvements 586               -                   -               -                  -            586            -            -            - 586

Recycling 19               -                   -               -                  -              19            -            -            - 19

CCTV 443               -                   -               -                  -            443            -            -            - 443

Linford Christie Stadium Refurbishment 140               -                   -               -                  -            140            -            -            - 140

Total Expenditure       26,134 (3,735)            4,948               - 1,213        27,347   11,366     7,831     7,731    54,275 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government                -               -                   -               -                  -                 -            -            -            -             - 

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

4,628               -            4,460 (619) 3,841         8,469            -            -            - 8,469

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-departmental 

public bodies

               -               -                   -               -                  -                 -            -            -            -             - 

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies 2,615               -               138          200 338         2,953 2,157 2,157 2,157 9,424

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing         7,243               -            4,598 -        419 4,179        11,422    2,157     2,157     2,157    17,893 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts 15,369 (3,735)                   - (4,037) (7,772)         7,597 8,665 3,390 3,390 23,042

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue funding) 1,432               -                   -        2,333 2,333         3,765 544 544 544 5,397

Use of Reserves 2,090               -               350 (1,890) (1,540)            550            -            -            - 550

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding       18,891 (3,735)               350 -     3,594 (6,979)        11,912    9,209     3,934     3,934    28,989 

Borrowing                -               -                   -        4,013           4,013         4,013            -     1,740     1,640      7,393 

 Total Capital Financing       26,134 (3,735)            4,948               - 1,213        27,347   11,366     7,831     7,731    54,275 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

 

P
age 57



 

 

Finance & Corporate Governance

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total 

Budget (All 

years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Relocation of HAFAD  to Edward Woods 

Community Centre and Related Refurbishment 

Requirements 

436                -                    -               -                  -           436           -            -            -         436 

Total Expenditure            436                -                    -               -                  -           436           -            -            -         436 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

436                -                    -               -                  -           436           -            -            -         436 

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-departmental 

public bodies

               -                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing            436                -                    -               -                  -           436           -            -            -         436 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts                -                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue funding)                -                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

Use of Reserves                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding                -                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

Borrowing                -                -                    -               -                  -               -           -            -            -              - 

 Total Capital Financing            436                -                    -               -                  -           436           -            -            -         436 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

 
 

P
age 58



 

 

Libraries Services 

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future 

years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total 

Budget (All 

years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

Hammersmith Library Refurbishment Project          285               -                    -                -                 -          285            -            -            - 285

Total Expenditure          285               -                    -                -                 -          285            -            -            -         285 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Capital Grants from Central Government               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

         285               -                    -                -                 -          285            -            -            - 285

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-

departmental public bodies

              -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

Capital Grants and Contributions from GLA Bodies               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing          285               -                    -                -                 -          285            -            -         285 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council 

Resource)

Capital Receipts               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

General Fund Revenue Account (revenue funding)               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

Use of Reserves               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -              - 

Borrowing               -               -                    -                -                 -              -            -            -            -              - 

 Total Capital Financing          285               -                    -                -                 -          285            -            -            -         285 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

 
 

P
age 59



 

Housing Capital Programme

2016/17 

Revised 

Budget 

(Q1)

Slippages 

from/(to) 

future years 

Additions/

(Reductions)

Transfers Total 

Transfers/

Virements

Revised 

Budget 

2016/17 

(Q2)

2017/18 

Budget

2018/19

 Budget

2019/20

 Budget

Total Budget 

(All years)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Scheme Expenditure Summary 

HRA Schemes:

Supply Initiatives (Major Voids) 1,600                 -                   -             53 53         1,653       500            -            - 2,153

Energy Schemes 3,995 (1,707)                   - (53) (1,760)         2,235 4,277 2,175 2,200 10,887

Lift Schemes 6,033 (750)                   -                - (750)         5,283 5,535 5,165 1,850 17,833

Internal Modernisation 1,000                 -                   -                -                 -         1,000       250        250 500 2,000

Major Refurbishments 22,962 (1,630)                   - 3 (1,627)       21,335 14,585 9,893 11,849 57,662

Planned Maintenance Framework 6,116                 -                   - (2) (2)         6,114       250            -            - 6,364

Minor Programmes 9,083 (150)               800 (1) 649         9,732 6,945 6,452 7,209 30,338

ASC/ELRS Managed 1,309                 -                   -                -                 -         1,309 950 950 900 4,109

HRA Debt Repayment        1,563                 -                   -                -                 -         1,563            -            -            - 1,563

Rephasing & Reprogramming (3,129)                 - 3,129                - 3,129                -            -            -            -                  - 

Subtotal HRA 50,532 (4,237)        3,929           -           (308)                50,224 33,292 24,885 24,508 132,909

Decent Neighbourhood Schemes:

Earls Court Buy Back Costs 8,482                 -                   -                -                 -         8,482 7,008 13,142 25,181 53,813

Earls Court Project Team Costs 813 (168)                   -                - (168)            645 1,409 4,612 2,854 9,520

Housing Development Project 5,181 (4,067)                   -                - (4,067)         1,114     9,361          92            - 10,567

Other DNP projects 2,105                 -               146                - 146         2,251       467            -            - 2,718

Subtotal Decent Neighbourhoods 16,581 (4,235)        146             -           (4,089)              12,492 18,245 17,846 28,035 76,618

Total Expenditure      67,113 (8,472)            4,075                - (4,397) 62,716 51,537   42,731   52,543       209,527 

Adjustment for deferred costs (813)        168            -              -           168            (645) (1,409) (4,612) (2,854) (9,520)

Total Net Expenditure      66,300 (8,304)            4,075                - (4,229) 62,071   50,128   38,119   49,689       200,007 

 Capital Financing Summary 

Specific/External or Other Financing

Contributions from leaseholders 9,786                 -                   -                -                 -         9,786 2,849 2,849 2,849 18,333

Grants and Contributions from Private Developers 

(includes S106)

3,177 (2,480)                   -                - (2,480)            697     5,855          58            - 6,609

Capital Grants/Contributions from Non-departmental 

public bodies

              -                 -                   -                -                 -                -       270            -       270 540

Sub-total - Specific or Other Financing      12,963 (2,480)                   -                - (2,480)       10,483     8,974     2,907     3,119         25,482 

Mainstream Financing (Internal Council Resource)

Capital Receipts 31,098 (4,904) 4,075                - (829)       30,269 7,885 17,456 14,619 70,229

Housing Revenue Account (revenue funding) 3,048                 -                   -                -                 -         3,048 3,702        353 1,562 8,665

Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) / Major Repairs 

Allowance (MRA)

18,109                 -                   -                -                 -       18,109 17,820 17,404 19,794 73,127

 Sub-total - Mainstream Funding 52,255 (4,904) 4,075                - (829)       51,426 29,407 35,213 35,975       152,021 

Borrowing (Internal Borrowing) 1,082 (920)                   -                - (920)            162 11,747            -   10,595 22,503

 Total Capital Financing      66,300 (8,304)            4,075                - (4,229)       62,071   50,128   38,119   49,689       200,007 

Analysis of Movements (Q1 to Q2)

Indicative Future Years AnalysisCurrent Year Programme

P
age 60



 

Appendix 2 – Analysis of Budget Variations  
 
 

Variation by Service Amount 
£’000 

Children’s Services (CHS)  

School’s Organisation Strategy – Slippage from/(to) 2017/18 in respect of the 
following projects: 
Ark Conway £(2,470)k 
Bentworth £(473)k 
Burlington Danes £(149)k 
Queens Manor Resource Centre- £(5,250)k 
Bridge Academy £(531)k 
Pope John £60k 

(8,813) 

School’s Organisation Strategy-Adjustment to budget of £(1,008)k for Sacred 
Heart High School to reflect the school-funded element of this programme.  This 
project has now been completed. 

(1,008) 

Slippage of Schools’ Windows project of £(4,438)k to future years due to re-
profiling. 

(4,438) 

Total CHS variations (14,259) 

Adult Social Care (ASC)  

Community Capacity Grant –slippage to 2017/18  (95) 

Extra Care New Build Project- slippage to future years  (957) 

Total ASC variations (1,052) 

Environmental Services (ENV)  

TFL funded schemes -additional budget to reflect an increase in external funding 
(TFL grant) 

138 

Planned Maintenance/DDA Programme-budget transfer to recognise 
Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment/King Street Redevelopment as a 
separate project 

(5,300) 

Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment/King Street Redevelopment- budget 
transfer of £5,300k from Planned Maintanance/DDA Programme and additional 
budget of £4,250k funded by S106 (as approved by Cabinet on 6th July 2015) 

9,550 

Other Capital Schemes- additional budget to reflect an increase in external 
funding (S106) 

210 

Phoenix Centre Capital Improvements – new approved project financed by 
Public Health Funding received in 2015/16 

350 

Fulham Cemetery (Porta Cabin Facility)-slippage to 2017/18 due to project 
delays 

(85) 

Carnwath Road-slippage to 2017/18 (1,200) 

Hammersmith Town Hall Refurbishment/King Street Redevelopment-slippage to 
future years due to project delays  

(2,450) 

Total ENV variations 1,213 

Housing Capital Programme  

HRA schemes- net slippage from/(to) future years as a result of budget re-
profiling 

(308) 

Earls Court Project Team Costs –slippage due to  project delays  (168) 

Housing Development Project- slippages result of delay in start of the existing 
housing development schemes due to procurement issues  

(4,067) 

Other DNP projects-additional budget for Emlyn Gardens project to reflect 
adjustment to final invoices. 

146 

Adjustment for deferred costs –reduction in costs related to Earls Court project   168 

Total Housing variations (4,229) 

Grand Total 2016-17 Variations (18,327) 

Page 61



 

Appendix 3 – General Fund – Summary of Forecast Capital Receipts and mainstream 
resource tracker 
 

Year/Property Previous 

Forecast 

£'000s

Movement/

Slippage 

£'000s

Forecast 

Outturn at 

Quarter 2 

£'000s

Deposit 

received 

to date 

£'000s

Full sales 

proceeds  

@ Q2 

£'000s

Deferred 

Costs of 

Disposal  

reserved 

£'000s

2016/17

Total 2016/17 13,079         (5,599) 7,479          250             575           449 

2017/18

Total 2017/18 8,983          6,236 15,218            -                  -             549 

2018/19

Total 2018/19 3,840                -   3,840            -                  -               -   

2019/20

Total 2019/20         3,840                -   3,840            -                  -               -   

Total All Years 29,741             636 30,378          250 575           998  
 

 
 
 Mainstream Forecast Resource Tracker 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Capital Receipts B/fwd 2,844                - 1,380 -          

Capital Receipts generated in year 7,479 15,218 3,840 3,840

Capital Receipts used in year - Capital 

Expenditure

(10,323) (9,922) (5,220) (3,840)

Capital Receipts used in year - repayment of 

internal borrowing

                  - (3,916)               -               - 

 Capital Receipts C/fwd                   -         1,380               -             -    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

Appendix 4 – The Capital Finance Requirement (CFR) and the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 
The Capital Finance Requirement (CFR) measures an authority’s underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose. 
 
The CFR is the difference between capital expenditure incurred and the resources 
set aside to fund this expenditure.  It serves as a measure of an authority’s capital 
indebtedness. 
 
The CFR does not necessarily equal the outstanding loans of the authority.  A council 
may – at a given point in time - be ‘cash rich’ and pay for a new asset in full without 
entering into new loans.  However, unless the Council simultaneously sets aside 
reserves, this purchase remains ‘unfunded’ and the CFR will increase.  This scenario 
is known as ‘internal borrowing’.   
 
The CFR can therefore be thought of as the total of external borrowing (loans) and 
internal borrowing. 
 
An alternative way of considering the CFR is that it represents the amount the 
Council would need to borrow if all its other liabilities were called-in.  Hence it shows 
the ‘underlying need to borrow’. 
 
To the keep the CFR ‘in check’, Local Authorities are required to recognise an annual 
revenue cost – known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  The MRP will, 
over time, reduce the CFR.  There are several options for selecting MRP, although 
traditionally this has been 4% of the CFR.   
 

Page 63



1 
 

 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & 

Fulham 
 

CABINET 
 

5th December 2016 
 

 

 

ICT Transition - Assuring Service Continuity Phase 3 – Transformation of 
Telephony and Network Services 

 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid 
 

Open Report 
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the agenda provides exempt information in 
connection with this report. 
 

Classification - For Decision 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Nigel Palace, Chief Executive 
 

Report Author: 
Jackie Hudson, Transition Director, 
shared ICT services 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 
Email: jackie.hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. The council last updated its telephony and network equipment in 1999 with a 
major refresh funded by a capital spend of over £1 million. This means the 
telephony switch equipment now is 17 years old, antiquated and has come to 
the end-of-life.  

1.2. The outdated equipment at the heart of the telephony service, without an 
upgrade, risks compromising all phone calls including residents’ telephone 
calls to and from the council and staff telephone calls internally. Therefore, the 
council must carry out a major upgrade with some urgency. 

1.3. In addition, the council also has some end of life network equipment which 
again would threaten service disruption if not replaced soon.  This paper 
recommends its replacement.  

Page 64

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

1.4. Finally, a major business change, the Hammersmith town hall (HTH) 
refurbishment, demands modern technology to deliver future-proofed services 
and a further significant increase in mobile working.  The recommendation in 
this paper also supports this major change. 

1.5. The council’s joint network team is commissioning and overseeing the delivery 
of any change detailed below. The service tower 4 partner (BT) is delivering 
commodity items including providing the data circuits, hardware and the 
managed services infrastructure support, service, design, and delivery.   

1.6. This paper proposes that BT, through the Lot 4 agreement (Call Off Contract – 
Relating to Information and Technology Services), installs new telephone and 
network lines plus associated services, to meet the following six requirements: 

1. Hammersmith corporate network and broadband sites 

 BT will replace H&F’s existing corporate network with BT’s new service 
to 29 larger sites. This new service is a private cloud based service that 
offers multiple network access options in terms of improved 
performance, service levels, support, and availability. 

 

 Secondly, BT will replace the whole series of 69 remote users / small 
sites (e.g.) Sheltered Housing sites, who currently experience poor 
quality connections and service. Instead, the new replacement service 
will use an internet based service called Super-Fast Broadband 
(“SFBB”) that results if better connections, support, and consistent 
speed. 

 

2. Hammersmith telephony trunking - this consists of three distinct elements; 

 

 This would take all H&F’s outdated telephony systems and upgrade 
and bundle them into just one single service, known as SIP. This is the 
highest standard of technology for all telephone calls and services.  

 The council now has over 6000 telephone lines i.e. direct dial lines for 
round 2,600 staff. The plan is to consolidate these lines into this new 
SIP service. This will completely digitise the service i.e. see the end of 
more analogue calls and equipment. 

 

 The council must have enough SIP channels to support existing digital 
inbound and outbound call volumes and usage, Netcall and Interactive 
Voice Recognition (IVR).  This will support those corporate contact 
centre services. 

3. Hammersmith Secure Internet Gateway 

 The council must have access to a gateway for all the Internet 
transactions that it currently does: Netcall Service centre, Adult Social 
care, staff access to Internet etc. This ensures all data and transactions 
remain safe and secure in line with the latest standards for the Internet. 

 

Page 65



3 
 

4. Network Hardware Support 

 The council must ensure its present estate of network hardware 
equipment is protected with the appropriate level of support. This 
measure ensures the council receives the right level of support and 
maintenance for its four key vendors (Cisco, Aruba, Juniper and F5). 

5. Unify Openscape Unified Communications system upgrade  

 This project will see the upgrade of the council’s present Openscape 
Unified Communications solution to the latest version. The current 
version is now end-of-life and will soon be out of support with its 
supplier. It remains a critical council business system and requires an 
immediate upgrade.  

6. Netcall migration to fully hosted solution 

 Netcall runs all the councils contact centre and IVR telephone menu 
technology. As such, it is one of the councils most critical systems to 
both staff and residents, and it also must be upgraded for this business 
critical system to be as secure as possible. Therefore it must be moved 
to a hosted solution off council premises. This will ensure greater 
connectivity, safer connections and improved resilience and 
maintenance. In addition, the Netcall system software itself will be 
upgraded to the latest version.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Cabinet is asked to approve the purchase of new telephone and network 
lines with associated managed services from BT, as described in section 1.6 
of this report, for a one off cost of approximately £449,000. In addition to 
modernising the equipment, this will enable a saving of at least £187,000 per 
year against an existing budget of c.£748,000. 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The recommendation is on the basis that the savings associated will be in the 
order of £859,000 over 5 years. 

3.2. The report seeks approval of funding to improve the quality of ICT service 
currently experienced by residents and staff. 

3.3. The council has business critical services which it has to continue to provide 
post the end of the service contract with HFBP.  These include among other 
services the platforms for all inbound and outbound calls to residents.   

3.4. The council needs to have the capacity to deliver the HTH refurbishment to a 
high quality with good ICT. 

3.5. Much of the ICT equipment and systems described here are nearing end-of-
life. 

Page 66



4 
 

3.6. These works will ensure the Council stops using end-of-life telephony and 
network equipment that are up to 17 years old. 

4. BUSINESS BENEFITS 

4.1. The proposed investment future proofs the council’s ICT service delivery for at 
least the next 5 years, and guarantees the critical continuity of service to 
council and residents. 

4.2. Large cost reductions in annual charges when compared to existing network 
and telephony spend. 

4.3. The joint network team will create a single consolidated service infrastructure 
whereby there is only one set of hardware and software to support which 
yields further efficiencies. In addition, there will be just one single vendor point 
of contact (BT) for all the technologies outlined here. 

4.4. By using the very latest consistent broadband, network and technology 
standards, there will be increased capacity and availability to critical services, 
sites, and its users, providing higher performance at a lower cost.  

4.5. The council and residents will benefit from modern, much improved 
standardised network security - thus ensuring the integrity and priority of data 
and information. Such measures provide a common platform for H&F council 
to share applications and services, with further expandability for other online 
services, facilitates sharing with other councils. For residents, it means easier 
more reliable ways to contact the council. 

4.6. Improved management reporting of both incoming and outgoing calls with 
statistics on numbers of calls abandoned, answered, etc. On outgoing calls, 
H&F will have access to better statistics and billing data. 

5. FINANCIAL COSTS 

5.1. Below is a summary of the financial considerations for all the recommended 
projects: 

 

Project 
One-Off 
Costs 

(£’000’s) 

FY 16/17 
Q4 

FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 

Total Cost 449 84 561 561 557 557 

Current Cost N/A 187 748 748 744 744 

Saving N/A 103 187 187 191 191 

 

Page 67



5 
 

6. IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. The report is aligned with the current ICT strategy and vision of converging 
software and infrastructure, whilst enabling better collaboration and 
productivity amongst staff. It is a key enabler to a range of critical council 
initiatives, including the realisation of savings in excess of £4.7m.  

Verified by:  Ciara Shimidzu, Head of Information, Strategy and Projects, 0208 
753 3895. 

7. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. There are no procurement related implications contained in the 
recommendations. It is the intention of the council to call off from an existing 
contractual arrangement that it has with BT.  

Verified by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement (Job-share).  Telephone 
0208 753 2581. 

8. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. Delivery of the project will require up-front investment of £449,000. This will be  
funded from the Efficiency Projects Reserve (through a transfer to the IT 
Enablers Fund). The project will deliver anticipated annual savings of 
£187,000 per annum. The pay-back period of the up-front investment is 2.4 
years.  

8.2. The annual savings will contribute towards the existing MTFS target for overall 
IT savings of £4,700,000.   

Verified by: Andrew Lord – Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring -  
Finance 020 8753 2531. 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. No legal implications. 

Implications completed by: Andre Jaskowiak, Deputy Team Leader 
(Contracts) 0207 361 2756. 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT 

10.1. Several strategic risks, all relating to the timeliness and proximate risk, of 
decision-making need to be managed. A timely decision is essential or legal 
and procurement impact, staffing impact and service failure are all likely. 
These would impact negatively, if realised, on the following risks; managing in 
year and medium term budgets; market testing and achieving the best 
possible services at lowest possible cost to the local taxpayer; Service 
Resilience; decision making and the consequential impact on the reputation of 
services. A further risk is that of the complexity and risk in the programme 
generally. 

Page 68



6 
 

10.2. An urgent upgrade to telephony equipment is needed. Without this the LBHF 
telephony switches are beyond end of life.  Unless the council plans and 
implements renewal soon, it is likely that there will be a service failure where 
members of the public potentially would not be able to call into the council.  
This service failure would have significant reputational risk to the council and 
would incur extra cost to deliver the service, perhaps through differing 
resources whilst the issue is resolved. 

 
Verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk Manager, 0208 753 
2587 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (AS AMENDED) 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

 
None. 

 

Page 69



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5TH DECEMBER 2016 

 

 

 

SUBSCRIPTIONS/AFFILIATIONS FOR EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS 
2017/18 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision / For Information 
 
Key Decision: Yes 

Wards Affected: ALL 
 

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
 

Report Author: Gary Ironmonger 
– Finance Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2109 
E-mail: gary.ironmonger@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. Historically the decision to subscribe to London Councils, Local 
Government Association and the London Boroughs Grants Scheme has 
been taken by Cabinet in the January preceding the financial year the 
subscriptions are due. 
 

1.2. Because these subscription rates are not set until mid to late December 
there are timing difficulties in taking these reports to Members. Special 
dispensation is required to get reports onto the Cabinet Agenda.  It is 
therefore proposed that the final decision on these subscriptions are 
delegated to the Cabinet Member for Finance in order to fit in with the 
LBHF reporting timetable. 
 

1.3. The financial value of these subscriptions and grants contributions will be 
in the range of £370,000 to £400,000 based on 2016/17 figures. The 
subscription to London Councils for 2016/17 was £161,958 with a one off 
rebate of £25,000. The base borough LBHF contribution to the London 
Borough Grants scheme was £188,006 in 2016/17 offset by a one off 
repayment to boroughs from reserves. The subscription to the Local 
Government Association in 2016/17 was £26,577 (inclusive of discounts 
totalling 5%). 
 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Finance to 
renew the subscription to London Councils for 2017/18. 
 

2.2. That delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Finance to 
approve the 2017/18 contribution to the London Boroughs Grant Scheme. 
 

2.3. That delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Finance to 
renew the subscription to the Local Government Association in 2017/18. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. A decision is required in order to streamline the process for authorising the 
major corporate subscriptions/affiliations and grant contributions. 

 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. This report deals with the major corporate subscriptions/affiliations whose 
funding is included in the Finance and Corporate Services’ estimates.  

 
5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. Approval is being sought to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for 
Finance to decide on the renewal of the subscription to London Councils 
and the Local Government Association for 2017/18 and the London 
Boroughs Grant Scheme for 2017/18. The level of 2016/17 contributions 
are included in paragraphs 5.2 to 5.5 to provide background information 
 

5.2. The Local Government Association subscription for 2016/17 after 
discounts for prompt payment and a loyalty discount for not being on 
notice of withdrawal is £26,577. This subscription has been frozen at the 
2013/14 level and has reduced by 45% since 2009/10 (appendix 1a) 

 
5.3. The 2016/17 subscription for London Councils is £161,958.  In 2016/17, 

there will be a one off reduction of £25,000 funded from London Council 
joint committee reserves reducing the payment due to £136,958 (appendix 
1a). 

 
5.4. The total cost of the London Boroughs contribution to the Grant Scheme 

has been held at £9m for 2016/17 and the LBHF contribution is £188,006 
(appendix 1b).  After allowing for a one off rebate from reserves the net 
cost to LBHF is £177,854. 

 
5.5. The benefits of continuing membership of these organisations is contained 

in appendix 2. 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 
6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

6.1. The rationale for continuing the subscriptions to London Councils and the 
Local Government Association are based on the benefits of continuing 
membership of these organisations as expanded on in Appendix 2. 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1. N/A 
 

8. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. N/A 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. Two of the three subscription and grant contributions outlined in this report 
involve decisions with expenditure of over £100,000.  Decisions involving 
expenditure of more than £100,000 can be categorised as key decisions 
and should be included on any key decision list.  Where the delegation 
currently exists for Cabinet to take such a decision then a report from 
Cabinet authorising the delegation of these specific decisions to the 
Cabinet Member for Finance should be completed and approved by 
Cabinet.  The Cabinet Member for Finance would then reply on that report 
as authority to make the decisions outlined in this report.  
 

9.2. Implications completed by: - Joyce Golder, Principal Solicitor, 020 7361 
2181 

 
10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. The financial implications will be finalised when the level of the 
subscriptions/contributions are known.  Currently there is sufficient budget 
to support these affiliations/contributions. 
 

10.2. Implications completed by: Gary Ironmonger. 
 

11. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

11.1. There are no implications that affect local businesses.  
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

12.1. There are no implications. 
 

13. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

13.1. There are no immediate procurement implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 72



13.2. Implications completed by: - John Francis, Interim Head of Procurement 
(job-share), 020 8753 2582 

Page 73



 

APPENDIX 1a 

 
ORGANISATION 

 
SUBSCRIPTIONS 

2015/2016 
 

 
SUBSCRIPTIONS 

2016/2017 
 

1 
London Councils Base- for 
the joint committee core and 
associated functions. 

£158,255 £152,740 

2 
London Councils - Central 
bodies (LGE Grant). 

£3,763 £3,763 

3 
London Councils – 16-19 
RPG Regional Activities. 

£5,455 £5,455 

 
London Councils 
Subscription 

£167,473 £161,958 

4 

London Councils – 2015/16 
one off credit (funded from 
uncommitted Joint Committee 
reserve. 

£(25,000) £(25,000) 

 London Councils – Sub Total £142,473 £136,958 

5 
Local Government Association 
(including AMA rent credit - see 
appendix 2).   

£26,577 £26,577 

 TOTAL £169,050 £163,535 

 
Appendix 1b 

 

 2015/16 
Contribution (£) 

2016/17 
Contribution (£) 

LBHF Contribution to the London 
Boroughs Grant Scheme 

£191,078 £188,006 

Page 74



APPENDIX 2 
 

DETAILS OF SUBSCRIPTION/AFFILIATION ORGANISATIONS  
 

1. LONDON COUNCILS  
 

London Councils is the local government association for London, bringing together 
representatives of the 32 London Boroughs and the Corporation of London. It 
develops policy, lobbies government and others, and runs a range of services 
including the Freedom Pass, the Taxicard Scheme, the London Lorry Control 
Scheme and the Parking and Traffic Appeals Service.  

  
2. LONDON COUNCILS - LOCAL GOVERNMENT EMPLOYERS ORGANISATION 

(CENTRAL BODIES) 
 

The Local Government Employers was created by the Local Government 
Association and works with local authorities, regional employers, and other bodies 
to lead and create solutions on pay, pensions and the employment contract. 
 

3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION  
 

The Local Government Association (LGA) promotes the interests of English and 
Welsh local authorities. 
 
The LGA exists to promote better local government and is a voluntary lobbying 
organisation.  
 
In addition to representing various local government authorities it also represents 
fire authorities, police authorities, national park authorities and passenger transport 
authorities. The LGA also provides support to help councils and councillors develop 
and improve.  
 
Explanation of the AMA rental/finance credit from the LGA - The annual LGA 
membership subscription of each former member of the Association of Metropolitan 
Authorities (AMA), which previously contributed to the purchase of the AMA's 
former offices at 35 Great Smith Street, is adjusted each year by a rental/finance 
credit.  Before the LGA moved to Local Government House in Smith Square, it 
used the offices at 35 Great Smith Street and the rental credit represented an 
individual authority’s share of the rent that was due to the AMA (Properties) 
Limited.  The building was sold in 1999 and the proceeds of £6.2 million were 
invested in Local Government House in the form of a loan.  Each (finance) credit 
(initially £6,000) now represents interest payable on the loan.  The credit is 
reviewed every five years and adjusted with the Retail Price Index (RPI).  The 
credit is currently £7,965. 

 

Page 75



 

1 
 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5 December 2016 

 

 

COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR THE TRANSLATION 
AND INTERPRETING SERVICE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education – Councillor Sue 
Macmillan 
 

Open Report 
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial 
information. 
 

Classification: For Decision 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Rachael Wright-Turner, Director for Commissioning – 
Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: 
Labibun Nessa-O’Sullivan, Strategic 
Commissioner 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07739317332 
E-mail: Labibun.Nessa-O’Sullivan@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report sets out the commissioning and procurement strategies for the Translation 

and Interpreting service (T&I) for London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
(LBHF) based on a call off from the Crown Commercial Service (CCS) Language 
Services Framework Agreement (RM1092). This paper recommends a commissioning 
strategy to implement a managed service contract; to formally procure services to 
award a contract to a single supplier for the delivery of all elements of the service as 
contained in the report. This commissioning strategy is aiming to achieve greater 
efficiencies of between 25-39%1 through the move from the current spot purchasing 
arrangements to a managed service from the framework Lot 1 and channel shifting to 
use of more technology such as telephone and video conferencing facilities. 

 
1.2. The aim of commissioning a new service is to develop a translation and interpreting 

service that provides improved quality language services which helps protect 
vulnerable adults, children and families across the council and promotes accessibility; 
is cost effective and delivered to a consistent set of standards and performance 

                                            
1
 This figure is based on a comparison of known spend between CITAS on a spot purchase rate for 

face to face interpreting compared to known CCS spend prices.  

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

indicators. The Council currently spend approximately £170k per annum on these 
services on a spot purchasing arrangement with a number of suppliers.  

 
1.3. Previously a strategy paper for LBHF Translation and Interpreting service was taken to 

Children’s CoCo on the 15 and 29 June 2016 and Adult’s CoCo on the 19 July 2016. 
The strategy was to set up an LBHF specific Framework Agreement to support SMEs. 
The main local provider in LBHF was Community Interpreting Translation and Access 
Services (CITAS). 

 

1.4. However, on the 8 September 2016, CITAS notified the council that they would cease 
trading on Friday, 30 September 2016. This has prompted the need to develop a new 

commissioning and procurement strategy for LBHF. 
 
1.5. The reason for this approach is because the SME market has become less established 

since the recent closure of CITAS in September 2016. 
 

1.6. The local T&I market in H&F no longer exists since the closure of CITAS in September 
2016, save for freelance translators and interpreters. The proposed strategy will 
nevertheless help to support local freelance translators through the use of an 
evaluation criteria being developed for this purpose, by ensuring potential suppliers 
commit to engaging with, and using local interpreters, where possible. Local 
interpreters currently registered with CITAS have been guided to register with 
suppliers listed on the CCS Language Services Framework, as well as those suppliers 
currently being used by LBHF, WCC and RBKC. All of these opportunities will be 
provided, to a greater degree, through pursuing/adopting the procurement strategy that 
is proposed in this report. This is in line with Council priorities 

 
1.7. A number of services within LBHF purchase T&I services for a range of service users 

across the council. This includes service users in Children’s Services, Adult’s Services, 
Housing and Customer Services. Whilst the greatest demand for translation and 
interpreting service is from Children’s Services, accounting for 74% of the total usage, 
the proposed approach will be accessible council wide to all departments and teams. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

a) That authority be given to run a competitive call off from the Crown Commercial 
Service (CCS) Language Services Framework Agreement (RM1092) Lot 1, with 
a view to awarding a contract to one provider for a period of three (3) years and 
6 month, with an option to extend for a further two (2) years (a maximum of five 
years (5) 6 months). The anticipated total lifetime contract value, depending on 
usage and demand, is approximately £962,000 with a tolerance of +/- 20% 
dependent on procurement prices and usage (based on known 2015/16 actual 
usages); 
 

b) That the contract award decision be delegated to the Cabinet Member for 

Children and Education and/or the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion. 
 
3.  REASON FOR DECISION 
3.1 The key reasons for this decision are:  
 

i. There is a statutory duty on Local Authorities to make services accessible to 
all, regardless of the language or communication needs of the service user.  

ii. The new contract offers opportunity to improve service quality by putting in 
place a clear specification and robust KPIs through a new contract and 
coherent contract monitoring arrangements.  

Page 77



 

3 
 

iii. With the CCS Framework there is scope to specify 'bespoke' quality 
requirements in line with the Boroughs’ specific requirements, for example, 
consideration of 'community issues' such as; community knowledge, 
understanding particular aspects of the interpreting, specialist knowledge of 
an area etc. 

iv. Gives opportunity to make financial savings  
 

4. BACKGROUND 
 

Current Service Delivery Model in LBHF  
 
4.1 LBHF purchase T&I services for a range of service users across the 

organisation. This includes service users in Children’s Services, Adult’s Services, 
Housing and Customer Services. 

 
4.2 The spend data analysis form 2015/16 shows that services are spot purchased from a 

range of translation and interpreting providers including Shahbana Aslam, Awaaz 
Language Link Ltd and ‘Western District Coroner´s Service and CITAS. 
 

4.3 At present there is no definitive or straightforward way to determine if LBHF is 
receiving good quality, efficient and effective Translation and Interpreting service, 
because there is no single contract, specification or clear model of service delivery in 
LBHF, against which these can be measured.  
 

4.4 Appendix 1 sets out the Business Case and Procurement Strategy for this project. 
The appendix provides detailed information about the service, who provides it and 
who uses it and how it will be re procured. Section 2: Financial Information provides 
detailed information on the spend profile for the service. 
 

4.5 Early engagement was undertaken with both suppliers and users of the service. A 
variety of different approaches were used including desk research, telephone 
interviews and a formal stakeholder engagement event for departments and teams. 

 
5. OPTIONS 
 
5.1 A number of options were considered which are set out in detail in Appendix 1 – 

Section 3: Options Appraisal and Risk Management. A summary of key options and 
considerations is provided below: 

 Option 1 – Do nothing: adopting this option would not maximise potential 
efficiencies and would breach EU procurement rules  

 Option 2 – Procure a new shared service across the three boroughs: whilst this 
option would potentially offer greater efficiencies, it may limit access to SMEs. 
Also, Westminster City Council and the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea have already gone out to tender.  

 Option 3 - Call-off from an existing national framework e.g. CCS or ESPO 
Framework: this option will shorten the route to market by running a mini-
competition between pre-qualified providers, on a framework which has been 
proven to deliver value for money.  

 
5.2 There are advantages to calling off the CCS Language Services Framework 

Agreement (RM1092); these are:  
 

  Secure a reduction in unit cost process for LBHF (in the region of 25-39%), 
given the known CCS Framework price compared with current spot purchasing 

Page 78



 

4 
 

costs (for face to face translation only, given the availability of current spot 
purchase finance data);  

 Realising savings earlier (c. 3-6 months) because of the ease of access to the 
CCS Framework;  

 
5.3 The proposed call-off from the CCS Framework Agreement would be in place for a 

maximum period of 5.5 years (three years 6 month plus up to a further two years). 
The proposed Lot (Lot 1 - Managed Service), contains a number of services (these 
include; face to face provision, telephone translation, transcript translation and British 
Sign Language). The managed service means a contract with one supplier will be 
established for the delivery of all elements of the service.  

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1 Service user feedback indicates that the majority are not particular about specific 

providers as long as they are able to receive the required service at the required time 
and that interpreters are sensitive to specific cultural contexts. Stakeholders have 
highlighted that many of the translators are by definition, directly involved in sensitive 
and complex issues, so any new providers need to understand/prepare for this extra 
level of complexity. If this procurement were to result in the award to a different 
provider to any of the ones currently being used by LBHF, this is not anticipated to be 
problematic for existing service users, as long as key service levels are being met. 
 

6.2 Appendix 1, Section 8 provides further information on Stakeholder Consultation. 
 
7. EQUALITY 
7.1 The service supports the Authority’s responsibility of complying with Equality and 

Diversity and to ensure that we take account of the needs of the diverse groups in the 
community. 
 

7.2 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been completed for this service and 
we do not anticipate any adverse impact on any groups with protected characteristics 
as no change to current service is being recommended and the service standard 
already supports equality principles. The commissioning and procurement options will 
not impact on access by users.  

 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The translation and interpretation services are above the threshold (currently 

£164,176.00) where a European procurement exercise is required under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) in accordance one of the procedures 
set out therein. 
 

8.2 Subject to approval of the Procurement Strategy outlined in this report, the proposal is 
to undertake a mini-competition under the CCS Framework Agreement Lot 1 and to 
appoint a single supplier. 
 

8.3 This approach is compliant with the Regulations as Framework Agreements are one 
of the procurement procedures provided for under Part 2 of the Regulations. 

 
8.4 In accordance with CSO 8.12.1 Cabinet approval is required for procurement 

strategies where the estimated value is £100,000 or more. 
 

Page 79



 

5 
 

8.5 CSO 17.3.1 allows for the Cabinet Member to award contracts valued between 
£100,000 and £5,000,0000, providing that the value falls within a 10% tolerance of the 
estimated value set out in the Procurement Strategy and Business Case. 
 

8.6 Implications verified by: Margaret O’Connor: Solicitor (Contracts), Legal 
Services - Tel: 0207 641 2782 

 
9. PROCUREMENT AND GOVERNANCE  

 
9.1 The success of translation and interpreting services relies heavily on the ability of the 

suppliers and translators to deliver the required services. This can be achieved 
through increased competition and better value for money provided through 
procurement 

 
9.2 A mini competition process will be run amongst suppliers on Lot 1. During the process 

we will: 

 develop a Statement of Requirements setting out the H&F requirements for the 
T&I Services and identify the Framework Suppliers capable of supplying the 
Services within the relevant Lot 1;  

 amend or refine the terms of the call-off agreement to reflect our requirements 
(to the extent permitted by and in accordance with procurement law and 

guidance).  

 invite suppliers to develop proposals to meet our specific requirements (for 
example, service levels, minimum qualifications, etc.); and 

 apply the Further Competition Award Criteria, as per CCS, as the basis for 
contract award. 

 Subject to the relevant authority being given, contract will be award to the 
successful supplier. 

 
9.3 Appendix 1 details the Evaluation Methodology and Criteria. 
 
9.4 Implications verified by: Kemi Ore, Interim Procurement Consultant - Tel: 07739 

316952 and Kevin Churchill, Interim Procurement Consultant for LBHF - Tel: 0208 753 
4519 

 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

10.1 The council’s service resilience group was activated as the previous provider served 
notice that they were ceasing trading, risk number 6. Temporary mitigations were put 
into place to ensure that no client services were affected. Market Testing of the service 
is being undertaken in accordance with risk number 4, delivering the best possible 
services at lowest cost to the local taxpayer. 

 
Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager - Tel: 020 8753 2587 

 
11. SOCIAL VALUE AND BUSINESS IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 LBHF has chosen to access the CCS framework agreement for translation and 

interpretation services with the intention of contributing to the social, economic and 
community development in the Borough.  In accessing the framework agreement 

Page 80



 

6 
 

supplier will be asked to answer a question about local economic value and how they 
will contribute to it.   

 
11.2 Suppliers will meet the social value criteria by making use of local linguists, which 

ensures speed of delivery, community knowledge and keeps travel costs down.  
 

11.3 Translators and interpreters are self-employed and therefore set their own rates of 
pay. London Living wage is therefore not practical in this instance and is not included 
in the CCS Framework for this reason. However, LBHF Council is an accredited Living 
Wage employer, and is committed to paying workers London Living Wage, therefore 
the successful supplier will commit to paying the London Living Wage to those 
employees that are employed, on their payroll. 

 
11.4 Officers will continue to work on how best the local, economic and community benefits 

can be achieved from the design of the service.  Officers will request and incorporate 
appropriate social value requirements, such as training opportunities and 
apprenticeships, into the call-off documents.  Other work will include developing 
meaningful indicators to measure the local social value measures that are incorporated 

 
Implications completed by: Kevin Churchill Interim Procurement Consultant for LBHF - Tel: 
0208 753 4519 
 

 
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

None. 

Page 81



1 
 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5 DECEMBER 2016 

 
EXTRA CARE HOUSING PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health: Councillor 
Vivienne Lukey 
 

Open Report 
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the agenda provides exempt information in 
connection with this report  
 

Classification - For Decision  
 

Key Decision: YES 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Liz Bruce - Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
 

Report Author:  
Julia Copeland Strategic Commissioner  
Callum Wilson Supplier Relationship 
Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 87753 1203 
E-mail: Julia.Copeland@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 

1.1 This report seeks approval for the procurement strategy relating to several Extra 
Care Housing services in LB Hammersmith & Fulham; the aim of the strategy is 
to improve service quality, personal outcomes, choice and control, value for 
money and ensure compliance with the Care Act 2014.  

 
1.2 Extra Care Housing (ECH) provides accommodation and 24-hour care and 

support to predominantly older people and enables the Council to meet several 
strategic priorities including delivering decent homes, supporting vulnerable 
residents, and creating safer and healthier places. Two existing ECH services 
expire in 2018; in addition, the Council is required to award a care and support 
contract by December 2017 for a new ECH scheme on the M&S White City Site 
at 54 Wood Lane, W12 7RQ (White City ECH scheme).  

 
1.3 It is recommended the Council establishes a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 

to enable contracts to be called-off through mini-competitions when required. The 
DPS will be available to other boroughs to utilise. It is proposed that a new Core 

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

and Flexible hours’ service model is developed for future ECH service contracts 
to meet council and Adult Social Care strategic objectives. 

 
1.4 This report also seeks approval for officers to use the DPS to call-off a contract 

for the future provision of services at the new White City ECH scheme and to 
delegate the award of the contract to the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS   
 

2.1 That the Extra Care Housing Procurement Strategy attached as Appendix A to 
the exempt report, be approved. 

 
2.2 That the development of a Dynamic Purchasing System which the Council can 

use to call-off care and support Extra Care Housing service contracts during an 
initial ten-year Dynamic Purchasing System period, with an option to extend for a 
further five years, be approved. 

 
2.3 That approval be given for the delegation of the authority to officers to appoint 

the tenderers on to the Dynamic Purchasing System that pass the required 
selection criteria outlined in section 10 of Appendix A of the report.   

 
2.4 That the utilisation of the Dynamic Purchasing System to undertake a mini-

competition for the care and support contract for the new Extra Care Housing 
scheme at White City, be approved. 

 
3.        REASONS FOR DECISION  
 
3.1 ECH services play a vital role in supporting vulnerable people to maintain their 

independence, remain in the borough and reduce the need for emergency health 
and social care services.    

 
3.2  The contracts for several existing ECH services expire over the next few years. 

Rather than undertake separate full scale procurements for individual service 
contracts, it is proposed to establish a DPS to enable the Council to call-off 
contracts as and when required in a more streamlined manner.  

 
3.3 Using a DPS to procure the new ECH scheme at White City will enable the 

Council both to award the contract by December 2017, as required by the White 
City S.106 Agreement and have the facility to make any required amendments to 
the contract prior to the planned service commencement date.  

 
3.4  Delegation of authority to appoint tenderers to the DPS is needed as the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 stipulate that a DPS must remain open for new 
applicants at all times and new tenders must be evaluated in a short timescale. 
As such a timely process for appointing tenderers to the DPS is required. The 
CSOs allow for this process.  

 

Page 83



3 
 

 
4. PROPOSALS AND ISSUES 

Background 
4.1 ECH is housing designed to meet the needs of predominantly older people who 

require 24-hour care and support because of their physical, learning, mental ill-
health or disability. People who live in ECH have their own self-contained home, 
their own front door, and a legal right to occupy the property. 

 
4.2 ECH enables the Council to meet several council and departmental strategic 

priorities. The social benefits of ECH are well-documented and include: 

 Better quality of life; 

 Access to leisure & social activities to reduce social isolation and improve 
well-being; 

 Well-designed environment can be a home for life and enables older 
people to remain in their own home even as they require increasing care 
and support. 

 
4.3 Currently, there are four ECH schemes in LB Hammersmith & Fulham (LBH&F) 

as detailed in Table 1; two existing contracts expire in 2018 and a care and 
support contract must be procured by December 2017 for a new ECH scheme as 
set out in paragraph 4.16 below. 

 
 Table 1 

Scheme 
name 

Care & 
Support 
Provider 

No. 
people/ 
units 

Unit 
Type 

Location Contract 
End Date 

Elgin 
Close  

Notting Hill 
Housing 
Group 

39 people 
in 36 
units 

33 x 1 
bed 
3 x 2 
bed 

Shepherds 
Bush 

30.6.27 

Elm 
Grove 

Notting Hill 
Housing 
Group 

14 
people/ 

units 

14 x 
Bedsits 

Hammersmith 31.5.18 

Mary 
Seacole 
House 

Hanover & 
Care UK 

34 people 
in 32 
units 

32 x 1 
beds 

Ravenscourt 
Park 

21.1.31 

Olive 
House 

Housing 
21 

38 people 
in 36 
units 

34 x 1 
beds, 2 
x bed 

Sands End 1.12.18 

 
4.4 Officers propose rather than undertaking separate full-scale procurements for 

individual contracts, a procurement solution is sought to enable the Council to 
call-off contracts when they require. It is proposed the Council establishes an 
electronic Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) for the provision of ECH services 
in LB Hammersmith & Fulham and other boroughs. The DPS is a two-stage 
process; in the initial set-up stage, all suppliers who request to join and meet the 
selection criteria must be admitted onto the DPS. A universal specification 
outlining the Council’s requirements will be provided.  
 

Page 84



4 
 

4.5 Once set up the DPS will enable the Council to undertake a mini-competition for 
individual service contracts as and when required; at this second stage, suppliers 
will be required to demonstrate how they will meet the service requirements set 
out in a supplementary specification.   

 
 Future Demand 
4.6 Currently, LBH&F has approximately 6.3 ECH beds per 1000 resident population 

over 65 years. This is almost twice the rate of provision in RBK&C (3.6) and 
Westminster City Council (3.5) and more than 3 times the rate in Ealing (1.9). 
This reflects policy decisions taken 10-15 years ago to move away from 
residential care homes to providing ECH for older people, where appropriate. 

 
4.7 Nevertheless, in 2014 a detailed needs assessment for future ECH provision 

indicated demand for ECH could increase by at least 10% by 2019; 25% by 2024 
and 42% by 2029. Within this increase there is likely to be an increasing average 
age; increasing in number and complexity of co-morbidities and a longer period 
spent in poor health. It is estimated the number of people with dementia is 
expected to rise by 30% by 2024 and by 50% by 2029.  

 
4.8 Not only will there be a greater demand for ECH places but future services will 

need to be capable of caring for people with more complex needs including co-
morbidity and dementia while ensuring we preserve the important distinction 
between ECH and residential settings. 

 
4.9 A recent audit of the 33 placements into residential & nursing care found that 

potentially 7 (24%) placements could possibly have been avoided if ECH had 
been available. 

 
  Developing a New Service Model 
4.10 While existing services are delivering satisfactory outcomes and quality, all 

services have block contract arrangements; this type of contract does not support 
the choice and control agenda as required by the Care Act 2014 nor does it offer 
the flexibility required to be responsive, transparent, and person-centred.  

 
4.11 Officers consider there is further scope for ECH to meet Adult Social Care 

strategic priorities through new service delivery models. Following a review of 
available literature1 and existing H&F services; market engagement and a 
detailed survey of existing residents’ and their families’ views, officers are 
proposing we introduce a Core and Flexible Hours’ model into future ECH 
services. We consider this model will improve service outcomes; increase 
customers’ choice and control over how they meet their identified needs; ensure 
greater transparency of the breakdown of ECH costs and which services 
residents are receiving and deliver better value for money for the Council.  

 
 Service Specification 
4.12 A universal specification will set out the Council’s expectations for ECH services; 

the universal specification will be supplemented with the requirements of each 

                                            
1
  Housing Lin Approached to Procurement & Delivery of Care & Support in Housing with Care. April 2015 

Page 85



5 
 

individual ECH scheme as they are procured from the DPS. The specification is 
under-pinned by what customers have told us they want from ECH services as 
well as the underlying principles a local authority must have regard to in its care 
and support system as set out in the Care Act 2014 including: promoting well-
being; preventing or delaying the development of needs for social care services 
and placing the customer at the centre of service.  

 
4.13 In future we want ECH services to be more outward facing; involved in the local 

community and making better use of individual and community assets. This will 
support increased social and community benefits and facilitate partnerships 
between local organisations in the delivery of care and support services. 

 
 White City 
4.14 There is an exciting opportunity to develop new ECH services to meet future 

demand in the borough; an outline planning application has been approved for 80 
units of ECH (65 for affordable rent and 15 units for shared ownership). The ECH 
facility is currently scheduled to be completed by April 2021, but the Section 106 
relating to the redevelopment of the M&S White City Site stipulates the care and 
support contract is to be awarded by December 2017.  

 
4.15 The ECH facility will be an L shaped building between 12 and 20 storeys high 

with an enclosed communal garden accessible to only ECH occupants. The 
building will also include commercial use on the ground floor and other general 
purpose residential units. The building will be on the North West of the site, 
adjacent to one of the two public green spaces and sited near to the White City 
underground station and Westfield Shopping Centre. 

 
4.16 The final design has not been agreed but is likely to include the following 

facilities: communal lounge(s); dining room; catering kitchen; guest room; 
hairdressing & therapy suite; communal laundry; wheelchair/buggy store; each 
flat to have balcony access and access to private external space and dedicated 
parking spaces. 

 
4.17 It is proposed the Council sets up the DPS and then calls-off a Core and Flexible 

Hours service contract for the new ECH facility. Due to the time lag between 
contract award and service delivery it will be necessary to build in a review 
clause to ensure the provider appointed in December 2017 still represents good 
value for money and can meet the quality requirements when the contract is due 
to start.  

 
4.18 The Council will need to ensure appropriate measures are in place to select 

another provider at short notice should it be determined that the provider 
originally selected no longer represents the Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender. The DPS could be used for this purpose. 

 
 Potential Cost of White City ECH Contract 
4.19 As set out on the exempt part of the agenda. 
 
5.    OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS   

Page 86



6 
 

 

5.1  There are several procurement and contract options available to the Council for 
the provision of future ECH contracts to meet our strategic objectives. 

 
 Procurement Options 

A. Undertake separate procurements for existing services as they expire or 
 for new services when they are required.  
B. Establish a multi-provider Framework for the provision of ECH services to 
 enable the Council to call-off contracts as required. 
C. Establish a multi-provider DPS for the provision of ECH services to enable 
 the Council to call-off contracts as required.   

  
5.2 Procurement Option C is considered the best option to enable the Council to 

achieve its strategic objectives for ECH services. The advantages and 
disadvantages of each option is set out in the exempt part of the agenda. 

  
5.3 If approved, the DPS is simply the tool through which we will procure new 

contracts; it is still necessary to define the type of service model. There are 
several service model options available to the Council. 

 
 Service Model Options 
 A) Allow existing contracts to expire and move to Direct Payments for all 

customers. In this model the Council would not be the commissioner. 
 B)  Re-procure block contracts for existing and new ECH services. 
 C) Develop a Core and Flexible Hours’ service contract model for future ECH 

services. 
 
5.4 Service Model Option C is considered the best option to enable the Council to 

achieve its strategic objectives for ECH services. A full description of the 
advantages and disadvantages are set out in the exempt part of the agenda.  

 
6. CONSULTATION  
6.1 In 2016, officers undertook an extensive customer survey with existing ECH 

residents. Customers’ views were at the forefront of the development of the 
service specification. Market engagement has been undertaken and potential 
tenderers have responded positively to the recommendations in this report. 
Further consultation with residents and suppliers will be undertaken as part of the 
procurement of individual ECH schemes.  

     
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
7.1 We do not consider there will be any adverse equality implications for protected 

groups because of the proposals in this report. Overall the impact on older 
people is adjudged as neutral or positive as service improvements will be 
secured and more personalised services delivered. 

 
8.        LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 8.1  The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) makes provision for the 

proposed recommendation to approve the Extra Care Housing Procurement 
Strategy by setting up a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS).  The DPS must be 

Page 87



7 
 

operated as a completely electronic process and open throughout the period of 
validity.  Any supplier who wish to be on the DPS that satisfy the Council’s 
selection criteria shall be admitted to it.   
 
Once set up the Council and or any other participating authority identified in the 
Official Journal of European Union may procure services under the DPS via the 
relevant categories from suppliers by following the rules of the restricted 
procedure, but subject to, provisions under Regulation 34 of the Regulations.  

 
 In addition, the recommendation to approve delegation of authority to award any  

proposed contract procured under the DPS to the Cabinet Member for Health & 
Social Care is permitted in accordance with the CSOs as noted in this report.  

 
8.2      Legal implications completed by Sharon Cudjoe, Solicitor - 020 7361 2993 
   
9.     FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  
9.1     As set out on the exempt part of the agenda. 
 
10.     IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
10.1  ECH enables the Council to direct substantial funds into the local care and support 

market, rather than diverting this money to other parts of the country in 
residential care settings. The recommendations to continue, improve and 
increase ECH provision as set out in the procurement strategy, will therefore 
have a positive impact on local businesses. This is true of both local businesses 
operating in the care market, social housing market, and general retail. 

10.2  The introduction of a DPS and the Core and Flexi model across ECH schemes 
will support SMEs and local businesses. This is because current large block 
contracts tend to be delivered by large organisations; this will be replaced by 
more personalised contractual arrangements that offer additional opportunities to 
smaller organisations. This will have a positive impact to both the local 
domiciliary care market and the local voluntary sector which plays a pivotal role in 
supporting residents to tackle isolation and support community independence.  

10.3  The wider M&S White City development will have a substantial impact for local 
business. The development will see over a 1,000 new homes being built and will 
revitalise the local area. The White City ECH scheme will ensure local vulnerable 
residents, and the local businesses that are designed to support them, benefit 
from this too. 

11.     RISK MANAGEMENT  
11.1  In the current financial context, with the cuts imposed on public services by 

national government, it is important that the Council makes the best use of the 
resources available and continues to deliver high quality services to its residents. 
The strategy will help to do this by ensuring: 

 a consistent approach to commissioning that focuses on meeting local need; 
 all commissioning activity is well planned and co-ordinated; 
 Members are clearly informed in advance about what outcomes that the service 

is aiming to deliver; 

Page 88



8 
 

 the service can measure if these outcomes have been delivered and hold 
providers to account; 

 local providers have equal opportunity to participate in the commissioning 
process and through the Dynamic Purchasing System can join at any time; 

 resilience is factored in by having rapid access to the market and alternate 
providers should they ever be required. 

Meeting local needs, including anticipating future need, should form the basis of 
all commissioning decisions to ensure a strategic and long-term approach. 
Customers, service users and suppliers should be a part of this discussion. 
Understanding current levels of service provision, spend and patterns of demand 
and use over time is also vital to making a decision over what service should be 
delivered in the future. 

The strategy, together with a range of options available for consideration by 
Members, contributes positively to the management of procurement risk. It 
provides transparency to Members of the options available and better outcomes 
for local people.  

Managing corporate and service spending efficiently through a structured 
approach to commissioning and procurement offers potential to improve financial 
performance through: competition between all parties; accountability in the 
spending of public money; transparency in the decision making process; and 
value for money. 

 11.2  Risk Management implications verified by Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager, 
telephone 020 8753 2587. 
 

12.  PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 The Interim Head of Procurement supports the adoption of the procurement 
strategy described in this report and its appendix. The key outcomes and benefits 
the procurement is aiming to achieve are clearly laid out, with stakeholder 
consultation with service users, their carers, and families, and potential providers 
equally clearly informing the best strategic route to deliver these. The creation 
and running of a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) described in this report will: 

 

 provide packages of care more closely tailored to individual personal need; 
 provide better value for money for future extra care housing, taking in to 

account quality and cost, and avoid costlier interventions elsewhere; 
 allow new providers to bid as and when they pass qualifying criteria; 
 better enable local SME and 3rd sector providers to become part of the 

Council’s supply chain for flexible support as and when they qualify for 
inclusion on the DPS. 

 

12.2    Procurement comments provided by John Francis, Interim Head of Procurement 
(job-share) 020-8753-2582. 

 
13. SOCIAL VALUE 

Page 89



9 
 

13.1 Social Value is intrinsic to the delivery of effective ECH services as they seek to 
reduce social isolation; maximise individual and community assets and promote 
choice and control. Should the recommendations in this report be approved, the 
ECH schemes will also provide the following social and economic benefits. Social 
value and community benefits will be built into the contract award criteria.  

 
o Employment of local housing and social care staff;  
o Enhanced opportunities for partnerships between the Core provider and 

local voluntary and community organisations to provide social inclusion 
and leisure opportunities;  

o Increased opportunities for local SMEs to provide elements of the Flexible 
support.  

o Greater potential for residents to remain in the borough while still 
increasing scope for social housing to be made available through 
residents moving into the schemes.   

o Opportunities for local catering companies or social enterprises to provide 
healthy meals thereby improving local employment & business 
opportunities.  

 
14.      PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
14.1 An initial Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) has been undertaken. There will be a 

full PIA undertaken prior to the procurement as there may be new providers who 
have to hold or share information about individuals. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None   

 
 
 
 
Contact officer(s): 

Julia Copeland - Strategic Commissioner Julia.Copeland@lbhf.gov.uk 

Callum Wilson - Supplier Relationship Manager cwilson2@westminster.gov.uk 

Page 90

mailto:Julia.Copeland@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:cwilson2@westminster.gov.uk


 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5TH DECEMBER 2016 

 

 

 

DEVELOPING THE JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2016-2021 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health – Councillor 
Vivienne Lukey 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 
  
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Liz Bruce, Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health 
 

Report Author: Harley Collins, Health and 
Wellbeing Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 5072 
E-mail: Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report updates on progress with developing the Health and Wellbeing 
Board’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 (JHWS) and the 
outcomes of the period of public consultation which have been used to inform the 
next draft of the plan (Appendix 1). It asks Cabinet to approve the strategy which 
has been endorsed by the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Health and Adult 
Social Care, Inclusion and Policy and Accountability Committee.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the Hammersmith and Fulham’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-
21 which has been endorsed by the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Health, 
Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability Committee, be 
approved. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Local authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) have equal and joint 
duties through the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk


 

(as amended) to prepare a JHWS for their area, through the health and wellbeing 
board.  

 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. Joint Health & Well-being Strategies (JHWSs) are partnership plans developed 
jointly by the Council, the local CCG, Healthwatch and other member 
organisations of the Board. They should draw on the needs identified in the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and set key strategic priorities for action 
that will make a real impact on people’s lives. The Board’s first Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy expires in 2016. 

 
4.2. JHWSs should translate JSNA findings into clear outcomes the Board wants to 

achieve which will inform local commissioning leading to locally led initiatives that 
meet those outcomes and address identified need. 

 
4.3. The JHWS offers the Health and Wellbeing Board an opportunity to set out a 

local vision for health and wellbeing and assume a systems-leadership role in 
addressing the financial and health-related challenges in the borough.  

 
5. DEVELOPMENT 

 
5.1. Development of the JHWS has been undertaken in three phases: 

 
Figure 1. Project phasing: Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 
5.2. At its meeting in March, the King’s Fund Chief Executive Chris Ham facilitated a 

discussion with the Health and Wellbeing Board about place-based systems of 
care and the solution they offer to the challenges facing the local health and care 
system. At that meeting the HWB considered the progress made by Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to date nationally, the changing needs of the Hammersmith & 
Fulham population and a suggested framework and timeline for refreshing the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2016. The Health and Wellbeing Board 
approved the framework and timeline for a new 5-year strategy. 

 
5.3. In January, a time-limited working group was established made up of officers 

from the Council and CCG. Between January and March, the working group 
supported by health and care commissioners and public health colleagues, 

Page 92



 

undertook a wide-ranging evidence review exercise to understand the nature of 
need in the borough and identify the health and wellbeing priorities. 

 
5.4. A population segmentation approach was used for the analysis; dividing the 

population into groups with similar needs using a framework developed by the 
London Health Commission.  

 

 
 

5.5. This approach allowed the project team to estimate numbers of ‘mostly healthy’ 
people in the borough, the average cost of health and care for each group and 
how numbers (and health and care costs) were likely to increase or decrease 
over the next fifteen years. Given agreed local priorities around person-centred 
care (i.e. care that meets the needs of patients and those who support them) and 
challenges around local system fragmentation, the approach was seen to be an 
important step towards achieving better outcomes as grouping people with 
generally similar needs can help to ensure that commissioning and models of 
care address the needs of individuals holistically. 

 
5.6. Between April and May, a programme of development and engagement 

workshops were organised with Health and Wellbeing Board members, wider 
partners and stakeholders and patient representative groups. Recurring themes 
and priorities emerging from the sessions included: 

 

 The importance of improving outcomes for children, young people, and 
families 

 The importance of improving mental health outcomes for all and ensuring 
parity between mental and physical health services 

 The role of healthy lifestyles and behaviours in preventing long-term 
conditions such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, respiratory illness, 
dementia, and diabetes; and 

Page 93



 

 The importance of finance, estates, technology, workforce, and leadership 
in creating a sustainable and joined up health and social care system 
 

5.7. There was also a consensus around a set of principles i.e., cross-cutting 
approaches that would underpin these priorities, including: 

 

 Placing far greater emphasis on the role of proactive prevention and early 
intervention; 

 Addressing the wider determinants of health (such as employment, 
education, and housing); 

 Enabling a shift by both the health and care system and its users towards 
greater self-care, self-management of conditions and supporting 
community resilience; and 

 Creating a person-centred health and care system where people are 
helped to stay well in their communities supported by an effective front line 
of primary, community and social care. 
 

5.8. Combining the findings from the evidence review and stakeholder workshops, a 
first draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was produced identifying a high 
level vision, four draft health and wellbeing priorities and a set of five 
underpinning principles that would cut across all the Board’s work 
 
Vision 
 
“for a people-centred health and social care system that supports communities to 
stay well, consistently providing the high quality care and support people need 
when they need it and enabling communities to stay healthy and independent 
with choice and control over their lives” 
 
Priorities 
 

1. Good mental health for all 
2. Giving children and families the best possible start 
3. Addressing the rising tide of long-term conditions 
4. Delivering a high quality and sustainable health and social care system 

 
Principles 
 

 Upgrading prevention: supporting people who are ‘mostly healthy’ with the 
information and tools they need to stay well and maintain healthy lifestyles  

 Enabling independence, community resilience and self-care: promoting 
and encouraging communities to be more actively involved in their own 
health and wellbeing and enabling everyone to take a greater role in the 
management and maintenance of their health and care conditions, and the 
health and care conditions of others wherever appropriate 

 Tackling the wider determinants of health: working to ensure that the 
environment into which people are born, grow, live, work and age supports 
people to stay well and make healthy choices  

Page 94



 

 Making community, primary care, and social care an effective front line of 
local care: working to ensure the right support is provided closer to home 
enabling people to stay well in their homes and communities. 

 Delivering integration and service reform: working to ensure that when 
people need access to health and care services that those services are 
personalised and joined up around their needs and the needs of family 
members and carers. 

 
6. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

6.1. The results of the public consultation and feedback from ongoing engagement 
activity has been summarised at Appendix 2. The consultation findings have 
been used to update the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy at Appendix 1.  
 

6.2. Overall, the consultation responses showed a great deal of support for the 
Board’s four priorities and the principles underpinning the strategy with 80% of 
respondents agreeing or agreeing strongly that they were the right areas to focus 
on. Most feedback concerned work underneath the four priorities where 
consultees would like the Board to take action, for example: 

 
6.3. On mental health respondents wanted the Board to reduce waiting and referral 

times for interventions before conditions deteriorate; to ensure that mental health 
services were more flexible and personalised; to ensure there were opportunities 
in the community for residents to connect with others facing similar issues and 
reduce isolation; to utilise the expertise of the voluntary sector services and 
people with lived experience; to encourage greater discussion and education 
about mental health in schools; to ensure there is proper access to mental health 
services in schools; and to promote physical health and mental wellbeing through 
diet, gardening and the use of greenspace. 

 
6.4. On the health and wellbeing of children and families, respondents urged the 

Board to take action on diet (through school meals, education, and cooking 
lessons in schools, and by restricting ‘unhealthy’ food businesses near schools); 
on physical inactivity (by ensuring schools have active travel and competitive 
sport programmes); and teach children and families strategies for coping early 
on, including support for new mothers with post-natal depression.  

 
6.5. On long-term conditions (LTCs), respondents encouraged the Board to support 

healthy living to prevent or delay the onset of chronic disease including by 
providing cheap or free opportunities for people to exercise (e.g. green gyms, 
active travel or free gym memberships); to educate and raise awareness about 
healthy eating, including by working with national campaigns and local 
supermarkets; consider regulation to restrict access to alcohol and unhealthy 
foods; consider rewards and disincentives for healthy/unhealthy behaviour; to 
help those already with one LTC to not develop further chronic conditions; to 
provide education and information about how to self-manage and ensure self-
help groups are available to support; to make it easier to access primary care and 
ensure there are more health-checks situated in convenient locations like 
shopping centres; and to ensure agencies involved in the care of people with 

Page 95



 

chronic conditions are better at sharing information about a patient’s conditions 
and ensuring care is personalised. 

 
6.6. On a sustainable health and care system respondents spoke of the need for a 

more joined up health and care system that was integrated with social housing 
provision and the voluntary sector; the need to co-locate more services into 
‘hubs’ or polyclinics; the importance of self-care and greater personal 
responsibility for stemming demand pressures on the system; and the importance 
of communication and engagement to get people to understand that health and 
care resources are not limitless. 

 
6.7. On the principles underpinning the Board’s work, there was good support but 

also calls for the Board to consider additional principles around communication, 
engagement, and co-production and measurement of progress.  

 
6.8. Following the close of the public consultation, the updated JHWS has been 

reviewed at a series of Council and CCG meetings on its path towards final 
approval (see figure 2). Feedback received has been considered by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and, where appropriate, incorporated into the final draft 
strategy (Appendix 1). Post consultation feedback has included: 

 
Health and Adult Social Care, Social Inclusion, Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

 That although many health and wellbeing issues specific to older people are 
included in the strategy that the HWB should do more to clarify the specific 
offer to older people. 

 That social isolation, while affecting people of all age groups, is a particular 
concern and risk for older people 

 That the strategy should recognise that air pollution levels and deaths 
attributable to air pollution in the borough are particularly high compared to 
elsewhere in the country 

 That a Communications and Engagement Strategy that tailors health 
messages to different population groups will be an important aspect of 
achieving the ambitions in strategy 

 That the Delivery Plan must state clearly what will be achieved over the next 
five years and how this will be measured in order that the Health and 
Wellbeing Board can be held to account.  

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

 That the strategy is highly ambitious in its scope and nature and that the 
Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to further prioritisation of its 
ambitions through a detailed Delivery Planning exercise to take place post-
adoption of the strategy. 

 
Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body 

 That reference ought to be made to the important Diabetes prevention work 
taking place locally 

 That references to childhood obesity and tooth decay be made more 
prominent in the strategy 

Page 96



 

 That the plan should reference that it is a step in a wider process and that 
following agreement, the next step will be the detailed development of a 
delivery plan. 

 
7. NEXT STEPS 
7.1. The approval path for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is set out below. It 

is proposed that Cabinet approve the strategy endorsed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  
 

7.2. Once approved, the Health and Wellbeing Board will begin work to develop a 
detailed Delivery and Implementation Plan setting out the specific programmes of 
work under each of the priority areas and the governance and accountability 
arrangements that will oversee the work. 
 
Figure 2: approval timeline 

 

 
8. CONSULTATION 

8.1. At its meeting in June, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed a 14-week public 
consultation on the draft strategy to take place between July and October. A full 
summary of consultation and engagement activity undertaken in relation to the 
development of the JHWS is included at Appendix 2. 
 

9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The strategy explicitly references the action the Board will take to prioritise the 
most vulnerable and at risk groups and reduce health inequalities in the borough. 
The strategy should therefore have an overall positive impact on equality. The 
purpose of the JHWS is to influence the health and care commissioning priorities 
of the Council and CCG. EIAs for service changes will be completed as and when 
they occur on a case by case basis. 
 

10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. Section 116A of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 sets out the duty to prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Page 97



 

(“JHWS”) and the duty falls equally on local authorities and clinical 
commissioning groups. In preparing the JHWS due regard must be had to the 
Department of Health Statutory Guidance. 
 

10.2. Section 116A(5) provides that preparation of the JHWS must involve the people 
who live and work in the borough. This report sets out in detail at Paragraph 5 the 
steps taken in developing the draft JHWS 2016-21 and the public consultation at 
phase 3 of the development of the JHWS and the feedback from that consultation 
is detailed at Appendix 2.  
 

10.3. Paragraph 6 of this report summarises how the current draft JHWS attached as 
Appendix 1 was updated in response to the feedback from the consultation. 
 

10.4. Implications verified / completed by: Kevin Beale, Senior Corporate Lawyer, 
Telephone 0208 753 2740 

 
11. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1. There are no financial implications related to the contents of this report. These 
will be considered and provided later once a report outlining financial 
commitments for recommendation is available. 
 

11.2. Implications verified/completed by: (Cheryl Anglin-Thompson Principal 
Accountant, Planning & Integration Team – ASC Finance, 020 87534022) 

 
11.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
11.1 This report is not intending or advocating at this point any procurement that might 

either affect or be of interest to the local business community; therefore, 
implications comments not necessary at this point.   

 
11.2 Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business Investment officer, tel: 020 8753 1698 

 
12.       RISK MANAGEMENT  

12.1 A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) looks at the current and future 
health and care needs of local populations to inform and guide the planning and 
commissioning (buying) of health, well-being and social care services. The Joint 
Health & Well-being Strategy draws from the assessment information necessary 
to improve an individuals and community’s exposure to lifestyle and environment 
risk leading to improved commissioning priorities. The Strategy contributes to 
the management of external risks and, through commissioning, to the delivery of 
best value services at least possible cost to the local taxpayer.  
 

12.2 Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager, 020 8753 2587  
 

13.        PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 The strategy sets out an outcomes based commissioning framework for the 

future commissioning of provision from the health and social care economy, to 

Page 98



 

support delivery of the strategy’s objectives and priorities. The Council’s 
procurement professionals should be consulted and engaged with at the outset of 
commissioning activity to:  

 

 provide expert advice to commissioners on contract design and 
procurement delivery;  

 ensure compliance with the Council’s framework of contract standing 
orders, key policies and procedures and overarching legislation;  

 drive better value and quality from our existing and future providers;  

 engage with and develop our markets, strengthening and developing our 
potential supply chain; and 

 provide insight and analysis of practice and contract data to inform 
commissioning priorities. 
  

13.2 Procurement Implications completed by: Michael Sprosson, Commercial 
Development Lead, Tel : 07725 623440. 

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1.    

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 
Appendix 2 – Summary of Consultation and Engagement Activity 
 

 
 

Page 99



 

1 

 

 

 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham Joint Health 

and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2021 

 

  

Page 100



 

2 

 

1. Chair’s Foreword 
 

The Hammersmith & Fulham Health and Wellbeing Board Partners1 are committed to improving the 
health and wellbeing of the people we serve and putting them at the heart of a high quality and 
sustainable health and social care system. 

Many of us who sit on the Health and Wellbeing Board live and work in Hammersmith & Fulham and 
have a strong connection to our local communities as GPs, local representatives, and public servants. 
We are motivated to ensure that everyone has access to the same high quality health and care 
services that we expect for our families and friends. 

We have a bold and ambitious vision in Hammersmith & Fulham for a people-centred health and 
social care system that supports communities to stay well, consistently providing the high quality 
care and support people need when they need it and enabling communities to stay healthy and 
independent with choice and control over their lives.  

We know we will not achieve this as individual organisations working alone. Whilst there are areas 
where we have different perspectives about how local health and care must change, there is much 
that we do agree upon.  

To drive standards of health and care up locally we need a collective approach where all local 
organisations work together as one system, thinking, and working beyond organisational boundaries 
for the good of people in Hammersmith & Fulham.  

The many staff we have working in health and social care services in the borough will need to work 
together in partnership with our voluntary sector partners, public bodies, and the wider community. 
And we will want to support families and communities to take greater responsibility for their own 
health, be more resilient and self-reliant, where appropriate.  

We face many challenges including entrenched health inequalities within our communities, above 
average levels of child poverty and child obesity and some of the highest levels of severe and 
enduring mental illness in the country. We also have growing numbers of people living with long-
term conditions who require person-centred, coordinated care and we are facing significant financial 
challenges at a time when demand for health and social care services is growing.  

This plan sets out our ambitions for overcoming these challenges. To deliver the change we need we 
will work across the public sector to influence the wider determinants of health such as 
employment, housing and education; We will embed prevention in all that we do, intervening early 
to help people to stay well; We will support people to stay well in their communities by making 
community, primary care and social services part of an effective front line of local care; We will 
support people who want to take greater responsibility for their own health and wellbeing; and we 
will undertake an ambitious programme of service integration and reform to ensure health and 
social care services are joined up, in line with the needs of people, families and carers. 

Our plan acknowledges that we must target resources where need is greatest and where the 
evidence tells us action will make the greatest improvements to people’s health and wellbeing. We 
have therefore agreed four priorities over the lifespan of this strategy:   

1. enabling good mental health for all 
2. supporting children, young people, and families to have the best possible start in life 

                                                 
1
 Hammersmith & Fulham Council, Hammersmith & Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group, Healthwatch, Sobus 

Page 101



 

3 

 

3. addressing the rising tide of long-term conditions; and  
4. delivering a high quality and sustainable health and social care system.  

 

Our Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy for 2016 – 2021 is an ambitious, forward thinking plan for 
improving the health and wellbeing of people in the borough. Through this strategy and the hard 
work which will follow, we will achieve even closer working between health, social care, the 
voluntary sector and other partners to enable people to stay healthy, independent and well and aim 
to ensure the financial sustainability of our health and social care services for the future. This 
strategy signals the start of a journey by the council, local NHS and voluntary sector working 
together towards a common set of objectives and goals. To provide more clarity on our priorities 
and ambitions, we will develop a detailed Delivery Plan to sit alongside this strategy which will set 
out the programmes of work that will be delivered through this strategy.  

I would like to thank the many people who have contributed to the development of this plan. We 
have had many conversations along the way which have led us to this point. We now embark on the 
hard work of realising the vision set out here over the next five years.  
 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care and Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 
  

Page 102



 

4 

 

1.1 Our population at a glance 

Table 1: The borough at a glance… (Hammersmith & Fulham JSNA Highlights report 2013-14) 

80,600 Households 8 Live births each day 

£464,000 Median house price 2-3 Deaths each day 

189,850 Residents 11,900 Local businesses 

32% From BAME groups £33,000 Annual pay 

43%  Born abroad (2011 Census) 3.1% Unemployment rate (JSA)   (London 3.1%) 

23% Main language not English 22% Local jobs in Public Sector 

46% State school pupils whose main 

language not English 

Ranked 55th  Most deprived borough in England (out of 

326) 

(13th in London) 

17k/19k Annual flows in and out of the 

borough 

29% Children <16 in poverty, 2011 (HMRC) 

198,900 Registered with local GPs Ranked 6th  Highest carbon emissions in London  

(not including City of London) 

260,000 Daytime population in an average 

weekday 

9.6 years Gap in life expectancy between most and 

least affluent residents (2015) 

7.1% Fraction of deaths attributable to 

human made air pollution (8th worst in 

London) 

33%  children of school age either overweight 

or obese 

 

1.2 Our vision 

Our vision is for a people-centred health and social care system that supports communities to stay 
well, consistently providing the high quality care and support people need when they need it and 
enabling communities to stay healthy and independent with choice and control over their lives.  

We are ambitious for the whole of the public and private sectors, not just the health and care 
system, to recognise the contribution it makes to health and wellbeing, through jobs, housing and 
human relationships. And we want everyone in our community to have a valued role through work, 
volunteering, or family, have a safe and secure living space and rewarding relationships with their 
loved ones.  

We will work with our colleagues within the council, the NHS and other partners to improve and 
protect health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities within Hammersmith & Fulham, with an  
aim to close the life expectancy gap across the borough within the next 10 years. 

We are already on our way to achieving this vision. We have a strong record of collaboration. The 
Better Care Fund is an ambitious plan by health and social care partners across Hammersmith & 
Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea, and Westminster to bring together health and care funding where it 

Page 103



 

5 

 

makes sense with the goal of driving closer integration of health and care, reducing incidences of 
crisis, and delivering care in out of hospital settings. And in health, North West London is a whole 
systems integrated care pioneer site. NHS commissioners across North West London have agreed an 
integrated care system by April 2018.  

Achieving our vision is paramount for improving health outcomes in the borough and securing a 
sustainable system for the future.  

1.3 The case for change 

Hammersmith & Fulham is a vibrant and exciting place to live. Most people in our borough consider 
their health to be good, many residents are affluent and rates of life expectancy for men have been 
increasing more quickly than nationally over the past decade. 

But we also face significant challenges. A third of children under 16 live in poverty and more than a 
third of children of school age are either overweight or obese. There is a longstanding 9.6-year 
difference in life expectancy between affluent and deprived areas which has been resistant to 
reduction despite longstanding efforts. The main causes of avoidable death in the borough are 
cancer, followed by cardiovascular disease and respiratory illnesses which are linked to lifestyle 
choices that are within our power to control and change such as smoking, drinking alcohol, diet, and 
physical inactivity.  

We know that the current system of health and care can be confusing for patients, families, and 
carers. And as our population gets older and more people develop long-term conditions our system 
is becoming less able to cope with the changing needs and expectations of the people we serve. This 
is already leading to higher demand for social care, carers, and community health services in out of 
hospital settings and these pressures will only increase.  

Under the Care Act, local authorities have clear legal duties in the event of provider failure to 
temporarily ensure people’s needs continue to be met. Nevertheless, the care provider market is 
fragile and is presenting quality and safety issues nationally and in London. Health and care partners 
must invest in the care market and upskill providers to enable them to support the increasingly 
complex and acute needs of the population.  

Our current health and care system is under pressure. The way we pay for health and care services 
can encourage high end care in expensive settings and reinforce isolated working practices. We 
spend too much on services which respond at the point of crisis and not enough on early 
intervention and preventative support that keeps people well. Across North West London, if we 
continue as we are currently doing, there will be a £1.3 billion financial gap in our health and care 
system by 2021. 

This plan is about grasping the opportunity to reform the way services are bought, delivered, and 
accessed in Hammersmith and Fulham.  

1.4 Achieving the change we need 

To achieve our vision we know we must deliver change in a number of areas. This includes delivering 
on our agreed local priorities of personalisation, independence, well-being and prevention as well as 
integrating our services where it makes sense to do so.  

(1) Radically upgrading prevention and early intervention 

Page 104



 

6 

 

Evidence suggests that 60% of what we can do to prevent poor health and improve wellbeing relates 
to the social determinants of health i.e. the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work 
and age. 
 
We are well placed to support local people to choose positive lifestyles by ensuring the local 
environment enables and promotes active travel rather than car use, that high streets offer fresh 
fruit and vegetables rather than ‘fast food’, reputable banking facilities, not betting shops, and pay 
day loan shops and ensuring that in providing parks and leisure facilities we secure greatest gain for 
health and wellbeing. 
 
We will mainstream prevention into everything that we do and introduce measures to prevent ill 
health across the life course including increasing uptake of immunisations, working with our 
partners in housing, employment, education, and planning to promote health and wellbeing, initiate 
a local movement to build community resilience, and deliver intelligent, outcomes based 
commissioning that keeps people well. And we will empower people to make lifestyle choices that 
will keep them healthy and well and able to lead a full life as active members of their communities 
and the local economy. 

 
(2) Supporting independence, community resilience and self-care 

Population growth, breakthroughs in treatment and management of conditions and changing needs 
mean that the health and care system is under increasing pressure. In Hammersmith & Fulham we 
have a diverse and mobile population.  
 
The potential benefits of people engaged in the management of their own care are significant. Small 
shifts in self-care have the potential to significantly impact the demand for professional care. In 
Hammersmith & Fulham, we must be ambitious in our attempts to change cultures so that people 
are better supported by the system and by technology where appropriate to take more 
responsibility for their own care. We know that self-care is a virtuous circle. When a person has the 
skills, knowledge and confidence to manage their own health and care it is a strong predictor of 
better health outcomes, healthcare costs and satisfaction with services.   
 
To support people to take greater responsibility we will need to make sure the right services, 
facilities and support are provided to help people help themselves. We will harness the potential of 
digital technologies to facilitate control and choice and enable patients to manage their health in the 
way that best suits them. And we will fully engage people in service design and work with 
communities to co-produce health and care-related services. 
 
In 2014, the then newly elected administration of Hammersmith and Fulham Council set out its 
overarching objective to tackle social exclusion in all of its forms and stated that it was committed to 
delivering social inclusion in “everything we do”.  The Council has established a Social Inclusion Unit 
which will look at the work taking place to expand digital inclusion and agree a way forward on the 
development of a digital inclusion strategy. Communities that most commonly experience digital 
exclusion are often the most socially excluded. Harnessing the potential of digital technologies could 
alleviate feeling of loneliness and isolation and empower communities in managing their own health 
and care.   

 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s Poverty and Worklessness Commission, established in late 2015, is 
considering amongst other issues how best to support residents to self-reliance.  It will report in 
early 2017 and is expected to contain recommendations on increasing and strengthening 
volunteering in the borough as a means of building confidence, community resilience and better 
health. 

Page 105



 

7 

 

 
(3) Making community, primary care and social services part of the effective front line of local 

care 

We know that many patients in hospital settings do not need or want to be there. Children in 
Hammersmith and Fulham attend A&E and other urgent care much more frequently than is typical 
for London or England. In 2010/11, there were over 8,000 attendances in the borough among under 
5s, in many cases for conditions that could be managed in primary care.  

Our ambition is to support people to stay well in their communities. This means ensuring the right 
support is available closer to home in GP surgeries, pharmacies, and community hubs. It also means 
ensuring community facilities like parks, community centres, schools and libraries are well 
maintained accessible and there to keep people well. 

To deliver our ambition of care closer to home, we will encourage and help people make healthier 
choices by working with local organisations to support health improvement through the contacts 
they have with individuals. We must deliver high quality and consistent primary, community and 
social care which is easily accessible and convenient to ensure people access the right care at the 
right time and are supported to stay well in their homes and communities. 

(4) Taking a population-level health management approach 

Approximately four-fifths of our population are healthy. Being in good health isn’t just about the 
treatment of illness. It encompasses the food we eat, the air we breathe, the relationships we 
maintain, the environments in which we live and work and the opportunities we have in our lives to 
flourish. Supporting people to remain healthy, independent, and well is a crucial part of our plan as 
is identifying those most as risk so that services can intervene early. This plan will not succeed 
without working across organisational and sector boundaries.  

For instance, we know that the “wider determinants of health” - employment, education, housing, 
environment, and transport – all have a significant impact on health and wellbeing. So we will work 
with our partners across the public sector to embed health improvement in all policies. This includes 
local institutions such as schools, hospitals, parks, roads, housing developments, and cultural 
institutions which can have huge positive or negative impacts on mental health, how we live our 
lives and whether we realise our potential for a full and healthy life:  

 Housing: Poor quality and inappropriate housing and overcrowding can have an adverse 
impact on the physical and mental health and wellbeing of individuals, families and 
communities. We are committed to working with partners to improve the quality and supply 
of housing and reduce homelessness in recognition that a safe and secure home is a 
fundamental determinant of good health, both physical and mental. Hammersmith & 
Fulham is set to be a major contributor to London’s economic growth over the next decade 
with three major regeneration projects that individually are on the same scale as Kings Cross 
and Stratford. Three of London’s ‘Opportunity Areas’ are in our borough at White City, Old 
Oak and Earls Court which, combined, could include up to 20,000 new homes and 60,000 
jobs. 

 Education: Schools are central to the lives of children and families and it is important that we 
continue to work both with schools and other educational establishments to give children, 
young people and families the support they need to achieve and maintain good health and 
wellbeing.  

 Culture and community cohesion: Libraries have an important role to play as a source of 
information and advice as well as venues providing social support and access to the internet. 

Page 106



 

8 

 

Along with libraries, cultural organisations are an important asset in bringing communities 
together, building resilience, reducing loneliness and isolation and offering a range of 
convenient services in a community setting.  

 Environment: We are fortunate to have many beautiful parks and green spaces that provide 
opportunities for exercise and relaxation. We will also work to create healthy high streets, 
reducing the impact of fast food outlets on health, using our licensing powers to control the 
impact of alcohol related harm and gambling and use planning powers to design out crime 
and increase physical activity.  

 Transport: We will continue to encourage people to incorporate active travel into everyday 
journeys, create safer routes and raise participation in cycling. We will work to encourage 
the creation of school travel plans and cycle initiatives to contribute to reducing road traffic 
accidents. And we will work with partners to review and make recommendations to improve 
quality and choice in transport arrangements within health and care services.  

 Air Quality: Our borough’s poor air quality also affects all of us – bringing forward everyone’s 
death by nearly 16 months on average. This compares with the least polluted area, rural 
Cumbria, where the reduction in life is an average of 4 months.  Air pollution affects 
vulnerable groups more acutely, particularly young children and people living with chronic 
heart and respiratory diseases. 

 Employment and skills: Evidence shows that being employed can help improve health and 
wellbeing and reduce health inequalities, while unemployment is linked to higher levels of 
sickness and psychological morbidity.2 At the same time, we know that long-term 
unemployment is a serious barrier to good health. We will continue to support tailored 
employment support, targeting those who will benefit the most. 

 
(5) Delivering integration and service reform 

This plan signals our ambition to work together, taking a collective, place-based approach that 
moves beyond organisational boundaries to provide facilities, care and support that is joined up 
around the needs of people, families, and carers. Staff working in health and social care services in 
the borough will need to work together in multidisciplinary teams, breaking down artificial barriers 
between primary and secondary care, physical and mental health and between health and social 
care. And we will work with families and our communities to support them to take greater 
responsibility for their own health.  

1.5 Improving population health outcomes 

In Hammersmith & Fulham we have taken a population segmentation approach to understanding 
local need for health and care. Hammersmith & Fulham has: 

o 182,500 residents and an average weekday daytime population of 260,000. The borough 
also has significant population ‘churn’ with annual flows in and out of the borough of 
approximately 19,000 

o Significant variation in wealth 
o A large young working age population  
o Diverse ethnicity with one in four of the borough’s population born abroad 
o Almost a third of children under the age of 16 living in poverty 
o Almost a third of state primary school age children who are overweight or obese 
o Low vaccination and immunisation coverage 
o 7th highest population with severe and enduring mental illness known to GPs in the 

country in 2014/15 
o Poor air quality and the 6th highest carbon emissions in London 

                                                 
2
 (2015) Workplace health, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) local government briefings 

Page 107

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/lgb2/resources/workplace-health-1681144405189


 

9 

 

o A large proportion (38%) of one person households, including lone pensioner 
households and significant numbers living in overcrowded housing conditions 

o High rates of smoking, alcohol use, poor diet and sexually transmitted infections and low 
levels of physical activity 

Dividing the population into groups of people with similar needs is an important step to achieving 
our goal of better outcomes through integrated care. Grouping the population will ensure that 
models of care address the needs of individuals holistically, rather than being structured around 
different services and organisations. 

 
KEY: i = number (%) in age group; ii = % total annual spend on group; iii = average cost per person per year; 
iv = population increase by 2030 

 
Population grouping also allows us to move towards delivering outcomes-based commissioning: a 
way of paying for health and care services based on rewarding the outcomes that are important to 
the people using them (for more see Appendix A). This typically involves the use of a fixed budget for 
the care of a particular population group (“capitated budget”) with incentives for health and care 
providers to work together to deliver services which meet specified outcomes. This approach aims to 
achieve better outcomes through more integrated, person centred services and ultimately provide 
better value for every pound spent on health and care.  
 
1.6 Our health and wellbeing priorities 

We know that improving health and wellbeing in the borough requires action across the whole life 
course and taking action to prevent, detect and manage the impact of ill health. The table at 
Appendix B sets out our approach and priorities for improving the health and wellbeing of the 
population we serve. But to maximise our impact as a Board we must target finite resources where 
we know action has the potential to make the biggest improvements to people’s lives. Following a 
wide ranging review of the evidence and ongoing discussions with our partners and residents we 
have agreed to prioritise the following areas over the next five years: 

  

Page 108



 

10 

 

(1) Good mental health for all 

Where are we now? 

 
Mental health disorders have a significant impact on the ability of people to lead fulfilling lives and 
contribute to society. There is developing evidence that the risk factors for a person’s mental health 
are shaped by various social, economic, and physical environments including family history, debt, 
unemployment, isolation, and housing. Locally mental health is the most common reason for 
sickness absence. Only 7% of people diagnosed with serious mental illness (such as schizophrenia 
and bi-polar) will ever have paid work and mental ill health is the number one cause of health-
related unemployment.  
 
Common mental illness such as anxiety and depression affects around 1 in 6 people at any one point 
in time and are one of the leading causes of disability nationally. Prevalence is increasing any yet 
only a quarter of people with anxiety and depression receive treatment compared to 90% of people 
with diabetes. The Department of Health estimate that the economic costs of mental illness in 
England are £105.2 billion each year.  
 
The borough had the 7th highest population with severe and enduring mental illness known to GPs in 
the country in 2014-15. People with serious and long-term mental illness have the same life 
expectancy as the general population had in the 1950s; one of the greatest health inequalities in 
England. People with mental health problems also face significant physical health problems and live 
significantly shorter lives as a result. 

What will we do?  
 
We are committed to improving mental and 
physical wellbeing by co-designing and delivering 
services with people that have the capacity to 
have the biggest impact on prevention, early 
intervention and positive health promotion. We 
will prevent, identify and treat mental health in 
all settings and across all age groups. We will: 

 Work to reduce waiting and referral times to 
talking therapies so that conditions do not 
deteriorate  

 Work to ensure that mental health services 
are more flexible in terms of access criteria, 
the length of time services are offered for 
and the time and physical location services 
are made available 

 Promote good workplace mental health and 
wellbeing and work with employers to 
educate them about employee mental 
health 

 Work with staff in frontline services across 
the system to build skills and awareness of 
mental health 

 Promote better emotional and mental health 
and early intervention in schools, 

How will we know we’re making a 

difference? 

 

 We will increase the proportion of children 
and young people referred to child and 
adolescent mental health services seen 
within 8 weeks of referral 

 Reduce the gap in life expectancy between 
adults with severe and enduring mental 
illness and the rest of the population 

 Increase the proportion of people treated for 
anxiety and depression 

 Help more people with mental health 
conditions into employment, training, or 
volunteering 

 Reduce the number of sick days related to 
mental illness 

 Increase the number of Dementia Friends in 
the borough each year 

 Increase the number of women, 
experiencing, or with a previous history of 
mental health conditions, accessing perinatal 
mental health services. 

 Reduce preventable early deaths among 
people with serious mental illness 

Page 109



 

11 

 

encouraging greater discussion of mental 
health in the school curriculum including 
access to counselling and mental health 
support services in schools 

 Provide support and self-help strategies for 
parents and parents-to-be for their own 
mental health and for the long-term mental 
health of their children 

 Encourage awareness and improve the 
quality of local services and support for 
people living with dementia and their carers 
including programmes to identify dementia 
early on 

 Work to reduce the high suicide rate among 
men  

 Promote access to activities that promote 
wellbeing, volunteering and stronger social 
contact to improve outcomes for adults at 
risk of serious mental health conditions and 
reduce social isolation 

 Provide early support for older people 
through effective information and advice 
and signposting to preventative/universal 
services 

 Work with communities to help change 
attitudes to mental health and develop 
better understanding of mental health. 

 Work with professionals to break down the 
barriers between physical and mental health 
and ensure both are treated and resourced 
equally 

 Improve the physical health and lifestyles of 
people with mental health conditions with a 
particular focus on people with serious 
mental health conditions and provide advice 
and support for all people with mental 
health conditions to have healthy lifestyles 
and good mental wellbeing 

 Improve access to children and young 
people’s mental health services. 

 

Targeted support for vulnerable groups 

 
We will target the support provided for 
vulnerable groups and those most in need 
including: 

 Those living in deprived or disadvantaged 
circumstances, or experiencing 
discrimination who are more likely to have a 
mental health problem than those in the 
most affluent areas.  

 Children in families vulnerable to mental 
health conditions who are more likely to 
develop mental health conditions as adults. 

 People in older age who have experienced 
events that affect emotional well-being, such 
as bereavement or disability 

 Men who are less likely to recognise or act 
on the early signs of mental health 
conditions and less likely to seek support 
from friends, family, and community or from 
their GP or another health professional. This 
worsens outcomes and contributes to 
suicide risk 

 Ethnic groups who have longstanding 
inequalities in mental health. Caribbean, 
African, and Irish communities are 
significantly over-represented in secondary 
care mental health services. Community 
links, and understanding of different cultural 
contexts for mental health are important to 
help improve access and outcomes 

 People with serious mental illness who are 
up to 15 times less likely to be employed 
than the general population and almost 
three times more likely to die early 

 Carers who play a pivotal role in the health 
system and who often have little time to 
care for their own health and wellbeing 

 

 
  

Page 110



 

12 

 

(2) Giving children, young people and families have the possible best start in life 
 

Where are we now? 

 
A child’s early experiences have a huge impact on their long-term health and wellbeing. Babies 
generally receive a good start in life in the borough: there is good breastfeeding uptake, low 
numbers of underweight babies born, low numbers of women who are smokers at the time of birth. 
However, there is still room for improvement. Compared to elsewhere, Hammersmith & Fulham has 
poor rates of uptake for childhood immunisations, significant proportions of children living in 
poverty, high rates of child obesity and high rates of tooth decay in children under 5 

 

What will we do?  
 
We will act with partners to give all children and 
families the best start in life and offer early help 
to have healthy lifestyles and good physical and 
mental health, integrating healthy behaviours 
into everyday routines to prevent problems at a 
later stage and providing an ongoing and 
rounded offer of support once children leave 
school. We will work with partners to improve 
health opportunities, particularly those 
associated with childhood poverty and social 
exclusion. Support is provided at this stage of life 
from maternity services, health visitors, GPs, 
children’s centres, and many others but it is not 
always joined up around the needs of children 
and families. We will: 
 

 Develop an integrated health promotion 
offer for children and families focussed on 
breastfeeding and good nutrition, oral 
health, play and physical activity, 
immunisation, and tobacco free homes 

 Develop shared multi-agency services that 
intervene early and impact on parental 
behaviour in the areas of substance misuse, 
domestic violence, mental health and 
neglect.  

 Bring together services currently provided by 
Early Help, Children’s Centres, and Youth 
Services into a single integrated family 
support offer that sustains and enhances 
universal provision, whilst providing further 
support to those families who need 
additional help through more targeted 
services 

 Build on the Children and Family Act 2014 
improvements for young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities, both of 
which recognise the role  of wider 

How will we know we’re making a 

difference? 

 

 Increase the proportion of mothers 
breastfeeding at six to eight weeks after 
birth  

 Decrease the number of pregnant women 
smoking and of families exposing infants to 
second hand smoke  

 Decrease in parents of infants with mental 
health concerns  

 A reduction in the average number of teeth 
which are actively decayed, filled or 
extracted amongst children aged five years 

 Reduce rates of childhood obesity: 
increasing the number of children that leave 
school with a healthy weight and reverse the 
trend in those who are overweight 

 Increase in number of children who reach a 
good level of development in 
communications and language at the end of 
reception 

 Increase in number of children who reach 
good level of development in personal, 
social, and emotional development at the 
end of reception  

 Increase uptake of childhood vaccinations 
 

Targeted support for vulnerable groups 

 
We will target the support provided for 
vulnerable groups and those most in need 
including: 

 Children and young people from low income 
households where poverty is associated with 
poor health and developmental outcomes 

 Children from vulnerable families (e.g. teen 
pregnancy, homelessness, substance misuse 
and domestic violence) known to services  

 Children and families from socially excluded 

Page 111



 

13 

 

determinants in the mental and physical 
health and wellbeing of children and young 
people. 

 Empower children and young people 
experiencing poor or worsening mental, 
physical health or disabilities to access 
appropriate and reliable information, advice 
and expert care in ways that are convenient 
and tailored to them 

 Promote effective support for parents 
around sensitive parenting and attachment 

 Support the development of strong 
communications and language skills in 
infancy. 

 Provide evidence-based support for 
mothers, fathers, and other carers to help 
prepare them for parenthood and improve 
their resilience when they have a new baby 

 Strengthen the mental health support we 
provide to parents early on, including 
training key frontline staff to assess, support 
or refer families into relevant support 
services and ensure those needing specialist 
services receive them 

 Support parents of children who are 
frequent users of primary and unscheduled 
care services to understand and manage 
minor illness and ailments at home, and 
when and how to access wider support. 

 Ensure local services work together to 
minimise duplication and gain the best 
possible outcomes for families  

 Work with schools to promote health and 
wellbeing messages and harness the energy 
of young people to improve the health of 
their families. 

 Work with schools and families to improve 
children’s diets and levels of physical activity  

 

groups 

 Parents and parents to be with poor mental 
health which can often have a significant 
impact on early child development. 

 

 
  

Page 112



 

14 

 

(3) Addressing the rising tide of long-term conditions 
 

Where are we now? 

 
Thankfully, because of advances in care and treatment of long-term conditions (LTCs) like 
hypertension, cardiovascular disease and diabetes, people are living longer. But this care and 
treatment is consuming an ever greater proportion of resources. Care for LTCs presently accounts 
for 55% of GP appointments, 68% of outpatient and A&E appointments and 77% of inpatient bed 
days nationally. Cost pressures on the health and care system deriving from management of LTCs is 
likely to add £5 billion to the annual costs of the system between 2011 and 2018. It is estimated that 
£7 out of every £10 spent on health and social care in England is associated with the treatment of 
people with one or more LTCs. Currently 15 million people are estimated to be living with one or 
more LTC in England and this is projected to increase to around 18 million by 2025.  

 

What will we do?  
 

We are committed to improving care for people 
with LTCs to enable them to have an 
independent and fulfilling life and to receive the 
support they require to manage their health. We 
will work with all partners to prevent, identify, 
and manage LTCs. We will:  

 Intervene early to prevent the onset of LTCs 
and provide support and information for 
people to maintain healthy lifestyles  

 Provide increased support to people with 
diagnosed LTCs for self-care and self-
management of conditions 

 Ensure the continuity of care for people with 
LTCs 

 Ensure people’s conditions are treated by 
coordinated health and social care services 
who can share information 

 Ensure there is ‘no wrong door’ and effective 
signposting to health and social care services 

 Ensure people their carers and families are 
involved in decisions about their own care  

 Provide support for carers and their families 
to ensure they can support care receivers 
effectively 

 Proactively identify those at high risk of 
developing Type 2 Diabetes and refer them 
on to behaviour change programmes 

 

How will we know we’re making a 

difference? 

 

 Increase the proportion of residents who are 
active and eat healthily 

 Reduce death rates from the top three killers 
(Cancer, cardiovascular disease, respiratory 
disease) 

 More people feel supported to manage their 
conditions 

 More people and carers feel empowered 
and involved in their care planning 

 More people experience integrated care 
between services 

 Reduction in avoidable (unscheduled) 
emergency admissions 

 Reduction in emergency readmissions after 
discharge from hospital 

 Increase in the percentage of GP 
appointments with a named GP 

 Increase in the number of days spent at 
home 

 Reduction in falls 

 Uptake of personal budgets 

 Increase in the percentage of people still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement 

 

Targeted support for vulnerable groups 

 
We will target the support provided for 
vulnerable groups and those most in need 
including: 

 The homeless population 

 BME groups who are disproportionately 
likely to develop some long-term conditions 

Page 113



 

15 

 

 
(4) Delivering a high quality and sustainable health and social care system.  
 

Where are we now? 
We know that the current system of health and care can be confusing for patients, families, and 
carers. And as our population gets older and more people develop long-term conditions our system 
is becoming less able to cope with the changing needs and expectations of the people we serve. This 
is already leading to higher demand for social care, carers, and community health services in out of 
hospital settings and these pressures will only increase.  

Our current health and care system is under pressure. The way we pay for health and care services 
can encourage high end care in expensive settings and reinforce isolated working practices. We 
spend too much on services which respond at the point of crisis and not enough on early 
intervention and preventative support that keeps people well. Across North West London, if we 
continue as we are currently doing, there will be a £1.3 billion financial gap in our health and care 
system by 2021. 

 

What will we do? 
We will:  

 Work together across organisational boundaries to plan and deliver the workforce needed 
for the future; 

 Work with our partners to look at the current and future needs of our population and map 
projected demand for health and care services to understand gaps in our workforce.  

 Work with partners including universities, royal colleges, Health Education England, and 
other teaching institutions to refocus local health and care worker training programmes 
towards the workforce needed for the future.  

 Work with partners to ensure there are the right reward structures and contract flexibility to 
incentivise the creation of the workforce we need 

 Prepare staff for multidisciplinary team working rather than the roles of professional groups 

 Support and better harness the power of the informal workforce by creating a ‘social 
movement’ to support those in need, including a more strategic approach to the support 
and development of volunteers.  

 encourage and enable communities to take greater care of themselves and others; 

 Identify and capitalise on people’s strengths and residents’ commitment to managing their 
own care and work with them to find ways to influence others so that they can do the same.  

 Capitalise on our capacity to enable and promote healthy lifestyles 

 Empower people to make lifestyle choices that will keep them healthy and well and able to 
lead a full life as active members of their communities and the local economy, working with 
our partners across the public sector to embed health improvement in all policies 

 Developing the primary care estate and council buildings required to support new models of 
care nd a system that is sustainable and fit for the future. 

 Increase value from under-used and under-utilised estate in the borough 

 use technology to join up the health and care system and support people to better look after 
themselves; 

 Invest in information technology and data analytics   

 Seek to develop shared digital patient records updated in real-time and shareable across 
organisational and sector boundaries 

 Improve information collection and management to enable better retrospective and 
predictive modelling, decision making and improve quality and safety standards for people.  

 Exploit the smart phone revolution and use people’s phones and other digital devices as a 

Page 114



 

16 

 

new “front door” to self-care, health promotion information and services, building on the 
“One You” app recently launched by Public Health England and providing a seamless link to 
self-care and prevention work for adult social care 

 Agree with partners across the borough to share information where it makes sense for 
patients and they are happy for us to do so 
Investigate the role of technology in enabling people to manage their own care investigate 
the viability of these approaches locally and scale up what works.  

 Using finance to enable closer working and commissioning between health and social care 
and more personalised, integrated and person centred services. 

 increase the use of pooled budgets where it makes sense as a way of enabling closer health 
and social care collaboration.  

 Starting to view our budgets and services in a single joined up way  

 Improve the way we communicate, engage, and co-produce with our residents ensuring 
information about health and care services is clearly signposted and tailored to audiences, 
and ensure people can have a say in local service changes and the development of new 
services 

 Continually monitor our progress with the implementation of this strategy and regularly 
measure and report our performance to residents and patients 
 

 

 

2. Implementing the plan 

This plan signals a radical shift in our local planning approach for health and social care. Building on 
our last Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, we have an opportunity to bring together local NHS 
commissioners and providers, local government, and other local public services to develop a 
renewed vision for improved health in Hammersmith and Fulham. This place-based approach is an 
acknowledgement by us that collective action, cooperation, and management of common resources 
is necessary to secure better and more sustainable care.  

We have already had many conversations with local people and our partners over recent years 
about improving health and social care and preventing ill health including workshops, consultations, 
patient, and public groups. This plan represents the fruits of these conversations and we will build 
on these over the next five years using ways of engaging directly with residents, including building 
on the success of our recent Neighbourhood Health Forums. 

We have many staff in Hammersmith & Fulham working in health and social care services who will 
be central to the success of this plan. Partner organisations will lead engagement with their own 
staff to enable them to deliver this vision. 

Following agreement of this plan, the Health and Wellbeing Board partners will set out a timetable 
for talking with staff and local people about our plans. In early 2017, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
partners will work to develop a detailed Delivery and Implementation Plan setting out the detailed 
programmes of work to be delivered under each priority area, the outcomes and performance 
indicators we will use to measure progress and the governance and accountability mechanisms 
needed to deliver the work. We will also run events with Healthwatch and with local people about 
the support they require to take control of their own health and wellbeing. 

  

Page 115



 

17 

 

APPENDIX 

Appendix A - Outcomes-based commissioning 

 Traditional ways of buying health and social care services (“commissioning”) have tended to 
focus on processes, individual organisations and single inputs of care. That is, the people who 
buy services (“commissioners”) have tended to pay the people and organisations that provide 
health and social care services (“providers”) according to the number of instances of treatment 
provided. This focuses the health and care system on completing specific tasks and away from 
treating people in a holistic way and on a person’s overall wellbeing.  

 As funding is attached to treatment, there are perverse incentives for providers of health and 
care services try to provide as much treatment to individuals as possible. This can be costly for 
the system as a whole and militates against the prevention of ill health. This approach has 
inadvertently helped fragment the way care is delivered and has acted as a barrier to the 
development of more integrated services and models of care.  

 “Outcomes” are the end results we aspire to achieve for people, their families and their carers. 
Outcomes-based commissioning allows us to focus on the important aspects of care - the result 
from a patient’s perspective. Under outcomes-based commissioning providers are paid for 
meeting specified outcomes, including things like the patient’s experience of care and the extent 
to which they are kept well. Outcomes based commissioning therefore can be used to 
incentivise shifting of resources into out-of-hospital settings, focus health and care providers on 
keeping people healthy and in their own homes and co-ordinated care across settings and 
regions. It also encourages a focus on the experience of people using the services, and achieving 
the outcomes that matter to them.  

 This is the approach needed in Hammersmith & Fulham. The Health & Wellbeing Board partners 
commit, through this strategy, to outcomes-based approaches to commissioning.  

 
Our Outcomes Framework 

 An outcomes framework allows commissioners and providers within a health and social care 
system to link what they do on a day to day basis with what they want to achieve and how they 
commission services. The North West London Outcomes Framework is set out below. It 
summarises the key outcomes desirable in an integrated system of care to into five domains, as 
follows:  

 
 

Page 116



 

18 

 

 

 The Hammersmith & Fulham Health and Wellbeing Strategy uses the North West London 
outcomes framework to ensure that there is a consistent approach to understanding people’s 
needs and buying services in support of them across the sub-region. Being consistent across 
larger geographies including North West London is important, particularly in London, because so 
many providers of health and care operate across borough boundaries and because 
Hammersmith & Fulham residents access services outside of Hammersmith & Fulham.  

 Basing our future commissioning on a shared framework in this way allows us to deliver scale to 
the range of services we have on offer for Hammersmith & Fulham residents and it means that 
we can make a shift, across the whole system, in the way that health and care is organised, 
bought, delivered and measured.  

 In this outcomes framework and hierarchy, the most important perspective is the well-being of 
the person who is receiving services and as such, the first two domains – ‘quality of life’ and 
‘quality of care’ (what we have termed quality of experience of care) - are the most important. 
The other three outcomes domains – financial sustainability; professional experience; and 
operational performance – are all crucial enablers for delivering quality care and quality of life 
for Hammersmith & Fulham residents and are addressed holistically in the systems section. 

 Outcomes-based commissioning provides a way of paying for health and care services based on 
rewarding the outcomes that are important to the people using them. This typically involves the 
use of a fixed budget for the care of a particular population group (“capitated budget”), with 
incentives for health and care providers to work together to deliver services which meet 
specified outcomes. This approach aims to achieve better outcomes through more integrated, 
person centred services and ultimately provide better value for every pound spent on health and 
care.  

 The approach can help rather than hinder provider coordination and collaboration; incentivise a 
focus on prevention; allow providers the freedom and flexibility to innovate and personalise care 
according to what is best for patients’ outcomes rather than sticking rigidly to service 
specifications; and incentivise provides to manage overall system costs because providers are 
accountable for the end-to-end costs of care for a group there is no  advantage in passing on 
costs to another organisation in the system. 

 

  

Page 117



 

19 

 

Appendix B - Our population health priorities 

 What do health and care 
services look like today? 

Outcomes Priorities Measures 

pre-birth 
and early 
years (0-12 
years) 

Babies generally receive a good 
start in life in the borough: there 
is good breastfeeding uptake, low 
numbers of underweight babies 
born, low numbers of women 
who are smokers at the time of 
birth. However, there is still room 
for improvement. Giving every 
child the best start in life is 
crucial to reducing health 
inequalities. Children who live in 
poverty are at greater risk of 
health and social problems later 
in life – from obesity, heart 
disease and poor mental health, 
to educational achievement and 
employment status. The number 
of 10 and 11 year old children 
who are obese in our schools is 
almost 40%. This matters, as they 
have a much higher risk of 
growing up to be overweight or 
obese as adults and of getting 
diabetes, heart disease, stroke 
and some cancers as they grow 
older. 
 
 

 Children’s physical, social 
and emotional development 
is improved 

 Young children, parents and 
carers are supported to start 
well and stay healthy and  
independent  
 

 Planned pregnancy (Sex and Relationships 
Education in school) 

 Additional support for vulnerable families (e.g. 
teen pregnancy, homelessness, domestic 
violence) known to services and supported 
through pregnancy/early years 

 Access maternity services early.  

 Integrated maternity, midwifery and local 
authority early years and health visiting services 
to ensure there are valuable connections and 
information sharing 

 Supporting a healthy pregnancy (e.g. smoking, 
alcohol, weight gain, folic acid) 

 Prepared for birth: antenatal 
education/maternity care 

 Parents supported through the healthy child 
programme (e.g. health visiting, breastfed to 6 
months, immunised, support for post-natal 
depression) 

 Early help support for families to ensure 
readiness for school (e.g. development reviews, 
speech/ language, physical, and emotional 
health) 

 All children supported to achieve good 
educational attainment and qualifications, 
including vulnerable groups (e.g. healthcare 
plans for children with additional needs) 

 Reduce detrimental effects of poverty on 
educational outcomes 

 Good oral health: healthy diet, brushing teeth, 
& visiting dentist 

 School readiness 

 Reducing number of 
low birth weight babies 

 Reduce excess weight 
in 4-5 and 10-11 year 
old children 

 Improve population 
vaccination coverage at 
1, 2 and 5 years 

 Increase parental 
employment 

 Reduce child poverty 

P
age 118



 

20 

 

 What do health and care 
services look like today? 

Outcomes Priorities Measures 

 Discouraged from starting habits detrimental to 
health (e.g. smoking, drug use) 

 Maintaining healthy weight (e.g. school 
environment, being physically active) 

 Supported in building mental health resilience 
(e.g. education, school nursing, anti-bullying) 

 Intensive support for families facing multiple 
difficulties where this is resulting in poor 
outcomes, high costs, or safety issues 

 Immunisations and vaccinations including 
uptake of HPV vaccine for girls 

 Better integration and joint commissioning of 
social care support services (Early Help) and 
community health services: health visiting, 
school nurses, and mental health support in 
schools. 

 Improving air quality 

young 
people (13-
17 years) 

Young people in the borough face 
particular challenges. There are a 
significant number of children 
living in poverty and many young 
people are not in education, 
employment or training. Child 
obesity rates are high, there is 
poor child vaccination coverage 
and high levels of tooth decay in 
children.  

 Young people are supported 
to start well and stay healthy 
and independent  

 Received screening and advice around STIs and 
conception  

 Where appropriate, received additional training 
or support to get into paid work 

 Help giving up smoking through a stop smoking 
service  

 Integrated health and care services for young 
people to ensure good care coordination 

 Received support for low-level mental illness via 
IAPT programme, if needed 

 CAMHS support for young people with serious 
mental health disorders 

 Support managing any hazardous alcohol or 
drug use through statutory services 

 Registered with GP and women attending 
cervical screening 

 Increase parental 
employment 

 Reduce child poverty  

 Reduce child obesity 

 Improve vaccination 
and immunisation rates 

P
age 119



 

21 

 

 What do health and care 
services look like today? 

Outcomes Priorities Measures 

 Ensuring multi-agency planning and services for 
young people in challenging circumstances (e.g. 
young offenders, gang members, looked after 
children, homeless young people and young 
people who have been exploited or abused) 

 Investment in young people’s mental health 
services 

 Implementation of the Children and Families 
Act 2014 (e.g. children with Special Educational 
Needs) 

 Ensuring good transitions between child and 
adult services (e.g. early care planning, key 
workers and coordinators) 

working 
age adults 
(18-64 
years) 

Working age adults make a 
significant contribution to society 
and to the health and wellbeing 
of others including as workers, as 
parents and as carers for parents, 
relatives or friends. These 
responsibilities mean it is 
important adults know how to 
keep themselves healthy and 
build this into their everyday 
lives.  There are significant health 
challenges in this population 
however: suicide rates are high, 
there is a large homeless 
population, high levels of drug 
misuse and smoking, low uptake 
of breast and cervical cancer 
screening, and a high prevalence 
of mental ill-health. There are a 
larger proportion of people 

 Working age adults are 
supported to stay healthy, 
independent and well 

 The gap in life expectancy 
between adults with serious 
mental health needs and the 
rest of the population is 
reduced 

 Support for healthy lifestyles (e.g. smoking 
cessation, physical activity, diet, alcohol 
consumption) 

 Retain an active lifestyle to prevent overweight 
and the risk of long-term conditions 

 Undiagnosed long term conditions such as  high 
blood pressure and diabetes is picked up via 
health checks, to be offered in a range of 
settings 

 Effective self-management of these conditions, 
through information, training, and a change in 
habits 

 Good access to sexual health services to detect, 
diagnose and treat STIs 

 Women attending cervical and breast screening 

 Support for those on long-term sickness to 
return to work 

 Received support for low-level mental illness via 
IAPT programme, if needed 

 Support for people with severe and enduring 

 Increasing the number 
of parents in good work 

 Increase the number of 
people with learning 
disabilities in 
employment 

 Increase the number of 
people with mental 
health needs in 
employment 

 Reduce health 
inequalities between 
most and least affluent 
residents in the 
borough 

 Improving premature 
mortality from Cancer, 
CVD, respiratory 
disease 

 Reduce statutory 

P
age 120



 

22 

 

 What do health and care 
services look like today? 

Outcomes Priorities Measures 

infected with HIV and high 
proportion of sexually 
transmitted disease.  
Unhealthy lifestyle choices tend 
to cluster together. So people 
who smoke are more likely to 
drink too much alcohol or to use 
other drugs and are also more 
likely to have poor diets and live 
inactive lives. We need to 
consider how we can help people 
address multiple rather than 
individual unhealthy behaviours. 
 

mental illness 

 Support for people with learning disabilities 

 Support for people affected by suicide 

 Support for homeless communities and those 
sleeping rough 

 Early detection and diagnosis of HIV 

 Mitigating the impact of poor air quality for 
people living with cardiovascular disease or 
respiratory disease 

homelessness  

 Reduce social isolation 
of carers and social care 
users 

 Reduce smoking 
prevalence 

Older 
people (65+ 
years) 

Older people make a valuable 
contribution to society. The 
majority of volunteers are aged 
50 or over, and older people also 
represent a significant proportion 
of carers. Older people also have 
a wealth of skills, knowledge and 
experience. It is vital therefore 
that we support older people to 
age well.  
 
Our population is ageing and this 
means we will need to support 
growing numbers of people living 
with multiple conditions 
including dementia, 
cardiovascular disease, 
respiratory disease and frailty. 

 Social isolation is reduced 

 Older people are supported 
to age well and stay healthy 
and independent 
 

 Undiagnosed conditions picked up and self-
managed or managed through GP/ community 
services, rather than through emergency care 

 Avoiding social isolation through the active 
engagement in activities and pastimes. In 
particular, partaking in gentle physical activity 
(e.g. walking, gardening) to lower risk of cancer, 
heart disease, mental ill-health and weak bone 
strength 

 Screening for early signs of dementia 

 Uptake of schemes which improve self-
management of care 

 Receiving high quality health and social care 
designed around the person, not the condition, 
in convenient settings and at convenient times 

 Preventing sight loss 

 On reaching the last phase of life, support for  
dying in preferred place of death 

 Reducing the number of 
people over 65 
admitted to hospital 
due to falls 

 Reduce emergency 
readmissions within 30 
days of discharge from 
hospital 

P
age 121



 

23 

 

 What do health and care 
services look like today? 

Outcomes Priorities Measures 

These conditions are often linked 
with factors like social isolation 
and poor housing which can 
make care more complicated. 
 
Preventing chronic disease 
requires a range of interventions 
such as screening and 
vaccinations. Overall there is 
good uptake of NHS Health 
Checks and diabetic screening, 
good flu vaccination uptake, low 
number of hip fractures and low 
excess winter deaths.  
 
 

 Mitigating the impact of poor air quality for 
people living with cardiovascular disease or 
respiratory disease 

 

 

P
age 122



 

1 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 

Summary of Communication, Consultation, and Engagement Activity 
 
1.0  Introduction 
1.1 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) is an opportunity for local 

government, the health service and the voluntary and community sector to 
work together in collaboration to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
population it serves. The JHWS provides a blueprint for closer working and 
integration for the benefit of all our residents and patients and a plan for 
tackling health inequalities in the borough.  

 
2.0 Governance 
2.1 Communication, consultation and engagement around the JHWS has been 

managed by a joint team led by the Health and Wellbeing Manager and with 
support from Council and CCG communications and engagement leads and 
with Healthwatch and VCS partners playing a key role in distributing 
information to their networks. 

 
3.0 Engagement approach 
3.1 Throughout the development of the JHWS, from conception and planning to 

approval, we have made an active effort to engage and co-produce the plan 
with patients, residents and professionals at every stage.  

 
3.2 We have taken a four-pronged approach to engagement designed to ensure 

the widest possible reach and ensure hard to reach groups were able to have 
their say: 

 
a) Development sessions 
b) Online consultation 
c) Face-to-face engagement 
d) Public forums 

 
3.3 Development sessions  
 
3.3.1 A programme of development workshops has taken place with Health and 

Wellbeing Board members, wider partners and stakeholders and patient 
representative groups.  

 
3.3.2 On 9th March, the King’s Fund Chief Executive Chris Ham facilitated a 

discussion with Health and Wellbeing Board members about place-based 
systems of care and the solution they offer to the challenges facing the local 
health and care system. At that meeting the Board considered the progress 
made by Health and Wellbeing Boards to date, the changing needs of the 
Hammersmith and Fulham population and a suggested framework and 
timeline for refreshing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2016. The 
Board approved the framework and timeline for a new 5-year strategy. 
 

3.3.3 On 20 May, Board members met for a half-day development session where 
they discussed their vision for the borough and potential areas of focus for the 

Page 123



 

2 
 

next five years. Board members agreed that supported self-care and 
prevention were important parts of their vision for the borough as was 
enabling good mental health for all and giving children and families the best 
possible start. Board members spoke about a compassionate and joined up 
health and social care system and about the potential of digital technologies 
for patient engagement and self-care. 
 

3.3.4 On 24 May, a wide collection of stakeholders and partners including council 
and NHS commissioners, councillors, council policy officers and provider 
organisations met to consider the emerging thinking of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and potential areas of focus for the next five years. 
Stakeholder’s feedback on the emerging strategy included a call to improve 
the education and advice offer to people and patients to help them navigate 
the system and also a call to target system resources on those in greatest 
need and where action would provide the biggest return on investment in 
terms of people’s health and wellbeing. There was also feedback about the 
importance of leadership, training and a more collectivist, system-level 
approach to finances and budgets among other things. 
 

3.3.5 On 7 June, service user and voluntary and community sector VCS) 
representatives met to consider the emerging thinking of the HWB and to 
discuss the role the public and the VCS could play in delivering the strategy. 
Service users highlighted the importance of ensuring the strategy and 
consultation materials were in an accessible format and supporting people to 
lead healthy lifestyles and tackle social isolation. 

  
3.3.6 Recurring themes and priorities that emerged from all three sessions 

included:  
 

 the importance of improving outcomes for children, young people, and 
families;  

 the importance of improving mental health outcomes for all and ensuring 
parity between mental and physical health services;  

 the role of healthy lifestyles and behaviours in preventing long-term 
conditions such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, respiratory illness, 
dementia, and diabetes; and  

 the importance of finance, technology, workforce, and leadership in 
creating a sustainable and joined up health and social care system 

 the need to upgrade the role of prevention and early intervention in how 
we keep healthy people well;  

 the need to address the wider determinants (e.g. employment, education 
and housing) to improve health and wellbeing;  

 the need to enable a shift by both the health and care system and its users 
towards greater self-care, resilience and self-management of conditions; 
and; and  

 the need to ensure the health and care system is person-centred with 
people treated as individuals and supported to stay well in their 
communities by primary, community and social care. 

 
3.4 Online consultation 

Page 124



 

3 
 

 
3.4.1 In July 2016, following the development of a first draft JHWS, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board approved plans for a fourteen-week public consultation to 
hear from everyone who lives, works in, or visits the borough. The 
consultation sought views on whether the draft priorities identified by the 
board were the right ones to focus on for the next five years and what action 
the Board ought to take to make a real impact on the health and wellbeing of 
residents in the borough. The Board identified four priorities in the draft 
strategy: 
 
1. Good mental health for all 
2. Giving children and families the best possible start 
3. Addressing long-term conditions 
4. Delivering a high quality and sustainable health and social care system 
 

3.4.2 Working with the local authority consultation team, a consultation home page 
was set up on the council website and an online questionnaire was set up on 
the Citizen Space website. Residents and organisations in the borough were 
encouraged to complete the survey online or by posting or emailing their 
views to the consultation team. Using stakeholder lists provided by 
Healthwatch, the local authority and Sobus, information about the consultation 
and how to participate was sent to over 500 local organisations.  
 

3.4.3 Whilst engagement has been continuous throughout the development of the 
JHWS, the formal public consultation stage was an opportunity for the Board 
to share its ideas with residents, patients and professional, gather further 
feedback on the emerging plan and give people an opportunity to comment, 
critique and shape the next version. 
 

3.4.4 Recurring themes and priorities that emerged from the online 
consultation included: 
 

 At the time of writing the consultation team have received 40 questionnaire 
responses from both organisations and residents in the borough. 

 Overall, 80% of respondents to the survey agreed or strongly agreed that 
the Board had chosen the right priorities and principles to focus on over 
the next five years. 

 
On other potential priority areas for the Board:  

 respondents were keen for the Board to prioritise exercise and diet and 
use planning powers to restrict the proliferation of ‘unhealthy’ businesses.  

 Respondents urged the Board to consider the impact of housing and 
greenspace on mental health and wellbeing, to work with and educate 
business about mental health, to create an environment free from stigma 
where people feel able to access help and support early on and to focus 
on the high suicide rate among men with mental health issues.  

 Respondents also encouraged the Board to ensure that health and 
wellbeing services are personalised to the individual and to work to foster 
inclusive neighbourhoods that provide support. 

 

Page 125



 

4 
 

On mental health: 

 respondents highlighted the importance of ‘early identification and 
intervention’, asking the Board to reduce waiting and referral times for 
interventions so that conditions would not deteriorate and become 
significant enough to require specialist services.  

 Respondents wanted the Board to ensure that mental health services were 
more flexible and personalised both in terms of service access criteria, the 
length of time services are offered for and both the time and physical 
location that services are offered at.  

 Respondents emphasised the importance of community activities and 
support and the opportunities these provide residents to connect with 
others facing similar issues and reduce isolation.  

 The use of expertise to support people was also highlighted, both in terms 
of voluntary sector services and people with lived experience.  

 The importance of support for the mental health of children and young 
people was highlighted strongly and included calls for greater discussion 
and education about mental health in the school curriculum, and access to 
CAMHS, counselling and support in schools.  

 And respondents called for action on the physical health of people with 
mental health needs and wanted the Board to encourage diet, gardening 
and the use of greenspace to promote good mental wellbeing. 

 
On the health and wellbeing of children and families:  

 most responses urged the Health and Wellbeing Board to take action on 
diet – through school meals, education and cooking lessons in schools, 
and by restricting ‘unhealthy’ food businesses near schools – and on 
physical inactivity – by ensuring schools have active travel programmes 
and through competitive sport programmes in schools.  

 Another area of concern, which was also highlighted in responses to 
question 3 (mental health), was child and parental mental health with 
respondents encouraging the Board to teach children and families 
methods and strategies for coping early on, including support for new 
mothers with post-natal depression. Respondents also called for more 
services and facilities to support families. 

 
On long-term conditions (LTCs):  

 most respondents’ comments related to the importance of healthy living to 
prevent or delay the onset of chronic disease. Respondents urged the 
Board to provide cheap or free opportunities for people to exercise – such 
as green gyms, encouraging active travel or free gym memberships – and 
to educate and raise awareness about healthy eating, including by working 
with national campaigns and local supermarkets. Respondents also urged 
the Board to consider regulation to restrict access to alcohol and unhealthy 
foods. The idea of rewards and disincentives was also raised including 
calls for restricted access rights to care for people with unhealthy lifestyles 
and council tax breaks to reward healthy behaviour. One respondent also 
highlighted the importance of both primary and secondary prevention and 
helping those already with one LTC to not develop multiple co-morbidities.  

Page 126



 

5 
 

 Self-care was also a popular theme with many respondents urging the 
Board to provide education and information about how to self-manage and 
ensure self-help groups are available to support. 

 As with the responses about healthy living, respondents highlighted the 
importance of early intervention and identification of LTCs and the need for 
easier access to primary care and more regular health-checks situated in 
convenient community locations like shopping centres.  

 Other important themes were the integration of health and care services, 
as care for multiple co-morbidities requires the cooperation of multiple 
agencies, and the need for agencies to be better at sharing information 
about a patient’s conditions and ensuring care is personalised 

 
On a sustainable health and care system: 

 respondents focused mainly on the concepts of service integration, self-
care and greater communication, engagement and co-production with 
residents and businesses in the borough.  

 Respondents spoke of the need for a more joined up health and care 
system that was integrated with social housing provision and the voluntary 
sector and the co-location of services into ‘hubs’ or polyclinics was a 
popular theme.  

 Respondents recognised the importance of self-care and greater personal 
responsibility for health for reducing demand on the system and shifting 
emphasis from an acute focused system to one that is preventative and 
community focused.  

 Finally, respondents emphasised the importance of communication and 
engagement to get people to understand that health and care resources 
are not limitless. 

 
On the principles underpinning the Board’s work 

 there was good support and recognition of the role of self-care, integration, 
the wider determinants of health and the important role of community 
support in enabling people to stay well closer to home.  

 In addition, survey respondents urged the Board to consider 
communication, engagement, and co-production as a key principle in its 
work ensuring that the time is taken to communicate and inform the public 
about its work but also to reach out, engage and co-produce with the 
community.  

 Respondents were also keen for the Board to consider how it will measure 
its progress and demonstrate this to the public. 

 
3,5 Face to face engagement 

 
3.5.1 Throughout the consultation period, in recognition of the fact that online 

channels may not be available to everyone, the consultation team has offered 
local organisations and residents groups the option of a meeting with the team 
developing the plan to discuss the JHWS and get their feedback. We have 
had a good response to this offer and have had meetings with a range of local 
organisations including, the Carer’s Network, Mind Head’s Up Committee, 
QPR in the Community Trust, and the Help Counselling Centre.  

Page 127



 

6 
 

 
3.5.2 Recurring themes and priorities that emerged from the online 

consultation included: 
 

 The importance of community support and community-based assets and 
activities for building community cohesion, providing social contact and 
reducing social isolation 

 The importance of employment and support plans to get back to work to 
reduce dependency on benefits and for all aspects of health and wellbeing 

 The need for greater support to teach key life skills such as cooking, finance, 
gardening and DIY to enable independence 

 The confusing and complicated nature of referrals and access to mental 
health services and the need for this to be simplified 

 The need for people to be meaningfully be involved in the decision making 
processes that affect them  

 The issue of GP access and the knock on effect of this on the rest of the 
health and care system 

 The impact of housing on health and the impact of house prices on 
community cohesion and social isolation 

 The lack of respite care for carers in the borough and the need for a one-stop-
shop where carers can access information about the services available 

 The importance of including small local charities and organisations as part of 
the solution to health and wellbeing issues in the borough  
 

3.6 Public forums 
3.6.1 Public forums are a way to give patients and residents the opportunity to hear 

about the JHWS, put questions to councillors and the team helping to develop 
and deliver the plan, and provide feedback to help shape the development 
and implementation of the plan. 
 

3.6.2 On 19th September, the consultation team held a public meeting to engage 
with older residents around the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The 
purpose of the event was to discuss the thinking and evidence that had 
guided the development of the draft plan, listen to older resident’s views about 
this and to hear about resident’s health and wellbeing priorities for the over 65 
population. The event was also an opportunity for residents to put questions 
to councillors and the team helping to develop and deliver the plan, and 
provide feedback to help shape the development and implementation of the 
plan. 
 

3.6.3 The event was attended by 142 residents and provided detailed feedback on 
the draft JHWS priorities and resident’s priorities for the over 65 population. 
The session was two hours in length and was built around two table 
discussions informed by presentations highlighting some of the key health 
needs in the borough and in the over 65 population.  
 

3.6.4 Recurring themes and priorities that emerged from the online 
consultation included: 
 

Page 128



 

7 
 

 The wider determinants of health: i.e. issues to do with the environment 
in which we live, work and play. Of these, the issue such as air pollution, 
healthy eating, exercise, benefits and isolation and loneliness figured 
highly.  

 The Health and Care System: i.e. issues such as poor health and care 
coordination and continuity, delayed referral to treatment and waiting times 
and information sharing between health and care organisations featured 
highly. 

 Communication: i.e. residents were clear that they wanted more and 
clearer information from health and care services about how issues such 
as increasing demand on the health service and where to go to get help 
were provided 

 Primary Care: i.e. difficulties getting appointments with local GPs. Other 
feedback included the importance of having a named GP so residents 
didn’t waste time explaining their medical histories. And the forum was 
also keen to see more walk-in clinics opened in the borough to reduce 
pressure on GPs and A&E departments. 

 Care: The forum was concerned that 15 minute visits were not long 
enough to offer adequate care and support and felt that more carers were 
needed to help people after leaving hospital.  

 Best start in life: Forum members wanted to see Sure Start retained and 
greater investment in schools and maternity services. 

 End of Life Care: Forum members wanted to see hospice care practice 
more widespread and for society and professionals to get better at talking 
about death. 

 Mental Health:  Mental health was also a concern, specifically concerns 
about the impact of loneliness and isolation on mental health and support 
for the rising numbers of people with dementia. 

 
3.6.5 3.6.5 On 22 November, the Cabinet Member for Health and the Health and 

Wellbeing Manager attended a meeting of the Hammersmith and Fulham 
Consultative Forum. Approximately 40 older residents attended the event. 
Consultative forum, members broke into group discussions to discuss their 
top three health and wellbeing priorities  
 

3.6.6 Recurring themes and priorities that emerged from the online 
consultation included: 
 

 Community facilities: That there are not enough accessible day centres 
in walking distance for older people to meet, eat and find information 

 Communication: That there is not enough information and 
communication about services and facilities on offer to older people in the 
borough since the closure of information centres and that Social care 
ought to provide more information about what is on offer and where to go 

 Primary Care: That the GP appointment system is unhelpful and 
inaccessible and that 10 min GP appointments are insufficient 

 Housing: That older people would like easier access to sheltered housing 
offering opportunities for them to get out and about and tackle social 
isolation 

Page 129



 

8 
 

 Transport: That Dial-A-Ride services are often late affecting people 
getting to appointments on time and that the hospital discharge process 
should include a full assessment and plan for onwards care including 
transportation needs (Friends of Hammersmith Hospital and Imperial 
College Charity were highlighted as local organisations offering support) 

 Dementia: More programmes to diagnose dementia earlier are needed 

 Patients should be able to refer directly to specialists circumventing 
primary care 

 Information sharing: That the Board should work to improve information 
sharing between agencies making it easier for people to directly access 
care and pharmacy support without needing a referral from a GP 

 Care: That the strategy should say more about the role and 
responsibilities of family members in caring for older people 

 Workforce: That with the shift towards a home and community based 
model of care that we will need more staff able to work in these settings: 
i.e. district nurses, home help, health and care coordinators and physios 

 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Next Steps 
 
4.1 The feedback received during the public consultation has been considered 

and used to inform the final version of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  

Page 130



 

1 
 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CABINET 
 

5th December 2016 
 

EMISSIONS LINKED PARKING PERMITS  
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Resident Services 
– Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Mahmood Siddiqi – Director for Transport & 
Highways 
 
 

Report Author: Edward Stubbing, 
Transport Planner 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 4651 
E-mail: edward.stubbing@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. There is growing pressure on the transport sector to address the health concerns 
caused by vehicle emissions. The current administration’s manifesto and the 
boroughs Air Quality Action Plan both require action to be taken to address these 
concerns. Promoting the use of greener vehicles through a emission based 
permit scheme could help to reduce ownership levels of more pollutant vehicles. 
At present there are only two types of resident parking permits, either a standard 
permit or a green permit offered to vehicles that are Euro 5 compliant. There are 
presently no surcharges for diesel engines, or larger vehicles.  
 

1.2. Nationally transport accounts for about 21% of all greenhouse gas emissions in 
the UK. Work by TfL and the GLA have identified that within London this number 
is substantially higher at close to 50%. Private vehicles account for a major part 
of these emission levels and in Hammersmith and Fulham can be split into two 
main groups, those being kept in the borough, and those commuting through. At 
present emissions from residents vehicles are estimated to account for roughly a 
quarter of all private vehicle emissions in the borough. This report details several 

Page 131

Agenda Item 11



 

2 
 

measures that could be introduced in order to promote the ownership/ increased 
uptake of lower emission vehicles. 
 

1.3. This report reviews the current parking permit structure and pricing and proposes 
a restructuring in order to address the need to encourage a reduction in vehicle 
emissions. Parking policy can not be used solely as a fiscal tool, the financial 
plan outlined in this report is aimed to incentivise lower emission vehicle 
ownership through discounted permits, with the focus of the permit structure 
being to improve the air quality in the borough. The report recommends that 
Hammersmith and Fulham offer free resident parking permits for fully electric 
vehicles (vehicles without any form of combustion engine), and then offers a 
sliding scale permit system to all other vehicles, based on the euro emission 
standard that the vehicle complies with. It is also recommended that a Diesel 
surcharge be introduced to all Diesel vehicles which are classified as Euro 5 or 
below.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That Hammersmith and Fulham offer free resident parking permits for fully 
electric vehicles (vehicles without any form of combustion engine).  
 

2.2. That the introduction of a sliding scale of permits based on the Euro emission 
standard of the vehicle for all resident permits, be agreed. This is detailed in 
Option 3 of section 5. It would mean vehicles are categorised based on a range 
of emissions including Co2, NOx and Particulate Matter. 
 

2.3. That the introduction of a separate Diesel surcharge to all non-Euro 6 diesel 
vehicles who obtain a resident permit, be agreed. This surcharge is introduced as 
a measure to encourage consumers to consider the environmental impact of their 
vehicle choices and in recognition of the substantially higher amounts of NOx and 
PM that diesel engines produce. 
 

2.4. That both the new permit structure and the diesel surcharge are introduced in 
April 2016.  Both of these measures will include predetermined charges which 
will increase over the first four years in order to allow adequate time for 
consumers to adjust their vehicle types. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. Hammersmith and Fulham’s Air Quality Action Plan aims to reduce the level of 
emissions produced in the borough. The reduction of emissions from transport is 
also a manifesto commitment of the current administration. Private vehicles are 
one of the main components of the transport sector and in Hammersmith and 
Fulham they account for about 50% of all emissions generated by transport. 
Private vehicles owned and operated by residents are a significant source of 
emissions as they account for approximately a quarter of all trips made by private 
vehicles in the borough. 
 

Page 132



 

3 
 

3.2. The recommendations included in this report have been reviewed and supported 
by the Air Quality Commission. This commission has been formed to spearhead 
the push towards alerting and improving air quality within the borough. The 
commission feel that the proposed permit structure represent a suitable message 
and stance for the council to show that air quality is a serious consideration of the 
council. 
 

3.3. The classification and price of parking permits can be an effective tool in 
encouraging the take up of low emission vehicles by residents. The present 
permit classifications allow any vehicle which is Euro 5 compliant or newer (see 
Table 1 below), to apply for a green permit, which is half the price of a regular 
permit. To encourage residents to consider the emissions of the vehicle they 
own, this report recommends that Hammersmith and Fulham offer free resident 
parking permits for fully electric vehicles as these are currently seen to represent 
the greenest option for private vehicles. A fully electric vehicle runs entirely off 
electricity and does not contain any form of combustion engine such as petrol, 
diesel or gases (note no type of Hybrids are classified as a fully electric vehicle).  
 

3.4. Diesel engines have been found to produce significantly higher levels of 
particulate matter and NOx, compared with petrol engines. The Euro 6 banding is 
the first banding where the permitted emissions for PM and NOx are the same for 
both Diesel and petrol engines (Table 2 gives details of the permit values). As 
such a Diesel surcharge on Euro 5 and older vehicles will encourage owners to 
consider changing their vehicles for less pollutant models. 
 

3.5. Any changes to the permit structure for residents will affect all the wards in the 
borough. At present permit prices are only altered at the beginning of each 
financial year, if at all. In order to provide sufficient time for residents to adjust to 
the new permit structure and for it to have an impact on consumer choices, a four 
year phased increase in the permit prices is recommended to reach the targeted 
price structure. 
 
 

4. BACKGROUND  
 

4.1. Hammersmith and Fulham have offered residents parking permits in Controlled 
Parking Zones since the first zone was introduced to the borough in the 1960’s. 
At present parking permits are available for cars belonging to both residents and 
business. These are available on either a six month or twelve month basis. Each 
resident or business is able to purchase a maximum of two permits, with the 
price of the second permit being higher. At present the standard first residents 
permit is priced at £119 per year. Motorcycles are not currently required to 
purchase a permit or Pay & Display ticket when parking in any bay in the 
borough. 
 

4.2. Hammersmith and Fulham currently offers two classifications for resident 
permits, a standard parking permit and a green parking permits which provides a 
reduced rate price to vehicles which meet the Euro 5 emissions standards (see 
Appendix 1). The green permit is presently only available on a twelve months 

Page 133



 

4 
 

basis, as the cost of a six month permit would not cover the administration costs. 
The price of the green permit is presently £60 for a twelve month period. 
 

4.3. The Euro 5 emissions standard is a European Union (EU) rating on the maximum 
acceptable exhaust emissions from newly manufactured vehicles. The standard 
currently measures a number of emission particles including Nitrogen Dioxide, 
Carbon Monoxide and Particulate Matter. Table 1 below gives details of the 
current requirements of each Euro emissions standard. 
 
 
Table 1: Euro Emission Compliance 
 
 

Tier Date CO2 THC  NMHC  NOx  HC+NOx 

Diesel 

Euro 1 Jul-92 
2.72 

(3.16) 
- - - 

0.97 
(1.13) 

Euro 2 Jan-96 1 - - - 0.7 

Euro 3 Jan-00 0.64 - - 0.5 0.56 

Euro 4 Jan-05 0.5 - - 0.25 0.3 

Euro 5a Sep-09 0.5 - - 0.18 0.23 

Euro 5b Sep-11 0.5 - - 0.18 0.23 

Euro 6 Sep-14 0.5 - - 0.08 0.17 

Petrol (Gasoline) 

Euro 1 Jul-92 
2.72 

(3.16) 
- - - 

0.97 
(1.13) 

Euro 2 Jan-96 2.2 - - - 0.5 

Euro 3 Jan-00 2.3 0.2 - 0.15 - 

Euro 4 Jan-05 1 0.1 - 0.08 - 

Euro 5 Sep-09 1 0.1 0.068 0.06 - 

Euro 6 Sep-14 1 0.1 0.068 0.06 - 
emissions requirements in g/km 

 
CO2 – Carbon Dioxide, THC – Total Hydrocarbon, NMHc – non-methane 
Hydrocarbons, NOx – Nitrogen Oxides, HC - Hydrocarbons 
 

4.4. Euro 6, which came in to effect in September 2014 is the latest version of the 
rating. Any new model of car sold in the EU after this date is required to meet 
these emissions standards. The main change between Euro 5 and Euro 6 is the 
controls on Diesel engines, where the amount of NOx emissions permitted has 
been cut by more than half.  
 

4.5. Hammersmith and Fulham are currently looking to introduce a number of 
schemes and changes aimed at improving the air quality across the borough. 
The air quality objectives are detailed in the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan, 
and the action points and progress from this report are currently being monitored 

Page 134

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Carbon_monoxide
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hydrocarbon
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Non-methane_hydrocarbons
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nitrogen_oxides


 

5 
 

and reported on a regular basis. Data provided in the 2014 air quality progress 
report shows that private cars account for 34% of total NOx emissions and 55% 
of PM10 in the borough. Both of these types of emissions are dangerous to 
people’s health and the Council aims to reduce the levels of each. 
 

4.6. The Euro emission standards also impose restrictions on the amount of CO2 
being produced. CO2 is a primary cause of climate change, as well as posing 
health risks in concentrated amounts. Appendix 2 shows a breakdown of 
transport emissions by vehicle type, private vehicles presently account for 58.9% 
of all transport generated CO2 in the borough. 
 

4.7. The health impacts of emissions are a key reason for the growing pressure to 
more carefully monitor and control them. In the UK an estimated 29000 deaths a 
year are attributed to particulate matter. Table 2 below details the current limits 
on PM for each Euro emission standard. 

 
 
Table 2: Euro emission standards Particulate Matter levels 
 

 
 

4.8. The DVLA do not currently classify vehicles for road tax by NOx or Particulate 
Matter. The EU classification for vehicles does however include these emission 
types as well as others when considering classification. As the EU or euro 
classification includes more emission types it is considered that this represents a 
more advanced format to judge exhaust emissions by. 
 

4.9. Many other London boroughs offer some form of emissions linked parking permit, 
although there is a range of different approaches taken. Some boroughs such as 
Islington and Camden operate a CO2 linked categorizing process (see Appendix 
3). Some boroughs, such as Barnet and Lewisham, offer reduced price permits 
for greener vehicles but do not charge vehicles with higher emissions more than 
the standard rate. 
 

4.10. Transport for London are in the process of consulting on an Ultra Low Emission 
Zone with the aim of improving air quality. To qualify as “Ultra Low Emission” , 
private vehicles must be Euro 6 compliant. All other vehicles will be required to 
pay the ULEZ charge when entering the zone, which will operate 24hrs a day, 7 

Euro Emission 
Standard 

Petrol Engine 
(PM) 

PM per Km3 Diesel Engine 
(PM) 

PM per Km3 

1 no limit no limit 0.14 g/km no limit 

2 no limit no limit 0.08 g/km no limit 

3 no limit no limit 0.06 g/km no limit 

4 no limit no limit 0.025 g/km no limit 

5 0.005 g/km no limit 0.005 g/km 6 x 1011 

6 0.005 g/km 6 x 1011 0.005 g/km 6 x 1011 

Page 135



 

6 
 

days a week. Euro 6 compliance is currently considered by most local and 
national authorities to meet the current definition of ‘green’ transport.  
 

4.11. The Euro 6 emission standard, when adhered to, does represent a significant 
reduction in exhaust emissions compared to previous standards. It has recently 
been highlighted that vehicles that meet this standard in test environments, may 
not be actually doing so in the real world. Unfortunately at this time there are few 
alternative classifications that can be used, and Hammersmith and Fulham are 
not in a position to introduce their own testing so must rely on national and EU 
bandings.  
 

4.12. There are currently a number of different classifications of vehicles that have 
electric components to their engines. There are fully electric vehicles that run 
solely on electricity and have no other form of power. There are also hybrid 
vehicles which have both electric and combustion engines. ‘Half’ or ‘internal’ 
electric cars as they are often referred to are vehicles with the ability to create 
their own electricity, either through the combustion engine powering the car and 
charging the battery at the same time, or in some more advance models through 
the generation of kinetic energy (e.g. by charging the battery with the energy 
generated when the car is braking). The other main type of hybrid currently 
growing in popularity is the plug-in hybrid. These vehicles have the ability to 
charge the battery through an external source. 
 

4.13. At present Hammersmith and Fulham issues about 33,000 permits per year, with 
about 29,000 of these being resident permits. In the 2013/14, 28,726 first permits 
were issued, with 353 second permits issued. Of these permits 966 (3.3%) were 
low emission vehicles who paid for a green permit. 
 

4.14. Hammersmith and Fulham’s current parking permit database does not store 
information on the type of engine that permit holders have, so national statistics 
have been used to estimate the number of permit holders in each category of 
vehicles. 
 

4.15. The Pay & Park team which administer the applications, renewals and issuing of 
parking permits are currently in the process of having new back office software 
prepared for them. This new software will also allow applicants to apply for their 
parking permits online, something that has not previously been possible. This 
new system is key to any emission linked permit system as it will provide an 
automatic look up system which will band the vehicle based on emissions and 
determine which permit category it should be in. 
 

 
5. PARKING PERMITS OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS  

 
5.1. The options below are based around two principal schemes for the categorising 

of resident permits; a sliding scale system based on euro emissions categories 
and a system that is based on offering a reduced rate permit for ‘green’ vehicles. 
Both schemes prioritise vehicles with lower emissions of CO2. However the 
sliding scale system also includes NOx and PM emissions. In all the options fully 

Page 136



 

7 
 

electric vehicles that produce no exhaust emissions should be issued with free 
parking permits.  
 

5.2. Option 1: This option would see all vehicles that currently have an electric 
element to their operation being offered a free residents’ parking permit (this 
would include full, half and plug in hybrids as well as fully electric vehicles). 
There would continue to be a reduced permit for any Euro 6 compliant vehicles, 
with a regular residents’ permit for all remaining vehicles. 
 

5.3. Option 2: Any fully electric vehicle would be entitled to a free residents’ permit 
(this would not include full, half or plug in hybrids). Any vehicle that was Euro 6 
compliant would be eligible for a reduced permit. All other vehicles would have a 
standard residents’ parking permit.  
 

5.4. Option 3: In an attempt to offer a permit scheme aimed at categorising vehicles 
by more than just CO2 emissions, this scheme would use the European emission 
standards as the primary banding. This would mean categorising the permit price 
based on which of the six current Euro emission standards the vehicle belongs 
to. There would also need to be two additional categories, one for fully electric 
vehicles and another for vehicles pre dating the Euro emissions standards 
(vehicles from before 1992). 
 

5.5. All of these options require the parking permits team to be able to check and 
verify the vehicle information, including the emissions levels and whether it is 
Euro compliant in order to issue a permit. This happens currently with the green 
permit using a manual check of the vehicle’s V5C registration document. 
However, this information can also be retrieved by linking with the information 
stored by the DVLA.  The new SPUR permit system due to be introduced in early 
2016 will include this facility. This will mean users are automatically put into the 
correct permit band, rather than requiring them to verify it themselves. 
 

5.6. It is anticipated that the new software currently being rolled out for the parking 
permits team will speed up the process of reviewing and checking permit 
applications. As part of this new software package, officers would be able to auto 
fill data from DVLA records which will improve the application processing speed 
and allow for quicker checking and classification of the permit type. We are also 
confident that this would help to further reduce incorrect permit categorisation, as 
well as permit fraud. 
 

5.7. There are currently a number of vehicles that have been grandfathered into the 
existing green permit from previous schemes. As there is proposed to be a 
complete change to the structure of the parking permit system under option 3, if 
this option is chosen it is recommended not to grandfather any of the existing 
green permit vehicles into a different band than the one they qualify for. This is 
due to the fact several of them have already been grandfathered before and that 
others of them no longer represent a level currently being considered as ‘green’.  

 
 

6. SURCHARGES 

Page 137



 

8 
 

 
6.1. Several London boroughs have introduced surcharges as part of their permit 

systems. Examples of these include Diesel surcharges employed by boroughs 
such as Islington and Kensington & Chelsea. Several variations of congestion 
surcharges are also used in other major cities, including limiting vehicles by 
number plate from commuting, and charging vehicles based on size.   
 

6.2. The Diesel surcharge currently being used by Kensington and Chelsea is applied 
to all Diesel engines that are not Euro 5 compliant. However Euro 5 engines still 
produce considerably higher levels of NOx and PM then are currently 
recommended by the Air Quality Action Plan. It is therefore recommended that 
any Diesel surcharge should apply to all diesel vehicles that are not Euro 6 
compliant, as this standard compares more closely with emission levels of petrol 
engines. Kensington and Chelsea charge £19 at present for their surcharge, but 
they intend to increase it gradually in future years. 
 

6.3. The implementation of a Diesel surcharge would directly target the emissions of 
NOx which the Air Quality Action Plan and the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), identify as being extremely hazardous to 
personal health and well being. Local and central government are under 
increasing pressure from the EU to reduce the levels of NOx in the air, 
particularly in urban areas. Placing a surcharge on Diesel vehicles is one method 
being employed to change user behaviour and try and encourage a modal shift 
away from Diesel powered combustion engines. 
 

6.4. There are several other surcharge schemes that have been tried in various cities 
across the world. One issue currently facing many London boroughs is the 
growing width of vehicles. Many vehicles are now exceeding the 1.8m width, 
which the Department for Transport (DfT) have previously considered the 
maximum width of a car, and is currently the minimum width of an on street 
parking bay. This is causing issues on narrow streets as the flow of traffic is 
affected by parked vehicles that narrow the carriageway width. Surcharges have 
been placed on larger vehicles that are considered to occupy more space, as a 
measure to try and reduce their number. The surcharge is usually placed on any 
vehicle classified as a 4x4 vehicle (which tend to be the type that are wider than 
1.8m), however the final decision on which vehicles fall in to this classification 
would be the decision of the local authority.   

 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
Resident Permits 
 

7.1. Any changes to the current pricing points and categories of the residents parking 
permits will have an impact on annual revenue generated. At present it is 
forecast that annual revenue from the residents parking permits is £3,403,407.  
 

7.2. It is estimated that about 8% of residents own vehicles that would qualify under 
the Euro 5 emissions compliance. It is difficult to make accurate forecasts about 

Page 138



 

9 
 

the number of Euro 6 compliant vehicles as the current database does not 
provide these details.  
 

7.3. The latest data from the DfT shows that in 2013, only 2.1% of all cars were Euro 
6 compliant (see Appendix 4). However this was double the number compliant in 
2012. Based on the initial data and forecasts from the DfT it is estimated that 
more than 540,000 Euro 6 cars will be registered in 2014 and about 900,000 in 
2015 (approximately 55% of all cars registered in 2015 will be Euro 6). These 
estimated numbers would mean that about 2.1million of the 36 million registered 
cars on the road in 2015, would be Euro 6 compliant. Table 3 below therefore 
assumes 6% of vehicles will be eligible for the Euro 6 discount rate, and 
estimates the number of other permits holders vehicles in each class for 2015. 
 
Table 3: Estimated number of current permit holders in each emissions 
classification in 2015 
 

Compliance Number of Cars in H&F 

  
 

  

Euro 6 2241 

Euro 5 7257 

Euro 4 9151 

Euro 3 8341 

Euro 2 565 

Euro 1 565 

Pre date 609 

  
 

  

Total 28729 

 
7.4. The DfT suggest that in 2015 there will be about 800,000 hybrid vehicles 

registered in the UK. This would equate to about 2.2% of all vehicles on the road. 
In Hammersmith and Fulham this would mean about 632 cars are hybrid engines 
based on current permit numbers.  
 

7.5. Of total car ownership in the country less than 0.01% of vehicles are fully electric 
cars. This means that about 1 in 10,000 vehicles are electric. However statistics 
show that of the 28,729 vehicles registered for resident permits within the 
borough 22 of them are currently fully electric vehicles (0.08%), eight times that 
of the national average. 
 

7.6. National ownership trends show that as technology improves and the associated 
cost of purchasing these vehicles decreases, there will continue to be a 
significant increase in the ownership levels of both hybrid and electric vehicles.  
 
Surcharges 
 

7.7. DfT records suggest that about 36.2% of all vehicles registered at present are 
diesel engines that are below Euro 6 compliance. Using this information it is 

Page 139



 

10 
 

estimated that 10,860 of the current permit holders are operating diesel run 
vehicles that do not meet the Euro 6 standard. The original diesel surcharged 
proposed by some boroughs has been £15, although Kensington and Chelsea 
currently charge £19 and Islington use a sliding scale which goes to a maximum 
of £100. For the purpose of the calculations below a range of values have been 
used. 
 

7.8. There are currently about 90 Diesel that receive the green parking permit that are 
not Euro 6 compliant. Under the proposed surcharge these vehicles would be 
subject to the charge.  There is the option to grandfather these vehicles across 
and not charge them, however this would contradict the reason for introducing 
the emission charges. 
 

7.9. The surcharge placed on ‘larger’ vehicles would apply irrespective of which 
permit option was chosen. DfT statistics are quite vague on vehicle width, 
however estimates suggest about 4% of all vehicles are considered 4x4s. Not all 
of these vehicles would be wider than the 1.8metre alluded too, although many of 
the newer vehicles do exceed this limit. As such estimates place about 1% of 
vehicles in to the ’larger’ vehicle category, this would equate to about 300 current 
permit holders. The surcharge placed on these vehicles could be adjusted, but it 
is essential that the price is sufficient to act as a deterrent to ownership of such a 
vehicle. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. The proposed changes to the pricing structure and permit types is designed to 

promote the increased uptake by residents of low emission vehicles. The main 
tool being employed to do this is an increase in the cost of parking permits, 
however the increases are steeper for more pollutant vehicles. It is recognised by 
officers that this pricing structure will mean that those owning older vehicles will 
be subject to increasing parking permit charges.  
 

8.2. There is a risk to those less economical well off, as these people are more likely 
to own older cars which are less emission friendly. As such the new permit 
structure and associated prices may have a greater impact on this sector of 
residents. 
 

8.3. A separate EIA form has been completed and attached after the appendix. 
 

8.4. Completed by: Edward Stubbing, Transport Planner , Ext. 4651. 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. Regard has been had to the implications of the public sector equality duty 
contained in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 
 

9.2. Section 46A of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (together with the Local 
Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996) 
provides for variations in charges at designated parking places.  Any charges 

Page 140



 

11 
 

introduced must not be for revenue raising purposes (as per R –v- L B Camden 
ex p Cran (1995)). 
 

9.3. Completed by: Lindsey Le Masurier, Solicitor, 020 7361 2118 
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1. Parking policy is based upon traffic management requirements and not on the 
financial consequences of those policies.  However, councils are permitted to 
plan for the financial consequences of parking policy and the financial 
implications are set out in the body of the report. 
 

10.2. The recommended option for parking permits is the introduction of a new 
schedule of charges based on the car’s European emission standards rating plus 
free parking for fully electric vehicles. Based on an estimate of the numbers of 
cars in the borough at each Euro standard category, this would increase the 
income from Parking Permits by £75,000 in 2016-17. 
 

10.3. The introduction of a permit surcharge for diesel vehicles will generate additional 
revenue. The estimated amounts are shown in tables 6a, 6b and 6c, depending 
on the value of the surcharge. 
 

10.4. This will be taken account of in the council’s future financial planning. 
 

10.5. Comments provided by Mark Jones, Director for Finance, x6700.  
 

11. BUSINESS IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1. This report only proposes a change to the structure and pricing of resident 
parking permits. There would be no change to business permits. Officers 
anticipate that these proposed changes are unlikely to have any impact on 
businesses within the borough. The new permit structure is not anticipated to 
lead to an overall increase in car ownership, which would likely mean no change 
to current parking stress levels across the borough. 
 

11.2. Completed by: Edward Stubbing, Transport Planner, ext. 4651 
 

12. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

13.1 The introduction of the emission based scheme requires users to be banded 
based on emissions. It has been recognised that asking users to determine their 
own banding is likely to result in a large number of wrong banding selections. As 
such the SPUR system will need to be altered to automatically determine the 
banding. This element of the system is still in production and there is the risk that 
this is not completed by the deadline meaning the launch would have to be 
delayed. 

 
13.2 The diesel surcharged is proposed to be introduced first at £20, before rising to 

£60 over two years. Although this represents an increase compared to existing 

Page 141



 

12 
 

no extra charge position, it may be an insufficient surcharge to encourage any 
change in user behaviour. It is also possible that the proposed four year increase 
in prices of the sliding scale of permit charges may not be sufficient to induce 
change. These risks could be reduced if user patterns do not change by 
increasing the surcharge after the initial phase in. 
 

13.3 Completed by: Edward Stubbing, Transport Planner ext. 4651 
 

13. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 

14.1 There are no new IT or procurement requirements as a result of the proposals. A 
recent tender exercise has awarded the contract for the provision of the parking 
permit database to Xerox. The SPUR solution they offer features the required 
capacity to change the structure and introduce a surcharge. 
 

14.2 The online verification and banding of applicants is still in development phase, 
however this is due to be ready before the roll out of the system begins. 

 
14.3 Completed by: Edward Stubbing, Transport Planner, ext. 4651 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1.    

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 
Current Parking permit structure and charges 
 
Appendix 2 
Table with Transport Emission by vehicle type for H&F and Greater London 
 
Appendix 3 
Islington’s current permit structure and charges 
 
Appendix 4 
DfT vehicle ownership statistics  
 
Separate Finance Appendix 
Financial implications of the proposed new permit structure and surcharge 
 

 

Page 142



 

13 
 

 
Appendix 1 
 

Parking permit charges 

Current parking permit charges  

As part of the council's parking policy we review our parking permit charges on an annual basis.  

Residential (incl White City off-street parking permits) 

 first permit  
6 months - £71  
12 months - £119.  

 second permit  

6 months - £260  
12 months - £497  

 green vehicle residents permit - 12 months £60 (Euro 5 compliant and emitting less than 100g/km of 
co2)  

Business  

 first permit  
6 months - £464  
12 months - £791.  

 second permit  

6 months - £735  
12 months - £1310 .  

Doctor's  

 12 months - £126.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Transport_and_Streets/Parking/Parking_permits/84372_Greener_Vehicles_Discount.asp


 

14 
 

Appendix 2 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham 

         

           
Mode CO2 NOx 

PM10 
Exhaust 

PM10 
Brake 

PM10 
Tyre PM10_Total 

PM25 
Exhaust 

PM25 
Brake 

PM25 
Tyre PM25_Total 

Motorcycle 2701.7 2.5 0.2 0.5 0.1 0.8 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.4 

Taxi 4597.6 16.8 0.8 0.8 0.2 1.8 0.7 0.3 0.1 1.2 

PetrolCar 35678.5 21.3 0.4 7.6 1.7 9.8 0.4 3.0 1.2 4.6 

DieselCar 30426.5 101.4 2.4 7.3 1.6 11.3 2.1 2.9 1.2 6.2 

PetrolLgv 492.7 0.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 

DieselLgv 13067.2 43.7 1.4 3.7 0.8 5.9 1.3 1.5 0.6 3.3 

LTBus 10384.0 59.9 0.4 2.0 0.2 2.7 0.4 0.8 0.2 1.3 

Coach 3678.5 26.4 0.2 0.5 0.1 0.8 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.4 

Rigid 9200.0 52.3 0.4 2.7 0.3 3.4 0.3 1.1 0.2 1.6 

Artic 2083.9 8.9 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 

Totals 112310.7 333.8 6.3 25.5 5.2 37.0 5.6 10.2 3.6 19.4 

           Greater London  

         

           
Mode CO2 NOx 

PM10 
Exhaust 

PM10 
Brake 

PM10 
Tyre PM10_Total 

PM25 
Exhaust 

PM25 
Brake 

PM25 
Tyre PM25_Total 

Motorcycle 75041.6 76.3 6.8 12.9 2.6 22.3 5.7 5.1 1.8 12.6 

Taxi 224070.8 786.0 40.0 33.5 7.9 81.5 36.0 13.3 5.5 54.8 

PetrolCar 2150973.3 1316.6 28.6 458.3 110.0 596.9 23.9 182.4 77.0 283.2 

DieselCar 1856128.5 6192.4 144.9 440.3 105.6 690.8 130.1 175.2 73.9 379.3 

PetrolLgv 24458.4 41.4 0.2 5.6 1.4 7.1 0.2 2.2 1.0 3.3 

DieselLgv 668815.4 2266.4 72.5 180.6 44.0 297.1 65.1 71.9 30.8 167.8 

P
age 144



 

15 
 

LTBus 441836.2 2464.9 17.1 90.8 9.9 117.8 15.4 36.1 6.9 58.4 

Coach 155635.6 1078.9 9.3 22.7 2.5 34.5 8.4 9.0 1.7 19.1 

Rigid 583248.2 2955.6 21.2 152.7 20.7 194.7 19.0 60.8 14.5 94.3 

Artic 288525.2 869.1 7.1 31.7 11.6 50.5 6.4 12.6 8.1 27.2 

Totals 6468733.1 18047.6 347.9 1429.1 316.0 2093.1 310.1 568.7 221.2 1100.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 145



 

16 
 

Appendix 3 

Permit pricing based on engine size/ CO2 emissions for Islington Council 

 

Band Pre-2001 (cc) Post-2001 (CO2g/km) 12 months 6 months 3 months 1 month 

A Electric 0-100 Free Free Free Free 

B 1-900 101-110 £15.50 £7.75 £5.75 £5.75 

C 901-1100 111-120 £28 £14 £7 £5.75 

D 1101-1200 121-130 £74 £37 £18.50 £6.25 

E 1201-1300 131-140 £90 £45 £22.50 £7.50 

F 1301-1399 141-150 £97 £48.50 £24.25 £8.25 

G 1400-1500 151-165 £121 £60.50 £30.25 £10 

H 1501-1650 166-175 £139 £69.50 £34.75 £11.50 

I 1651-1850 176-185 £163 £81.50 £40.75 £14  

J 1851-2100 186-200 £206 £103 £51.50 £17.50 

K 2101-2500 201-225 £240 £120 £60 £20 

L 2501-2750 226-255 £336 £168 £84 £28 

M 2751 and above 256 and above £434 £217 £108.50 £36.50 

P
age 146



 

17 
 

Appendix 4 

Department for Transport statistics                             

Vehicle Licensing Statistics (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/vehicles-statistics)                    

                                      

Table VEH0206                                     
Licensed cars by CO2 emission band

1
, Great Britain, 

annually: 2001 to 2013                       

                                  Thousands/Percentages   

Year   
1 - 100 

g/km 
101 - 110 

g/km 
111 - 120 

g/km 121 - 130 g/km 

131 - 
140 

g/km 141 - 150 g/km 151 - 165 g/km 166 - 175 g/km 176- 185 g/km 186- 200 g/km 201 - 225 g/km 226 - 255 g/km Over 255 g/km Not known Total Average CO2   

Thousands                                 

2001   0.2 - 14.0 21.4 183.9 297.4 519.4 236.0 188.7 242.5 193.9 147.7 98.9 22,981.8 25,125.9 177.8   

2002   0.3 4.4 55.2 50.6 453.5 643.5 1,129.6 502.2 387.7 495.3 414.7 308.2 192.9 21,143.8 25,781.9 176.1   

2003   0.4 10.6 118.6 91.5 698.7 1,083.2 1,645.9 734.1 594.4 711.3 625.8 439.7 292.2 19,194.1 26,240.4 175.0   

2004   0.4 18.6 186.6 169.2 932.5 1,523.5 2,188.5 950.7 802.5 899.0 817.1 558.9 398.0 17,582.5 27,028.1 174.0   

2005   0.4 34.3 242.5 267.9 1,167.3 1,888.3 2,756.8 1,146.0 998.8 1,096.5 982.1 659.3 482.7 15,797.4 27,520.4 173.1   

2006   0.4 75.3 301.9 368.9 1,396.9 2,187.8 3,261.2 1,363.2 1,136.1 1,252.8 1,123.4 732.0 560.1 13,849.1 27,609.2 172.3   

2007   0.4 128.4 374.7 478.6 1,737.1 2,453.0 3,752.3 1,582.5 1,274.6 1,425.3 1,231.7 780.6 630.9 12,150.3 28,000.3 171.1   

2008   3.7 198.3 519.7 582.9 2,100.2 2,710.3 4,143.0 1,757.7 1,385.8 1,559.5 1,294.4 798.2 670.5 10,436.4 28,160.7 169.5   

2009   21.5 305.2 780.5 717.6 2,454.2 2,929.5 4,448.8 1,853.0 1,479.1 1,633.5 1,339.1 815.6 691.9 8,777.0 28,246.5 167.6   

2010   57.0 439.2 1,091.0 957.8 2,776.1 3,094.7 4,666.4 1,901.5 1,537.8 1,671.9 1,347.0 822.5 693.2 7,365.0 28,420.9 165.3   

2011   128.8 631.4 1,386.6 1,229.6 3,062.3 3,229.9 4,781.4 1,930.1 1,556.4 1,671.4 1,323.0 821.5 679.3 6,035.5 28,467.3 162.8   

2012   297.6 840.1 1,715.5 1,584.4 3,322.1 3,341.5 4,808.1 1,935.5 1,541.8 1,659.9 1,292.7 815.4 662.6 4,905.3 28,722.5 160.1   

2013   612.0 1,101.6 2,115.6 1,924.2 3,533.8 3,413.2 4,774.8 1,920.0 1,507.8 1,617.0 1,249.8 798.7 644.8 3,927.9 29,140.9 157.0   

Percentage                                 

2001   - - 0.1 0.1 0.7 1.2 2.1 0.9 0.8 1.0 0.8 0.6 0.4 91.5 100.0     

P
age 147

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/vehicles-statistics


 

18 
 

2002   - - 0.2 0.2 1.8 2.5 4.4 1.9 1.5 1.9 1.6 1.2 0.7 82.0 100.0     

2003   - - 0.5 0.3 2.7 4.1 6.3 2.8 2.3 2.7 2.4 1.7 1.1 73.1 100.0     

2004   - 0.1 0.7 0.6 3.5 5.6 8.1 3.5 3.0 3.3 3.0 2.1 1.5 65.1 100.0     

2005   - 0.1 0.9 1.0 4.2 6.9 10.0 4.2 3.6 4.0 3.6 2.4 1.8 57.4 100.0     

2006   - 0.3 1.1 1.3 5.1 7.9 11.8 4.9 4.1 4.5 4.1 2.7 2.0 50.2 100.0     

2007   - 0.5 1.3 1.7 6.2 8.8 13.4 5.7 4.6 5.1 4.4 2.8 2.3 43.4 100.0     

2008   - 0.7 1.8 2.1 7.5 9.6 14.7 6.2 4.9 5.5 4.6 2.8 2.4 37.1 100.0     

2009   0.1 1.1 2.8 2.5 8.7 10.4 15.7 6.6 5.2 5.8 4.7 2.9 2.4 31.1 100.0     

2010   0.2 1.5 3.8 3.4 9.8 10.9 16.4 6.7 5.4 5.9 4.7 2.9 2.4 25.9 100.0     

2011   0.5 2.2 4.9 4.3 10.8 11.3 16.8 6.8 5.5 5.9 4.6 2.9 2.4 21.2 100.0 
    

2012   1.0 2.9 6.0 5.5 11.6 11.6 16.7 6.7 5.4 5.8 4.5 2.8 2.3 17.1 100.0 
    

2013   2.1 3.8 7.3 6.6 12.1 11.7 16.4 6.6 5.2 5.5 4.3 2.7 2.2 13.5 100.0     

1.  Percentages exclude vehicles with 
unknown CO2 emissions                         

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

P
age 148



 

19 
 

LBHF Equality Impact Analysis Tool 
 

Overall Information Details of Full Equality Impact Analysis 

Financial Year and 
Quarter 

Financial year 2015/16, quarter 4 

Name and details of 
policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme  

Title of EIA: Emission linked parking permit report 
Short summary: A review of the existing parking permit structure and the recommendation for the implementation of 
a emission linked permit structure and diesel vehicle surcharge 
 
Note: If your proposed strategy will require you to assess impact on staff, please consult your HR Relationship 
Manager. 
 

Lead Officer Name: Edward Stubbing 
Position: Transport Planner 
Email: edward.stubbing@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No: 020 8753 4651 

Date of completion of 
final EIA 

6 / 11 / 2015 

 
 

Section 02  Scoping of Full EIA 

Plan for completion Timing: launch in April 2016 
Resources: Parking Services, Pay & Park, Communications 
 

Analyse the impact of 
the policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme 

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in 
more than one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive, 
neutral or negative impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality. 
 

Protected 
characteristic 

Analysis  
 

Impact: 
Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

P
age 149

mailto:edward.stubbing@lbhf.gov.uk


 

20 
 

Age none neutral 

Disability none neutral 

Gender 
reassignment 

none neutral 

 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

none neutral 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

none neutral 

Race none neutral 

Religion/belief 
(including non-
belief) 

none neutral 

Sex none 
 

neutral 

Sexual 
Orientation 

none neutral 

 
Human Rights or Children’s Rights 
If your decision has the potential to affect Human Rights or Children’s Rights, please contact your Equality Lead for 
advice 
 
Will it affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998?  
No 
 
Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)? 
No 

P
age 150



 

21 
 

 
 

Section 03 Analysis of relevant data  
Examples of data can range from census data to customer satisfaction surveys. Data should involve specialist data 
and information and where possible, be disaggregated by different equality strands.   

Documents and data 
reviewed 

 council records and DfT statistics 

New research If new research is required, please complete this section  

 

Section 04 Consultation 

Consultation Details of consultation findings (if consultation is required. If not, please move to section 06) 

Analysis of 
consultation outcomes  

  

 
 

Section 05 Analysis of impact and outcomes 

Analysis What has your consultation (if undertaken) and analysis of data shown? You will need to make an informed 
assessment about the actual or likely impact that the policy, proposal or service will have on each of the protected 
characteristic groups by using the information you have gathered. The weight given to each protected characteristic 
should be proportionate to the relevant policy (see guidance). 
  

 
 

Section 06 Reducing any adverse impacts and recommendations 

Outcome of Analysis no specific actions are recommended as a result of analysis  

 
 

Section 07 Action Plan 

P
age 151



 

22 
 

Action Plan  Note: You will only need to use this section if you have identified actions as a result of your analysis 
 
 

Issue identified Action (s) to be 
taken 

When Lead officer and 
borough 

Expected 
outcome 

Date added to 
business/service 
plan 

      
 

 

Section 08 Agreement, publication and monitoring 

Chief Officers’ sign-off Name: Nick Boyle 
Position: Chief Transport Officer 
Email: nick.boyle@lbhf.gov.uk 
Telephone No: 020 8753 3069 

Key Decision Report 
(if relevant) 

Date of report to Cabinet: 11 / 01 / 2016  
Key equalities issues have been included: No 

Opportunities Manager 
(where involved) 

Name:  
Position:  
Date advice / guidance given: 
Email:  
Telephone No:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 152



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5 DECEMBER 2016 

 
 

 
TFL FUNDED ANNUAL INTEGRATED TRANSPORT INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMME 2017/18 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Resident’s 
Services – Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 
 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi – Director of Transport and Highways  
 

Report Author: Nicholas Ruxton-Boyle 
– Chief Transport Planner 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3069 
E-mail: nick.boyle@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report refines and details the council’s integrated transport programme to be 

delivered in 2017/18, which forms part of the council’s 2011 – 2031 Transport 
Plan (also known as Local Implementation Plan 2 or LIP2) and is funded entirely 
by Transport for London (TfL). This report seeks the approval of the submission 
of the programme to TfL and the design, consultation, and implementation of 
various elements of the programme. It further seeks approval for the delegation 
of the approval of construction of the capital programme to the Cabinet Member 
for Environment, Transport and Resident’s Services. 

 
1.2. The council’s integrated transport award for 2017/18 is £1,796,000, for Principal 

Road maintenance £449,000 and for Local Transport Funding (LTF) £100,000. 
This funding is specifically provided by TfL for transport projects delivering the 
council’s transport objectives and targets, as detailed in the council’s LIP2. 
 

1.3. It is expected that the new Mayor of London’s draft Transport Strategy will be 
published in early 2017 and finalised in early 2018. It is further expected that the 
guidance for council’s to draft their own Local Implementation Plan 3 (LIP3) will 
be issued in early 2018. 

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



 

 

Funding category Capital (£) Revenue (£) Total (£) 

Integrated transport 
 

1,228,000 541,000 1,796,000 

Principal road maintenance 
 

449,000 0 449,000 

Local transport fund 
 

50,000 50,000 100,000 

Total 
 

1,727,000 591,000 2,318,000 

 
1.4 The 2017/18 integrated transport programme has been developed in line with the 

administration’s transport and environmental priorities in ‘The change we need’. 
In particular point 5 ‘greening the borough, being fair to drivers and better for 
cycling’.    

 
1.5 The council continues to review the TfL LoHAC (London Highways Alliance 

Contract) option however at this time there is no clear evidence that this contract 
will provide any improved benefits against the council’s own framework contract.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 That approval be given to carry out feasibility design and consultation on the 

20mph extension project and ‘new projects’ at a total cost of £97,500 
(approximately 15% of the total capital project cost, and all charged to the capital 
project) 

 
2.2  That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport 

and Residents Services in consultation with the Director of Transport and 
Highways to approve the implementation of the 20mph extension project and 
‘new projects’ totalling £552,500, subject to a favourable outcome of public 
engagement and consultation. 

 
2.3 That approval be given to allocate £571,000 to the ‘completion projects’ 

programme as set out in paragraph 4.4 and that authority be delegated to the 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents Services in 
consultation with the Director of Transport and Highways to approve the 
implementation of the ‘completion projects’, subject to favourable outcome of 
public engagement and consultation. 

  
2.4 That approval be given to allocate £50,000 to enhance the TfL traffic signal 

modernisation programme in 2017/18 and £75,000 to enhance the council’s own 
carriageway and footway planned maintenance programme in 2017/18. 

 
2.5 That approval is given to deliver the Smarter Travel programme at a cost of 

£265,000. 
 
2.6 That approval be given to allocate £75,000 to develop the council’s 2018/19 

annual spending submission and LIP3 (charged to revenue) and to utilise 
£75,000 to contribute match funding for the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund 2 as set out 
in paragraph 4.7. 

Page 154



 

 

 
2.7 That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport 

and Residents Services in consultation with the Director of Transport and 
Highways to approve the implementation of the Local Transport Fund programme 
of £100,000. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
3.1. Physical improvements to the public highway and programmes of work designed 

to reduce congestion, manage traffic and promote road safety fall under the 
council’s statutory duties under a variety of acts including the Traffic Management 
Act 2004. 

 
3.2. The production, management and maintenance of a Local Implementation Plan 

(LIP2 and LIP3) is a statutory duty for all London boroughs under the Greater 
London Authority Act 1999  and failure to do so could ultimately result in TfL 
undertaking the work and charging the council for doing so. 

 
3.3. Where changes to the highway are proposed, these are to be in line with section 

122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; securing the expeditious, 
convenient, and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including 
pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities. 

 
4. INTEGRATED TRANSPORT PROGRAMME 2017/18 

4.1. The 2017/8 integrated transport programme is made up of a number of 
different project areas. Each project area has a slightly differing focus and as 
such the recommendation for each area differs. However, all the projects will 
include underlying themes of greening, de-cluttering and removing redundant 
street furniture, the provision of additional cycle infrastructure subject to 
considerations of road safety and pedestrian convenience (particularly for 
those with mobility impairments), and renewing street materials and assets so 
that there is a reduced demand on future maintenance funding for the council. 
There are seven project areas: 20mph project, new projects, completion 
projects, enhancement projects, smarter travel projects, other transport 
projects and local transport fund projects. 

 

project area budget paragraph 

20mph project £300,000 4.2 

New projects £350,000 4.3 

Completion projects £579,000 4.4 

Enhancement projects £125,000 4.5 

Smarter travel projects £265,000 4.6 

Other transport projects £150,000 4.7 

Local transport fund projects £100,000 4.8 

total £1,896,000  

 
 
4.2. 20mph Projects [£300,000] 

 

Page 155



 

 

In 2016 a significant extension of the boroughs 20mph speed limits was 
implemented as per the attached map at appendix 1. This budget is the third 
and final year of TfL funding, totalling £1m, and will be utilised to implement 
further features to the boroughs road network to encourage compliance with 
the new speed limits.  
 
Designs will be developed and consulted on with residents and residents 
groups based on their feedback on compliance with the new speed limits 
based on speed surveys carried out in early 2017 compared to those before 
the extension to the 20mph speed limits. The results of these speed surveys 
will be presented to PAC in early 2017. 

 
4.3. New Projects [£350,000] 
 

North End Road Study [L1] - £50,000 
 
North End Road continues to exhibit a high level of collisions resulting in 
personal injury. This funding will be utilised to undertake an independent 
review of collisions and casualties and the traffic management arrangements 
along North End Road from Fulham Road to the A4. To include, but not 
limited to, potential prohibition of certain vehicles from certain times of day 
along the busy market stretch south of Lillie Road where collision rates are 
highest. 

 
CMS - £40,000 
 
Engagement with a Central Management System (CMS) company (exact 
company still tbc) to develop remote gully and Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS) measurement sensors to record water volume & flow rates.  Working 
with the CMS company to initially place in strategic locations where devices 
can be combined with street lighting CMS to provide web hosting information 
to advise when gullies are subject to high water/silt levels to indicate when 
potential remedial works are required and when installed SuDS schemes 
require maintenance intervention, and.  Successful trials will potentially lead to 
future deployment throughout the borough. 
 
Bishops Avenue Design [C3]- £40,000 
 
Development of concept designs (including extensive consultation with 
relevant stakeholders) to help reduce flooding along this stretch of road by 
devising a sustainable approach to the management of surface water runoff, 
whilst investigating the potential to revitalise the ancient Fulham Palace Moat. 
This project will look at options for installing relevant SuDS techniques along 
the road to manage surface water and then will compare these costs and 
benefits against those associated with the conventional drainage options 
along Bishops Avenue which would otherwise need to be installed. It is 
anticipated implementation will be funded through a combination of funding 
sources including the 2018/19 LIP. 

 
The Edible Bus Stop - £50,000 

Page 156



 

 

 
The Edible Bus Stop is a London based award winning collective, 
compromising of landscape architects, artists, and activists. The core of their 
ethos, is the belief that a brutal landscape makes for a brutal outlook, and that 
by taking responsibility for the urban environment, we can improve upon the 
experience of inner city lining. They explore designs that create landmarks, 
demonstrating that good design is not socially exclusive. 
 
The allocation will be used to create several (2- 3 depending on size and 
location) bespoke portable growing spaces that provide instant transformation 
of areas alongside the highway. The portable gardens will help deliver flexible 
growing spaces as well as durable modern street furniture. The units will be 
prefabricated to the council’s specification and tailored to the chosen 
location’s needs. The proposal is to trial out greening interventions in areas 
where currently they are not present to gauge the public support for them. 
They will be sized to fit within existing parking bays and designed to be 
transportable so that they can be relocated if/when required. If after a 
predetermined period (9-12 months) a unit is deemed to be successful in a 
location, then it will help provide good justification for more permanent 
greening interventions in such areas. 

 
Pocket Parks and Parklets - £100,000 
 
City Hall calls pocket parks “small areas of inviting public space for people to 
come together; and the contribute to making the city friendlier, greener and 
more resilient”.  
 
Parklets offer a place to stop, to sit, and to rest while taking in the activities of 
the street and can provide greenery, art or other visual amenity. The differ 
from pocket parks in that they are usually temporary or semi-permanent 
structures built in the carriageway where other motorised uses may have 
previously been prevalent. This allocation will allow the identification, design, 
consultation and delivery of a small number of both these green solutions in 
the borough. 
 
Green Street Art - £20,000 
 
Funding to commission local artists to undertake design work for locations like 
North End Road and using the new street type methodology to increase the 
place function of a street (rather than its movement function). Boroughs in 
London have had success in changing behaviour and increasing business 
simply by using art as part of the street scape. RBKC, Waltham Forest, 
Newham and Lambeth are some of the boroughs who have done this type of 
street enhancement.  

 
Stevenson Road Design [C2] - £50,000 
 
Funding to undertake a review of the traffic management arrangements along 
the Steventon Road corridor. To include community engagement and 

Page 157



 

 

feasibility design only with the aim of securing a budget for implementation 
using 2018/19 LIP funding. 

 
4.4 Completion Projects [£571,000] 
 
 Motorcycles in Bus Lanes - £50,000 
 

In 2016/17 an independent review into the borough two motorcycles in bus 
lanes trials [Fulham Palace Road and Uxbridge Road] was undertaken. This 
funding will allow the recommendations from that review to be delivered and 
reported back to the Cabinet Member for implementation. Should no 
recommendations from this study be agreed upon the funding shall be 
reallocated across the programme. 

 
 Fulham Palace Road [L2] - £50,000 
 

In 2016/17 a review of the multi-million pound Fulham Palace Road corridor 
programme was undertaken to evaluate the investment made against the 
projects objectives, which included road safety and network performance. 
This funding will allow any recommendations from that study to be designed, 
consulted upon and implemented. 

 
 Pedestrian Crossings - £100,000 
 

In 2016/17 an independent review into the safety performance of the 
boroughs pedestrian crossing was undertaken. This funding will allow for the 
design, consultation, and implementation of any remedial work on identified 
crossings to improve their safety performance. 

 
 
 
 2016/17 Projects - £100,000 
 

Funding to complete and review the 2016/17 LIP2 capital integrated transport 
programme of reactive and proactive works.  

 
 Wards in Focus [N1-3] - £129,000 
 

Funding to support and to ‘devolve’ to the three identified wards in focus 
pilots; Avonmore and Brook Green, Fulham Reach and Fulham Broadway.  

 
The intention for this funding is to provide an officer and capital budget for 
local transport and highway improvements to be developed and implemented 
to complement the core objectives of the LIP2.  

 
 Bloemfontein Road [C1] - £150,000 
 

Funding to implement a range of engineering measures developed in 2016/17 
(using TfL funding) focussing on green infrastructure and air quality 

Page 158



 

 

improvements along the stretch of road between the new Janet Adegoke 
Centre and the local shopping area. 
 
The designs have been subject to significant community engagement which 
have followed on from the award winning Australia Road sustainable drainage 
project which is in close proximity to this area. 

 
4.5 Enhancement projects (£125,000) 
 

 Traffic signal modernisation - £50,000 
 
 Delivery of improvements to traffic signals on council managed roads as part of 

TfL's modernisation programme (as yet unknown for 17/8, however there was 
one site in 16/17) including installation of pedestrian countdown. Funding to allow 
identification and delivery of borough selected upgrades to traffic signals (up to 
three sites per year) and to include installation of pedestrian countdown. 
 

 Planned maintenance - £75,000 
 
 Funding to review footway and carriageway planned maintenance projects and to 

allow for improvements to be built into designs and implemented during 
maintenance works to avoid revisiting streets in subsequent years.  

 
4.6 Smarter Travel projects (£265,000) 
 
 Package of annual projects covering road safety education, training and publicity 

and travel awareness, ranging from cycle training in schools to working with large 
employers in their borough on their travel plans. 

 
4.7 Other transport projects (£150,000) 
 
 Delivery Plan and LIP3 development - £75,000 
 
 Top sliced funding to allow for the collection and analysis of a wide range of 

transport data to inform subsequent integrated transport programme funding 
submissions. To include engagement with amenity groups, transport lobby 
groups, the air quality commission and wards in focus panels. 

 
 It is expected that the new Mayor’s draft Transport Strategy will be published in 

early 2017 and finalised in early 2018. It is further expected that the guidance for 
council’s to draft their own LIP 3 will be issued in early 2018 and this increased 
budget from 2016/17 will allow early work on preparing this statutory document. 

 
 Mayors Air Quality Funding 2 - £75,000 
 
 Second year (of three) match funding for the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund 2 to deliver 

a range of air quality initiatives with partner boroughs and other organisations. 
Approval for implementation of these projects is sought separately. 

 
4.8 Local Transport Fund projects (£100,000) 

Page 159



 

 

 
Since 2011/12 TfL has provided each council with a Local Transport Fund of 
£100,000 that can be spent on any local transport projects that broadly meets the 
high level objectives of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy. In 2016/17 the following 
project work has been approved by the Cabinet Member for implementation; 
 

 school travel plan engineering measures 

 cycle parking 

 accessibility works 

 local traffic management projects 
 

During the year officers collate requests for project work under this fund and this 
report seeks the delegation of the approval of this programme to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment, Transport and Resident’s Services. 

 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. LIP2 funding is ring fenced for the sole use of developing, consulting on and 

delivering revenue and capital projects that in some way work towards the 
council meeting its own transport objectives and targets and those set out by 
the Mayor of London in his Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS2). 

 
5.2. The indicative budget assigned to a project is based on a wide range of 

transport data, opportunities and risks identified through an internal officer 
working party set up with the sole purpose of allocating the annual grant. This 
work is funded from the grant itself through a  top slice in the previous year. 
Some of the principles of allocation are set out in the LIP2 (smarter travel 
funded at 15% for example) and others are influenced by match funding 
opportunities, third party funding opportunities, emerging transport trends and 
policies and the council’s ability to deliver projects. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 This 2017/18 integrated transport programme is the final year of the council’s 

second three year delivery plan. The first three year delivery plan formed part 
of the council’s Transport Plan (LIP2) which was subject to considerable 
consultation with a wide range of stakeholders during its development in 
2010/11. The delivery plan sets out sources of funding, delivery actions and a 
high level programme of investment in order to achieve the councils transport 
objectives and targets. 

 
6.2 The recommendations in this report seek the approval of the design and 

consultation of new projects. Project consultation is carried out by an internal 
project team and varies depending on the size and type of project. In all cases 
residents and businesses directly fronting any proposed road improvements 
are consulted, as are emergency services, transport lobby groups and ward 
councillors. The results of these consultations are reported back to the 
relevant Cabinet Member for further approval to implement the project. 

 

Page 160



 

 

6.3 The Wards in Focus pilot neighbourhood proposal involves a significant 
element of community engagement and consultation. During 2017/8 an 
engagement strategy will be developed, based on discussions with ward 
members and colleagues across the council developing these panels. This 
will be lead and advised by the relevant Policy and Accountability Committee. 

 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. The groups with the following protected characteristics will benefit from 

improvements to the council’s highway network and urban environment 
through accessibility improvements such as dropped kerbs, decluttered and 
widened footways and improved street lighting; Age, Disability, Pregnancy, 
and Maternity. 

 
7.2 All groups will benefit from improved air quality which is one of the core 

objectives of the LIP and the mayors emerging environmental policies. 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Where further consultation is to be carried out (as indicated in various parts of 
the report) either on an informal or statutory basis, it must follow public law 
principles in that it must be carried out at a formative stage of the decision 
making process, last for a reasonable period, provide sufficient information for 
consultees to make an informed representation and all representations must 
be taken into account before any decision is made. 

 
8.2 The council has the power to carry out works of improvement to the highway  

anticipated in the report under Part V of the Highways Act 1980 although 
some works will require the council to follow a formal procedure, which may 
lead to a public inquiry. Any changes made to existing traffic management 
orders will require the council to follow the statutory process set out in the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and secondary legislation and may lead to a 
public inquiry. A number of projects identified are exercisable pursuant to the 
council’s incidental powers as highway authority under section 111 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and general powers of competence under 
section1 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
8.3 As road traffic authority, the council must exercise its functions as far as 

practicable to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of 
vehicular traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and 
adequate parking facilities. 

 
8.4 Implications verified by: Lindsey Le Masurier, Senior Solicitor 020 7361 2118 
 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1   At present the costs of each scheme are based on estimates. These are 

subject to change once the detail of each scheme has been costed. The 
funding however is limited to the amount approved by TfL. Any variation in 
costs in excess of the amount approved cannot be assumed to be funded by 

Page 161



 

 

TfL unless this is approved in advance. Alternatively, officers may need to 
manage the workload to ensure that expenditure is contained within the 
approved provision. 

 
9.2  Design, feasibility and consultation costs relating to certain projects set out in 

section 2 will be funded from the TfL grant and charged to capital and revenue 
depending on the nature of the project. 

 
9.3  TfL LIP funding reduces the council’s capital expenditure liability, through 

maintenance of the highway asset [which is a LIP objective] work and enables 
less draw down on revenue budgets.  

 
9.4 Implications verified by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance. 0208 753 6071 

 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
10.1  Businesses will benefit from the borough meeting its transport objectives and 

targets, as set out in the LIP2. A safe and efficient transport network will allow 
both staff and customers to access a wide range of businesses in all areas of 
the borough 

10.2 An efficient and effective road network will allow business to deliver goods 
and services to a number of customers across the borough and within the 
wider west London sub-region. 

10.3 Implications completed by: Nicholas Ruxton-Boyle, Chief Transport Planner 
020 8753 3069  

11. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

11.1  The council and TfL approved transport plan deals with programme level risk 
management, in particular chapter three, the delivery plan. The table below 
details the capital programme risk and mitigation measures: 

 

Risk Mitigation measure [s] 

Cost increase/budget reduction All designs developed to be flexible to 
allow amendments to reflect budget 
reductions whilst still maintaining 
principles of LIP objectives. 

Delay to schemes LIP funding to be allocated in 
consecutive years to allow more 
involved projects to run over 18 
months rather than the traditional 12 
months. 

Lack of stakeholder support Develop designs that meet our LIP 
objectives that can be justified and 
presented to stakeholders in a 
suitable manner. 

Policy compatibility To develop a bespoke policy 
compliance tool that all potential 

Page 162



 

 

projects will be assessed against. 

Lack of resources to deliver To maintain framework consultants to 
ensure resources are in place to 
deliver LIP objectives. 

 
 
11.2  All integrated transport projects are managed through the divisional quality 

management system which incorporates all elements of project risk 
management and mitigation required for capital and revenue projects. 

 
11.3  Physical improvements to the public highway and programmes of work 

designed to reduce congestion, manage traffic and promote road safety fall 
under the councils statutory duties under a variety of acts including the Traffic 
Management Act 2004, these works and other their associated statutory 
requirements therefore contribute positively to the management of risk 
number 8 managing statutory duty on the council’s strategic risk register.  

 
11.4  Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Head of Risk Management. 0208 

753 2587 
 
12.        PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1  There are no procurement related issues associated with the 

recommendations as the intention is to use existing works term contractors 
and highway engineering consultants.   

 
12.2  Implications verified by: Alan Parry – Interim Head of Procurement [job share] 

020 8753 2581 
 
13.      BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. TfL Local Implementation 
Plan (LIP) 2017/18 annual 
spending submission 
guidance - published 

Nicholas Ruxton-Boyle ENV, HTHX 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Speed limits in Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Appendix 2 – 2017/18 TfL funded integrated transport programme plan 
 

Page 163



T

T
L

L

L

L

L

L

H

H

H

H

H H

H H

H

H

H

E 
S

T H

A 
M

E RR I V

MERRIV THA ES

B
A
T
T
E
R
S
E
A

R
E
A
C
H

R
IV

E
R

W
A

N
D

LE

Chelsea
Harbour

GRAND

UNIO
N

CANAL

F U L H A M

H A M M E R S M I T H

Fulham

Hall

Town Hall
Hammersmith

Town

National Rail

N
ational R

ail

Dist
ric

t L
ine

N
ational R

ail

N
ational R

ail

Hammersm
ith

& City 
Line

Central line

District Line

District Line

The
Queen's

Club

Gardens
Furnivall

Brompton

Cemetery

Eel
Brook

Common

Park
South

Park

Hurlingham

Cemetery
Kensal Green

Cemetery

Little

Scrubs

ParkPark
Wormholt

Wormwood

Fulham

Park
Ravenscourt

Bishops Park

Cemetery

Cemetery
Hammersmith

The Warren

Normand Park

Common

Park
Cathnor

Park
Wendell

St. Mary's

WORMWOOD SCRUBS

Hammersmith

Parsons
Green

Shepherd's Bush

Chis
wick

 E
yo

t

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S S

S

S
S
S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
SS

S

R O A D

LA
N

E

CHISWICK

V A L E

EM
LYN

R
O

A
D

LA
R

D
E

N

AVE

T H E

WEST

VIC
T

ROAD

O
LD

O
AK

L A
 N

 E
O

 L D

C
 O

 M
 M

 O
 N

O
 A K

R O
 A D

BAG

LANE

BR
ID

GE

R 
O

 A
 D

S
W

STER

MUN

R
O

AD

G
R

E
E

N
LA

N
E

P
A

R
S

O
N

S

H
O

M
ESTEAD

KELVE
DO

N

RD

BAGLEY'S

LANE

PU
TN

EY

RICHMOND

ROAD

ROAD

PUTNEY

HI
GH

BRIDGE

WAY

P A L

R O A D

F U L H A M

L I L L I E

BR
ID

G
E

W
AN

D
SW

O
R

TH

F U

R O

R
O

A
D

K 
I N

 G
 'S

STREET

PU
TN

EY

BR
ID

GE

PU
TN

EY

AP
PR

OAC
H

N E W

R O A D

FULH
AM

FULHAM
HIGH

R O A D

RO
AD

N E W
K I N

 G ' S

R
O

A
D

TOWNMEAD

B
R

ID
G

E

W
A

N
D

S
W

O
R

TH

DAWES

R O
 A 

D

DAWES

L I L L I E

M
U

N
S

F U L H
 A M

ROAD

R O A D

ROAD

K I N
 G

 ' S

IMPERIAL

R
O

AD

TO
W

N
M

E
A

D

ROAD

R
O

A
D

R O

LO
TS

R
O

AD

CHEYNE

BR
ID

G
EN

D
R

O
AD

TR
IN

ITY R
O

AD

ST
RE

ET

TALGARTH
ROAD

S
H

E
P

H
E

K I N G

K I N G

ROAD

U X B R I D G ER O

WELL

W
 O

 O
 D

ROAD

R
O

AD

ST
UD

LA
ND

ST

GREYHOUND

BLYTHE

GDNS

ADDIS
ON

ROAD

BECKLO
W

RO
AD

C
O

N
IN

G
H

A
M

R
O

A
D

HOUNDGREY
ROAD

ROAD

STAR

R
O

A
D

RD

LOWER ADDISON

ADD

AD
D

ISO
N

PADD

H O L L A N D

H O L L A N D

W E S T W A Y

HIGH ROAD

RO
AD

H A M
 M

 E R S M
 I T H

HA
MMER

SM
IT

H

BR
ID

GE

HA
MMER

SM
IT

H

S T R

G R E A T W E S T

GOLD

W
ICK

ROAD

ENS

R O A D

GLENTHORNE

D 
A 

L 
L 

I N
 G

ROAD

R 
O

 A
 D

P A L A

BRIDGE

QUEEN

CA
RO

LIN
E

BEADON
ROAD

ROAD

ST
RE

ET

F

HAMMERSMITH

BUTTERW
ICK

G
 R O

 V E

B
U

S
H

R
O

A
D

H A M M E R S M I T H

A S K E W

O
 L D

R
 O

 A
 D

O
 A

 K

R O

W
O

O
D

B
 L O

 E
 M

 F
 O

 N
 T

 E
 I N

U X B R

R O A D

R
 O

 A
 D

C A N E
D U

R O A D

SHEPHERD'S

BUSH

L A N E

GREEN

A
 3 2 2 0

LA
N

E

L I L L I E

R O A D

ROAD

NORTH

END

R
O

AD

R O A D

R O A D

W A R W I C K

N
O

R
TH

WEST

R
O

A
D

E
N

D

CROM

KENSINGTON

HIGH
STREET

OLD
BROMPTON

R O A D

WEST CROMWELL ROAD

W A R W I C K

R O A D

ROAD

A V E N U E

S T R E E T

P A R K

NIGHT

RD

HARLESDEN

TUBBS ROAD

HIGH
STREET

SCRUBS

LANE

HARROW

SC
R

U
BS

LAN
E

ROAD

ROAD
HAR

SH
EP

HE
RD

'S
BU

SH
RO

AD

O
 L D

O
 A

 K
C

 O
 M

 M
 O

 N
L A

 N
 E

HAMMER
FLYOVER

N
O

R
TH

R
O

A
D

EN
D

ERN

I D G E
A D

ROW

ORIA

A M

ISON

T
E

R

A C E

A 
D

LEY'S

E E T

DON

AN

HAWK

R
D

'S

W A Y
W E S T

SMITH

A D

NUE

W
ALK

A D

L H

RO
AD

INGALE

GARDENS

GDNS

ADDIS
ON

A S K E W

BROADWAY

P
A

R
S

O
N

S

LOWER

G
O

LD
H

AW
K

G
R

E
E

N

U L
H A

M

C E

EEL BROOK CL

Kensington & Chelsea

Royal Borough of
Kensington & Chelsea

Wandsworth

of Brent

of Ealing

of Hounslow

Royal Borough of

London Borough of

London Borough of

London Borough

London Borough

London Borough

Richmond upon Thames

Estate

Estate
Clem Attlee

Gardens
Flora

House
O

w
en

Robert

Green
Estate

Burne Jones
House

Linacre
Court

Guinness

Peabody
Estate

Es
ta

te

Q
ue

en
 C

ar
ol

in
e

Em
lyn

G
ardens

Woodford

Court

CourtBush

Gibbs

MARCUS
GARVEY
PARK

SwanWharf Willowbank
Wharf

F
o

o
tb

ri
d

g
e

CarraraBank Wharf

Hospital
Louise

Princess

Hospital
Hammersmith

Charing

Hospital

Cross

The
Ravenscourt Park

Hospital

Chelsea

Ground
Football

Stadium

Linford

Q P R
Football
Ground

Fulham

Football

G
round

Christie

Centre
Broadway

Earls Court
Exhibition
Building

Empress

Building

Olympia

PALACE
FULHAM

BBC
Television
Centre

Scrubs

Old Oak
Sidings

Sidings

North Pole International Depot

Old Oak Common

H.M. Prison

Wormwood

Apollo

Kings Mall

Sulivan
Enterprise Centre

Fulham
Pools

State

Thames
Water
Tower

Lyric
Square

Westfield
London

Borough Boundary

Roads with 30mph Speed Limit

Roads with 20mph Speed Limit

Borough Speed Limits

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

LEGEND

September 2016

This drawing is Copyright.
NOT TO SCALE

Drawing No. 86130/324

Devised and created by the Land & Asset Survey Team.
This drawing is Copyright.

2016 OS Licence No. LA100019223
© Crown copyright and database rights

T Town Hall

S School

Underground Stations National Rail Stations

Police Station

L Library

H Hospital Fire Station

Town Centre

Page 164



F U L H A M

H A M M E R S M I T H

C

C
C

C

T

T

L

L

L

L

L

L

H

H

H

H

H

H

H
H

H

H

H

E 
S

T H

A 
M

E RR I V

MERRIV THA ES

B
A
T
T
E
R
S
E
A

R
E
A
C
H

R
IV

E
R

W
A

N
D

LE

Chelsea
Harbour

GRAND

UNIO
N

CANAL

Fulham
Broadway

West Kensington

Putney
Bridge

Parsons
Green

Kensal Green

White City

Goldhawk

East Acton

Hammer-
smith

Park
Ravenscourt

Stamford
Brook

Baron's Court

Earls
Court

Latimer

Shepherd's
Bush

Road

Road

Ham-
mersmith

Willesden
Junction

Shepherd's
Bush

Kensington
(Olympia)

Imperial
Wharf

West
Brompton

Turnham
Green

Wood
Lane

Market

Fulham

Hall

Town Hall
Hammersmith

Town

National Rail

N
ational R

ail

Dist
ric

t L
ine

N
ational R

ail

N
ational R

ail

Hammersm
ith

& City 
Line

Central line

District Line

District Line

The
Queen's

Club

Gardens
Furnivall

Brompton

Cemetery

Eel
Brook

Common

Park
South

Park

Hurlingham

Cemetery
Kensal Green

Cemetery

Little

Scrubs

ParkPark
Wormholt

Wormwood

Fulham

Park
Ravenscourt

Bishops Park

Cemetery

Cemetery
Hammersmith

The Warren

Normand Park

Common

Park
Cathnor

Park
Wendell

St. Mary's

WORMWOOD SCRUBS

Hammersmith

Parsons
Green

Shepherd's Bush

Chis
wick

 E
yo

t

S

SS

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

REV
O

R

RO
ST

-

H
A

R
TS

W
O

O
D

JEDDO

KINNEAR RD

RD
SWAINSON

T
H

IR
D

B R A Y B R O O KW
 U L F S T A N

ERCONW
ALD

FITZNEAL

R
D

SOUTHFIELD

BLENHEIM RD

ADDISON GR

A
B

IN
G

E
R

FA
IR

FA
X

P
R

IO
R

Y
A

V

WHELLOCK

RD

BLANDFORD

W
O

O
D

S
TO

C
K

R
O

A
D

R
D

FLANDERS

BATH

R
D

R
O

M
A

N

ROAD

R
D

LO
N

S
D

A
LE

R
O

A
D

WENDELL

M
A

P
LE

R
D

R
E

C
H

T

MULTI

W
ARPLE

W
AY

PK MS
ESSEX

BEECH

A
V

AVE

H
O

LLE
Y

 R
D

LE
F

R
O

Y
 R

D

M
A

Y
F

IE
LD

 R
D

COBBOLD A
Y

LM
E

R

V A L E T T A

A
G

N
E

S

R
D

R
O

A
D

C
T

G
LE

N
D

U
N

B
R

O
M

Y
A

R
D

BOWES ROAD

R
D

G
LE

N
D

U
N

ASHFIELD

A
V

E
N

U
E

TRINITY

O
LD

 O
A

K

LA
N

E
C

O
M

M
O

N

MUIR

BRASSIE

FAIRWAY

DRIVE

R
O

A
D

BRASSIE

A
V

K
IN

G
S

D
O

W
N

H
O

Y
LA

K
E

AVE A
N

D
R

E
W

'S
S

T
R

O
A

D

THE

LONG

M
A

S
H

IE

R
D

G
R

N
T

A
Y

LO
R

'S B
Y

E
T

H
E

THE GREEN

SUNNINGDALE

A
V

E

AVE

FOLI
OT

WAY

MAY-

ROAD

M
ID

LA
N

D

CHANDOS RD

TELFORD

BRUNEL RD

W
E

LL
S

 H
O

U
S

E
 R

D

W
AY

T
E

R
R

A
C

E

ROAD

A
T

LA
S

S
TE

P
H

E
N

S
O

N

ST

G
O

O
D

H
A

LL
ST

NORTH POLE

W
A

LLIN
G

FO
R

D

RD
SNARSGATE

H
IG

H
LE

V
E

R

C
H

ESTN
U

T

ALLEY

M
ERTHYR

TER

TER

ROSEDEW

COLWITH

R
 A N

 N
 O

 C
 H

ROAD

E
V

E
R

IN
G

TO
N

SEDLESCOMBER
O

AD

R
O

A
D

C
LO

S
E

C
R

A
M

M
O

N
D

R
O

AD

M
U

LG
R

A
V

E

TAM
W

O
R

TH
 ST

ROAD

R
O

AD

R
O

AD

R
 O

 A D

WESTBRIDGE

BA

CRESCENT

ROAD

ROAD

MONTSERRAT

R
O

A
D

O
X

FO
R

D

ST

ESMOND

W
IN

TH
O

R
P

E
 R

D
W

A
D

H
A

M
R

O
A

D

ROAD

B
E

PLBE
C

TI
VE

R
D

B
R

A
N

D
LE

H
O

W

R
D

S
K

E
LG

IL
L

ROADPARKFAWE

N
O

R
T

H
F

IE
LD

S

P
LE

A
S

A
N

T

P
O

IN
T

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

ENTERPRISE

OSIERS

CRESCENT

V
IC

A
R

A
G

E

VICARAGE

GWYNNE

R
O

A
D

Y
E

LV
E

R
T

O
N

R
D

H
A

R
R

O
W

A
Y

HOLMAN RD

LO
M

B
A

R
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

Y
O

R
K

B
R

ID
G

E
S

C
O

U
R

T

HOLGATE AVE

CLOSE

W
AL

LI
S

ST

HIBBERT

H
O

PE
STR

EET

YORK
PLACE

PL
AC

E

YO
RK

WAY

G
AR

TO
NS

CHATFIELD RD
MENDIP

RD

ROAD W
YN

TER
STR

EET

USK
RO

AD

CLOSE

NANTES

C
LO

S
E

GARRICK

CLOSE

C
LO

SE
TU

R
EN

E

C
LO

SE

BAR
TH

O
LO

M
EW

COLEFORD RD

ST

TO
N

SLEY

H
ILL

TO
N

SLEY

R
O

AD

ST
M

O
R

IE
S

T
E

D
G

E
L

ST

EBN
ER RD

R
D

B
IR

D
H

U
R

S
T

D
E

M
P

S
TE

R
 R

D

SQ
MARRYAT

F
U

LH
A

M

RO
AD

SETTRINGTON

PLA

ST

C
L

TH
O

R
N

D
IKE

R
O

AD

PETERBOROUGH

CLOSE

P
A

R
K

G
DS

VILLE

R
O

B
E

R
TS

ST

M
E

W
S

S
O

U
TH

ST M
ARKS C

L

CRABTREE

CHILDERLEY

S
T

KINGWOOD

STRODE

PARK

STREET

CREFIELD

C
L

W
O

O
D

LAW
N

GRESWELL STREET

RO
AD

D
A

N
E

M
E

R
E

R
D

R
O

S
K

E
LL

A
S

H
LO

N
E

F
E

S
T

IN
G

ST

R
O

A
D

E M B A N K M E N T

RUVIGNY

B
E

M
IS

H

FELSHAM

C
H

A
R

LW
O

O
D

R
E

D
G

R
A

V
E

 R
D

R
D

BENDEM
EER

JACKSON

H
E

N
R

Y
R

D
S

A
LV

IN

RD

R
O

TH
E

R
W

O
O

D

R
D

G
LA

D
W

Y
N

S
T

G
LE

N
D

A
R

V
O

N

W
E

IS
S

 R
D

R
O

W

B
IG

G
'S

KINGS-

ST

W
AT

ER
M

AN

M
A

S
C

O
TT

E

G
W

A
LI

O
R

R
D

R
D

ROAD C
LO

S
EM

E
R

E

G
D

S

R
D

R
O

ELLERBY

DONERAILE

T H E

RD

FIN
LAY

BISHOP'S

BIS
HOP'S

CLONCURRY

RO
AD

STREET

STREET

N
A

G
E

S
T

E
V

E

LANGTHORNE

QUEENSMILL

W
O

O
D

LA
W

N

LYSIA

LARNACH

NELLA

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ETERNIT

WALK

C
LO

S
E

M
ILLS

H
O

T
T

CLOSEROWBERRY

WHEATSHEAF

MEADOWBANK

CLOSE

H
O

LY

LANE

BOWFELL
RDSKELWITH

R
A

IN
V

ILLE

WINGRAVE

P
E

TLE
Y

RD

RD

STREET

INGLETHORPE

HARBORD

KENYON

STREET

R
O

A
D

NITON

STREET

ROAD

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET

STREET
ATALANTA

DELORME

AVERILL

ROAD

ROAD

SILVERTON
ELLALINE

R
 O

 A
 D

ROAD

LANE

BOTHW
ELL

STREET
HAW

KSMOOR

STREET

STREET

STREET S
T

CLOSEADENEY

ANCILL

ROAD

ROAD

ALTHEA ST

STM
EAD

RD

CAMBRIA

W
ANDON RD

FORD

ACKMAR R
D

ELTHIRON RD

BASUTO

W
HITTINGSTALL

VERA R
O

ADGOWAN

ROAD

R
O

A
D

ROAD

ROAD

LIN
V

E
R

A
TN

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

D
E

O
D

A
RFL

O
R

IA
N

R
D

ROAD

FU
LH

AM

RD
DURRELL

ROAD

CLO
SE

STE
EPLE

B
U

R
S

TO
C

K
 R

D

ST

W
E

IM
A

R

B
R

E
W

H
O

U
S

E

DEODAR

M
E

R
IV

A
LE

R
O

A
D

R
O

AD

ST
H

IG
H

WILLOWBANK

GATE

CHURCH

ST
VILLE
GON-

RANELAGH

A
P

P
R

STATION

W
ALD

EM
AR

EDGARLEY

TER

AVENUE

ROAD COLEHILL

GDNS

KIM
BELL G

S

FIRTH G
S

C
O

LE
H

IL
L

RIG
AULT

BU
R

LIN
G

TO
N

BUER

R
O

AD

PLA
CE

BURLIN
GTON

COMBE
RINGMER

BURNFOOT

O
XBER

R
Y

HORDER

RD
DO

RNCLIFFE

A
V

GARDENS

GDNS

HURLINGHAM

E
D

E
N

H
U

R
S

T

N
A

P
IE

RR
A

N
E

LA
G

H

CROOKHAM ROAD

MIMOSA STREET

LE
TT

IC
E

LAUREL

R
D

LANDRIDGE

FU
LH

AM

GD

HURLINGHAM

G
R

IM

ELYSIUM

R
D

RDRD

PARK

FO
S

K
E

TT

EW
A

D
O

LB
Y

A
V

R
D

A
V

E
N

U
E

PK
 R

D

S
TR

E
E

T

N
S

DANCER ROAD

BETTRIDGE

C
O

R
TA

Y
N

E

ASHINGTONR
O

A
D

C
R

IS
TO

W
E

BANK

RD R
O

A
D

A
LD

E
R

V
ILLE

ROAD

R
D

HEATH

E
D

D
IS

C
O

M
B

E

DIONIS

R
D

ST

ROAD

STREET

DORIA

G
U

IO
N

 R
O

A
D

ROAD

PERRYM
STR

EET

CT

DAIS
Y

SULI

SULIVAN

LA
N

E

CARNWATH

LA
NE

FORD
MOLES-

P
E

TE
R

B
O

R
O

U
G

H
C

O
N

IG
E

R

B
R

O
O

M
H

O
U

S
E

MEWSBOROUGH
PETER-

B
R

O
O

M
H

O
U

S
E

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

IRENE

DELV
IN

O

RD

D
IN

G
STO

N
E

ST

CLAN

STUDDRIDGE

R
O

A
D

ST

CARTY

ST

Q
U

AR
R

EN
D

O
N

B
R

A
D

B
O

U
R

N
E

CHID

CRONDACEROAD

RD

CHIPS

RO
AD

RD

ROSEBURY
STE

PHENDALE

WOOLNEIGH

HUGON

SQPHILPOT

RO
AD

D
YM

O
C

K

ST

B
R

E
E

R

STR
EET

STR
EET

ROAD

ROAD

DE
MORGAN RD

HAMBLE

HAZLEBURY

SANDILA
NDS

IN
GDON

BELTRAN

STASHCOMBE

STNARBOROUGH

ST
FRISTON

ROAD

RD

RCH

RYECROFT

STREET

B
O

W
E

R
D

E
A

N
 S

T

EAD

S
TR

E
E

T

S
T

O
K

E
N

ST

CHU

ST

BOV

R
D

A
C

FO
LD

RD

BROU

RDSNOW
BURY

KBURY R
D

C
R

A
N

B
U

R
Y

R
D

OA

ROAD

F
U

R
N

E
S

S

GILSTEAD

PEARSCROFT

RD
RD

COURT

RSCRO
FT

PEA-RD

CLOSE

WAITE

ROAD

SWIFT ST

FI
LM

E
R

FERNHURST ROAD

ST

PETER'S

ESTCOURTPROTHEROMENDORA

ROAD CHALDON

AINTREE
ROADHANNELL

ROAD

R
O

A
D

SID
BU

R
Y STLAMBROOK

WARDO

ST

TER

DANEHURST

WYFOLD

ALLESTREE ROADROWALLAN ROADROADMABLETHORPEBRONSART ROAD

B
R

O
N

S
A

R
T

ROAD
KILMAINE ROAD

ROAD

REPORTON

AVENUE

AVENUE

STREET

BISHOP'S

LANE

ROAD

ST OLAF'S

STREET

ORBAIN
SHERBROOKE

ROSALINE

V
A

R
N

A

ROAD
ROAD

ROAD

R
O

AD

BEDFORD PS

H
U

M
B

O
LT R

O
A

D

HUMBOLT ROAD

DISBROWE

W
K

CARO
LINE

A
B

B
E

Y

LA
U

N
D

R
Y

 R
D

C
R

CL

P
U

R
C

E
LL

R
D

B
A

Y
O

N
N

E

BRECON RD

LAMPETER

GDNS

PELLAN
T

ROAD

M
O

YLAN
 R

O
AD

ROAD

BRECON

ROAD DELAFORD

TILTO
N

TOURNAY

ST. T
HOMAS'S W

AY

H
AR

TISM
ER

E

FABIAN
 R

O
AD

ROAD

R
O

AD

ROAD

OP'S

W
IN

C
H

EN
D

O
N

M
IR

ABEL R
O

AD

BLO
O

M
 PAR

K

TER
MARVILLE

C
H

ESILTO
N

R
O

STR
EVO

R

FE
LD

E
N

ROAD

R
O

AD

R
O

AD

M
EW

S

R
O

AD

R
AD

IPO
LE

BISH

LILYVILLE

BROOKVILLEROSAVILLE

PARKVILLE

ROAD

LETTER-

STONE

R
O

AD

RD

R
O

A
D

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

R
O

A
D

DARLAN

R
O

ADR
O

AD
ST M

AUR
ROAD

C
LO

N
M

EL

EPPLE

PLACE
BRIDGES

CRO
SS

ROAD

ROAD

SHORROLDS

E RD

BURNTH

EPIR
U

S

R
O

AD

R
Y

LS
TO

N

STREET

ROAD

ST

ROAD

COOMER PL

HALDANE

COOMER

MEWS

KEMPSON

A
V

E
HARW

OOD

MOORE

MS
EPIRUS

FARM

CAMPANA

BAR
C

LAY

C
L

JERDAN

NOVELLO

SHOTTENDANE

DOWN

HARBLE

RD

RDELMS RD

PLACE

FIELD

HECK-ROAD

ROAD

PULTON

BARCLAY

CASSIDYROAD

VANSTON

PARTHENIA

ST

RD

RD

RD

FAV

ROAD

R
M

U
S

G

A
R

G
O

N

RD

M
S

EFFIE

PLACE

BROADWAY

FULHAM

RD

ANSELM

EUSTACE
RDARMADALE

HALFORD

ROAD

ROAD

RACTON

RD

KN
IVET R

D

WALHAM

ROAD
ROAD

LANE

LANE

GROVE

FAR
M

RD

M
IC

KLETH
W

AITE

STR
EET

BIL
LI

NG

RD

AVALO
N R

D

HARW
OOD

HILARY

RD
TYRAW

LE
Y

BLA
KE

CRES

RD

GDS

BOROUGH

PETER-

VILL
AS

ROAD

WANSDOWN

W
A

TE
R

FO
R

D

C
E

D
A

R
N

E

R
D

PLACE

B
R

ITA
N

N
IA

PARK

LO
R

D

IMP

R
O

W
ED

MIC
HAEL

TER

M
ELD

ON

CHERYLS

C
L

CLOSE

ROAD

WAY

BRITANNIA

R
O

A
D

EM
D

EN

SQ
RIAL

E

ST

SANDS END LANE

ITH

ST

RD

RUMBOLD RD

ROAD

WKLENODAN

W
ELL

M
A

X

HOLMEAD RD

C
R

ESC
EN

T

PAR
K

BROMPTON

BILLING RD

PL

BIL
LI

NG

M
O

R
R

IS

EDENVALE ST

WILLIAM

ST

CHARLOW

CL

LANE

WATERMEADOW

P
O

TT
E

R
S

STEPHENDALE

LINDROP ST

ST

Q
U

E
R

R
IN

BYAM

GLENROSA ST

R
O

A
D

K
IL

R
D

S
T

ST

TYNEMOUTH ST

ELBE

R
O

A
D

RD

ST

EL
SW

IC
K

M
AL

TI
NG

S

STREET

R
O

A
D

W
AY

Pier

Chelsea

Harbour

G
R

O
VE

ASHBURNHAM

STADIU
M

G
R

O
VE

U
PC

ER
N

E

TETC
O

TTST

ST
FORD

SAND-

REW
ELL

TETC
O

TT
RD

R
O

AD

LOTS

Chelsea

R
O

AD

BURNABY

U
VER

D
ALE

TAD
EM

A
R

O
A

D
R

D

TERDAMER

FER
N

SH
AW

HO
RTENSIA

G
U

N
TER

EDITH TER

R
D

ED
ITH

Wharf
Chelsea

Creek

Wharf

ROAD

CREMORNE RD

RD

ST

Cremorne

AVENUE

H
AR

BO
U

R

HARBOUR DR

CHELSEA

SQUARE

ADMIRAL

THAMES AVE

PODMORE ROAD

ALM
A DIGHTON RD

BR
AM

FO
R

D
 R

D

D
ALBY R

D

BALLAN
TIN

E ST

YORK

ELTRINGHAM

PETERG
ATE

MARL R
D

FERRIER ST

SMUGGLERS WAY

SM
U

G
G

LER
S

O
LD

 Y
O

R
K 

R
O

AD

MAYNARD C
L

GW
YNCLOSE

JE
W

S
ROW

ROAD

AVENUE

AVENUE

AVENUE

AVEN
U

E

AVEN
U

E

RO
AD

HURLINGHAM

SQUARE

W
ILL

IA
M

BURY

MS

R'S ALLEY

WHEAT-

SHEAFTERR

PALACE
MEWS

CLARE

MWS

BROUGHTON

RD APPROACH

M
U

S
TO

W

ST

ELY
SIU

M
 P

L

M
S

B
R

A
N

K
S

E
A

GRAN-

PLACE

MELBRAY

MS

LALOR ST

EXETER

M
EW

S

JOHN

AVENUE

INGRAMMARGARET

CLOSE

PL

LEN

H
U

G
H

DALTON

AVE

HUGH

C
L

G
A

IT
S

K
E

LL

S
W

A
N

M
S

W
ALK

BOLINGBROKE

LAN
E

SUNBU

ROAD

CHURCH

BA
TT

ER
SE

A

ROAD

S
T

R
E

E
T

H
IG

H

ROAD

O
R

V
ILLE

TC
E

ROAD

ROAD

WORLIDGE ST

IMRE CL

ALDENSLEY

R
D

LILY

S
T

BROOK

HEM

OLD

CLOSEPARNELL

E
LG

IN

A
V

E

SIDE RDGREEN-

CREIGHTON

STREET

BEAUFORT MS

TELEPHONE

PL

LANFREY
PL

CHEESEMANS

ELSHAM

HOFLAND

UPPER A
DDIS

ON
LORNE

CRE

P
L

Q U E E N S D A L E

GDS

MARY

ST ALBAN'S
CHELMSFORD

ROAD

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D

ROADROAD
ANLEY RDS

Y
C

A
M

O
R

E

FIE
LD

 R
D

LE
Y

S
-

W
E

S
TV

IL
LE

 R
O

A
D

R
Y

LE
TT

A
S

HHURCH
BASSEIN

P
A

R
K

CT

RAVENS-

LIO
N

STAM

M
E

R
T

O
N

 A
V

R
D

G
A

IN
S

B
O

R
O

U
G

H

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
O

A
D

B
R

IT
IS

H

A
IR

E
D

A
LE

C
LE

V
E

LA
N

D
 A

V

N
E

TH
E

R
A

V
O

N

G
R

O
V

E

LIO
N

S
T

 P
E

T
E

R
'S

S
Q

U
A

R
E

S
T

 P
E

T
E

R
'S

 S
Q

ST PETER'S SQ

G
S

M
AL

L

GR

BRITISH

E
Y

O
T

BERESTEDE

RD

G
S

E
Y

O
T

GS

TERHAMMERSMITH

VERBENA

LA

SQUARE

CROFT

SQ
M

S

G
R

O
V

E

BLACK LION

B
R

O
O

K

VAUGHAN AV

BROOK
RDPALGRAVE

SOUTH

P
R

E
B

E
N

D

FORD

P
LE

Y
D

E
LL

A
V

SIDE

S
TA

M
FO

R
D

FL

MS C
O

S

BALMORAL

R
O

AD

FO

BINDEN

CL

GDNS
STAMFORD

R
A

V
E

N
S

C
O

U
R

T

OURT

A
V

E
N

U
E

S
Q

U
A

R
E

TER
ASHC

CRESCENT

ROAD

RD

RD

R
O

A
D

V
ILLA

S
A

S
H

C
H

U
R

C
H

AMOR

R
O

A
D

KILMARSH

LONSDALE

RD

GLENTHAM

LILLIAN

ARU
ROAD

S
T

 H
IL

D
A

'S
 R

D

OAD
R

AV

RIVERVIEWCLAVE

G
DNS

R
A

V
E

N
S

C
O

U
R

T

UPPER

LA
N

EST PETER'S

S
O

U
T

H

C
O

U
R

T
R

D
SAM

ELS PLACENAPIERLORD

LA
N

E
O

IL M
ILL

GDS

THERESA R

S
T

A
N

D
IS

H

S
T

P
E

T
E

R
'S

HAMLET

H
A

M
LE

T

G
D

S

B
E

A
V

O
R

P
A

R
K

R
IV

E
R

C
O

U
R

T

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

MALL

P
LA

C
E

V
E

N
C

O
U

R
T

W
E

LT
JE

R
A

V
E

N
S

-

A
V

E

C
O

U
R

T

H
O

G
 LA

N
E

H
A

M
P

S
H

IR
E

RAVENSCOURT

PLACE

S
ID

E
E

N

R
A

V
E

N
S

C
O

U
R

T

GARDENS

SQ

G
R

.

C
H

U
R

C
H

G
D

S
K

E
LM

S
C

O
TT

R
O

A
D

D
O

R
V

IL
LE

W
IN

G
A

TE

WELLESLEY

AV

R
D

C
R

LA
M

IN
G

T
O

N

REDMORE RD

R
O

A
D

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

GLENTHORNE

LOWER

RIVERSIDE

N
IG

E
L

GDS

M
S

F
E

LG
A

T
E

N
IG

EL
 P

LA
YF

AI
R

P
LA

Y
FA

IR
 A

V
E

A
V

C
R

O
M

W
E

LL

ALBION

P
L

H
O

L-

S
T

C
O

M
B

E

R
D

MEWS

A
V

E

BR
ID

G
E

M
A

C
B

E
T

H

GA
RD

EN
S

MALL

GVE

RUTLAND

M
AL

L
R

D

B
R

ID
G

E
V

IE
W

PLACE

G
R

O
V

E

A
R

G
Y

LE
P

L

DOWN

A
S

P
E

N
P

L
D

IM
E

S

S
T

R
E

E
T

LE
A

M
O

R
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

BRACKENBURY

BENBOW

B
A

N
IM

PERRERS

RAYNHAM

ATWOOD

RD

FURBER

D
A

LL
IN

G S
T

R
E

E
T

ST

B
R

A
D

M
O

R
E

 P
K

RD

R
O

A
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

R
O

A
D

C
A

R
D

R
O

S
S

N
A

S
M

Y
T

H

A
D

R
O

A
D

C
A

R
T

H
E

W
B

R
A

C
K

E
N

B
U

R
Y

HEBRON

T
A

B
O

RR
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

S
O

U
TH

E
R

TO
N

IF
F

LE
Y

RD

ADIE

MARCO

RD

RD

IF
F

LE
Y

CARTHEW

COULTER

VILLAS

GDNS

BEAUCLERC

ROAD

A
G

A
TE

RD

G
S

ROAD

ST JA
MES

BERYL

PARFREY STREET

ST DUNSTAN'S

CHANCELLOR'S
ST

RD

LOCHALINE

WINSLOW

D
ISTILLER

Y R
D

ROAD

ST
PLAYFAIR

C
LAYBR

O
O

K

M
AR

G
R

AVIN
E

ROAD
ASPENLEA

GASTEIN

CLAXTON

RD
LU

R
G

AN
 AV

RD

GROVE

CLOSE

BROOK

STERNDALE

DEWHURST

NETHERW
OOD

BISCAYYELDHAM

LU
X

E
M

B
U

R
G

GARDENS

W
A

LK

CHANCELLORS

TERRIVER

CRISP ST

BLACK'S

A
N

G
E

L

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

ROAD

B
U

T
E

MELROSE

BATOUM

LENA

TRUSSLEY

O
V

E
R

S
TO

N
E

RD

RD

S
T

R
E

E
T

M
E

W
S

G
R

O
V

E

MS

A
S

TR
O

P

TCE
ASTROP

RD

S
U

LG
R

A
V

E

R
D

T
C

E

M
S

ROAD

B
A

R
B

SH
EP

HE
RD

'S
 B

US
H

CROMWELL

GARDENS

R
D

GDNS

LO
R

IS

M
E

LR
O

S
E

GR

GDNS

G
REEN

GREAT CHURCH

ROAD

R
O

W
A

NT
E

R
R

A
C

E

G
A

R
D

E
N

S
W

O
LV

E
R

TO
N

R
O

W
A

N

S
H

O
R

T
 LA

N
D

S

MARGRAVINE

C
O

LE
T

 G
A

R
D

E
N

S

CLOSE
WATERHOUSE

MORE CLOSE

WIN
DSOR

CAIT
HNESS

DAN

IRVING

BLYTHE

BOLIN
GBROKE

U
S

TI
N

E

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

HAARLEM
RD

BROOK

D
U

N
S

A
N

Y

A
U

G

GREEN

GREEN

R
O

A
D

APPLEGARTH

GA
RT

H

ROAD

R
O

A
D

R
D

LAKESID
E

R
O

A
D

ROAD

RE

FA
R

O
E

C
E

Y
LO

N

M
A

S
B

R
O

'

RO
AD

G
IR

DLE
RS

AY
NHO

E
ROAD

SOUL-ROAD
DERN RO

AD

MILSON

FIELDING

V
A

LE
 T

E
R

S
P

R
IN

G
-

STREET

ROAD

RD

MILSON

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

RD
ROAD

PRIMULA

LIL

CU

STREET

RD

COURT

ASKHAM

PL

C
U

R
W

E
N

VESPAN

TH
E

ARMSTRONG

ROAD

R
D

C
O

W
LE

Y
 R

D
A

V

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
S

K
H

A
M

ASKEW

ST ELMO

R
D

F
IE

LD
O

LD
-

BECKLOW

S
TR

O
N

S
A

GAYFORD

R O A D

E
LIZ

A
B

E
T

H
D

A
V

IS

GDS

A
V

S
T E

LM
O

R
D

R
D

ROAD

PARK

R
Y

LE
TT

ROAD

RD

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

M
S

LAU E
N

C
E

R

LANDOR

HADYN

WK

OLLGAR CLOSE

CLIFTON

CR

ASKEW

AV

C
R

E
S

R
O

A
D

W
ALLFLO

YEW

L 
O

 C
 K

STEVENTON

ROAD

A
V

E
N

U
E

F
IR

S
T

ROAD

ST

HILARY

WAY

FOXGLOVE

SQTAMARIS
K

H E M

RD

R
O

A
D

AYCLIFFE

URNE

S A W L E Y

ALDBO

R
O

A
D

S
T

S
E

D
G

E
F

O
R

D

ROAD

CLEMATIS

TREE

R 
O

 A
 D

DAFFODIL

W
E

R

VIOLASQ

SU
ND

EWSTREET

MELLITUS

NORBROKE

W
A

LK

ST

STREET

S T R E E T

STR
EET

C
A

C
T

U
S

STREET

H
ILA

R
Y

W
K

O
N

IA

STREET

HENCHM
AN

STOSM
UND

S
 T

 R
 E

 E
 T

B
E

G
-

Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
S

W
E

S
T

STREET

BENNELONG

ROAD

STANLAKE VILLAS

AV
EN

U
E

RD

AUSTRALIA

ROAD

G
R

O
V

E

G
R

O
V

E

G
R

O
V

E

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

BATSON

FINDON

ROAD

S
TA

R
FI

E
LD

D
A

V
IS

V
IL

LE

PARK

ROXWELL

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

P
E

R
C

Y
P

E
R

C
Y

R
O

A
D

ROAD

LYCETT

KEITH

R
O

A
D

G
R

O
V

E

C
L

W
E

S
T

-

ROAD

R
O

A
D

GOODW
IN

ST

R
O

A
D

RD

LEFFERN

R
D

E
LL

IN
G

H
A

M

ROAD

C
A

TH
N

O
R

M
ELIN

A

R
D

R
O

A
D

B
O

S

HAM
CONING-

ROAD

V
A

LE
W

ILLO
W

DUNRAVEN

G
R

A
V

E
S

E
N

D

W
O

R
M

H
O

LT

ROAD

ROAD

T
H

O
R

P
E

B
A

N
K

G
A

LLO
W

A
Y

R
D

S
T

P
A

N

ST

BRYONY

ORCH ID

AC

RVE

ST

THE

CU

G
D

S

SY

RVE

M
ILF

O
IL

R O A D

A
D

E
LA

ID
E

O
A

K
LA

N
D

S

O
R

M
IS

T
O

N

HALSBURY

ROAD

S
T

E
R

IC
A

ROAD

B
LO

E
M

F
O

N
T

E
IN

R
O

A
D

THORNFIELD

SCOTT'S

RO

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

H
E

T
LE

Y

S
T

 S
T

E
P

H
E

N
'S

G
O

D
O

LP
H

IN
R

D
IN

G
E

R
S

O
LL

R
D

A
R

M
IN

G
E

R

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

G'HK

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
O

A
D

TITMUSS

ROAD

D
E

V
O

N
P

O
R

T

W
A

R
B

E
C

K

R
O

A
D

C
O

V
E

R
D

A
LE

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

C O M M O N W E A L T H A V E

ROAD

ELLERSLIE

AVE

SOUTH

RDETHELDEN

W
A

Y

COMMON-

AUSTRALIA

IN
D

IA

C
A

N
A

D
A

AFRIC
A

A
B

D
A

LE

LO
F

T
U

S

CLOSE

BATMAN

STAN

SWINDON ST

T
U

N
IS

ROAD

W
A

Y

R
O

A
D

A
U

S
T

R
A

LIA

DORANDO CLOSE

BENTWORTH

A
R

T
ILLE

R
Y

 LA
N

E

STREET HEATHSTAN

M
A

U
R

IC
E

S
T

S
T

T
E

R
R

IC
K

MEWS

R
D

SHALFLEET DR

B
 R

 A
 M

 L
 E

 Y

WESTWICK

MINFORD

ST

TADMOR

S
ILV

E
R

 R
O

A
D

M
A

C
F

A
R

LA
N

E

W
O

O
D

-

M
A

R
K

E
T

G
R

O
V

E

S
H

E
P

H
E

R
D

'S

R
IC

H
F

O
R

D

B
U

S
H

W
E

LLS

G
E

R
R

O
A

D

LIM
E

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

P
E

N
N

A
R

D

S
T

HO
PG

O
O

D

R
D

ROAD

BAM
B-

POPLAR

G
DS

GROVE

BULWER
ST

S
T

IN
E

A
LD

C
A

X
T

O
N

R
D

FR
ITH

V
ILLE

OSE
C

L

W
HITE CITY

EXHIBITIO
N

CLOSE

R
E

LA
Y

 R
O

A
D

ARIEL

WAY

RD

CHARECROFT WAY

R
O

C
K

LE
Y

GDNS

GARDENS

ROAD

S
TSTERNE

GDNS

SINCLAIR

W
O

O
D

STO
C

KW
A

Y

G
R

O
H

AN
SAR

D
 M

EW
S

N
O

R
LA

N
D

C
LEAR

W
ATER

YA
L

TC
E

R
O

C
R

R
O

Y
A

L
M

S
V

ILLA
S

A
N

N
'S

R
 O

 A D

O
LA

F

ST

F R
 E S T O

 N

BAR
D

STEVESHAM

RD

COMBE

S
W

A
N

S
-

MORTIMER

R
DSQ

WILSHAM
S

T

PLSTONELEIGH

S
TO

N
E

LE
IG

H

TREADGOLD

AN
SLEIG

H
A

N
N

'S
PL

S
T

ST

WHITCHURCHR
D

S
IR

D
A

R

ALE
D

A
V

O
N

BOMORE

G
R

E
N

F
E

LL

ST

L A T I M
 E R

SHINFIELD

CAV

EYNHAM

NASCOT

GLEN

STWALL

ST
ST

ROY

ERS-

ST

R
O

AD

ST

OXFORD

KINGSBRIDGE

R
O

A
D

LATIMER

R
 O

 A D

PL

KELFIELD

RD

R
 O

 A
 D

BASSETT RD

GARDENS

DARFI
ELD

WAYNFLETE

WAY

SQ

FIN
S

TO
C

K

GARDENS

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
D

H
E

LE
N

'S

G
D

N
S

CAMBRIDGE GDNS

STREET

BLECHYNDEN

KINGS

SILCHESTER

B
R

A
M

E
LE

Y

R
O

A
D

RD

CLOSE

CR

ROAD

CL

CL
BELLAM

Y

STANIER

THAXTON

RO

G
DNS

PEM
BR

O
KE

PEMBROKE

DENS

ROAD

C
H

A

G
LE

D
S

TA
N

E
S CHARLEVILLE

CLUB

FAIRHOLME

R
O

A
D

S
P

E
N

C
E

R
M

S

TER

FIE
LD

TA
S

S
O

R
D

K
IN

N
O

U
L

GARDENS

Q
U

E
E

N
'S

C
LU

B

ST

M
U

S
A

R
D

ANDREW'S

QUEEN'S

GDS

R
DPERHAM

R
O

A
D

CHESSON

R
O

AD

R
D

CHESSON

BRAMBER

RD
ARCHEL

N
O

R
M

A
N

D

TURNE-

VILLE

RD

ROAD

TU
R

N
E

V
ILLE

R
D

RD

ARCHEL

S
Q

P
LA

C
E

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

ST
FANE

MARCHBANK

FRANKLIN

A
V

E
N

U
E

NAPIER

CASTLETOWN

ROAD

ADDISON BR

MORE

ROAD
ROAD

GORLESTON

SOUTH-

COMERAGH
BARTON ROAD

VERNON

AVE
FITZ-

EDITH

R
O

A
D

DENSGAR

P
A

LLIS
E

R
 R

O
A

D

BARON'S

AURIO
L

G
LID

D
O

N

E
D

ITH
 R

O
A

D

CLOSE

RO
AD

GUNTERSTONE

M
UNDEN

ST

COM
BE ST

R
D

G
LA

Z
B

U
R

Y

COURT

GWENDWRR
D

V
E

R
E

K
E

R

MS

ST

AVEFITZJAMES

ROADT
R

E
V

A
N

IO
N

GDS

RUSSELL

ROAD

G
R

A
TT

O
N

H
A

ZL
IT

T

ROAD

BLYTHE

W
AY

R
O

A
D

W
ALK

LYO
N

S

MACLISE

BE
AC

ON
SF

IE
LD

RO
AD

TE
RR

AC
E

RUSSELL GARDENS MEWS

RD

R
D

P
O

R
TE

N

R
D

RD

SIN
C

LAIR

RO
AD

RD

RD

RUSSELL

BISHOP KING'S
ROAD

EAR
SBY PLACE

ADDISON

SO
N

GDSLA
NDHOL-

R
 O

 A
 D

AD
D

I

CRES

ROAD

ROAD

C
H

A
LLO

N
E

R
S

T

ROAD

C
R

C
R

LL
O

N
E

R

B
E

A
U

M
O

N
T

MONT

BEAU

LIS

EDITH VILLAS

NOR

C
R

ES
E

N
D

R
D

ST
O

NO
R

STANWICK

AV

RD

MORNINGTON

RO
AD

M
AT

HES
O

N

AVONMORE

MUND ST

IV
A

T
T

AV

A
IS

G
ILL

CLO
SE

BECKFORD

W
AR

W
IC

K

HOLLAND PK RD

N
APIER

 PL

ROAD
ROAD

RADNOR

TER

R
D

OAKWOOD COURT

AD
D

ISO
NRD

MELBURY

ED
W

AR
D

ESPL
ABBO

T'S
ST M

AR
Y

PEMBROKE

GDS

GAR

SQ

REDCLIFFE SQ

C
O

LEH
ER

N
E

F I N B O
 R

C
R

E
S

O
N

G
AR

PL

ROAD

RICKETT

HILDYARD

SEAG
R

AVE

YD
LILLIE

RDMERRINGTON

RD

R
ESS

EM
P-

ST

PLROXBY

IFIELD

REDCLIFFE SQ

TER
W

ESTGATE

U G H

M
S

O

R
O

AD

REDCLIF
FE S

T

EARL'S

PENYW
ERN R

OAD
LOGAN PLACE

C
R

O
M

W
ELL

GARD

SQ

NEVERN

LONGRIDGE
ROAD

CLU
NY

PH
IL

C
R

ES

NEVERN

NEVERN ROAD

TR
EBOVIR

 R
OAD

G
D

N
S

E
A

R
D

LE
Y

K
E

M

NEVERN SQ

NEVERN

SQ

SQ

C
LO

S
E

RD

P
E

M
B

R
O

K
E

C
O

LEH
ER

N
E

EARL'S COURT SQ

COURT

M
S

KR
AM

ER ST

WHARFEDALE

Q
U

E
E

N
S

D
A

LE

R O A D

A
D

D
IS

O
N

V
 I L L A

 S
S

Q

H
 O

 L L A
 N

 D

ENT

GDNS

PL

ADDISON

SC

G
D

N
S

H
O

LLAN
D

 PK

D
A

LE

A
V

E
N

U
E

Q
U

E
E

N
S

-W
K

N
O

R
LA

N
D

PO
TTER

Y

R
O

AD

R
O

A
D

STREET

GARDENS
DARNLEY

R
O

A
D

PENZANCE

PRINCES

PENZANCE ST

PR
IN

C
ED

ALE
RUNCORNP

A
R

KP
A

R
K

P
L

G
O

R
H

A
M

PL

PL

PL
HESKETHR

O
A

D
TH

R
E

S
H

E
R

S

P
L

A
V

O
N

D
A

LE

RD

W
A

LM
E

R

C
LA

R
E

N
D

O
N

P
O

R
T

R
O

A
D

PL

R
O

AD

LANE

P
LA

C
E

STDULF
ORD

Hammersmith
Pier

NEW ZEALAND

WAY

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

DISTILLERY

LANE

M
AN

B

CUMBERLAND

AVE

Q
U

E
E

N
S

C
R

E
S

E
N

T

K
IN

G
S

D
A

LE

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

O
LYM

PIA

W
AY

S
TO

W
E

BR
ITI

SH

MUL-

BERRY

PL

MILLER'SCT

GR
OV

E

ST
H

AITEN

P
L

C
H

A
M

B
O

N

PL

NO
RTH

SUSSEX
PL

ALBION

M
S

MS

FORGE

MEWS

BECKLO
W

M
EW

S

E
D

A
N

SC
T

G
R

A
N

S
D

E
N

R
D

C
O

LLIN
G

B
O

U
R

N
E

R
O

A
D

B
LO

E
M

F
O

N
T

E
IN

W
A

Y

PEONY

GDS

STOKESLE
Y ST

PIONEER
CLOSE

S
T

A
N

LA
K

E

PO
PL

AR MS

MILLER'S

WAY

O
S

M
A

N

R
D

BLYTHE
MS

BE
RG

-
M

S

MS

OXFORD

GATE

M
ER

CE
RS

PL
AC

E

CHARLOTTE

M
EW

S

CHALK HILL

ROAD

CO
M

M
E

W
S

NORMAND

MS

Frank

Banfield

Park

ORCHARD

SQ

LANGTRY PL

PRINCE'S

MEWS

G
S

VER-
NTHBENA

CHISWICK

B
R

A
D

IN
G

TC
E

C
T

AUGUSTUS

CLOSE

G
A

IN
S

B
O

R
O

U
G

H
C

O
U

R
T

CL

APP

STATION

RUCKLIDGE
AVENUE

SALTER STREET

STATIO
N

CLIFTON

H Y T H E
R D

Trading Estate
Gateway

CREWE
PL

ENTER

S
T

FORTUNE

W
A

Y

BUCKINGHAM

RD

HONEYW
OOD

RD

R
O

AD

BRACEW
ELL RD

WOODMANS

Industrial Park

Mitre Bridge

M
ITR

E

HILL FARM RD

OAKWORTH ROAD

S T Q U I N T I N A V E N U E

CALD-

A
V

E

PL
ERO

N

BARLB
Y

DALGARNO

D A L G A R N O

BREW
STER G

DS

S
U

T
T

O
N

H
IG

H
LE

V
E

R
Q

U
IN

TIN

R
D

GDNS

W
A

Y

W
A

Y

S
U

TTO
N

W
A

Y
P

A
N

G
B

O
U

R
N

E

G A R D E N S

ROAD

PURVES

HAZEL RD

R O A DH Y T H E

LETCHFORD

VALLIERE

RIGELEY

WALDO

G
D

N
S

LE
T

C
H

F
O

R
D

K
E

N
M

O
N

T

RD

MS

RD

G
D

N
S

P A L E R M O

LEG
HO

RN
RD

FURNESS

ROAD RD

ODESSA
WROTTE

R O A D

G
D

N
S

TR
E

N
M

A
R

VICTOR

G
D

N
S

H
O

LB
E

R
T

O
N

ROAD

PONSARD RD

NAPIER RD

R
O

A
D R

O
A

D
R

A
V

E
N

S
W

O
R

T
H

F
E

LIX
T

O
W

E
 R

O
A

D

PLACE

ALMA

G
R

E
Y

H
O

U
N

D
 R

O
A

D

BATHURST GDNS

R
O

A
D

ASHBURNHAM ROAD

BURROWS ROAD

C
O

LLE
G

E

RAINHAM RD

WAKEMAN RD

MORTIMER ROAD

Hythe Road
Industrial

Estate

G
W

A
LI

O
R

R
D

LI
F

F
O

R
D

R
D

LACY
RD

CARDINAL
RD

BANGA

B
LA

C
K

E
T

T

S
T

A
N

B
R

ID
G

E

F
A

R
LO

W

R
D

W
Y

M
O

N
D

P
E

N
T

LO
W

S
E

F
T

O
N

R
D

S
T

S
T

S
T

S
T

S
T

D
A

FU
R

S
T

D
R

Y
A

D
S

T

CLOSE

STOCKHURST

C
O

M
M

O
N

D
A

LE

WAY

HORNE WAY

SO
M

ER
VILLE

AVBRASENOSE

DVE

O
R

IEL

D
VE

CHURCH

ROAD

CA
RT

W
RI

G
HT

WAY

WYATT

D
R

IV
E

D
V

E
W

Y
A

TT

TRINITY

HEIDEGGERCRES

EDMUNDS

SQ

SAINTC
AS

TE
LN

AU

G
LE

N
T

H
A

M
G

D
N

S

LO
NS

DA
LE

ROAD

HOWSMAN
ROAD

NOWELL ROAD

KILM
INGTON ROADV

E
R

D
U

N
R

O
A

D

FERRYLANE

CHIS
W

IC
K

MALL

NETHERAVEN
RD

CORNWALL GVEBALFERN
GVEASH

GROVE

WILTON AVE

BROOK

RD BEVERLEY

ROAD

H
O

M
E

F
IE

LD
R

O
A

D

C
H

IS
W

IC
K

LAN
E

E
N

N
IS

M
O

R
E

A
V

U
P

H
A

M
P

A
R

K

T
H

O
R

N
T

O
N

A
V

R
A

V
E

N
S

M
E

D
E

W
A

Y

STH

R
O

A
D

LANE
SOUTH

W
O

O
D

S
TO

C
K

R
D

Q
U

E
E

N

RUPERT RD

A
N

N
E

'S
G

D
N

S

T
H

E
A

V
E

N
U

E

GREENEND

RD

RUGBY
RD

SALT
COATS

RD
HAMILT

ON
RD

H
A

W
K

S
-

R
D

S
T

.

R
D

R
D

A
LE

X
A

N
D

R
A

G
E

O
R

G
E

S

HATFIELD
ROAD

H
E

A
D

RD

CANHAM RD

S
TA

N
LE

Y
G

A
R

D
E

N
S

BRADFORD

RD

OAK
WAY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

C
LS

EAST

ACTON

LANE

C
A

R
LI

S
LE

A
V

E
N

U
E

THE

TEE

SHAF

G
D

N
S

SCHOOL RD

BETHUNE RD

BASHLEY

RD

ST.

LEONARD'S
RD

HARLEY RD

CAPLE

RD
RANELAGH

RD

AVENUE
RD

BUCKINGHAMM
W

S

SPEZIA RD

SUNBEAM
CR

SHREWSBURY ST

SHREWSBURY ST

S
T.

TEM
PLETO

N PLACE

R
ED

C
LIFFE

G
ARDENS

CATHCART R
D

FAW
CETT S

T

REDCLI
FFE

PL

SLAID
BU

R
N

 ST

BLA

ST

ST

S
U

LIV
A

N

C
T

P
L

CASS

PLAC
E

CLPL

TH
A

M
E

S
P

L

RUVIGNY
CL

LOWER
RICHMOND

RD

MUNSTER CT

LANCAS

COURT
ACCESS

ROAD

BURFORD W
K

O
AK

LE
Y WK

PAYNES

W
K

FR
EEM

AN

SMITH

S
H

U
T

E
R

S SQ
VINE

S
Q

S
U

N

RD

INGTON

HALLGDS

KENS-

DIEPPE

C
LO

S
E

MAY ST

AISGILL

AV

SQ

FA
RNELL

M
S

STH EDWARDES

SQ

ST MARY ABBOTS TCE

STRANG
W

AYS
TCE

RD

ILCHESTER

ABBO
TSBU

R
Y

R
D

ABBO
TSBU

R
Y

C
L

OAKWOOD

LN

SO
M

ER
SE

T

S
Q

RO
AD

ST
AVONM

ORE

VERNON

HAZLITT

BRO
O

K

B
LA

C
K

LA
N

E

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

ROAD

RD

FIELDING

RD

CRESSY

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

S
U

LG
R

A
V

EG
D

S

D'PORT
MS

LA
R

C
H

A
V

D
U

 C
R

O
S

R
D

EMLYN
GNS

S
T

MARKET
APP

VERITYCL

CHARLOTTE

MS

R
D

N
O

R
LA

N
D

S
Q

NORLAND

PL

C
LO

S
E

PO
R

TLAN
D

R
D

PO
RTLAND

RD

H
U

D
S

O
N

H
A

V
E

LO
C

K

C
L C

L

COMMONWEALTH

AVE

TEMPLEMEAD CL

CROW R
D

MYLNE
CL

B
LA

C
K

PASS

RD

A
D

A
M

WK

WESTVIEW

CL

ST

NURSERY

LANE

BLAKESC
L

M
E

TH
W

O
LD

 R
D

S
TA

B
LE

 W
A

Y

W
AY

W
E

B
B

C
L

W
ENDOVER

RD

ROAD

C
U

M
BER

LAN
D

 PK

ST
MARK'S

RD

PARSONS

R
D

R
D

TES

THORNE

DOWN

FIELD

IDY ROAD

TER

WEALTH

G
O

ATE

LAKE

G
IR

O
N

D

SALIS-

CH

G
R

E

TH

BE

TONE

ACH
ENS

GAR
TERRACE

MEWS

B
R

ID
G

E

TTERSEA

R
Y

KIE

GHTON

ENSCRAV

LD
 R

D

WEST

S
TO

N

S
T

CRAN-

C
TI

BOU

VE

RNE

NDEL
RING

M
U

R

R
E R

D

D
O

STREET

C
O

M
B

E

P
S

F

LANE

O
R

D

RD

AD

TEAD

N
TY

HESTER

RE

PURSERS

MANS

ART

VAN

CRES

CE

FU
L-

CHIS

R
O

AD

BUCHANAN

GDNS

PRISE

W
AY

CLO
SEDGE

BARTL
E

ROAD

C
O

W
LIN

G

C
LO

S
E

LA
N

D

BELL'S AL

SOTHERON

PL

GREEN

M
O

NS
O

N

LU
S

H
IN

G
-

TO
N

 R
D

AL
L 

SO
U

LS
'

ROAD

BR
I

RD

DEPOT ROAD

C
L

M
A

C
K

E
N

ZIE

WHITE CITY

C
L

LA
U

R
E

N
C

E

RIN
G

ST JAMES'S

ROAD

TER

ROAD

HIPPO
DRO

M
E

WESTVILLE

M
E

W
S

HIPPO-

PLACE

RICH-

CLARE-

ST

CROSS

FORD

O
RO

UG
H

M
EW

S

K
IN

G
H

A
M

DROME

H
O

LLA
N

D
 P

K

NDON

ST

HOLLAND

LANS-

GARDENS

E
LG

IN
C

R

B
LE

N
H

E
IM

C
O

R
N

W
A

LL

OAKWOOD

S
O

U
TH

FIE
LD

COURT

ADDISON RD

R
D

PETER'S

W
O

RC
E-

DR

PETER'S

ST
ER

ST ST

BLENHEIM RD

VILLAS

AV
E

AP
PL

E-
RO

AD

ROAD

SA
M

UE
L'S

CL
OS

E

CR
S

AVON-

ROAD

P
E

M
B

R
O

K
E

 V
ILLA

S

FENELO
N

PL

MEW
S

NEVERN PLACE

SQUARE

EARL'S

C
O

U
R

T
R

O
AD

DORCHESTER GVE

MAW
SON

LANE

B
O

IL
E

A
U

 R
O

A
D

EVERDO
N

RO
AD

PLACEKEBLE

Riverside

Studios

SQ

COOMER

ROAD

R
D

S
U

N
R

D

SUN

MAY

ST

JOHN'S

W
ALHAM

YARD

ST MARKS
GROVE

LANGTON ST

REDCLIFFE MEWS

A
D

EFFIE
CLOSE

MARINEFIELD

MALTINGS PL

PARKHAM

STREET

G
R

A
N

FIE
LD

S
TR

E
E

T

TROTT

ST

WHISTLERS AV

THOR NEY

CR
ES

FLOSS
ST

F
A

N
T

H
O

R
P

E
S

T

W
A

LK
E

R
P

L

HOTHAM ROAD

B
O

R
N

E
O

S
T

W
ES

TH
O

RP
E

R
D

LORE

S
TR

E
E

T

D
E

O
D

O
R

 R
O

A
D

TERRACE

PIER

N
E

W
C

O
M

E
N

 R
D

P
LO

U
G

H
 R

O
A

D

NORTH PASSAGE

S
U

D
LO

W

R
O

A
D

FIELD

BRAMBLE

GARDENS

JEDDO

MEW
S

C
R

C
R

DOWNE

RISE

PK

PLACE

JOHN'S

GDNS

R
D

B
A

LLIO
L R

D

BURY

AV
E

SLEY

GEORGE

WICK

P
O

R
T

GLADE
THE

IN
V

E
R

M
E

A
D

C
LO

S
E

A
R

C
H

-
D

A
LE

 C
T

CROWTHER

CLOSE

ELGIN CL

EM
PRESS

APPROACH

GURNEYRD

HARWOOD

MEWS

IMPERIAL

CRESCENT

LE
R

R
Y

 C
L

M
A

R
K

E
T

LA
N

E

M
UNSTER

M
EW

S

NORFOLK

TERR

ROSEWOOD

SQUARE

W
A

LH
A

M
 G

R
E

E
N

C
O

U
R

T

W
ILS

O
N

'S

R
O

A
D

SA
LT

ER

G
A

LE
N

A

G
R

E
E

NRO
DA

AN
RD

DA
LE

SUNDEWCLOSE

JOSLINGS
CLOSE

ASKEW
 C

R
ES

SO
U

TH
W

AY
C

LO
SE

H
U

N
T

CLOSE

QUEENSDALE

CRES

CASTLE CLOSE

BARBARA

RD
JERVIS

PALEM
EAD

CLO
SE

THE

LE
N

SB
U

R
Y 

AV
EN

U
E

BOULEVARD

MILLSYARD

CROWN YD

CL

DAIRY CL

PLOUGH CLOSE

AM
BER W

AY

SH
EP

HE
RD

'S
BU

SH
 P

LA
CE

BOURBON

LANE

DERE CL

ERIN CL

BEACONSFIELD W
K

MEWSGATEPARSONS

PA
R

K 
ST

H
A

V
ILLA

N
D

 M
E

W
S

H
A

D
Y

N
P

K
 M

S

NIVEDA CL

S'GLERS
YD

IGHT
SUNL-

MEWS

PHOENIX
CL

RIGELEY MS

B
E

V
A

N

M
E

W
S

GEORGE'S

SQUARE

CHEST-

NUT SQ

SINDER-

MEWS
COMBEAU

BU
R

Y PL

ROCK-

WOOD PL

PARADISE
GDNS

TIERNEY

PARR'S W
AY

REGATTA

LANE

LANE

RAINSBOROUGH

SQUARE

BURNTH-

WAITE MS

TH
UR

ST
AN

 S
T

CENTRAL AVE

P
E

E
L P

L

HEATHCOTE

GATE

WATERFRONT DRIVE

TOWNH'SE

MS

LINENM
S

R O A D

LA
N

E

CHISWICK

V A L E

EM
LYN

R
O

A
D

LA
R

D
E

N

AVE

T H E

WEST

VIC
T

ROAD

O
LD

O
AK

L A
 N

 E
O

 L D

C
 O

 M
 M

 O
 N

O
 A K

R O
 A D

BAG

LANE

BR
ID

GE

R 
O

 A
 D

S
W

STER

MUN

R
O

AD

G
R

E
E

N
LA

N
E

P
A

R
S

O
N

S

H
O

M
ESTEAD

KELVE
DO

N

RD

BAGLEY'S

LANE

PU
TN

EY

RICHMOND

ROAD

ROAD

PUTNEY

HI
GH

BRIDGE

WAY

P A L

R O A D

F U L H A M

L I L L I E

BR
ID

G
E

W
AN

D
SW

O
R

TH

F U

R O

R
O

A
D

K 
I N

 G
 'S

STREET

PU
TN

EY

BR
ID

GE

PU
TN

EY

AP
PR

OAC
H

N E W

R O A D

FULH
AM

FULHAM
HIGH

R O A D

RO
AD

N E W
K I N

 G ' S

R
O

A
D

TOWNMEAD

B
R

ID
G

E

W
A

N
D

S
W

O
R

TH

DAWES

R O
 A 

D

DAWES

L I L L I E

M
U

N
S

F U L H
 A M

ROAD

R O A D

ROAD

K I N
 G

 ' S

IMPERIAL

R
O

AD

TO
W

N
M

E
A

D

ROAD

R
O

A
D

R O

LO
TS

R
O

AD

CHEYNE

BR
ID

G
EN

D
R

O
AD

TR
IN

ITY R
O

AD

ST
RE

ET

TALGARTH
ROAD

S
H

E
P

H
E

K I N G

K I N G

ROAD

U X B R I D G ER O

WELL

W
 O

 O
 D

ROAD

R
O

AD

ST
UD

LA
ND

ST

GREYHOUND

BLYTHE

GDNS

ADDIS
ON

ROAD

BECKLO
W

RO
AD

C
O

N
IN

G
H

A
M

R
O

A
D

HOUNDGREY
ROAD

ROAD

STAR

R
O

A
D

RD

LOWER ADDISON

ADD

AD
D

ISO
N

PADD

H O L L A N D

H O L L A N D

W E S T W A Y

HIGH ROAD

RO
AD

H A M
 M

 E R S M
 I T H

HA
MMER

SM
IT

H

BR
ID

GE

HA
MMER

SM
IT

H

S T R

G R E A T W E S T

GOLD

W
ICK

ROAD

ENS

R O A D

GLENTHORNE

D 
A 

L 
L 

I N
 G

ROAD

R 
O

 A
 D

P A L A

BRIDGE

QUEEN

CA
RO

LIN
E

BEADON
ROAD

ROAD

ST
RE

ET

F

HAMMERSMITH

BUTTERW
ICK

G
 R O

 V E

B
U

S
H

R
O

A
D

H A M M E R S M I T H

A S K E W

O
 L D

R
 O

 A
 D

O
 A

 K

R O

W
O

O
D

B
 L O

 E
 M

 F
 O

 N
 T

 E
 I N

U X B R

R O A D

R
 O

 A
 D

C A N E
D U

R O A D

SHEPHERD'S
BUSH

L A N E

GREEN

A
 3 2 2 0

LA
N

E

L I L L I E

R O A D

ROAD

NORTH

END

R
O

AD

R O A D

R O A D

W A R W I C K

N
O

R
TH

WEST

R
O

A
D

E
N

D

CROM

KENSINGTON

HIGH
STREET

OLD
BROMPTON

R O A D

WEST CROMWELL ROAD

W A R W I C K

R O A D

ROAD

A V E N U E

S T R E E T

P A R K

NIGHT

RD

HARLESDEN

TUBBS ROAD

HIGH
STREET

SCRUBS

LANE

HARROW

SC
R

U
BS

LAN
E

ROAD

ROAD
HAR

SH
EP

HE
RD

'S
BU

SH
RO

AD

O
 L D

O
 A

 K
C

 O
 M

 M
 O

 N
L A

 N
 E

HAMMER
FLYOVER

N
O

R
TH

R
O

A
D

EN
D

ERN

I D G E
A D

ROW

ORIA

A M

ISON

T
E

R

A C E

A 
D

LEY'S

E E T

DON

AN

HAWK

R
D

'S

W A Y
W E S T

SMITH

A D

NUE

W
ALK

A D

L H

RO
AD

INGALE

GARDENS

GDNS

ADDIS
ON

A S K E W

BROADWAY

P
A

R
S

O
N

S

LOWER

G
O

LD
H

AW
K

G
R

E
E

N

U L
H A

M

C E

EEL BROOK CL

Kensington & Chelsea

Royal Borough of
Kensington & Chelsea

Wandsworth

of Brent

of Ealing

of Hounslow

Royal Borough of

London Borough of

London Borough of

London Borough

London Borough

London Borough

Richmond upon Thames

Estate

Estate
Clem Attlee

Gardens
Flora

House
O

w
en

Robert

Green
Estate

Burne Jones
House

Linacre
Court

Guinness

Peabody
Estate

Es
ta

te

Q
ue

en
 C

ar
ol

in
e

Em
lyn

G
ardens

Woodford

Court

CourtBush

Gibbs

MARCUS
GARVEY
PARK

SwanWharf Willowbank
Wharf

F
o

o
tb

ri
d

g
e

CarraraBank Wharf

Hospital
Louise

Princess

Hospital
Hammersmith

Charing

Hospital

Cross

The
Ravenscourt Park

Hospital

Chelsea

Ground
Football

Stadium

Linford

Q P R
Football
Ground

Fulham

Football

G
round

Christie

Centre
Broadway

Earls Court
Exhibition
Building

Empress

Building

Olympia

PALACE
FULHAM

BBC
Television
Centre

Scrubs

Old Oak
Sidings

Sidings

North Pole International Depot

Old Oak Common

H.M. Prison

Wormwood

Apollo

Kings Mall

Sulivan
Enterprise Centre

Fulham
Pools

State

Thames
Water
Tower

Lyric
Square

Westfield
London

C3

C1

N3

L1

N1

C2

L2

N2

c

C1
C2
C3

N1
N2
N3

L1
L2

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

DRAFT 2017/18 TfL FUNDED
INTEGRATED TRANSPORT

PROGRAMME

LEGEND

KEY

September 2016

This drawing is Copyright.
NOT TO SCALE
18341/2017 /1

Devised and created by the Land & Asset Survey Team.
This drawing is Copyright.

2016 OS Licence No. LA100019223
© Crown copyright and database rights

Borough Boundary

T Town Hall

S School

Road Closure
( = cycle exception)

Underground Station National Rail Station

Corridor Projects

Wards in Focus

Local Safety Projects

Bloemfontein Road

Steventon Road

Bishops Avenue

Avonmore and Brook Green Ward

Fulham Reach

Fulham Broadway Ward

North End Road

Fulham Palace Road

Police Station

L Library

H Hospital Fire Station

DRAFT &
 U

NCHECKED 23
/09

/20
16

Page 165



  London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET  

 

5 DECEMBER 2016 
 

 

ROLL-OUT OF TELEPHONE PARKING AND PROCUREMENT OF 
REPLACEMENT PAY AND DISPLAY MACHINES  

 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents 
Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report  
 
A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt 
financial information. 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 

Key Decision:  Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:   
Mahmood Siddiqi - (Director of Transport and Highways) 
 

Report Author: 
Mai Kebbay (Head of Parking Finance) 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 4262 
E-mail: mai.kebbay@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 On 12 October 2015, the Cabinet approved proposals to commence tenders 

to introduce telephone parking borough-wide and replace the Borough’s pay 
and display machines, delegating award to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Residents’ Services and Community Safety. The tender award 
in relation to telephone parking was agreed by the Cabinet Member on 4 July 
2016 whilst the tender to replace pay and display machines is about to 
commence. The council’s intention is that all machines will be card only and 
will be supplied with a minimum three-year warranty. 

 
1.2 Once telephone parking is rolled out and the pay and display machines 

replaced, the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) will no 
longer require a cash collection service. Pay and display maintenance 
requirements will also change markedly as there will be significantly less 
machines, which will be covered by warranty, and the lack of cash should 

Page 166

Agenda Item 13



result in a reduction in vandalism caused by attempted thefts. In the 
intervening period, though, the Council needs to maintain the existing cash 
collection and maintenance services. This means entering into a new one-
year contract with RBKC for the cash collection service and extending the Pay 
and Display maintenance contract with Metric by up to two years.    
 

1.3 The existing pay and display maintenance contract is shared with RBKC 
having been awarded to Metric Group Ltd (MGL) in March 2013. It is a seven-
year term arrangement consisting of an initial three-year contract with the 
option to extend for 24 months on two occasions thereafter. The current 
annual cost to LBHF is £373,014 
 

1.4 This report seeks to extend the existing contract by up to 2 years. Notice will 
be served (the contract provides for a minimum notice period of six months) 
so as to synchronise with the installation of the replacement machines.  
 

1.5 The contract for the collection, counting and banking of monies from pay and 
display machines is with RBKC, expired on 31 August 2016. The contract was 
originally let to RBKC in 2003 for a term of 5 years. On 1 September 2009 it 
was extended for a period of 5 years with an option for the council to further 
extend on an annual basis for a maximum of two further years on the same 
terms and conditions. In 2015, the Council retrospectively renewed the 
contract with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea for the provision 
of collection, counting and banking of monies from 1100 pay and display 
machines in the sum of £973,059 for 2 years.  The current annual cash 
income being processed by RBKC under this contract is approximately 
£11million. The current annual cost to LBHF is £484,367. 

 
1.6 This report seeks approval to make an award to RBKC for a new contract for 

up to 12 months to provide the collection, counting and banking of monies 
from pay and display machines on the existing terms and conditions at a cost 
of approximately £486,000 to be met from existing budgets. 
 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 To approve the extension of the contract that LBHF and RBKC have with 
Metric Group Ltd is extended for up to 24 months commencing 1st September 
2016 at an annual cost of £373,014 which will be met from existing budgets. 

 
2.2 To waive the competition requirements of the Council’s Contracts Standing 

Orders and make a direct award a contract to the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea for the provision for the collection, counting and 
banking of monies from pay and display machines on the existing terms and 
conditions for a period of up to 12 months commencing on 1 September 2016 
at a cost of up to £486,000 to be met from existing budgets 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



3 REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1 The Council’s Pay-and-Display machines require both routine, preventative 
maintenance to keep the machines in working order and reactive 
maintenance to address day-day-today machine faults and breakdowns. 

 
3.2 Awarding the 24-month extension to MGL will enable service continuity until 

telephone parking is fully rolled out and the Councils’ pay and display 
machines are replaced.  
 

3.3 Until the Council reaches the cash free environment once telephone parking 
is fully rolled out and the pay and display machines are replaced, the cash 
collection service provided by RBKC is required.  
 

3.4     The contract with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea for the  
           provision for the collection, counting and banking of monies from pay and  
           display machines continues to provide best value for money and 99.4% of  
           collections were made and banked within the contract’s key performance  
           indicator specified time of 100%. 

 
4 PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

 
4.1 The introduction of the new pay and display parking arrangement has meant 

that the existing ticket machines and their associated contracts will be 
replaced. In the interim period the ticket machines need to continue to be 
maintained and have the cash collected from them.  
 

4.2 In order to continue collection revenue, the Council needs the current cash 
collection arrangement to continue until replacement card only machines are 
introduced. Due to the short length of time that the cash collection is required 
to continue for, it has been recommended that a tender is not appropriate.  

 
4.3 The tender process for the new ticket machines has begun, however as it is 

not yet complete the existing machines will need to continue operating until 
replacements can be obtained. In order for these machines to continue 
functioning the Council needs to continue the existing maintenance 
arrangements until the replacement machines are introduced. The 
maintenance of the existing machines can only practically be undertaken by 
the existing operator, which requires the extension of the existing contract. 

 
5 OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1 Consideration has been given to tendering for the maintenance and cash 

collection services. However, due to the length of time involved in requiring 
these services it is unlikely that a tender process would be completed and 
agreed before the requirement for the services ends. Therefore, the only 
viable option is to continue with the existing arrangements for cash collection 
and maintenance of the Council’s pay and display machines until the new 
machines are installed.  

 

Page 168



6 CONSULTATION 
 
A consultation has been conducted with :- 
 Legal Service 
 Procurement Services 
 TTS Departmental Finance 
 Shared Parking Senior Management Team 

 
7 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1  There are no equality implications as a result of the recommendations in this  

       report. 
 
8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1.     The Cabinet has power under CSO 20.3 (c) to extend the contract for 

maintenance of pay and display machines with Metric Group Limited. 
 

8.2.     The Cabinet has power under CSO 17.3.2 to approve an award of  contract  
           for Pay and Display machines to RBKC. 

 
8.3.     Further legal comments are contained in the exempt part of the report. 

 
8.4. Implications verified/completed by: Margaret O’Connor, Solicitor, Legal 

Services-0207 641 2782. 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. The proposals to extend the pay display maintenance and cash collection 
contracts are under the current terms. There are therefore no changes in the 
cost of the contracts to the council. 

 
9.2. The costs of these contracts are expected to reduce as the current machines 

are replaced by new card only machines. This will mean there is no longer a 
cost of cash collection (an annual reduction of £486,000), and the cost of 
maintenance is estimated to reduce by £201,000 per year. 
 

9.3. This reduction in cost is expected to be offset by additional costs relating to 
phone payment and card processing fees, and the reduction in income that 
can be expected from fewer penalty charge notices (PCNs) being issued. It is 
not yet known what the impact will be on PCN issue numbers, so the net 
financial impact of the machine replacement and move to phone payment is 
uncertain. 

 
9.4. The costs of each of the contracted services during the extended period will 

be funded from existing revenue budgets. 
 
9.5. Implications verified/completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, TTS 

Telephone 020 8753 6071. 
 

Page 169



10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

10.1.  There are no implications for businesses resulting from the recommendations  
  in this report. 

 
11.       IT IMPLICATION  

 
11.1. There are no ICT implications as a result of the recommendations in this 

report. 
 

12.     PROCUREMENT IMPLICATION 
 
12.1. There are 2 aspects to this report.  The first one relates to an extension with 

Metric Group Ltd for the maintenance of parking pay and display equipment.  
This extension is the first of two permitted within the contract.   
 

12.2. The second relates to waiving the competition requirements of contract 
standing orders and making a direct award of a contract to the Royal Borough 
of Kensington and Chelsea for the collection of money from parking 
machines, counting and the banking of the same.  Whilst direct awards are 
usually discouraged, this one is for 1 year until a telephone only payment 
system is introduced borough-wide. 
 

12.3. Implications verified/completed by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement 
(Job-share). Telephone 020 8753 2581. 

 
13.     BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT. 
 
13.1. None 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1 None 
 

    

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
None 

Page 170



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5 DECEMBER 2016  

RIVERSIDE STUDIOS AND QUEENS WHARF, QUEEN CAROLINE STREET & 
CRISP ROAD – SECTION 278 HIGHWAY WORKS 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents 
Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 

Key Decision: YES 
 

Wards Affected: Hammersmith Broadway 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi - Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author: 
Michael Masella – Project Engineer 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3082 
E-mail: michael.masella@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report seeks cabinet approval to implement the section 278 highway 

works for the Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Queen Caroline Street 
and Crisp Road Development, and approval to spend the estimated cost of 
the highway works. 
 

1.2. A new section of the Thames Path will be constructed and adopted by the 
Council as part of a section 38 agreement (Highways Act 1980). 

 
1.3. In 2014, planning permission was granted for a new development which 

comprises a mixture of commercial and residential use, including a new 
riverwalk along the river Thames side (reference 2013/03799/FUL). The 
Heads of Terms set out in the S106/S278 agreement included highway 
improvements on the three sides of the development i.e. Queen Caroline 
Street, Crisp Road and the pedestrian alleyway between Riverside Studios 
and Chancellor’s Wharf. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 171

Agenda Item 14



 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That approval be given to the implementation and cost of the section 278 

highway works for the Riverside Studios and Queens Wharf, Queen Caroline 
Street and Crisp Road Development. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. The value of the section 278 highways works have been estimated at 

£183,500. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The highway works consists of the following highway improvements: 

 Footway repaving the three sides of the new development with 
artificial stone paving including new street furniture.  

 A new street lighting scheme on Crisp Road and the pedestrian 
alleyway between Riverside Studios and Chancellor’s Wharf, 
including a small section of Queen Caroline Street near the 
Thames Path. 

 Two new crossovers for the drop-off area outside the Riverside 
Studios entrance. 

 Some minor traffic order and line marking amendments will be 
necessary to accommodate the new Riverside Studio entrance. 
 

4.2. During the construction phase temporary additional signage will be erected 
around the new development to direct pedestrians to and from the existing 
Thames Path, whilst the new section of the Thames Path is being constructed. 
 

4.3. The section 278 highway works will take approximately 8 weeks to complete. 
 
 

5. CONSULTATION 
 

5.1. A consultation has been conducted as part of the planning application process 
and permission has been granted for the development.  Any amendments to 
Traffic Orders will follow the procedural requirements set out in The Local 
Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 
1996. 

 
 

6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1. The Council has had regard to its’ public sector equality duty contained in 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  Hammersmith and Fulham Action on 
Disability (HFAD) will be consulted on the proposed highway works. 
 
 
 

Page 172



 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. The Council has already entered into a combined Section 106 (Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990)/Section 278 (Highways Act 1980) agreement. 
 

7.2. Implications verified/completed by: (Lindsey Le Masurier, Senior Solicitor, 020 
7361 2118) 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. The Council has received funding of £183,500 from the developer so there 

are no financial implications. At present the costs are based on an estimate. 
The funding, however, is limited to the amount received. Any variation in costs 
in excess of the deposit cannot be assumed to be funded. Officers may need 
to manage the workload to ensure that expenditure is contained within the 
funding received.  

 
8.2. Implications verified/completed by: (Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, 

telephone: 0208 753 6071). 
 

9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
9.1. The proposed highway improvements include footway and carriageway 

repaving, new street lighting will be carried out by the council’s term 
contractor FM Conway Ltd. Local businesses will have been consulted via the 
planning process and they will be notified by letter when the works will 
commence on site.   
 

9.2. Implications verified/completed by:Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business 
Investment Officer - Tel: 020 8753 1698 

 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 Riverside Studios and Queens 
Wharf - Section 278 Agreement 
- published. 
 

Michael Masella ext:3082 Transport and 
Highways 

 
 
 

Page 173



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
5 DECEMBER 2016  

SEAGRAVE ROAD, RICKETT STREET AND LILLIE ROAD – SECTION 278 
HIGHWAY WORKS 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents 
Services - Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  
Key Decision: YES 
 

Wards Affected: Fulham Broadway and North End 
 

Accountable Director: Mahmood Siddiqi - Director for Transport and Highways 
 

Report Author: 
Michael Masella – Project Engineer 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3082 
E-mail: michael.masella@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report seeks cabinet approval to implement the section 278 highway 

works for Seagrave Road, Rickett Street and Lillie Road and approval to 
spend the estimated cost of the works.  

 
1.2. In 2013, planning permission was granted for a residential led development 

on the former car and lorry park to Earl’s Court on the eastern side of 
Seagrave Road (reference 2013/01213/VAR). The Heads of Terms set out in 
the S106/S278 agreement included highway improvements in Seagrave 
Road, Rickett Street and Lillie Road. 
 

1.3. The Section 278 highway works will be implemented in three phases:  

 Phase 1 - Rickett Street and part of Seagrave Road between Rickett 
Street and Hildyard Road.  

 Phases 2 - Seagrave Road between Hildyard Road and Halford Road. 

 Phase 3 - Seagrave Road between Rickett Street and Lillie Road, 
including part of Lillie Road between Seagrave Road junction and the 
borough boundary with RBKC. 

 
 
 

Page 174

Agenda Item 15



 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That approval be given to the implementation and cost of the section 278 

highway works for Seagrave Road, Rickett Street and Lillie Road. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The total value of the Section 278 highway works has been estimated at 
£1,637,000. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The section 278 works represent a significant improvement to the street 
environment, which include: 

 Footway and carriageway resurfacing for Seagrave Road, Rickett Street 
and part of Lillie Road near West Brompton Station. 

 A new energy saving street lighting scheme.  

 Introduction of sustainable urban drainage to slow down rainfall entering 
the sewers in Rickett Street and Seagrave Road 

 Extending the width of footway on the eastern side of Seagrave Road 
between Rickett Street and the Ambulance Station. 

 Planting new trees 

 Replacing two mini roundabouts with two new raised tables at the junction 
of Merrington Street and Hildyard Road, and a new raised table at the 
junction of Halford Road. 

 There will be a small reduction in the number of on street parking spaces 
on the eastern side of Seagrave Road due footway widening, SUDS 
features, new tree pits and new entrance/exits into the new development. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1. In respect of the highway works, an outline designed has been carried out by 

the developer which will be consulted upon by the Council with statutory 
bodies, local residents, AOD and other stakeholders including the Fulham 
Ambulance Station and the London Oratory School. Results of this 
consultation will be reported back in due course. 
 

6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1. The Council has had regard to its public sector equality duty contained in 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  Hammersmith and Fulham Action on 
Disability (HFAD) will be consulted on the proposed highway works. 
 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. Any changes to on street parking places will be carried out in accordance with 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and The Local Authorities’ Traffic 
Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996.  The combined 
Section 106 (Town and Country Planning Act 1990)/Section 278 (Highways 

Page 175



Act 1980) agreement will enable the Council to carry out the works on behalf 
of the developer.  This section should include the legal power relevant to the 
proposal must be set out together with any future possible legal implications. 
 

7.2. Implications verified/completed by: (Lindsey Le Masurier, Senior Solicitor, 020 
7361 2118) 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. The section 278 agreement between the Council and the developer, Capco, 

has not yet been signed. No construction works will be committed on this 
project until the section 278 agreement has been signed between both 
parties. 
 

8.2. The legal agreement with Capco will ensure that all costs are paid for by the 
developer as per section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 

8.3. The estimated cost of the section 278 highway works is £1,637,000, which 
includes a 10% contingency sum.  
 

8.4. The section 278 works will be implemented in three phases: 
 

 Part A - estimated highway works cost = £510,000 plus 10% contingency 
amount. In addition 50% of the Seagrave Road pavement works  = 
£94,500 plus 10% contingency amount. 

 

 Part B - estimated highway works cost = £510,000 plus 10% contingency 
amount. In addition 50% of the Seagrave Road pavement works  = 
£94,500 plus 10% contingency amount. 

 

 Part C - estimated highway works cost = £279,000 plus 10% contingency 
amount.  

 

 Total = £1,488,000 + plus 10% contingency amount = £1,637,000 
 

 
8.5. Implications verified/completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, 

telephone: 0208 753 6071 
 

9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

9.1. The proposed highway improvements include footway and carriageway 
repaving, new street lighting will be carried out by the council’s term 
contractor FM Conway Ltd. Local businesses will have been consulted via the 
planning process and they will be notified by letter when the works will 
commence on site.  A public consultation will be carried for local residents and 
businesses because the existing highway is being significantly changed, 
particularly on the eastern side of Seagrave Road, where the footway is being 
widened. Their comments and views on the proposals will be reported back 
before implementation. 

Page 176



 
9.2. Implications verified/completed by:Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business 

Investment Officer - Tel: 020 8753 1698 
 
 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 Seagrave Road / Lillie Square - 
Section 278 Agreement 
published 
 

Michael Masella ext:3082 Transport and 
Highways 

 
 
 

Page 177



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 

CABINET 

5th DECEMBER 2016 

 

 

IMPROVING PRIVATE RENTING 

 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing - Councillor Lisa Homan  

 

Open Report 

Classification - For Decision  

 

Key Decision: Yes 

 

Other services consulted: Housing Services 

 

Wards Affected: All 

 

Accountable Director: Nicholas Austin, Director for Environmental Health 

 

Report Author:  

Richard Buckley, Head of Environmental 
Health (Residential) 

 

Contact Details: 

Tel: 020 8753 3971 

E-mail: Richard.buckley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1. Our housing strategy, ‘delivering the change we need’, sets out our aim to 
improve the private rented sector including introducing new initiatives that will: 

 allow us to work with landlords to ensure homes are safe and well 
managed through a set of minimum standard conditions. 

 shift the reliance away from using resident complaints to identify problems. 

Page 178

Agenda Item 16



 

 

 promote a professional approach to housing management amongst private 
landlords 

 allow us to take action against landlords who provide a poor standard of 
accommodation or whose tenants cause persistent levels of anti-social 
behaviour 

 provide tenants with consistent information about unacceptable standards 
of accommodation 

 provide safe homes for tenants to live in. 

 drive rogue landlords out of this sector 

 reduce the levels of anti-social behaviour in Hammersmith & Fulham 

 improve the local environment, storage, and collection of waste 

 provide a strategic approach to managing this sector 

1.2. This report sets out how we deliver these aims, following the findings of a 12-
week consultation on five proposals, to improve private renting.  

1.3. We sought views from landlords, residents, tenants, charities, third sector 
organisations and neighbouring boroughs. The detailed results show that 
more respondents support than oppose the introduction of measures to 
improve the sector and believe that they will have a positive impact on them. 
A wealth of data reveals the interests, issues and concerns of local people 
and provides useful feedback to help shape our future approach. 

1.4. The report recommends that the we proceed with the introduction of additional 
and selective licensing, the introduction of new standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and a landlord’s rental charter. The report sets 
out the implementation steps and associated timetable. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1. That the proposals and the timetable, be approved. 

2.2. That the procurement of an on-line IT licensing system, be approved. 

2.3. That the expenditure of £210,000 to set up licensing including project 
management, procurement of IT and recruitment as part of an invest to save 
bid, be approved. 

2.4. That delegated authority be given to officers in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Housing to implement Option 1 and future procurement. 

 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 

3.1. To improve the private rented sector and to ensure safe homes for our 
residents and landlords as set out our housing strategy. 

 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

Public consultation, improving the private rented sector 

Page 179



 

 

4.1. In November 2015, Cabinet agreed to consult the public on five proposals to 
improve private renting: introduction of additional and selective licensing, the 
introduction of new standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), a 
landlord’s charter and the formation of a social lettings agency. 

4.2. The consultation, undertaken by an independent research company, 
commenced 7 July 2016 closing 12 weeks later, 30 September. 

4.3. We promoted the consultation via an on-line survey, hand delivered 18,000 
leaflets to targeted addresses, wrote to known letting agents and landlords 
and promoted it in neighbouring boroughs. We advertised the consultation in 
the local press and regularly tweeted information and responses to questions. 

4.4. We placed an article on the London Property Licensing website. The page 
viewed 6,443 times by interested persons. They also sent a local newsletter to 
over 500 subscribers. 

4.5. Researchers, door step interviewed a random sample of 1,040 borough 
households, representative by ward, age, gender, and ethnicity and an 
additional 800 HMO tenants.  

4.6. In addition, a researcher interviewed relevant stakeholder organisations 
including neighbouring authorities, third sector organisations and charities, 
landlord groups, and providers of alternative schemes. 

4.7. Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of respondents by ward, age, gender and 
ethnicity. 

 

Summary of key findings 

4.8. The attached report sets out the detailed findings produced by MEL Research 
LTD on our behalf. 

4.9. We sought views from stakeholders, tenants, residents, and landlords and 
neighbouring boroughs about their overall support for the proposals and the 
possible impact on them whether positive or negative. We also asked for 
views on their experiences of anti-social behaviour, housing conditions, 
renting and proposed licensing fees. 

Support for and impact of proposals 

4.10. Table 1 shows that respondents regardless of the method of consultation are 
more supportive of the proposals introduction than opposed. 

 

Table 1 summarises the level of support and opposition to each option. 

Proposal Option Residents 
Consultation 

HMO Consultation Online Consultation 

% in 
support 

% in 
opposition 

% in 
support 

% in 
opposition 

% in 
support 

% in 
opposition 

Introduce additional 
licensing scheme to HMOs 

70 20 65 29 65 30 

Introduce selective 
licensing in designated 
streets 

53 34 58 36 68 28 

Introduce a H&F Landlords’ 54 29 65 23 68 26 

Page 180



 

 

rental charter 

Revise minimum HMO 
standards 

70 18 81 14 75 21 

Introduce a social lettings 
agency 

62 21 71 16 67 22 

 

4.11. Table 2 shows that individuals believe the proposals will impact on them 
positively. 

 

Table 2 summarises the likely impact on individuals either positively or negatively. 

Proposal Option Residents 
Consultation 

HMO Consultation Online Consultation 

% 
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

% 
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

% 
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

Introduce additional 
licensing scheme to HMOs 

57 14 42 25 39 25 

Introduce selective 
licensing in designated 
streets 

40 27 37 32 44 20 

Introduce a H&F Landlords 
rental charter 

37 17 29 14 40 11 

Revise minimum HMO 
standards 

58 11 64 12 51 16 

Introduce a social lettings 
agency 

49 16 44 12 39 9 

 

General stakeholder feedback 

4.12. Stakeholder feedback on the options fall into two camps. Landlord 
representatives oppose the proposals while third sector organisations, 
charities and neighbouring boroughs believe the proposals are positive, 
simpler, consistent and fairer.  

4.13. A sample of key stakeholder feedback and our responses: 

 ‘Expressed the importance of enforcing the proposals, carrying out 
inspections within a short period of licensing and providing appropriate 
resourcing’. We agree. We will recruit additional officers to manage, 
oversee and enforce licensing.  

 ‘Highlighted that there are already a range of powers in the council’s 
armoury to tackle criminal landlords’. Licensing is also a power and an 
effective tool on the required scale. We will continue to tackle criminal 
landlords using every tool but at the same time take steps to improve 
private renting for all. 

 ‘Alerted us that expanding licensing may increase homelessness ‘as the 
‘worst’ landlords throw tenants out’. Particularly, raising concern about 
refugees and migrants less familiar with their rights. Homelessness is a 
concern; it is not a reason to fail to tackle the worst landlords. We will 
support, advise, and deliver a coordinated approach to addressing 
homelessness. 

Page 181



 

 

 ‘The scheme will lead to a further displacement of problem tenants in the 
Hammersmith area’. We consulted widely including neighbouring 
boroughs. There is no evidence of displacement of tenants from one area 
to another. Licensing creates a level playing field for landlords, requiring all 
landlords to manage their properties effectively. 

 How will the Council prevent malicious anti-social behaviour claims being 
made that could potentially result in tenants losing their tenancies? We are 
unable to prevent claims. We will however, advise and support tenants and 
landlords on how to comply with the law. 

 ‘Raised a question about the legality of raising the minimum standards’. 
We can, under the Housing Act 2004, include conditions on a licence that 
we deem appropriate. The standards will only be enforceable on licensed 
HMOs. If we adopt additional licensing, then these standards would apply 
across all HMOs in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 ‘Raised the government consultation on extending the definition of 
mandatory HMOs and suggested we wait for the outcome’. The 
government originally consulted before Christmas 2015. In October 2016 a 
second phase consultation on definitions commenced. The proposals 
would capture all HMOs with five or more people from two or more 
households regardless of the number of floors and flats above or below 
businesses. It would, however, not address HMOs where there are less 
than five people and still leave residents in such homes at risk. We will 
license HMOs falling under the expanded mandatory definition accordingly. 

 ‘Felt that local authorities should consider a waste strategy for the 
collection of excess waste at the end of tenancies’. The responsibility for 
managing waste from rented properties sits with the landlord. Licensing 
conditions and HMO standards will clearly set this out. We will provide 
advice on measures for landlords and tenants to manage their waste. 

 ‘Question the data sources evidencing anti-social behaviour’. We maintain 
large statistical data sets on noise, fly-tipping and other anti-social 
behaviour by address. For example, we receive on average more than 
6,000 noise complaints per annum. We analysed all the data at borough, 
ward and street level. The results showed a direct correlation between the 
private rented sector with anti-social behaviour in many streets that mainly 
have a commercial/residential mix. These findings are in the consultation 
document. 

 ‘Landlords have very limited authority to deal with matters related to anti-
social behaviour (ASB)’. Licensing places conditions on the landlord that 
can address key aspects of anti-social behaviour, such as waste.  

 ‘Voluntary landlord rental charter only attracts those that do comply and 
that there are already alternative schemes in place of which take up is low’. 
We wish to encourage landlords to proactively comply and believe that 
advertising certification will attract tenants and therefore be in the 
landlords’ interests. 

 

Licensing fees 

Page 182



 

 

4.14. Fees are never popular and there are concerns that these will be a burden on 
landlords and that the costs will pass to the tenants. Broad feedback, however, 
is that the costs are reasonable over the five-year period of the licence. 

4.15. There is no evidence from stakeholders that it drives up rents and landlords 
can incorporate the licence fee as a legitimate tax deductible cost. 

 

Views and experiences of anti-social behaviour 

4.16. Respondents’ views on their experience of a range of anti-social issues 
highlighted small scale rubbish dumping, not putting rubbish out on the right 
day and not storing rubbish correctly as the most common problems. 

4.17. Noise, untidy properties, pest, and vermin also featured as anti-social 
concerns. 

4.18. Respondents generally felt safe in their homes and the local vicinity, day or 
night, which is both positive and encouraging.  

4.19. Views differed on personal experience of seeing or being, directly affected by 
anti-social behaviour. This marries up with the council’s own analysis that the 
bulk of such behaviour occurs in identified locations rather than borough wide. 

4.20. Views varied on the effectiveness of the council in dealing with anti-social 
behaviour and there is room for improvement.  

4.21. Positively a large proportion of respondents said that that landlords and agents 
act responsibly with properties maintained to a good standard. Again this 
marries up with our finding and why we aim to focus on target measures. 

4.22. We asked landlords, tenants and residents: ‘how can we fix the issue of 
rubbish’? Feedback put the emphasis on landlords informing tenants of the 
rules for rubbish collection, providing more bins and undertaking regular 
inspections of their properties. 

Tenant experiences 

4.23. Over 80% of tenants said the overall quality of their home is satisfactory, 
which reflects the norm in London. Satisfaction with the management varied 
between 83% to 55%. Those living in HMOs were most satisfied. 

4.24. Views on cleanliness of communal areas were less favourable with only 42% 
of tenants satisfied. 

4.25. For respondents to the HMO consultation the top three issues were damp and 
mould, rubbish and litter and disrepair. 

Landlord experiences 

4.26. We asked landlords if they were members of a recognised landlord 
association; 22 out of 57 who answered said they were. 

4.27. Over 70% of landlords said they did not encounter problems of anti-social 
behaviour in their properties. The remainder said they either experienced 
problems in their properties or neighbouring properties affecting their tenants. 

4.28. Landlords most common problem is the supply of property to rent followed 
closely by the poor perception of private landlords. Landlords also cited rent 

Page 183



 

 

arrears, problems with rubbish and tenants keeping the property in good 
condition as other problems they experience. 

Social lettings agency 

4.29. Renting through an agency is highest for HMO tenants at over 80%, with the 
majority searching for a room as opposed to a flat or house. There was 
general support from tenants for the agency but less so from landlords. 

4.30. Stakeholders' had mixed views, quoting examples of good and not so good 
existing social agencies. Many felt the competition with other letting agents 
would be healthy in terms of fees and assisting those on welfare benefits to 
potentially gain access to a greater number of properties. 

4.31. Stakeholders stated that resourcing is fundamental to ensuring sufficient 
landlords are signed up before going live, which in turn will encourage other 
landlords. 

4.32. Cabinet approved the establishment of a social letting agency on 7 November 
2016. 

Keeping things as they are 

4.33. We asked respondents for their views on keeping things as they are. The 
results demonstrate that there is less support for this stance. 

4.34. Results differ by type of respondent, with around 60% of landlords preferring 
to keep things as they are. A higher proportion of residents hold the opposite 
view. 

4.35. In terms of impact, around a fifth felt that keeping things the same would have 
a positive impact, whereas 18% to 42% felt that keeping things the same 
would have a negative impact. 

 

5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

Option 1 – introduce improvement measures 

5.1. The survey results, table 1, demonstrate support for the introduction of the 
new proposals and that the impact of the measures will be positive. 

5.2. Detailed results are in the accompanying report from MEL Research Ltd. 

5.3. We propose that we commence with the introduction of proposals as follows: 

Introduce revised HMO standards 

5.4. To ensure that licensed HMOs are safe and not overcrowded, we will 
introduce new standards for management, safety, facilities and living space.  

5.5. From January 2017 onwards anyone applying to license an HMO will need to 
meet the new standards. The new standards will be available on our website 
with a copy sent to all applicants. 

Introduce landlords’ rental charter 

5.6. We want all landlords to sign up to the charter and commit to best practice in 
management, housing standards, charges, protecting tenants’ deposits and 

Page 184



 

 

security of tenancies. We expect this will attract tenants will to H&F charter 
landlords because they will know they can have more confidence in them. 

5.7. From April 2017 onwards, we will invite landlords to sign up to the new 
charter. 

Introduce additional licensing 

5.8. We will introduce additional licensing, designating the whole borough subject 
to additional licensing for any non-mandatory “house in multiple occupation” 
(HMO). This will require landlords who let a property occupied by at least 
three people, who do not make up a single household, who share one or more 
basic amenities such as kitchen, bathroom or toilet to get a licence. 

5.9. We will publicly post a legal designation notice within seven days, a legal 
requirement, of designation. Designation will not come into force until at least 
three months after Cabinet approve this proposal and no sooner than 3 April 
2017. 

5.10. We will charge a flat fee of £540 per licence that in most cases will last up to 5 
years. There is a reduction of £50 per property for landlords who have signed 
up to the landlords’ rental charter or a reduction of £75 if the landlord is a 
member of a recognised landlord body. 

5.11. We will procure an on-line system and recruit sufficient staff to enable the 
effective delivering, management and monitoring of licensing. We will engage 
a project manager to deliver the scheme. Costs will be funded on an invest-to-
save basis. 

5.12. Landlords will be encouraged to apply. We will hold workshops and promote 
advice for landlords and tenants. After six months those who have not applied 
but require a licence may be subject to enforcement. 

Introduce selective licensing 

5.13. We will introduce selective licensing, designating all rental properties in 
streets, listed in appendix 2, subject to selective licensing. This will require 
landlords letting a property on those streets to single families, couples and 
individuals to get a licence. 

5.14. We will publicly post a legal designation notice within 14 days, a legal 
requirement, of designation. Designation will not come into force until at least 
three months after Cabinet approve this proposal and no sooner than 3 April 
2017. 

5.15. We will charge a flat fee of £540 per licence that in most cases will last up to 5 
years. There is a reduction of £50 per property for landlords who have signed 
up to the Landlords’ rental charter or a reduction of £75 if the landlord is a 
member of a recognised landlord body. 

5.16. We will procure an on-line system and recruit sufficient staff to enable the 
effective delivering, management and monitoring of licensing. We will engage 
a project manager to deliver the scheme. Costs will be funded on an invest-to-
save basis. 

Page 185



 

 

5.17. Landlords will be encouraged to apply. We will hold workshops and promote 
advice for landlords and tenants. After six months those who have not applied 
but require a licence may be subject to enforcement. 

Option 2 – do nothing 

5.18. Over a third of residents now live in the private rented sector with the trend 
indicating that this is likely to increase. The increased demand and 
competition from tenants to find accommodation that is in short supply means 
that there is little market driven incentive for poor landlords to maintain 
minimum safe housing standards. Nationally, one in three private rented 
properties are ‘non-decent’, according to official measures. But this can 
obscure the harsh reality of what non-decency means: one in six privately 
rented homes (16 per cent) is physically unsafe according to a recent 
Citizen’s Advice report. 

5.19. Doing nothing means that we may fail to protect the largest and growing 
group of residents in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. Consultation undertaken as set out in 4.1 to 4.7 in compliance with the law. 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. Appendices 7 of the attached MEL Research Limited report provides detailed 
analysis of those questioned. An analysis finds no negative impacts resulting 
from the proposals. 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The Housing Act 2004 permits local housing authorities to designate part or 
the whole of its district as an area subject to additional and or selective 
licensing. Additional licensing applies to Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(“HMOs”) which are not subject to mandatory licensing. Selective licensing 
applies to privately rented houses which are not HMOs (those which are let as 
separate, or single dwellings).  

8.2. The Council cannot make an additional licensing scheme unless a significant 
proportion of HMOs of the description within the scheme are being managed 
sufficiently ineffectively so that they are causing, or have the potential to 
cause, particular concerns for the occupiers of the HMOs or members of the 
public (including anti-social behaviour). A significant proportion does not mean 
the majority of HMOs but means more than a small minority. 

8.3. Selective licensing designation may be made if: 

(i) The area is or is likely to become an area of low demand for housing, 
and the designation is likely to lead to improvements in the economic 
and social conditions of the area; 

(ii) The area suffers from a significant and persistent problem caused by 
anti-social behaviour , attributable to occupiers of privately rented 
properties where some or all of the private sector landlords are failing 
to take action to combat the problem, and the designation is likely to 
lead to the reduction or elimination of the problems; 

Page 186



 

 

(iii) The area contains a high proportion of properties in the private rented 
sector and these properties are occupied under assured tenancies or 
licences to occupy; 

(iv) One or more additional conditions are satisfied (which relate to poor 
property conditions, large amounts of inward migration or high levels of 
deprivation or crime.   

8.4 Where the selective licensing scheme covers more than 20% of the Council’s 
geographical area or will affect more than 20% of privately rented homes in its 
area the Council will have to seek confirmation from the Secretary of State. 
Otherwise, the Council can approve additional and selective licensing 
schemes itself provided it consults all persons likely to be affected by the 
schemes.  

8.5 Before making the decision to designate part or whole of its area for selective 
licensing the Council must consider whether there are alternative means of 
addressing the issues such as a voluntary accreditation scheme for landlords. 
The Council must ensure that both its proposed additional and selective 
licensing schemes fit with its housing strategy and policies on homelessness 
and empty dwellings.  

8.6 Before any designation for additional or selective licensing can be made the 
Council must: 

(i) take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected 
by the designation; and 

(ii) consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation 
and not withdrawn. 

 According to the guidance from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (“DCLG”) the consultation should include local residents i.e. 
tenants, landlords, and managing agents, other members of the community 
who live or operate businesses or services in the proposed designated area, 
and local residents and businesses in the surrounding area who will be 
affected. The minimum consultation period is 10 weeks.  

8.7 The Council could be challenged in the way it conducts its consultation and in 
the event of an inadequate consultation the High Court can quash a 
designation.  

8.8 As soon as the additional and selective licensing designation is made the 
Council must publish a notice within the designated area within seven days of 
the designation being made. The Licensing and Management of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2006 SI 2006/1715 prescribes the information to be included in 
the notice. Within two weeks of the designation being made the Council must 
send a copy of the notice to any person who responded to the consultation, 
any organisation which represents the interests of landlords and tenants and 
any organisation which provides advice on landlord and tenant matters. 

8.9 Within 7 days after the date on which the designation is made the Council 
must: 

Page 187



 

 

(i) place the notice on the public notice board at one or more municipal 
buildings within the designated area; 

    (ii) publish the notice on the Council’s internet site; and 

(iii) arrange for its publication in at least two local newspapers circulating in 
or around the designated area in the next edition of those newspapers 
and five times in the edition of those newspapers following the edition 
in which it is first published.  

8.10 Implications verified/completed by: Tazafar Asghar, Barrister, 0207 641 2694. 

 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The recommended implementation of improvement measures includes the 
introduction of additional and selective licensing in the borough. These 
schemes must be cost neutral. 

9.2. The proposed fee is £540 for each 5-year licence. The fee is set with a view to 
recovering the full cost of administering and enforcing the licences. 

9.3. An invest-to-save bid of £210,000 is required to set up the new online 
payments system and for initial communications and legal costs. This will also 
allow for the higher initial running costs, due to most licence applications 
being received at the start of the scheme. 

9.4. The running costs include the cost of additional staff and services and the 
cost of existing staffing and overheads in the Private Housing team, see 
appendix 3. These existing resources will be diverted to deliver the new 
licensing. As the fee income is required to cover the total cost of the service, 
these diverted costs will no longer be a charge to the general fund. 

9.5. Implications verified/completed by: (Gary Hannaway, Head of finance, 6071) 

 

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

10.1. The introduction of new measures will have a financial implication for 
landlords. The average cost for a licence is £2.08 per week over a five-year 
period. The fees are tax deductible as part of the business running costs for 
landlords. 

10.2. The introduction of licensing creates a level playing field for all by setting a 
consistent, transparent set of minimum standard for landlords. 

10.3. We will provide support, advice, and workshops to landlords to help with any 
difficulties or concerns. 

11. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

Procurement 

11.1. The report seeks authority to procure a suitable ICT system. This will be 
managed in accordance with Part 4 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
(as amended) and the Council’s Contracts Standing Orders. Support will be 
provided by the Corporate Procurement Team. 

Page 188



 

 

11.2. Implications verified by: Andra Ulianov, Corporate Procurement and Contracts 
Officer, telephone 020 8753 2284 

IT strategy 

11.3. To introduce property licensing management, H&F's Environmental Health 
team proposed Licensing System requirements must have a back office 
system capable for officers to administrate these applications, to process, 
store, allocate and destroy (according to statutory retention requirements) up 
to 30,000 property licensing applications. 

11.4. The cloud based software platform system procured needs to integrate with 
Environmental Health’ database: IDOX Uniform (Property Management 
System) and allow payment via established online payments systems in the 
council. 

11.5. The system procured needs to be fully referenceable from a technical 
perspective to ensure quick and effective adoption. 

11.6. The system supplier’s environment is confirmed as they would be acting as 
agent for the council in carrying out H&F’s responsibilities to Barclaycard in 
this respect.  This confirmation could be achieved either: 

11.6.1. By the supplier providing a due diligence statement - e.g. from a 
PCI-DSS QSA (Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard 
Qualified Security Assessor); or 

11.6.2. By a written statement that the supplier has implemented the 
mandatory parts of the SAQ A  and SAQ A-EP (SAQ: Self 
Assessment Questionnaire).  (For info see definitions below for SAQ 
A and SAQ A-EP). 
 
Please note: the SAQ A-EP has been developed to address 
requirements applicable to e-commerce merchants with a website(s) 
that does not itself receive cardholder data but which does affect the 
security of the payment transaction and/or the integrity of the page 
that accepts the consumer’s cardholder data.  
SAQ A-EP merchants are e-commerce merchants who partially 
outsource their e-commerce payment channel to PCI DSS validated 
third parties and do not electronically store, process, or transmit any 
cardholder data on their systems or premises. 

 

11.7. The hosted solution calls for a VPN to be established between the supplier's 
environment and the council's network.  H&F would need validation that there 
was a mature security regime in the supplier's environment before agreeing to 
establish a VPN.  Acceptable validation would be: 

11.7.1. ISO27001 formal compliance for the environment (supplier to 
provide the certificate number).  If ISO27001 is not available the 
supplier to be asked what other independent evidence (e.g. from a 
third party auditor) they can provide. 

11.7.2. The supplier to confirm what ports are used and traffic flows go via 
the VPN. 

Page 189



 

 

11.8. Environmental Health Services will need to complete a PIA (Privacy Impact 
Assessment) and an ISA (Information Sharing Agreement), both of which are 
mandatory with approved templates which ICT can supply. 

11.9. A further risk is a history of connectors being unreliable. All three suppliers’ 
packages can function on a standalone basis but requiring additional manual 
input. 

11.10. Implications verified by: Ciara Shimidzu, Head of Information, Strategy and 
Projects, ICT Services, tel: 020 8753 3895. 

 

Risk management 

11.11. Delivering safe homes and improvements to standards of accommodation are 
positive risk measures. The recommendations contribute to the management 
of customer/resident needs and expectations risk. Although there are many 
decent landlords and lettings agents who operate to high professional 
standards, there are also those who are either unaware of or disregard their 
responsibilities.  

11.12. Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager telephone 020 
8753 2587 

Page 190



 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 

 

Cabinet Report 

Appendix 1 - Breakdown of respondents by ward, age, gender and ethnicity 

Appendix 2 - Streets subject to selective licensing 

Appendix 3 – Additional and Selective Licensing Financial Projections 

Attachments: 

 MEL Research Ltd – full Report – Consultation on improving private rented 
housing in Hammersmith and Fulham 

 Appendix 1 – Consultation document 

 Appendix 2 – Consultation flyer 

 Appendix 3 – Coverage of consultation 

 Appendix 4 – Neighbouring boroughs consultation 

 Appendix 5 – RLA Response to consultation 

 Appendix 6 – NLA response to consultation 

 Appendix 7a, b, c – Protected characteristics profiles 

 Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 191



 

 

Appendix 1 – Breakdown of respondents by ward, age, gender and ethnicity 

 

Total Age Gender Ethnicity 

Ward 

 

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 
65 and 
over 

Prefer 
not to 
say Male Female White 

White 
Others Mixed Asian Black 

Any 
Other 

 

1104 129 257 201 170 152 188 7 546 558 585 207 31 101 122 40 

Addison    69 10 12 9 11 9 18 0 33 36 27 14 3 10 8 4 

Askew    87 9 15 19 15 16 13 0 41 46 45 17 3 4 13 4 

Avonmore and Brook 
Green    77 10 22 5 15 13 12 0 44 33 36 22 6 7 3 2 

College Park and Old Oak    55 5 20 11 6 4 8 1 29 26 18 4 1 15 11 5 

Fulham Broadway    71 4 13 13 15 11 14 1 30 41 35 9 1 7 17 1 

Fulham Reach    72 6 16 16 8 9 13 4 31 41 36 9 1 8 9 3 

Hammersmith Broadway    78 7 22 12 15 8 14 0 42 36 41 15 4 4 9 5 

Munster    63 9 17 13 6 8 10 0 32 31 39 17 1 4 2 0 

North End    77 9 14 14 14 8 17 1 35 42 37 11 2 8 13 5 

Palace Riverside    43 6 4 8 9 3 13 0 22 21 29 6 0 3 2 1 

Parsons Green and 
Walham    65 8 9 13 8 15 12 0 34 31 47 9 2 3 2 2 

Ravenscourt Park    59 8 16 12 6 7 10 0 24 35 30 10 1 4 9 3 

Sands End    79 12 15 22 18 8 4 0 38 41 44 21 0 5 8 1 

Shepherd's Bush Green    73 13 26 13 10 8 3 0 43 30 31 20 1 11 8 2 

Town    64 7 20 12 9 9 7 0 31 33 32 18 4 5 5 0 

Wormholt and White City  72 6 16 9 5 16 20 0 37 35 58 5 1 3 3 2 

 

P
age 192



 

 

Appendix 2 – streets subject to selective licensing 

Adie Road 

Aldensley Road 

Armadale Road 

Askew Crescent 

Askew Road 

Aspenlea Road 

Astrop Mews 

Astrop Terrace 

Augustine Road 

Barb Mews 

Basuto Road 

Batoum Gardens 

Batson Street 

Beaconsfield 

Terrace Road 

Beavor Lane 

Bentworth Road 

Beryl Road 

Bishop’s Avenue 

Bloemfontein Road 

Bloemfontein Way 

Bothwell Street 

Bramble Gardens 

Britannia Road 

Broomhouse Lane 

Bryony Road 

 

Bulwer Street Byam 

Street 

Cactus Walk 

Cambria Street 

Cambridge Grove 

Cassidy Road 

Cathnor Road 

Caverswall Street 

Caxton Road 

Chancellors Road 

Charlow Close 

Clancarty Road 

Colehill Lane 

Commonwealth Avenue 

Coningham Mews 

Coulter Road 

Crabtree Lane 

Daffodil Street 

Foxglove Street 

Frithville Gardens 

Fulham Broadway 

Fulham High Street 

Fulham Park Road 

Fulham Road 

Galloway Road 

Glenroy Street 

 

Glenthorne Road 

Goldhawk Mews 

Goldhawk Road 

Goodwin Road 

Gorleston Street 

Grimston Road 

Gwyn Close 

Harwood Terrace 

Hawksmoor Street 

Hazlitt Mews 

Hilary Close 

Hofland Road 

Hopgood Street 

Imperial Road 

Jerdan Place 

Kenmont Gardens 

Kilmarsh Road 

King Street 

King’s Road 

Lalor Street 

Lamington Street 

Lanfrey Place 

Langford Road 

Larnach Road 

Leamore Street 

Lettice Street 

 

Leysfield Road 

Lilac Street 

Lime Grove 

Loris Road 

Lower Mall 

Luxemburg Gardens 

Macbeth Street 

Macfarlane Road 

Mandela Close 

Palliser Road 

Parsons Green 

Parsons Green Lane 

Peterborough Mews 

Poplar Mews 

Porten Road 

Primula Street 

Purcell Crescent 

Ravenscourt Avenue 

Ravenscourt Park 

Ravenscourt Place 

Raynham Road 

Redmore Road 

Reporton Road 

Rickett Street 

 

Rigault Road 

Rockley Road 

Rosebury Road 

Ryecroft Street 

Scrubs Lane 

Shepherd’s Bush 

Place 

Shepherd’s Bush 

Road 

Sherbrooke Road 

Shortlands 

Snowbury Road 

South Black Lion Lane 

Southcombe Street 

Southerton Road 

Spring Vale Terrace 

St John’s Close 

Stanwick Road 

Station Approach 

Sterne Street 

Studland Street 

Sulivan Road 

Talgarth Road 

Tamarisk Square 

Telephone Place 

Terrick Street 

 

Trevanion Road 

Tyrawley Road 

Upper Mall 

Uxbridge Road 

Dalling Road 

Dawes Road 

Devonport Road 

Down Place 

Dunraven Road 

Eddiscombe Road 

Effie Place 

Effie Road 

Elysium Place 

Epirus Mews 

Erconwald Street 

Fane Street 

Farm Lane 

Felden Street 

Fielding Road 

Filmer Road 

Firth Gardens 

Maurice Street 

Meldon Close 

Melina Road 

Melrose Terrace 

Micklethwaite Road 

 

Milson Road 

Molesford Road 

Moore Park Road 

New King’s Road 

Norbroke Street 

Normand Road 

North End Crescent 

North End Road 

Old Oak Road 

Ollgar Close 

Ormiston Grove 

Overstone Road 

Vereker Road 

Wallflower Street 

Waterford Road 

Watermeadow 

Lane 

Wells Road 

Wood Lane 

Woodlawn Road 

Woodstock Grove 

Yew Tree Road 

 

P
age 193



 

 

Appendix 3 - Additional and Selective Licensing Financial Projections 

  Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Total   

Set up costs                 

IT project costs (140,000) (10,000)         (150,000)   

Communications and advertising    (30,000)         (30,000)   

Legal Costs   (20,000)         (20,000)   

Contact Centre Costs   (10,000)         (10,000)   

Total Investment (140,000) (70,000) 0 0 0 0 (210,000)   

Ongoing Costs                 

Communications and advertising    (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (5,000) (45,000)   

IT project costs   (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (50,000)   

Legal and operational costs   (20,000) (28,000) (50,000) (51,000) (51,000) (200,000)   

Contact Centre costs   (10,000) (10,000) (5,000) (2,000) (3,000) (30,000)   

Staffing costs   (891,999) (760,510) (624,397) (624,397) (624,397) (3,525,700)   

Total Ongoing Cost   (941,999) (818,510) (699,397) (697,397) (693,397) (3,850,700)   

Income               Number of Licences 

Additional Licences   329,600 329,600 329,600 329,600 329,600 1,648,000 3,200 over 5 years 

Additional Licences     35,475 35,475 35,475 35,475 141,900 330 over 5 years 

Additional Licences       26,875 26,875 26,875 80,625 250 over 5 years 

Additional Licences         19,350 19,350 38,700 180 over 5 years 

Additional Licences           16,125 16,125 150 over 5 years 

Selective Licences   329,600 329,600 329,600 329,600 329,600 1,648,000 3,200 over 5 years 

Selective Licences     35,475 35,475 35,475 35,475 141,900 330 over 5 years 

Selective Licences       26,875 26,875 26,875 80,625 250 over 5 years 

Selective Licences         19,350 19,350 38,700 180 over 5 years 

Selective Licences           16,125 16,125 150 over 5 years 

Total Income   659,200 730,150 783,900 822,600 854,850 3,850,700   

Net Cost of Service 0 (282,799) (88,360) 84,503 125,203 161,453 0   

P
age 194



 

 

 

P
age 195



Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Contents
1.  Introduction  .................................................................................................................................2

2.  Our business case ..........................................................................................................................3

3.  How do the plans support the Council’s wider objectives? ...........................................................4

4.  Summary of the proposals ...........................................................................................................5

5.  What are the benefits to landlords and tenants? .......................................................................6

6.  Proposal Options and Fees ...........................................................................................................7

7.  How have the licensing fees been calculated .............................................................................9

8.  The structure of the proposed licensing scheme ......................................................................10

9.  Public consultation .....................................................................................................................11

10  Analysis of results and decision making ..................................................................................12

Appendix 1:  .....................................................................................................................................13

Appendix 2:  .....................................................................................................................................14

Appendix 3:  .....................................................................................................................................15

Appendix 4:  .....................................................................................................................................16

Appendix 5:  .....................................................................................................................................19

Appendix 6:  .....................................................................................................................................40

Improving the 
Private Rented  
Sector

Page 196



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector2

1. Introduction 

The private rented sector in LBHF has grown rapidly in the last 10 years and now accounts for 
approximately 27,500 properties, a third of the borough’s housing. It is likely that this trend is 
to continue leading to the private rented sector becoming the dominant housing provider.

A notable proportion of private rented sector accommodation 
is provided by Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO). The 
current legal definition of an HMO in the Housing Act 2004 is 
a property rented out by at least three people who are not 
from a single ‘household’ but share facilities like the bathroom 
and kitchen. 

The increased demand and competition from tenants to find 
accommodation that is in short supply means that there is 
little market driven incentive for poor landlords to maintain 
minimum safe housing standards. It is reported that one in 
three private rented properties are ‘non-decent’ according to 
official measures. But this can obscure the harsh reality of 
what non-decency means: one in six privately rented homes 
(16 per cent) is considered physically unsafe according to a 
recent Citizen’s advice report. 

A Citizens Advice Report (A Nation of Renters, How England 
moved from secure family homes towards rundown rentals) 
reports that whilst nationally, in 2004 the most common 
household type renting were young single persons, in 2014 it 
was couples with children. This changing demographic is of 
key concern to the Council, which is committed to reducing 
the effects of child poverty. 

We want to improve living standards for our residents in the 
private rented sector.  We’re considering options to improve 
the standard and safety of private rented housing and address 
anti-social behaviour in what historically has been a difficult 
area to intervene in effectively. We want to develop ways to 
improve standards in this sector that are good for tenants and 
good for landlords. This is in line with our housing strategy 
and corporate priorities.

In summary, we are committed to improving the private rented 
sector and believe that introducing new initiatives would:

●●  allow us to work with landlords to ensure homes are safe 
and well managed through a set of minimum standard 
conditions. 

●●  shift the reliance away from using resident complaints to 
identify problems.

●●  promote a professional approach to management amongst 
private landlords

●●  allow us to take action against landlords who provide a 
poor standard of accommodation or whose tenants cause 
persistent levels of anti-social behaviour

●●  provide tenants with consistent information about 
unacceptable standards of accommodation 

●●  provide safe homes for tenants to live in.

●●  drive rogue landlords out of this sector

●● reduce the levels of anti-social behaviour in the borough

●●  improve the local environment and improve storage and 
collection of waste 

●●  provide a strategic approach to managing this sector

 On 2 November 2015 Cabinet agreed to consult Borough-wide 
and cross-boundary on five proposals:

●●  the introduction of additional licensing that would bring a 
greater number of HMOs into the licensing regime

●●  the introduction of selective licensing that would bring some 
other privately rented properties into the licensing regime

●●  the introduction of an H&F private landlords rental charter 
that lays out minimum standards for landlords

●●  the revision of minimum standards we apply to Houses in 
Multiple Occupation

●●  The formation of a social lettings agency to proactively raise 
housing standards and protect residents.

Page 197



3Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

A significant proportion of the complaints we receive from residents relate to poor heating, 
damp, mould and deficient fire safety measures owing to poor management by landlords. 
We are considering options that would protect families, children and individuals living in 
accommodation with shared facilities and raise overall standards. 

We encourage the improvement of the private rented sector 
through enforcement, mandatory licensing of large HMOs and 
the promotion of landlord accreditation. Despite continuing 
work, in the year 2014/2015 the private housing team received 
903 requests from residents about defects within their rented 
accommodation; a 46% increase on the previous year. 

The majority of defects were remedied as a result of our 
intervention. Formal enforcement action was required in 87 
properties where Category 1 Hazards (the most serious: e.g. 
fire, electrical and gas safety) were identified, 43 of which 
were due to excess cold (inadequate insulation and heating). 

We are duty bound to take enforcement action where a 
Category 1 hazard exists; the enforcement of Category 2 
hazards is discretionary and policy based.

Poor management of HMOs in Hammersmith & Fulham is 
mapped out in Appendix 1

A review of the data from our property and street-based 
complaints systems confirm that there is a correlation between 
the private rented sector and anti-social behaviour at street 
level, at specific locations across the borough.

The review has resulted in a model, which shows that 172 
streets in the borough make up fewer than 20% of the private 
rented sector, and almost 19% of total households. These 
areas account for just under 37% of the borough’s anti-social 
behaviour and police call outs.

Anti-social behaviour of concern includes noise nuisance, 
issues with rubbish collection and storage, small scale rubbish 
dumping; and also includes police call outs to incidents. 

The same group of streets account for just under 33% of all 
crime in the bough; 38% of all environmental nuisance; 37% 
of all small scale rubbish dumping; 30% of litter / detritus 
complaints and 27% of all incidents where a fire engine was 
dispatched.Residents in these areas tend to have a greater fear 
of being a victim of crime, but are significantly more likely to 
be concerned about being mugged or robbed, having things 
stolen from their cars, and being physically attacked by 
strangers.

The anti-social behaviour incidents per household in 
Hammersmith & Fulham is mapped out in Appendix 2

2. Our business case

Page 198



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector4

3. How do the plans support 
the Council’s wider objectives?
We want a fairer deal for our residents and 
landlords in the private rented sector. To 
improve the standard and safety of private 
rented housing the Council’s Housing 
Strategy: ‘Delivering the change we need’, 
introduced in May 2015 set out the following 
key actions:

●● Housing Strategy Action 15: The council will: 

●●  Take steps to improve the Private Rented Sector by taking 
enforcement action against unsatisfactory landlords and 
those who are deliberately and illegally letting unfit homes 

●● T ake enforcement action where letting agents or property 
managers have not signed up to a redress scheme 

●● Continue to promote landlord accreditation 

●●  Investigate the advantages and disadvantages of licensing 
schemes within the Borough 

●●  Consider means to prevent homes being kept empty for 
longer than six months 

●●  Promote the right to longer term tenancies in the private 
sector for those that want them and for rent increases to be 
kept at reasonable levels 

●●  Formulate an ‘H&F Private Landlords’ Charter which will 
include reference to conditions and standards in the private 
rented sector. 

●●  Promote improved energy efficiency in the Private Rented 
Sector and take steps to help those at risk from excess cold.

The Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts Policy and 
Accountability Committee formally resolved to support the 
proposals for improving private rented housing in the borough 
and asked the Cabinet to bring forward detailed plans for their 
implementation.

Page 199



5Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

The introduction of a number of initiatives, including licensing schemes, would help us to 
work with landlords to ensure homes are safe and well managed through a set of minimum 
standard conditions. The Housing Act 2004 contains provisions for the introduction of a 
scheme of additional or selective licensing of private landlords in a local housing authority’s 
area. These alongside a number of other options are being considered as part of this 
consultation. 

Additional licensing can be introduced where poor landlord 
management is demonstrated. An additional licensing scheme 
for houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) would require 
landlords who let a HMO property (which currently falls 
outside of the mandatory licensing scheme), that is occupied 
by three or more non-related occupiers that share some basic 
facilities (such as a kitchen), to have a licence.

Selective licensing can be introduced where anti-social 
behaviour is identified as a ‘significant’ and ‘persistent’ 
problem. A selective licensing scheme would require landlords 
who let residential accommodation that falls outside of 
additional HMO definition to have a licence.

Revised HMO minimum standards could be introduced, which 
would be used to determine whether a licensed property is 
reasonably suitable for occupation by a certain number of 
persons. By amending our local standards we could ensure 
that accommodation is maintained above minimal national 
standards that do not adequately reflect HMOs that are 
typically found in the borough. New local standards will 
provide information for landlords on what is required of them. 
This will include the management, safety, facilities, refuse 
storage and collection and living space for the occupiers.

A ‘H&F landlord’s rental charter’ could be introduced which 
landlords can sign up to, that commits landlords to best 
practice on rents, housing standards, charges, tenants’ deposit 
protection and security of tenure.

A social letting agency, run by the council, to better represent 
and advise its residents, could be introduced. 

Do nothing: This means that the council would not implement 
any of the above proposed options to improve the private 
rented sector in Hammersmith & Fulham

4. Summary of the proposals

Page 200



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector6

5. What are the benefits to 
landlords and tenants?
Alongside improving standards of private 
rented sector properties and reducing 
anti-social behaviour, we see this as an 
opportunity for landlords to sustain and 
grow their businesses by creating a level 
playing field where irresponsible landlords 
who flout their legal responsibilities are 
required to comply or leave the sector.

Good landlords will gain from the improved local environment 
from improving management standards to tackle anti-social 
behaviour. By knowing who is responsible in the first instance 
for dealing with problems associated with the premises, will 
improve the quality of life for local residents and the local area.

Licensing allows a strategic approach to raising the standard in 
a larger number of properties without the need for 
enforcement, except in those cases where landlords do not 
comply or do not license their properties. For landlords, it will 
create a level playing field and allow peace of mind through 
knowing that their property meets minimum safe standards.

For small scale landlords (The National Landlords’ Association 
2014 research shows that 70% of landlords are ‘part time’ and 
do not make their main income through being a landlord), 
some of whom are ‘accidental’ landlords, it will ensure that 
they are aware of their responsibilities and property standards.

The scheme will provide an overview of the private rented 
sector stock, and contact details for landlords. As well as being 
able to better plan sector policy, it will enable us to support 
landlords in ensuring their properties are good quality homes. 
For example landlords will have better access to private sector 
housing advice and council tenants in need of homes.

Many types of council across the country including at least 14 
in London have adopted such schemes, with a number of 
others currently in the process of consulting, as an effective 
approach in driving up standards, which benefits everyone. In 
London these include Newham, Camden, Brent, Ealing, 
Harrow and Islington amongst others.

Page 201



7Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

This section sets out the six proposals. It is designed to help you tell us what you think.

1: Introduction of additional licensing across 
the borough

A significant proportion of residents’ complaints relate to poor 
heating, damp, mould and deficient fire safety measures 
owing to poor management by landlords. It is proposed to 
consult on the introduction of additional licensing across the 
whole borough in order to protect families, children and 
individuals living in accommodation with shared facilities and 
raise overall standards. 

Currently, an HMO is only required to be licensed with the 
Local Authority if it is three or more storeys in height and is 
occupied by five or more tenants, or which at least two 
households share one or more basic amenities such as kitchen, 
bathroom or toilet. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government 
recently consulted on extending the definition of mandatory 
licensing to which the council responded. Any resulting 
change will be reflected in the current mandatory regime.

An additional licensing scheme for HMOs would require 
landlords who let a HMO property that meets criteria to be 
determined by the council, which falls outside of the 
mandatory licensing scheme, to have a licence. 

We propose to introduce additional licensing for HMOs across 
the entire borough, which would require landlords who let a 
HMO property to licence the property. The criteria would be 
any HMO which is occupied by at least three people who do 
not make up a single household, who share one or more basic 
amenities such as kitchen, bathroom or toilet. 

Licensed HMOs must be inspected within the period of the 
licence, which will be for five years; licenses may be issued for 
shorter periods (e.g. two years) where poor management and 
conditions are identified.

Fees

The proposed associated fee for additional licensing consists of 
a base fee of £450 and an additional £30 per habitable unit.

A suggested £50 discount is available to landlords who have 
signed up to the H&F Landlord’s Charter or other relevant 
landlord association body. 

The full fee, if calculated over the normal licensing period of 
five years (assuming a HMO with three units at £540) equates 
to £2.08 per week. A set fee, £283, for landlords requesting 
extra assistance with the application is also payable if required.

2: Introduction of selective licensing (in 
designated areas)

Selective licensing relates to private rented sector properties 
that are let to single families, couples and individuals. This 
proposal relates to those private rented sector properties that 
are not covered by the mandatory licensing scheme or the 
proposed additional licensing scheme. 

We propose introducing a scheme to designated areas with 
evidence of high levels of anti-social behaviour. The majority of 
this accommodation is in streets with a mixed commercial/
residential make up i.e. predominantly along major roads and 
nearby streets. 

The list of 172 proposed streets where selective licensing will 
be introduced, based on reported levels of anti-social 
behaviour, is set out in Appendix 3

Fees

The proposed associated fee for selective licensing consists of a 
base fee of £450 and an additional £30 per habitable unit.

A suggested £50 discount is available to landlords who have 
signed up to the H&F Landlord’s Charter or other relevant 
landlord association body. 

6. Proposal Options and Fees

Page 202



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector8

The full fee, if calculated over the normal licensing period of 
five years (assuming a HMO with three units at £540) equates 
to £2.08 per week. A set fee, £283, for landlords requesting 
extra assistance with the application is also payable if required.

3: Introduction H&F landlord’s rental charter

We propose introducing a ‘H&F Landlords Rental Charter’ that 
commits landlords to best practice on rents, housing 
standards, charges, tenants’ deposit protection and security of 
tenure.

Landlords will be able to display a copy of their signed charter 
to demonstrate to tenants that they uphold to the principles of 
good management. Landlords renting a property, which 
requires a licence will benefit from a suggested discount of 
£50 per licensed property.

The proposal aims to be self-certified and we will not verify 
that landlords are upholding the principles set out in the 
charter. However, landlords who have signed the charter but 
do not uphold to the principles will have their chartered status 
removed if an inspecting council officer has cause to, subject 
to review. The terms of the charter are set out in Appendix 4.

Fees

There will be no charge for signing up to the charter.

4: Revision of H&F local HMO standards

We propose revising the local HMO standards we use to 
decide whether a property is reasonably suitable for 
occupation by a certain number of persons.

By amending our local standards we could ensure that licensed 
accommodation is maintained above minimal national 
standards that do not adequately reflect the built form, size, 
layout and type of HMO that is typically found in the borough.

New local standards will provide information for landlords on 
what is required of them to comply with the law. This will 
include the management, safety, facilities, waste storage and 
collection and living space for the occupiers.

The main proposed changes to the HMO standards are: 

●●  More detailed and comprehensive advice to landlords on 
HMO definition, licensing and the main housing hazards 
such as fire and cold homes.

●●  Updating the guidance to include recent legal requirements 
such as electrical safety and smoke detection/carbon 
monoxide requirements

●● Simplifying the advice provided and layout

●● Guidance in applying risk-assessment to housing hazards

●●  Greater flexibility in achieving safe and healthy HMOs rather 
than relying on fixed standards

●● Updated guidance on refuse storage

●● A copy of the draft standard is available in Appendix 5

5: Formation of a social lettings agency

We’ve started a project to look at the feasibility of establishing 
a social lettings agency in the borough and to produce a 
recommended model. The idea is to help residents on low or 
modest incomes to overcome the barrier to accessing homes in 
the private rented sector and to help landlords in this part of 
the market find suitable tenants. It is expected that the 
proposed model to be advantageous to both tenant and 
landlord. 

Through the agency, we could aim to let properties or rooms 
in the private rented sector through provision of tenant 
sourcing and letting services at competitive fees and rates that 
are currently proving to be a barrier to many people.

The agency could also be useful to our mainstream operations 
by providing access to other sources of accommodation in the 
private rented sector for the purposes of homelessness 
prevention and to those requiring temporary accommodation. 
The agency will help vulnerable tenants sustain their tenancies, 
reduce the risk for landlords to enable them to let to benefit 
claimants and provide tenants with up to five-year tenancies.

6: Do nothing

This means that the council would not implement any of the 
above proposed options to improve the private rented sector 
in Hammersmith & Fulham

Page 203



9Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

7. How have the licensing fees 
been calculated
The introduction of any licensing scheme would legally need to operate on a cost neutral 
basis to the council. The fees have been calculated on the basis of the anticipated scheme 
costs. The fee would cover the costs of running the licensing scheme.

As the licence fee covers a five-year period, an estimate of the 
projected costs of administering the scheme together with the 
corresponding fee income is shown in the following table:

Expenditure type Estimated total for 5 years

Staff costs (inc corporate 
overheads) administration, 
inspection and enforcement

£3,775,000

IT costs £200,000

Communications £75,000

Legal costs £224,250

Total £4,274,250

The total licence fee is estimated as follows and assumes the 
same level of compliance as experienced by another London 
authority. It is estimated that over 8,000 properties will be 
affected by the scheme and will comply.

Assume average 3 
bedroom

Licences 5 year total

Year 1 6,400 £3,296,000

Year 2 660 £354,750

Year 3 500 £268,750

Year 4 360 £193,500

Year 5 300 £161,250

Total 8,220 £4,274,250

Page 204



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector10

8. The structure of the 
proposed licensing scheme
How will landlords get a licence?

Applicants will need to complete an on-line application form 
and meet certain criteria in order to obtain a licence. The 
criteria would include:

●●  The licence holder must be a fit and proper person as set out 
in law 

●●  Where the licence holder is not the owner of the HMO, 
the licence holder will need to provide a management 
agreement confirming he has the authority to hold a licence 
and undertake all licence holder responsibilities.   

●●  The licence holder must have satisfactory local management 
structures (UK based) and suitable financial arrangements in 
place 

●●  Properties must be suitable for the number of occupants

●●  Provide gas and electricity safety certificates and fire safety 
and emergency lighting certificates

●●  Applicants must demonstrate satisfactory procedures are in 
place for dealing with anti-social behaviour

●●  The licence holder must comply with the conditions of the 
licence (appendix 6)

Once we receive a valid application, we’ll process it.  An officer 
will inspect the property within the term of the licence to 
ensure the rooms are of adequate size and that the property 
has adequate facilities such as kitchens, bathrooms and WCs 
that meet the required standards.

Where appropriate an HMO will be licenced for five years; 
licenses may be issued for a shorter period of two years (for 
the same fee) where poor management and conditions are 
identified.

How much will the licence cost?

A fee would be payable and will be discussed as part of the 
consultation process. We will only consider an application to 
be valid once the fee has been paid.

The proposed licence fee for a property for either selective or 
additional licensing consists of a base fee of £450 and an 
additional £30 per habitable unit.

Where a license is issued for a shorter period (e.g. two years) 
owing to poor management and conditions the full fee will 
still be applied.

These fees do not include charges for any legal notices or any 
litigation. The calculation for the processing fee is based upon 
the predicted estimated costs of processing the volume of 
applications and the relevant number of staff over the life of 
the license. 

Mandatory Licensing remains separate to this 
proposal

Where a licence is not granted and there is no inspection the 
sum of £150 will be returned to the applicant.

What does a ‘fit and proper person’ mean? 

In order for us to decide if an applicant is ‘fit and proper ’the 
following would be taken into account:

●●  Any previous conditions relating to violence, sexual offences 
or drug related crimes;

●●  If the person has broken any laws relating to housing or 
landlord and tenant issues; and

●●  If the person has been found guilty of any unlawful 
discrimination.

●●  If the person has been found guilty of any crimes relating to 
fraud or dishonesty

What if the council makes a decision that isn’t 
thought to be fair?

If an applicant feels an unfair decision has been made they 
should contact us to discuss the decision. If the applicant still 
feels that we acted unfairly by failing to grant, or imposing 
sanctions on a licence, the applicant can appeal to the First-
Tier tribunal: Property Chamber (Residential Property). The 
First-Tier Tribunal is an expert independent panel that will act 
in place of the County Court to either overturn or uphold the 
Councils decision. 

Page 205



11Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Based on the information available, 
detailed in this consultation document, we 
consider that the conditions for introducing 
licensing schemes are satisfied and that 
there is evidence in the borough of a lack of 
management of the private rented sector 
properties and that anti-social behaviour is 
higher in specified areas with private rented 
sector housing. 

However, before making a decision as to whether or not 
additional licensing and/ or selective licensing and other 
initiatives should be introduced, we are keen to consult widely 
with those likely to be affected. 

During the consultation we are seeking the views of all 
interested parties, including landlords, tenants, residents, 
residents associations, registered housing providers and other 
stakeholders. This consultation gives an opportunity for all 
those affected by the proposal to fully engage and ensure that 
all views are properly taken into account prior to any decisions 
being made.  

The consultation will take place over a 12-week period starting 
in early July 2016, on the six proposals.  The consultation will 
be managed by an independent external research consultancy 
and will include extensive publicity.

The consultation period will include public forums, 
questionnaires and other engagement work across the 
borough and in neighbouring boroughs. 

9. Public consultation

Page 206



Improving the  
Private Rented  
Sector12

10. Analysis of results and 
decision making
The results of the consultation will be 
collated by M·E·L Research, with an 
independent report on the findings 
produced. This will then form part of the 
report due to be considered by Cabinet later 
in the year, who will determine whether the 
proposals should be introduced.

When a decision has been made, we will announce this 
formally on the council website and in the local press. If 
approved, there would also be a publicity campaign designed 
to reach as many affected landlords and tenants as possible.

If the additional and selective schemes are approved, they 
would be likely to commence in Spring/Summer of 2017.  If 
the landlord’s charter and revised HMO standards are 
approved they would be likely to be introduced in early 2017. 
The information gained from the consultation on the 
formation of a social letting agency will be used to inform the 
feasibility of such a scheme.

Page 207



13Appendix 1: Poor management 
of HMOs in Hammersmith and 
Fulham

Appendix 1: 

Poor management of HMOs in Hammersmith & Fulham

Page 208



Appendix 2: Anti-social behaviour 
incidents per household  
Hammersmith & Fulham 14

Appendix 2: 

Anti-social behaviour incidents per household Hammersmith & Fulham 
January 2011 to December 2015

Page 209



15Appendix 3: Streets in Hammersmith & Fulham 
were it is proposed to introduce Selective 
Licensing in the private rented sector 

Appendix 3: 

Adie Road

Aldensley Road

Armadale Road

Askew Crescent

Askew Road

Aspenlea Road

Astrop Mews

Astrop Terrace

Augustine Road

Barb Mews

Basuto Road

Batoum Gardens

Batson Street

Beaconsfield Terrace Road

Beavor Lane

Bentworth Road

Beryl Road

Bishop’s Avenue

Bloemfontein Road

Bloemfontein Way

Bothwell Street

Bramble Gardens

Britannia Road

Broomhouse Lane

Bryony Road

Bulwer Street

Byam Street

Cactus Walk

Cambria Street

Cambridge Grove

Cassidy Road

Cathnor Road

Caverswall Street

Caxton Road

Chancellors Road

Charlow Close

Clancarty Road

Colehill Lane

Commonwealth Avenue

Coningham Mews

Coulter Road

Crabtree Lane

Daffodil Street

Foxglove Street

Frithville Gardens

Fulham Broadway

Fulham High Street

Fulham Park Road

Fulham Road

Galloway Road

Glenroy Street

Glenthorne Road

Goldhawk Mews

Goldhawk Road

Goodwin Road

Gorleston Street

Grimston Road

Gwyn Close

Harwood Terrace

Hawksmoor Street

Hazlitt Mews

Hilary Close

Hofland Road

Hopgood Street

Imperial Road

Jerdan Place

Kenmont Gardens

Kilmarsh Road

King Street

King’s Road

Lalor Street

Lamington Street

Lanfrey Place

Langford Road

Larnach Road

Leamore Street

Lettice Street

Leysfield Road

Lilac Street

Lime Grove

Loris Road

Lower Mall

Luxemburg Gardens

Macbeth Street

Macfarlane Road

Mandela Close

Palliser Road

Parsons Green

Parsons Green Lane

Peterborough Mews

Poplar Mews

Porten Road

Primula Street

Purcell Crescent

Ravenscourt Avenue

Ravenscourt Park

Ravenscourt Place

Raynham Road

Redmore Road

Reporton Road

Rickett Street

Rigault Road

Rockley Road

Rosebury Road

Ryecroft Street

Scrubs Lane

Shepherd’s Bush Place

Shepherd’s Bush Road

Sherbrooke Road

Shortlands

Snowbury Road

South Black Lion Lane

Southcombe Street

Southerton Road

Spring Vale Terrace

St John’s Close

Stanwick Road

Station Approach

Sterne Street

Studland Street

Sulivan Road

Talgarth Road

Tamarisk Square

Telephone Place

Terrick Street

Trevanion Road

Tyrawley Road

Upper Mall

Uxbridge Road

Dalling Road

Dawes Road

Devonport Road

Down Place

Dunraven Road

Eddiscombe Road

Effie Place

Effie Road

Elysium Place

Epirus Mews

Erconwald Street

Fane Street

Farm Lane

Felden Street

Fielding Road

Filmer Road

Firth Gardens

Maurice Street

Meldon Close

Melina Road

Melrose Terrace

Micklethwaite Road

Milson Road

Molesford Road

Moore Park Road

New King’s Road

Norbroke Street

Normand Road

North End Crescent

North End Road

Old Oak Road

Ollgar Close

Ormiston Grove

Overstone Road

Vereker Road

Wallflower Street

Waterford Road

Watermeadow Lane

Wells Road

Wood Lane

Woodlawn Road

Woodstock Grove

Yew Tree Road

Streets in Hammersmith & Fulham were it is proposed to introduce 
Selective Licensing in the private rented sector

Page 210



Appendix 4:  
Landlords Rental 
Charter16

Appendix 4: 

LANDLORDS RENTAL CHARTER

The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham values the private rented sector and its important role in 
providing decent, warm, safe homes. We believe that working together with landlords we can improve the 
choice for Borough residents and landlords alike.

LANDLORD / AGENT COMMITMENT   I will-
●● Advertise my property honestly and in accordance with the law

●● Be clear about all fees that tenants will have to pay

●● Provide tenants with a clear written tenancy agreement and agree an inventory

●● Ensure any deposit taken is protected and in accordance with the law 

●● Provide safe, warm and energy efficient homes that meet minimum standards (Appendix 1)

●●   Provide an  Energy Performance Certificate (EPC)  and, where gas is provided at the property, a current Gas Safety 
Certificate

●● Provide tenants with contact details, including a telephone number they can use in case of an emergency

●● Be proactive in maintaining my property to keep it safe and in good repair

●● Let my tenants know how they can report repairs and respond promptly 

●● Provide my tenants with a clear means of making and fairly dealing with complaints

●● Respect my tenant’s privacy and give advance notice of visits

●●   Ensure tenants are aware of the standards of behaviour they should follow and how they will be dealt with if they 
fail to meet such standards

●● Provide clear instructions on what they should do at the end of a tenancy

●●  Make sure any deposit is released in accordance with the rules of the tenancy deposit scheme it is held under 

●● Keep myself  up to date with the law on housing

●● Provide security of tenure

●● Provide a copy of landlord’s Insurance

●● Protect tenants harassment or illegal eviction

●● Meet best practice on rents

●● Letting and property management agents are required to join a tenant’s redress scheme

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Landlord(s)/Agent

 

Signature: Signature:

 

Date: Expiry Date

Page 211



17

Appendix 1: Minimum Accommodation Standards 

Hammersmith and Fulham expect all privately rented accommodation in the borough to be safe, free from hazards and in good 
repair. 

The following are minimum standards which privately rented properties should meet. Landlords letting Houses in Multiple 
Occupation must comply with the Borough’s standards:

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/housing/private-housing/houses-multiple-occupation-hmos

Security
●●  Access doors to premises must have suitable locks and windows in accessible locations must be provided with suitable window locks.

Condensation - Control & Prevention
●●  Adequate permanent ventilation must be provided to all habitable rooms. In particular, fixed mechanical ventilation is to be 
provided to kitchens and bathrooms.

●●   If condensation is a result of cold bridging, effective insulation must be installed in addition to the provision of adequate 
ventilation and efficient heating.

Damp
●● The building must be free from rising damp.

 Heating & Thermal Comfort
●●   An efficient heating system which is affordable to run, controllable by the tenant and available at all times, must be provided. 
The space heating must be fixed – portable, plug-in appliances are not acceptable. The system must be capable of efficiently 
maintaining 21oC in living areas and18°C in sleeping rooms when the outside temperature is -1oC. In most cases, a suitable 
heating system will comprise full gas central heating which is modern (under 12 years old) and programmable, with 
Thermostatic Radiator Valves (TRVs).

●●   Where there is a loft present, a minimum of 200mm loft insulation is required. If new loft insulation is required, a thickness of 
270 mm is required to meet current Building Regulations.

Windows
●●  Windows must be in good working order and open and shut properly.

●●  Single glazed windows must have suitable and effective draught proofing.

●●  Restrictors to be fitted to all windows above ground level to restrict opening to 100mm.

●●  Low level glazing (within 800mm of floor level) must be impact resistant.

Kitchen, Bathroom and WC Facilities
●●  All cooking units and sanitary facilities and appliances must be in reasonable repair and good working order.

Staircases and Balconies
●●  Steps and stairs must have level, even treads and provide adequate friction.

●●  All staircases must have suitable handrails at the height of 900-1000mm.

●●   and landings with a drop of 600mm or more must have guarding with maximum opening of 100mm and designed to prevent 
climbing. The height of the guarding shall be 900mm.

●●  Balconies must be properly constructed and guarded. The guarding must have maximum openings of 100mm and designed to 
prevent climbing. The height of the guarding shall be 1100mm.

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 212



18

Gas and Electric
●● A gas safety certificate must be provided annually by GAS SAFE engineer– legal requirement

●●   A check of the electrical installation should be carried out every 5 years and interim checks carried out on an annual basis and/
or at a change of tenancy. An electrical test certificate must be provided by a competent person e.g. NAPIT or NICEIC.

●●   Sufficient electrical sockets must be provided to prevent the inappropriate use of extension leads and avoid overload (see Fire 
Safety).

Fire Safety
●●  Shared flats/houses and bedsits in converted houses must conform to certain standards of fire protection. Such premises are 
classified as ‘Houses in Multiple Occupation’ (HMOs). These are defined as premises occupied by persons who do not form a 
single household’. If the premises is an HMO there must be adequate provision for means of escape in case of fire. (See website 
link at the end of this guidance).

●● As a minimum in rented properties, the following requirements for fire apply:

●●   Mains wired smoke detectors must be fitted to the ceiling of the dwelling hallway/landings (one per floor, interlinked). In some 
properties, including converted buildings and HMOs, a more comprehensive fire detection system may be required.

●●   Flat entrance doors (within converted properties) must be of half hour fire resistant construction and fitted with suitable self-
closing devices.

●●   All kitchens must have close fitting doors and in HMOs these must be fire resistant.

●●   Key only operated mortice lock to flats, houses and HMOs are not acceptable as they compromise escape in case of fire. As an 
alternative, locks with an internal thumb turn are acceptable.

●●  All kitchens must be provided with suitably fixed fire blankets conforming to BS 1869:1997

●●  All fire escape routes and communal areas must be kept free of obstructions.

Lighting
●●  The dwelling should have adequate natural and artificial lighting in all habitable rooms and adequate artificial lighting to all 
other such as circulation areas, bathroom and kitchens.

Crowding & Space in Dwellings (Non HMOs)
●●   Depending on gender mix, a one household/family dwelling comprising one bedroom is suitable for up to two people 
regardless of age, two bedrooms for up to four people, three for up to six people and four for up to seven people.

Crowding & Space in HMOs
●●   For space standards in HMOs, please refer to Hammermsith & Fulham HMO standards: https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/housing/
private-housing/houses-multiple-occupation-hmos

Pests and Vermin
●●   Landlords (not the tenants) are responsible for eradicating pest/vermin infestations in properties they rent, including mice, rats, 
bedbugs and cockroaches. Any infestation must be properly treated and any gaps/holes which allow the ingress of vermin must 
be filled.

Asbestos
●●   Landlords have a legal responsibility to manage risks associated with any asbestos present in rental properties. Where a 
problem of asbestos is identified or suspected, the landlord must seek specialist advice from an asbestos surveyor or a licensed 
contractor.

Appendix 4:  
Landlords Rental 
Charter

Page 213



1919
Appendix 5: 

The Council’s requirements for HMO landlords

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 214



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses20

CONTENTS 
Part 1: Introduction
1.1 Background

1.2 Why is HMO guidance needed?

1.3 What are the main changes?

1.4 Types of HMO and terminology

1.4.1 Bedsits

1.4.2 Shared houses and flats in multiple occupation

1.5 Applying the guidance to HMOs

1.6 Definition of HMO

1.7 Planning

1.8 Licensed HMOs

1.9 Housing Health and Safety Rating System

Part 2: Minimum space standards 
2.1 Calculating room sizes

2.2 Minimum room sizes

2.2.1 Exclusive Use

2.2.2 Shared kitchens

2.3  Living Rooms 

2.4  Loft Rooms/Spaces

Part 3: Facilities for storage, preparation and 
cooking of food
3.1 Kitchens for exclusive use in the letting room or a 
separate room

3.2 Shared kitchens

3.2.1 Ratio of persons to facilities

3.2.2 Shared kitchen facilities

3.2.3 General requirements for shared kitchens

3.3 General requirements for all kitchens

3.3.1 Location

3.3.2 Other requirements

 

Part 4: Personal hygiene and sanitation 
standards
4.1 Personal hygiene facilities

4.2  General requirements

4.3  Wash hand basins within bedrooms (five or more 
occupiers)

Part 5: Guidance on key hazards and steps to 
protect tenants
5.1 Fire Safety

5.1.1   General principles

5.1.2 Fire Risk Assessment

5.1.3 Smoke and carbon Monoxide Alarms

5.1.4 Provision of a protected escape route

5.1.5 Fire resistant doors

5.1.6 Automatic Fire Detection System

5.1.7 Two storey HMOs

5.1.8 Three storey HMOs or above

5.1.9 Emergency lighting

5.2 Raised bed platforms in letting rooms

5.2.1 Fire Safety

5.2.2 Guarding

5.3 Electrical Appliances and Installations

5.4  Carbon monoxide detection

5.5 Gas supply and appliances

5.6  Space heating and hot water

5.7 Furnished lettings

5.8 Security

5.8.1 Communal front door

5.8.2 Individual dwelling doors

5.8.3 Windows

5.9 Refuse storage

5.9.1 External storage

Part 6: HMO Management
6.1 Introduction

6.2  Responsibilities of the manager

Page 215



21

Part 1: Introduction
1.1 Background

The Council has a large private rented sector with huge demand for shared accommodation. Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) provide a vital role in meeting the need for decent and affordable accommodation for a wide range of residents, from 
students to low paid workers and professionals.  We want to encourage landlords to provide good quality accommodation for 
tenants. 

The aim of this document is to ensure that HMOs provide a minimum acceptable standard so that tenants occupy safe and 
healthy homes. HMOs should be of adequate size, with sufficient space to live, reasonable levels of washing, cooking and 
sanitary facilities and be well managed. This guide provides comprehensive and practical information on the law and is updated 
to include new legislation such as the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Regulations 2015.

The Council has a duty to ensure that Houses in Multiple Occupation are free from serious housing hazards including crowding 
and space. Some HMOs are required to be licensed by the Council under the mandatory HMO licensing scheme. 

1.2 Why is HMO guidance needed?

A review and revision of the Council’s HMO standards is long overdue. Some amendments were made to them as a result of the 
major changes in the Housing Act 2004 but they do not accurately reflect all current legal requirements or offer adequate or 
comprehensive guidance to landlords. They were too prescriptive and of insufficient detail to help landlords comply with the law.

1.3 What are the main changes?

This new HMO guidance brings the Council’s requirements up to date and addresses concerns about the quality and standard of 
HMO accommodation in the borough. The main changes are:

●●  More detailed and comprehensive advice to landlords on HMO definition, licensing and the main housing hazards such as fire, 
cold homes etc.

●●  Updating the guidance to include recent legal requirements such as electrical safety and fire/carbon monoxide requirements

●● Simplifying the advice provided and layout

●● Guidance in applying risk-assessment to housing hazards 

●● Greater flexibility in achieving safe and healthy HMOs rather than relying on fixed standards

●● Updated guidance on refuse storage

1.4 Types of HMO and terminology

1.4.1 Bedsits

These are houses & flats let as individual rooms / bedsits occupied by a number of unrelated persons living as more than one 
household where there is little interaction between the occupiers.  

Bedsits tend to be occupied as individual rooms where there is some exclusive occupation (usually bedroom/living room) and 
some sharing of amenities (bathrooms and / or toilets). Cooking and food preparation facilities are usually provided within the 
individual units of accommodation. There is usually no communal living room and each occupant lives otherwise independently 
of all others. 

There are usually individual tenancies rather than a single joint tenancy. Bedroom doors will usually be lockable. Initially there may 
be little or no social interaction amongst the residents.

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 216



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses22

1.4.2 Shared Houses and flats in multiple occupation

Shared houses are described as HMOs where the whole property has been rented out by an identifiable group of sharers such as 
students, work colleagues or friends as joint tenants. Each occupant normally has their own bedroom but they share the kitchen, 
dining facilities, bathroom, WC, living room and all other parts of the house. All the tenants will have exclusive legal possession 
and control of all parts of the house, including all the bedrooms. There is normally a significant degree of social interaction 
between the occupants and they will, in the main, have rented out the house as one group. There is usually a single joint tenancy 
agreement. In summary, the group will possess many of the characteristics of a single family household, although the property is 
still legally defined as a HMO because the occupants are not all related.

1.5 Applying the guidance to HMOs

This guidance outlines the minimum requirements of the Council and should not be seen as the ideal. It covers the most common 
types of HMOs found in the borough, which are usually described as shared houses or bedsits. If the HMO you are letting is a 
hostel, temporary accommodation or student/staff accommodation, please refer to our separate guidance for this type of 
property, which is available on our website. 

This document sets out standards for management, overcrowding, room sizes, bathroom & WC facilities, kitchen facilities and 
references standards for means of escape from fire. The Council are also required to assess properties under the Housing Health 
& Safety Rating System (see 1.8 below). Although some standards are set out in law, other requirements may depend on the 
Council taking a risk based approach to certain housing hazards. For such hazards, the Council will take a flexible and common 
sense approach to assessment and enforcement.

To ensure that these standards are current, please check with the Council’s website at http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Housing/
Multiple_occupancy_homes/

1.6 Definition of HMO 

An HMO is a property occupied by 3 or more unrelated people in 2 or more households. A full definition of ‘ house in multiple 
occupation’ can be found in section 254 of the Housing Act 2004. Details of what relationships constitute a single family can be 
found in section 258 of the Housing Act 2004.The Act also gives the Council powers to deal with poor living conditions in HMOs.

1.7 Planning

There is a different definition of a HMO which is set out in planning legislation and local planning policy. There are restrictions 
about the development and change of use of HMOs and planning permission may be required. Property owners, developers and 
their agents are strongly advised to check with the Council’s Planning and Conservation Department before carrying out any 
development, including any self-containment of units within an HMO or any change in use of a property.

Further information is available at:

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Environment_and_Planning/Planning/

Page 217



23

1.8 Licensed HMOs

An HMO is required to be licensed with the Council if it is three or more storeys in height and is occupied by 5 or more tenants, 
of which at least 2 households share one or more basic amenities including kitchen, bathroom or WC. 

The aim of the licensing scheme is to improve conditions and management within HMOs by ensuring: 

●● conditions within a HMO comply with the Council’s HMO standards 

●● landlords and/or their agents are ‘fit and proper’ persons as defined in the Housing Act 2004 

●● management arrangements for the HMO are appropriate. 

It is the landlord/manager’s responsibility to apply to the Council to licence a property. 

As part of the HMO licensing process, the Council can discuss with landlords any variations from the standards that may be 
appropriate for a particular HMO. However, national minimum HMO licensing standards apply and must be complied with, in 
particular the level of bathroom, WC and wash hand basin provision. 

1.9 Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is a system for assessing the health and safety risks in dwellings. 

The principle of HHSRS is that any residential premises (including the structure, means of access, and any associated outbuilding, 
garden or yard) should provide a safe and healthy environment for any potential occupier or visitor. The HHSRS is comprehensive 
in its coverage of key health and safety risks in dwellings. It assesses the risk associated with certain hazards and, if the likelihood 
of harm is significant, the Council may take action to ensure that the risk is removed. 

If you require any additional advice on the standards required you can contact us by emailing phs@lbhf.gov.uk or  
calling 020 8753 1221 

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 218



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses24

Part 2: Minimum Space Standards 
2.1 Calculating Room Sizes

In calculating floor areas in letting rooms, the Council will discount space occupied by:

●● bathrooms/shower rooms

●● corridors

●● lobbies

●● chimney breasts, small alcoves etc.

●●  ceiling height - rooms should have a minimum height of 2.3 metres over at least half of the habitable floor area. Any floor area 
where the ceiling height is less than 1.9 metres or 1.5 metres in attic rooms will not count towards the habitable floor space.

2.2  Minimum room sizes

2.2.1 Exclusive use

Table 1 - Rooms where there are kitchen facilities in a separate room for exclusive use

Space standard room with separate 
kitchen

No. of persons Minimum floor area

Single Room 1 person 7m2

Double Room 2 persons co-habiting as a couple 11.5m2

Kitchen area 4m2

Table 2 - Rooms with kitchen facilities in the letting room

Space standard kitchen facilities in room No. of persons Minimum floor area

Single Room 1 person 9.3m2

Double Room 2 persons co-habiting as a couple 15m2

 

Page 219



25

2.2.2 Shared kitchens

These standards will only be applied in properties where there is evidence that the occupiers are living more like a single 
household and are comfortable using shared communal space, rather than individuals who have very little interaction with each 
other. Examples of this type of occupation are shared houses where the occupiers came together as a group or have a common 
shared interest i.e. students or employees from the same college or employer. Typically, they would cook and eat meals together 
and would choose to spend time together in a dining area or lounge. 

Table 3 - Rooms where there are separate shared kitchen facilities and lounge/living room

Space standard separate shared kitchen 
and lounge

No. of persons Minimum floor area

Kitchen Up to 5 5.5 m2 

Lounge/Living room 1-3 people 8.5m2

4-6 people 11m2

2.3  Living Rooms

Living rooms must be fully furnished and need to have adequate sofas and armchairs to accommodate all of the occupiers at any 
one time (to avoid incidences where some occupiers are unable to make use of the communal living room at certain times) and 
would usually have a television and coffee table. 

2.4 Loft Rooms/Spaces

Loft spaces and cellars are unsuitable for use as living accommodation unless proper Building Control & Planning Permission have 
been obtained. These spaces may require extra works in order to comply with these standards and the Housing Act 2004.

Attic rooms and loft rooms should have a minimum room height of 2.3 metres over at least half of the habitable floor area. Any 
floor area where the ceiling height is less than 1.5 metres will not count towards the habitable floor space. 

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 220



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses26

Part 3: Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food
3.1 Kitchens for exclusive use in the letting room or a separate room 

Table 4 – Minimum requirements for kitchen facilities

Kitchen facility Standard Minimum size

Cooker One cooker Minimum of 4 burners, oven and grill. A microwave may 
be substituted for up to 2 burners. Cookers must not be 
sited adjacent to exit doors. Splashback or lift-up cover 
provided. 

Sink Set on a base unit. Provided with a constant 
and adequate supply of hot and cold water and 
properly connected to the drainage system.  A 
tiled splashback shall be provided to the drainer

Sink minimum size 600mm x 500mm 300mm height.

Worktop Made of an impervious material. 

A tiled splashback shall be provided 500mm x 500mm worktop must be provided 
adjacent to the cooker

300mm height

Storage cupboards One cupboard - the cupboard below the sink 
cannot be used for food storage. 

Minimum capacity 0.3 cubic metres 

Fridge 1 refrigerator 75 litres 

Electrical sockets 4 x 13 amp sockets provided within the food 
preparation area, at least 2 shall be above 
worktop level. 

The sockets should be spaced as evenly as possible 
around the kitchen and suitable for use with electrical 
appliances on the kitchen worktop

3.2 Shared kitchens 

3.2.1 Ratio of persons to facilities

For shared kitchens, one set of kitchen facilities shall be provided for every 5 occupants. 

Page 221



27

3.2.2 Shared kitchen facilities

Table 5 - Minimum requirements for shared kitchen facilities. 

Kitchen facility Standard Minimum size

Cooker One cooker for every 5 persons Minimum of 4 burners, oven and grill. Cookers 
must not be sited adjacent to exit doors. 
Splashback or lift-up cover provided. 

Sink Set on a base unit. Provided with a constant 
and adequate supply of hot and cold water and 
properly connected to the drainage system. Sink 
strainer or plug provided. A tiled splashback shall 
be provided to the drainer

Sink minimum size 600mm x 500mm 
300mm height.

Worktop Made of an impervious material. 

A tiled splashback shall be provided 1000mm x 500mm worktop must be 
provided adjacent to the cooker

300mm height

Storage cupboards One cupboard for each tenant, the 
cupboard below the sink cannot be used 
for food storage. The cupboard can be 
located in the letting room where there is 
sufficient space

Minimum capacity 0.3 cubic metres 
cupboard per person

Fridge 1 fridge/freezer for every 5 persons 245 litres for 5 people. This can be smaller 
if individual fridges are provided in the 
rooms, this should be discussed with the 
case officer

Electrical sockets 4 x 13 amp double sockets provided in 
food prep. area, at least 2 shall be above 
worktop level. 1 extra socket shall be 
provided for each major appliance (fridge, 
freezer, washing machine). The cooker shall 
be connected to a separate cooker spur

The sockets should be spaced as evenly as 
possible around the kitchen and suitable 
for use with electrical appliances on the 
kitchen worktop

Where the dwelling is occupied by more than five persons contact the Private Sector Housing Team for further advice on required 
facilities for the preparation, cooking and storage of food.

3.2.3 General requirements for shared kitchens

 The kitchen size (see space standards) and layout must enable the practical, safe & hygienic use of the kitchen for 
storage, preparation and cooking of food.

 The wall, floor and ceiling surfaces shall be smooth, impervious and capable of being easily cleaned 

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 222



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses28

3.3 General requirements for all kitchens

3.3.1 Location

For shared kitchens, the kitchen must be not more than one floor distant from the letting room. 

This requirement will only be relaxed in the following circumstances:
●●  the property has been lawfully converted under planning law and building regulations from a 2 storey house into a 3 storey 
house with a loft or other similar construction.

●● The loft conversion provides accommodation for one letting room

●● there are 5 persons or less living in the property

●● There is a shared kitchen on the ground floor of the premises which meets the Council’s standards for shared kitchens.

●●  Where practicable, cooking facilities should be available for the exclusive use of the tenant(s) occupying the loft room letting, 
rather than sharing cooking facilities more than one floor distant.

3.3.2 Other requirements
●● The lighting shall be suitable to enable the practical, safe & hygienic use of the kitchen facilities.

●● There must be adequate ventilation. Where mechanical ventilation is required, it must be extracted to the outside air

●● Kitchens must not be located in any hallway, corridor or lobby

●●  Suitable and sufficient provision shall be made for refuse storage and disposal both within the unit of accommodation and 
outside. Internal storage for waste and recycling must be located in an accessible and commonly used area inside each 
dwelling. The storage for refuse and recycling should be away from circulation areas e.g. below a worktop.

Page 223



29

Part 4: Personal hygiene and sanitation standards
4.1  Personal hygiene facilities 

The following shared facilities shall be provided for up to 5 people not being more than one floor distant from each letting room

Table 6 - Minimum requirements for personal hygiene facilities 

Washing/sanitary fittings Minimum size Splashback

Baths 1600mm x 700mm 450mm 

Shower rooms/cubicles 800mm x 800mm In cubicle or fully tiled with shower screen or curtain

Wash hand basin 500mm x 400mm 300mm high

WC       -        -

4.2  General requirements
●● One bathroom or shower room, one toilet and one wash hand basin shall be provided for every 5 occupants.

●● The room shall be accessible directly from the common areas and within one floor of each letting. 

●● All shower/bathrooms must have adequate heating, ventilation and artificial lighting

●●  Baths, showers, toilets and wash hand basins shall be provided in a separate room of adequate size. There should be adequate 
space for drying & dressing and somewhere to hang clothes and towels. Baths must have a suitable plug and overflow.

●● If an over bath shower is provided, then the adjacent walls should be fully tiled.

●●  A suitable water resistant shower curtain must be provided in a fully tiled shower or the shower must be in a purpose built 
shower cubicle, with a suitable water resistant shower curtain or door to the cubicle

●●  A wash hand basin shall be provided within each toilet compartment and within each bathroom/shower room. Plug must be 
provided to the wash hand basin.

●● Each bath, shower and wash hand basin shall be provided with a constant supply of hot and cold water.

●● The doors to bathrooms, shower rooms and WCs shall be capable of giving privacy and should be lockable from the inside.

●● Where light switches are located within the bathroom, shower room or WC compartment they must be pull cord switches.

●● The wall, floor and ceiling surfaces shall be smooth, impervious and capable of being easily cleaned.

●● The lighting shall be suitable to enable the practical, safe & hygienic use of the facilities.

●● Any door or window glazing must be obscure glass.

4.3 Wash hand basins within bedrooms (where five or more occupiers occupy the HMO) 

●●  Each bedroom must have a wash hand basin, minimum size 500mm x 600mm, provided with constant and adequate supply of 
hot and cold water and properly connected to the drainage system. Plug must be provided to the wash hand basin.

●● A tiled splashback (minimum 300mm high) shall be provided to the wash hand basin. 

NB: A wash hand basin is not required where a sink with a constant and adequate supply of cold and hot water is provided 
within the letting on the grounds that the sink can be used for personal washing in addition to food preparation.  

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 224



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses30

Part 5: Guidance on key hazards and steps to protect your tenants
5.1 Fire Safety 

5.1.1 General principles

All HMO’s are subject to an assessment under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System and must comply with the Regulatory 
Reform Order and LACORS Fire Guidance. http://www.cieh.org/policy/fire_safety_existing_housing.html 

The Council works closely with the fire authority to determine whether fire safety measures are satisfactory. Each case will be 
judged on its own merits. It is difficult to prescribe set standards for HMOs which are a very diverse type of property type.  
Variations away from accepted guidance has to be fully justified and any alternative solutions will need to be agreed by both 
parties 

5.1.2  Fire Risk Assessment

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 is enforced by the fire brigade and requires that the ‘responsible person’ carry out 
and regularly review a fire risk assessment of the premises. This will identify what you need to do to prevent fire and keep people 
safe. If you don’t have the expertise or time to do the fire risk assessment yourself you’ll need to appoint a ‘competent person’ to 
help, e.g. a professional risk assessor. If you’re not sure if your risk assessment has been carried out properly your local fire and 
rescue authority might be able to give you advice although they can’t carry out risk assessments for you. Further information can 
be obtained from https://www.gov.uk/workplace-firesafety-your-responsibilities/fire-risk-assessments 

5.1.3 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarms

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 introduced legal requirements which are to equip a smoke 
alarm on each storey of the premises on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation. There is also a 
requirement to carry out checks to ensure that each prescribed alarm is in proper working order on the day the tenancy begins if 
it is a new tenancy.

For the purposes of the legislation, living accommodation is a room that is used for the primary purposes of living, or is a room in 
which a person spends a significant amount of time, and a bathroom or lavatory is classed within this definition.

Landlords should be aware that in HMOs there will, in most cases be a need for a higher standard of fire detection in HMOs than 
the requirement in these regulations. Landlords are advised that in HMOs they should comply with LACORS fire Guidance as a 
minimum requirement.

General requirements

In general terms the following fire safety measures must be considered: 

Page 225



31

5.1.4 Provision of a protected escape route 

The protected escape route leads from the letting to the street exit through the building, and normally includes staircases, 
passageways, landings and protected lobbies. Protection is provided by fire resistant doors and partitions. The protected escape 
route must be kept clear. 

There must be adequate fire separation from any commercial areas of the building and any other residential parts of the building 
not linked by common entrances or stairways. 

5.1.5 Fire resistant doors 

30-minute fire resistant doors are required on doors opening onto the protected route from any room other than a bathroom or 
WC. They should be provided with: 
●● intumescent strips and cold smoke seals, to prevent the passage of smoke 

●● a self-closing device (except on cupboard doors) 

●●  a lock (for example thumb turn) to each letting room which does not require a key to open the door from the inside, to allow 
escape in the event of a fire. 

●● capable of being fully closed,

●● close fitting, without excess gaps between the leaf and frame,

●● hung on three heat resisting hinges (not rising butts)

5.1.6 Automatic Fire Detection (AFD) system 

Provision of any form of AFD system requires specialist advice to design and install the system. AFD systems are designed to 
provide the earliest possible warning of fire within a letting or the common parts. The purpose of an AFD system is to detect and 
alert the occupiers of the HMO to the presence of smoke and/or fire before it develops into a dangerous situation. Alarm systems 
are required in all HMOs because the fire risk is significantly greater than in single-family dwellings.
●● Alarms must be mains-wired and most must be inter-linked so that they all sound when any one is activated.

●● The specification for the type and coverage of the AFD will vary depending on the risk, size and layout of the HMO.

A summary of the general requirements for bedsit type HMOs has been provided below, listed by storey height of the HMO but 
this is intended as a broad guide only NB: for shared houses occupied by an identifiable group of sharers such as students or 
friends as joint tenants, the AFD specification and coverage will be different. You should seek advice from the Private Sector 
Housing Team before installing any equipment.

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 226



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses32

5.1.7 Two storey HMOs 

A Grade D, LD2 system; consisting of: 
●●  Interlinked mains-wired smoke alarms with integral battery back-up located in the escape route at all floor levels, in each 
bedsit, living area, cellar and any cupboard opening onto the escape route but not required in bathrooms/WCs unless they 
contain a specific risk. 

●● Interlinked heat alarms with integral battery back-up located in each communal kitchen.

●● If cooking facilities are sited within the bedsits 

●●  As above but interlinked heat alarms instead of smoke alarms, with integral battery back-up in each bedsit; and a non-
interlinked smoke alarm with integral battery back-up in each bedsit, sited away from the cooker.

Page 227



33

5.1.8 Three storey HMOs or above 

A Grade A, LD2 system; consisting of:
●●  Smoke detectors in the escape route at all floor levels, in each bedroom, living room, cellar and any cupboard opening onto the 
escape route.

●● Heat detectors located in each communal kitchen; 

●● Alarm sounders throughout the common escape route, hallways and landings;

●● Manual call-points in the common escape route on each floor.

●● All the above linked to a Control/Indicator Panel in the entrance hallway and powered from a protected mains supply.

If cooking facilities are sited within the bedsits 
●●  As above but heat detectors instead of smoke detectors in the bedsits and also a Grade D, non-interlinked smoke alarm with 
integral battery back-up in each bedsit sited away from the cooker.

Power supplies to AFD systems of any type are not permitted to be from pre-payment meters and must be from the landlord’s 
power supply. AFD systems to conform to BS 5839 Part 6: 2004.

Example of typical requirements:

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 228



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses34

5.1.9 Emergency lighting 

Emergency lighting which comes on if mains electricity fails may need to be fitted to illuminate the protected route and some 
internal staircases. The installation must comply with BS5266. 

5.2 Raised bed platforms in letting rooms

5.2.1 Fire safety

Raised bed platforms must comply with all of the following:  
●● at least 50% of the floor area of the room should be unobscured by the gallery; 

●● the distance from the foot of the egress stair from the gallery to the room exit should not be less than 3 metres. 

●●  Any cooking facilities must be located in a safe position. This means that they must not be located under the sleeping platform, 
should be sited remote from the room exit and may need to be enclosed within fire-resisting construction.

●●  Where the fire risk to the occupants cannot be ensured and redesigning the room to overcome fire risk is not practical, 
additional fire precautions such as sprinkler or misting systems may be required. 

5.2.2 Guarding

Raised sleeping platforms must be provided with guarding/edge protection of adequate height along the full length of the gallery 
area to prevent falling.

Safe access to the raised bed platform must be provided and ladders are not acceptable. Where possible a staircase complying 
with building regulations should be provided. As a minimum, fixed stair treads and a handrail must be provided.

5.3 Electrical Appliances and Installations 

All works to the electrical installation shall be carried out by a properly qualified engineer and must comply with the following:

 2 The Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994 

These regulations impose a duty on landlords as the supplier that electrical equipment is ‘safe’ as defined by section 19 of the 
Act, so that there is no risk of injury or death to humans or pets or risk of damage to the property. They cover all mains voltage 
household electric goods including cookers, kettles, toasters, electric blankets, washing machines, immersion heaters etc. The Act 
also requires that if any equipment is supplied with any particular characteristic, suitable information or instruction booklets 
should be provided.

 2 Plugs & Sockets (Safety) Regulations 1994 

These regulations require that where any plug, socket or adaptor supplied for intended domestic use, that it complies with the 
appropriate current standard and specifically that:
●● The live and neutral pins on the plugs are part insulated so as to prevent shocks when removing plugs from sockets; and

●● All plugs are pre-wired.

 2 Electricity at Work Regulations 1989

These regulations require the testing of portable appliances (PAT testing) provided within the common areas of the property, e.g. 
kettles, toasters etc.

Page 229



35

5.4 Carbon Monoxide Detection

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 introduced legal requirements for private sector landlords in 
respect of premises occupied under tenancies starting on or after that date. The requirements are to:
●●  Equip a carbon monoxide alarm in any room of the premises which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and 
contains a solid fuel burning combustion appliance; and

●●  Carry out checks by or on behalf of the landlord to ensure that each prescribed alarm is in proper working order on the day the 
tenancy begins if it is a new tenancy

For the purposes of the legislation, living accommodation is a room that is used for the primary purposes of living, or is a room in 
which a person spends a significant amount of time, and a bathroom or lavatory is classed within this definition.

5.5 Gas Supply and Appliances 

All works to the gas installation and gas appliances shall be carried out by an engineer registered on the Gas Safe Register.

All gas pipe work, appliances and flues must be tested by a registered Gas Safe Engineer every 12 months. Landlords must keep a 
copy of the Gas Safety Certificate for 2 years and issue a copy to each existing tenant within 28 days of the check being 
completed and issue a copy to any new tenants before they move in. A copy of the Gas Safety Certificate can be provided within 
the common areas.  

5.6 Space heating and hot water 

Landlords should install heating system that are fixed, efficient, controllable and of an adequate size and capacity for the rooms 
and building. Where space heating and hot water are provided centrally by the landlord, these services should be made available 
at all times. All heating sources must be provided with controls to allow the occupants to regulate the temperature within their 
unit of accommodation. There must be adequate thermal insulation to the building. 

An adequate means of fixed space heating must be provided in all rooms, including common areas of the dwelling, WC 
compartments and bathrooms, so that a constant temperature of at least 21°C can be maintained in sleeping rooms and 
bathrooms and at least 18°C in all other rooms when the outside temperature is -1°C degrees centigrade. 

The Borough has a large number of older properties that are hard to heat. Landlords are advised that electrical heaters are not 
recommended in these premises unless they are well insulated. This is due to electrical heating often being prohibitively expensive 
to run due to excessive heat loss resulting in tenants having difficulties in cost-effectively heating the property. 

In these types of properties, ideally a whole house gas fired central heating system should be provided to the premises to satisfy 
the design and installation requirements of British Standard 5449:1990 and in accordance with Part L of the current Building 
Regulations. 

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 230



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses36

Fixed electrical heaters will only be acceptable in the letting rooms of older properties with solid wall construction if all the 
following conditions are met:

1. Small rooms – as a guideline, rooms of up to 9.3m2 are considered small rooms.

2.  The appliance is controllable, with timer, thermostat and of adequate capacity to heat the room and maintain it at a 
temperature of 210c when the outside temperature is -10c.

3. Standard ceiling heights, generally not greater than 2.4m2

4. Not more than one exposed external wall in the bedsit room 

5. Not in a particularly exposed location e.g. north facing.

6. No large exposed areas of single glazing 

7. Not in basements, attic spaces with less than 200mm of insulation or poorly insulated mansard roofs

8. Other adequately heated rooms (not mobile/fixed individual electrical heaters) above and below the bedsit

9.  Adequate heating is provided in the common parts, bathrooms and any kitchens of the HMO.

Any rooms not falling within the above criteria must be provided with adequate thermal insulation, the details of which must be 
approved by the Council before installation.

5.7 Furnished Lettings

All furniture provided in connection with the letting must comply with The Furniture & Furnishings (Fire) (Safety) Regulations 
1988.

5.8 Security 

5.8.1 Communal front door 

The main entrance door from the street should close properly, be capable of resisting bodily pressure and slipping of the door 
lock. Entry systems should not have ‘tradesmen’ buttons, which bypass normal locking. The following requirements apply: 

●● The door should be of solid construction. 

●●  Solenoid based, bolt-action locks are preferred, as they cannot be put on the latch and require less maintenance (also fully 
compliant with means of escape). 

●● Landlord registered keys to control access. 

●● Letterbox Cowl to prevent access to the door lock. 

●● Properly maintained door closer to ensure the door shuts properly. 

●● Glazing should be protected (see Windows). 

Page 231



37

5.8.2 Individual dwelling doors 

Where locks are provided on doors landlord registered keys should be used for all locks. The main entrance door to each letting 
room should comply with fire standards and should meet the following minimum standard:

●● Door to be of solid construction and attached using three hinges. 

●●  BS8621:2007 Mortice lock with thumb turn cylinder which does not require a key to open the door from the inside, to allow 
escape in the event of a fire. 

●●  Hinge Bolts and Frame Reinforcers to resist bodily pressure (the most common method of forcing doors in converted 
properties). 

5.8.3 Windows 

All windows should have key operated locks (this is an insurance requirement). All basements, ground floors and other externally 
accessible windows should have restrictors fitted. 

Glazing may be protected in a variety of ways: 

●● • Internal grilles or gates 

●● • Security film 

●● • Laminated glazing 

NB: Georgian wired glass offers no security. 

5.9 Refuse Storage 

The HMO Management Regulations state that landlords must make such further arrangements for the disposal of refuse and 
litter from the HMO as may be necessary, having regard to any service for such disposal provided by the Council.

Suitable facilities must be provided for storing refuse generated by tenants whilst it is waiting to be collected. Refuse disposal 
facilities sufficient for the number of occupants within the building must be provided.

At residential premises served by kerbside collections, space must be made available outside for the storage of refuse and 
recycling. 

The refuse service in operation by the council is the collection of standard dustbins or bags. These dustbins, typically around 90 
litres, are not provided by the council and must be supplied by the landlord. Wheelie bins are not acceptable containers because 
they are not compatible with collection vehicles and are too tall for bags to be safely removed from them. 

For each individual household an external cupboard or designated storage space is needed, capable of holding at least two 
ordinary dustbins, whose specification conforms to BS 792 or BS 4998, or alternatively space or holders for at least two refuse 
sacks, each of about 100 litre capacity. Additional space of at least 160 Litres is also needed for recycling sacks. 

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 232



Appendix 5 HMO 
Guidance for bedsits 
and shared houses38

The table below summarises the approximate capacity needed depending on household size.

Table 7 – Storage Capacity for refuse per household size:

Household size Refuse Recycling

1-3 people 2-3 dustbins (minimum 2 dustbins or 200 litres) 2 recycling sacks (minimum 160 litres)

 4-6 people 3-5 dustbins (minimum 3 dustbins or 300 litres) 2-3 recycling sacks (minimum 240 litres)

It is not acceptable for any waste to be stored on the public highway (with the exception of black sacks and recycling sacks 
placed out on collection day, or after 9pm on the preceding day). 

If storage requirements for refuse pending disposal can’t be met due to a lack of storage capacity landlords need to arrange for 
additional weekly collections. Our contact details are at:

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/pages/contact-us

5.9.1 External Storage

External refuse storage areas should be on a hard level surface that is impervious, pest-proof with easily cleansable surfaces and 
close fitting lids to receptacles. If the storage area is provided within basement vaults beneath the footway at the front of the 
premises the following requirements apply:  

●● The flooring to the vault should be in good order and provide a smooth and easily cleansable concrete finish. 

●● The vault should be free from serious water ingress and standing water.

●●  All holes surrounding pipework and gas /electricity services should be filled to prevent pest ingress. The pointing to the 
brickwork of the vault should be reasonably sound. 

●● The structure should be pest proof.

●●  The vault should be provided with a sound, rodent-proof timber door and frame. The door should be close-fitting with a 
maximum clearance of 5mm at the foot to prevent rodent entry beneath, and, ideally, fitted with a metal kick-plate at the foot 
to prevent gnawing, etc. 

●● The storage area to be kept clean and free from accumulations of refuse. 

The tenants should be advised on the arrangements for refuse collections and the relevant days when refuse is regularly collected 
for disposal by the Council. 

A full technical specification is available at the following <insert link>

Page 233



39

6.1 Introduction 
The following is a summary of the following legislation which applies to the Management of HMOs.

●●  The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2006. SI 2006 No.373 

●● The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 No.372

●●  The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007. SI 2007 
No.1903. 

6.2 Responsibilities of the manager 

Regulation 3 - Duty to inform the occupier of contact details including name, address and telephone number and to display this 
information in a prominent place in the HMO. If a landlord is regularly out of the country or away for long periods of time, a 
local manager should be appointed who can act on behalf of the landlord; contact details for this person should also be 
displayed. 

Regulation 4 - Duty of the manager to take safety measures in relation to providing and maintaining the means of escape from 
fire & firefighting equipment and to reasonably protect the occupiers of the HMO from injury. 

Regulation 5 - Duty of the manager to maintain water supply & drainage. Water rates should be registered in the name of the 
landlord/manager who is responsible for paying the bills.

Regulation 6 - Duty of the manager to supply & maintain gas & electricity, including the provision of the latest gas safety 
certificate to the local authority when requested and the uninterrupted supply of gas and electricity. Utility bills should be 
registered in the name of the landlord/manager who is responsible for paying the bills. Key meters are not acceptable. 

Regulation 7 - Duty of the manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and appliances including stairs, banisters, floor 
coverings, windows, lighting, shared appliances, yards, gardens and boundaries. Common parts must be kept free from 
obstruction, clean and in good order & repair.

Regulation 8 - Duty of the manager to maintain living accommodation and any furniture, fittings and appliances provided by 
the landlord.

Regulation 9 - Duty to provide waste disposal facilities suitable for the number of people occupying the HMO.

Regulation 10 - Duties of occupiers to reasonably cooperate with, not to hinder or frustrate the manager in performance of his 
duties; to provided information reasonably requested by the manager for the purpose of carrying out his duties; take reasonable 
care to avoid causing damage; properly dispose of rubbish; and comply with reasonable instructions regarding the means of 
escape from fire, prevention of fire and the use of fire equipment.

Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Page 234



Appendix 6:Schedule 1
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
HMO/property licence terms and conditions40

Appendix 6: Schedule 1

Licence Terms
1. The licence relates to the property described in the licence approval.

2.  The licence may be granted before the time it is required, but the licence will not come into force until that time.

3. The licence is valid for a period of 5 years from the date of its issue, unless the following apply:

a) The licence will cease if the licence holder dies whilst the licence is in force.

b) The licence is revoked under section 70 of the Housing Act 2004.

4.  The licence period continues during the period of the licence even if the premise is no longer a HMO, unless a valid application 
is made for the licence to be revoked under section 70 of the Housing Act 2004.

5. The licence may not be transferred to another person.

6.  If the Licence Holder dies during the licence period, during the period of 3 months beginning with the date of the Licence 
Holder’s death, the premises is to be treated for that period as if a temporary exemption notice had been served, exempting 
the premises from the requirement to be licensed. Sections 62 and 68 of the Housing Act 2004 will apply.

7.  If on the expiry of the initial period stated in 6 above, representatives of the deceased licence holder must apply for a further 
exemption from the date the initial period ends. The premise is to be treated for that period as if a temporary exemption notice 
had been served, exempting the premises from the requirement to be licensed. Sections 62 and 68 of the Housing Act 2004 
will apply.

8.  A copy of the licence must be displayed in a prominent and accessible position within the licensed property at all times. The 
manager’s name, address and emergency contact details must be displayed in a prominent position in the property.

9.  At the start of each tenancy, each tenant must be given a written statement of the terms of their occupancy and a signed 
inventory covering all parts of the house occupied exclusively by them.

10. A receipt must be given for all cash payments for deposit or rent.

11.  The licence holder shall submit to the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham of the tenancy deposit scheme used for 
safeguarding the deposits of tenants of those parts of the house under their control.

London Borough Of Hammersmith & Fulham Hmo/Property Licence Terms 

Page 235



41Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Licence Conditions
Material changes to the licensed property or licence holder

12. If, at any time during the licence period:

a.  There has been a change of circumstances to the premises since the licence was granted. This includes any changes to the 
construction, layout or amenity provision of the house.

b. There has been any change in ownership or management of the house.

c.  The maximum number of households or persons authorised to occupy the HMO has been exceeded since the date the licence 
was granted.

   The licence holder must notify the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham in writing.

 Failure to notify the Council of such a change is an offence.

13.  If the Licence Holder needs to apply to vary the licence for the premises, they must put their request in writing. The Licence 
Holder does not have to pay any fee to the Council in respect of any request to vary an existing licence.

Numbers of persons permitted to occupy

14.  The number permitted relates to the numbers of amenities provided and/or size of rooms available. The number of persons 
residing in the premises shall not exceed either,

a. the maximum number of occupiers in each room and;

b. the total maximum number of persons, as stated in condition 10 below.

15. The number of persons occupying the rooms/units listed below shall not exceed:

Room/Unit Name Location Maximum No. of 
Persons

Maximum No. of Households

Total Persons/ Total Households

16.  The use and occupancy levels of each room shall not be changed without the approval of the Council. A new resident must not 
be permitted to occupy the house or any part if the maximum number of persons or households above is exceeded.

17.  The licence holder must, if required by written notice provide the Council with the following particulars as are requested 
regarding the occupancy of the house:

a.  The names and numbers of individuals/households accommodated specifying the rooms they occupy within the property 

b. Number of individuals in each household.

 The particulars shall be provided to the Council within 28 days on demand.

Page 236



42

Standard of Accommodation
18.   All licensed HMOs must be reasonably suitable for occupation or can be made suitable by complying with London Borough of 

Hammersmith and Fulham HMO Standards. These standards relate to the number of households specified in the application 
and cover the following issues:

 • Bathroom and WC facilities

 • Kitchen facilities

 • Other facilities and equipment such as those provided to ensure fire safety and adequate heating.

 Where properties fail to meet these HMO standards conditions may be applied to the licence.

 At the time of granting this licence the following HMO standard was applied:

Bedsits and Studios

Shared houses

Hostels, Vocational, Student and Staff Accommodation

 The Licence Holder must inform the HMO Licensing Team if the business model for the property changes during the licence period. For 
example from bedsit accommodation to a shared house property. This change will result in a separate HMO standard being applied, 
which will be considered a material change.

Management Arrangements

19.  The Licence Holder shall ensure that the property is maintained in a reasonable condition in accordance with the requirements 
of The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) 2006. (Full details of these requirements are available in the 
Council’s HMO Standards.

20. The Licence Holder shall take reasonable steps to prevent smoking in the common parts of the property.

21.  The Licence Holder shall ensure that sufficient bins are provided for the adequate storage of refuse and that adequate 
arrangements are made for disposal in accordance with Council’s HMO Standards.

Gas Safety and Supply

22.   The Licence Holder shall be responsible for ensuring that all gas installations comply with the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) 
Regulations 1998 and are in a safe condition at all times.  

23.  The Licence Holder shall ensure arrangements are made for gas installations, appliances and flues to be inspected once in every 
12 months by a Gas Safe Registered engineer/installer and that any remedial works are carried out in a reasonable time frame.

24.  The Licence Holder must send a copy of the Gas Safe certificate to the Housing Team every 12 Months. The current gas safety 
certificate for the property must be provided to all tenants at the start of their tenancy.

Appendix 6:Schedule 1
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
HMO/property licence terms and conditions

Page 237



43Putting residents  
at the heart of  
decision making

Electrical Safety and Supply

25. The Licence Holder shall be responsible for ensuring that all electrical installations are in a safe condition.

26.  The Licence Holder will ensure that a person qualified to undertake such inspection and testing is competent to do so. The 
competent person shall carry out inspections of electrical installations and appliances at appropriate intervals and that any 
remedial works will be carried out in a reasonable time frame.

27.  The Licence Holder will ensure that a valid Electrical Installation Condition Report that is not more than 5 years old is produced 
to the Council within 7 days of receiving a request in writing.

28.  The Licence Holder will ensure that a copy of the electrical safety certificate is sent to the HMO licensing team at the 
appropriate periodic intervals.

Supplies

29.  The Licence Holder shall ensure that the supply of water, gas or electricity to any residential premises is not unreasonably 
interrupted. For this purpose, the licence holder shall ensure:

a) That the apparatus for the supply and use of these services is maintained in good condition; and

b)  Where the landlord pays for supplies, these supplies are not disconnected, or threatened with disconnection through non-
payment of monies owed to the relevant statutory undertaker.

c)  Where space heating and hot water are provided centrally and controlled by the landlord, these services should be made 
available to an extent which meets the reasonable needs of tenants in the premises.

Condition of Furniture and Electrical Appliances

30.  The Licence Holder will ensure that all electrical appliances and furniture, made available by the Licence Holder are kept in a safe 
condition and regularly inspected, as part of a maintenance programme.

31.  The Licence Holder will make a declaration as to the safety of electrical appliances and furniture made available by him, on 
demand from the Council.

32.  The Licence Holder shall ensure any covers and fillings of cushions and pillows of upholstered furniture supplied by the licence 
holder, whether of new, replacement or second hand furniture and soft furnishings provided in the accommodation comply 
with the Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 (as amended).

Fire Safety

33.  The Licence Holder shall ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the house on which there is a room used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation. ‘Room’ includes hall or landing. Bathroom and lavatory is to be treated as a room 
used as living accommodation. The minimum requirement is that each smoke alarm is a lithium battery smoke alarm with a 
minimum life of 10 years. Each alarm should meet the relevant European and British Standards. The Licence holder shall ensure 
that, on demand from the Council, a declaration is supplied as to the condition and positioning of such alarms.

  NOTE: The standard in paragraph 32 is a minimum requirement and may not comply with the higher standard required for 
the hazard “Fire” under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004. The most appropriate type of automatic fire detection system for the 
premises is that recommended in the LACORS guidance, “Housing-Fire Safety; Guidance on fire safety provisions for certain 
types of existing housing. The LACORS standard may be enforced by the Council if fire detection in the house is inadequate.

34.  The Licence Holder shall ensure that smoke alarms are installed and positioned correctly in the house and are kept in proper 
working order.

35.  The Licence Holder shall provide copies of inspection and test certificates for automatic fire alarm systems and emergency 
lighting to the Council annually.

Page 238



44

Managing Anti-Social Behaviour

36.  The Licence Holder will ensure that any anti-social behaviour committed by residents or their visitors, to anyone residing in or 
visiting the property is dealt with appropriately and effectively, in particular by investigating complaints thoroughly.

  Where the Licence Holder determines these complaints to be justified they shall take all reasonable steps to resolve the issue. 
The following requirements must be complied with:

  a.  The licence holder must not ignore or fail to take action if complaints of anti-social behaviour have been received about is 
it or to or occupiers of the premises.

  b. Letters or records sent or received must be kept for 3 years by the licence holder.

  c.  The licence holder must keep records of any meetings or telephone conversations or investigations regarding anti-social 
behaviour for 3 years.

  d.  If a complaint is received or anti-social behaviour is discovered, the licence holder must contact the tenant within 14 days. 
The tenant must be informed of the allegations in writing and of the consequences of its continuation. 

  e.  When the antisocial behaviour continues, the licence holder must provide the tenant with a warning letter advising them 
of the possibility of eviction if their behaviour continues.

  f.  Where the Licence holder believes that criminal activity is occurring the license holder shall inform the relevant authorities. 

  g.  If after 14 days of giving a warning letter the tenants has not taken steps to address the behaviour the licence holder shall 
take formal steps under the written statement of terms for occupation eg the tenancy agreement which shall include 
promptly taking legal eviction proceedings to address the anti-social behaviour. 

 h. All correspondence shall be provided to the Council on demand.

Pest Control 

 37.  If the licence holder becomes aware of a pest infestation he shall take steps to eradicate it by implementing a treatment 
programme. Records must be kept of any treatment and records submitted to the Council on demand.

© By:design – July 2016. By:design 020 8753 3926. 215_20tp

Appendix 6:Schedule 1
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
HMO/property licence terms and conditions

Page 239



Improving private  
rented housing  
Have your say

Page 240



We want to improve protection for 
private tenants and landlords in 
Hammersmith & Fulham.
Please let us know what you think.
A third of H&F residents rent their homes privately. We want to do more 
to protect them from bad landlords – and to protect good landlords from 
badly-behaving tenants. 

We also want to help good landlords by creating a level playing field and discouraging 
bad landlords from operating in H&F.

We have five proposals to make things better.
1. Introduce ‘additional licencing’
  Any “house in multiple occupation” (HMO) would need to apply to us for a licence. 

We can ensure it’s properly managed and not overcrowded.

2. Introduce ‘selective licencing’
  Properties in parts of the borough with high levels of anti-social behaviour will need 

to apply to us for a licence. They’ll have to meet minimum tenancy and property 
standards. This will protect landlords, tenants and neighbouring residents.

3. Introduce an H&F private landlords’ rental charter
  We want all landlords to sign up to the charter and commit to best practice in 

management, housing standards, charges, protecting tenants’ deposits and security 
of tenancies. Tenants will be attracted to H&F charter landlords because they’ll know 
they can have more confidence in them.

4. Revise minimum standards for HMOs
  To ensure that HMOs are safe and not overcrowded, we’ll introduce new standards 

for management, safety, facilities and living space.

5. Set up a social lettings agency
  This new type of agency will help residents on low or modest incomes find a home 

in the private rented sector and will help landlords find suitable tenants. It will 
incentivise landlords to let to benefit claimants by offering residents support to 
sustain their tenancies.

PRIZE DRAW  
As a thank you, you’ll be entered into a prize draw to win one of 
three prizes of Marks & Spencer’s gift vouchers worth up to £100.

Please give us your views
Visit www.lbhf.gov.uk/improvingprivaterenting for more 
information and to respond to the consultation.

©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

 –
 J

ul
y 

20
16

. B
y:

de
si

gn
 0

20
 8

75
3 

39
26

. 2
15

_2
0

Page 241



 

 

 

 

Page 242



 

 

 

 

Page 243



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 244



 

Page 245



Improving the Private Rented Sector in 
Hammersmith & Fulham

Background

Hammersmith & Fulham Council wants to achieve better outcomes for our residents in the private 
rented sector.  The private rented sector in Hammersmith & Fulham has grown rapidly in the last 
ten years and now accounts for approximately 27,500 properties in the Borough, a third of the 
Borough’s housing. It is likely that this trend is to continue leading to the private rented sector 
becoming the dominant housing provider. A notable proportion of private rented sector 
accommodation is provided by Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO). 

The increased demand and competition from tenants to find accommodation that is in short supply 
means that there is little market driven incentive for poor landlords to maintain minimum safe 
housing standards. It is reported that one in three private rented properties are ‘non-decent’ 
according to official measures. The Housing Act 2004 contains provisions for the introduction of a 
scheme of additional or selective licensing of private landlords in a local housing authority’s area. 

The Council believes that the introduction of a number of initiatives, including licensing schemes, 
would help the Council to work with landlords to ensure homes are safe and well managed through 
a set of minimum standard conditions.

Consultation on the impact of the options

Hammersmith & Fulham Council is required to consult with anyone who may be affected by the 
schemes and are inviting views from the wider public and neighbouring areas. 

As a thank you for participating, you will be entered into a prize draw to win one of three prizes of 
Marks & Spencer’s gift vouchers. The 1st prize is £100 in vouchers, 2nd prize of £50 in vouchers 
and a 3rd prize of £25 in vouchers.

We are consulting on five options (full details of the matters being considered are detailed in a 
consultation document which can be found here: click here. The options being considered are:

Option 1: Introduce ‘additional licensing’
Any “house in multiple occupation” (HMO) would need to apply to us for a licence. We can ensure 
it’s properly managed and not overcrowded.

Option 2: Introduce ‘selective licensing’
Properties in parts of the borough with high levels of anti-social behaviour will need to apply to us 
for a licence. They’ll have to meet minimum tenancy and property standards. This will protect 
landlords, tenants and neighbouring residents.

Page 246



Option 3: Introduce an H&F private landlords’ rental charter
We want all landlords to sign up to the charter and commit to best practice in management, 
housing standards, charges, protecting tenants’ deposits and security of tenancies. Tenants will be 
attracted to H&F charter landlords because they’ll know they can have more confidence in them.

Option 4: Revise minimum standards for HMOs
To ensure that HMOs are safe and not overcrowded, we’ll introduce new standards for 
management, safety, facilities and living space.

Option 5: Set up a social lettings agency
This new type of agency will help residents on low or modest incomes find a home in the private 
rented sector and will help landlords find suitable tenants. It will incentivise landlords to let to 
benefit claimants by offering residents support to sustain their tenancies.

Please give us your views.

If you have any queries, please email the council on phs@lbhf.gov.uk or Karen Etheridge, Research 
Manager at M·E·L Research on Freephone 0800 073 0348 or karen.etheridge@m-e-l.co.uk.

About you

Q1 Which of the following best describes you?

0 (0%) Business owner in a neighbouring borough

0 (0%) Resident  in a neighbouring borough

1 (17%) Private landlord in a neighbouring borough

1 (17%) Letting/Managing agent in a neighbouring borough

4 (67%) Other (please specify below)

3 (100%)

Q2 Which of the following best describes where you are based? 

1 (17%) London Borough of Brent

0 (0%) London Borough of Ealing

2 (33%) London Borough of Hounslow

1 (17%) Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

1 (17%) London Borough of Richmond upon Thames

1 (17%) London Borough of Wandsworth

0 (0%) Other

Other, please state below
0 (0%)

Q2b Do you have a license in the borough you are based in?

0 (0%) Yes

1 (100%) No

Scheme proposals

Hammersmith & Fulham Council believe introducing a selective/additional licensing scheme 
would:

Page 247



a) Provide greater confidence in the private rented sector both for landlords and tenants and help dispel 
any poor image of the sector;

b) Build partnership working with landlords and tenants to address anti-social behaviour (ASB) where 
behaviour links to the private rented sector;

c) Improve management standards; 

d) Ensure a consistent and professional property management ethic among private landlords and take 
action against those landlords who persist in providing a poor standard of accommodation or whose 
tenants cause persistent levels of ASB;

e) Create a level playing field to promote consistent standards and an understanding for tenants about 
what they can reasonably expect from their landlord so that informed choices can be made.

f) Drive rogue landlords out of this sector, reduce the levels of anti-social behaviour in the borough, 
improve the local environment and improve storage and collection of waste, provide a strategic approach 
to managing this sector, provide a strategic approach to managing this sector

The Council is therefore considering the following options:

Scheme proposals: Option 1

Introduce ‘additional licensing’ on all HMO properties across Hammersmith & 
Fulham
This would require all private sector landlords to hold a license for each house in multiple occupation 
(HMOs), i.e. that is occupied by three or more non-related occupiers that share some basic facilities 
(such as a kitchen), and they would have to meet the necessary criteria in order to hold a licence. 

This would provide safe homes for tenants to live in and allow the council to take action against landlords 
who provide a poor standard of accommodation.

Q3 What impact, if any, do you feel implementing an additional licensing scheme would 
have on you if it were introduced?

5 (71%) A positive impact

2 (29%) No impact

0 (0%) A negative impact

0 (0%) Don't know / not sure

Q4 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Scheme proposals: Option 2

Introduce ‘selective licensing’ on private rented properties in designated areas
This option would involve introducing a licencing scheme to designated areas in the borough which have 
been chosen based on evidence and consultation responses. All private sector landlords renting a 
property in the designated area would require a licence and have to meet the necessary criteria in order 
to hold a licence. 

This would allow the Council to take action against landlords who provide a poor standard of 
accommodation or whose tenants cause persistent levels of anti-social behaviour

Page 248



Q5 What impact, if any, do you feel implementing a selective licensing scheme on private 
rented properties in designated areas of the borough would have on you if it were 
introduced?

4 (57%) A positive impact

1 (14%) No impact

1 (14%) A negative impact

1 (14%) Don't know / not sure

Q6 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Scheme proposals: Option 3

Introduce a ‘H&F private landlord’s rental charter’ 
This option would be a voluntary scheme, which would see landlords encouraged to sign up to a rental 
charter, that commits them to following best practice on rents, housing standards, charges, tenants’ 
deposit protection and security of tenure. The scheme would be free of charge, but by signing up to the 
charter, landlords could get £50 off a licence fee. 

The proposal aims to be light touch and the Council will not verify that landlords are upholding the 
principles set out in the charter. However, landlords who have signed the charter but do not uphold to the 
principles will have their chartered status removed if an inspecting Council officer has cause to, subject 
to review.

Q7 What impact, if any, do you feel a Hammersmith & Fulham landlord’s rental charter 
would have on you?

3 (43%) A positive impact

3 (43%) No impact

1 (14%) A negative impact

0 (0%) Don't know / not sure

Q8 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Scheme proposals: Option 4

Introduce revised HMO minimum standards
This would set out new local standards to ensure that accommodation is maintained above minimum 
national standards. This would provide information to landlords on what is required of them, including the 
management, safety, facilities and living space for the occupiers. 

This would allow the Council to work with landlords to ensure homes are safe and well managed through 
a set of minimum standard conditions.

Page 249



Q9 What impact, if any, do you feel implementing revised HMO minimum standards would 
have on you if it were introduced?

3 (43%) A positive impact

2 (29%) No impact

1 (14%) A negative impact

1 (14%) Don't know / not sure

Q10 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Scheme proposals: Option 5

Introduce a social letting agency
This option would be run by the Council, to better represent and advise its residents. In particular, 
it would look to assist residents on low or modest incomes to overcome the barrier to accessing 
homes in the private rented sector and help landlords in this part of the market find suitable 
tenants.

This would ensure that there are safe homes for tenants to live in and would provide tenants with 
consistent information regarding the standards of accommodation that the Council regards as 
acceptable.

Q11 What impact, if any, do you feel implementing a social letting agency would have on 
you?

4 (57%) A positive impact

2 (29%) No impact

0 (0%) A negative impact

1 (14%) Don't know / not sure

Q12 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Other suggestions and commentsScheme proposals: Option 6

Keep things as they are
The council could keep things as they are and not implement any of the above shemes, meaning 
the existing structures in place would remain.  

Q13 What impact, if any, do you feel the proposal to keep things as they are would have on 
you?

0 (0%) A positive impact

3 (43%) No impact

2 (29%) A negative impact

2 (29%) Don't know / not sure

Page 250



Q14 Are there any other comments you would like to add?
2 (100%)

Q15 Please provide any additional comments you wish to make about this consultation 
below. We are particularly keen to hear any other ideas you may have to address any 
issues experienced with private rented properties in Hammersmith & Fulham.
3 (100%)

About you

This last section asks you some questions about yourself so we can fully 
understand different people's views and experiences.

Q16 How old are you?

0 (0%) 18-24

1 (14%) 25-34

0 (0%) 35-44

4 (57%) 45-54

0 (0%) 55-64

1 (14%) 65 and over

1 (14%) Prefer not to say

Q17 What is your current working status?

5 (71%) Employed (full or part time)

1 (14%) Self-employed

0 (0%) Out of work 

0 (0%) Looking after the home or family

0 (0%) Unable to work/long term sick

0 (0%) Retired

0 (0%) Full time student

1 (14%) Other

Q18 Are you.... 

4 (57%) Male 

3 (43%) Female

Q19 Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth?

6 (86%) Yes

0 (0%) No

1 (14%) Prefer not to say Page 251



Q20 As a woman, are you.......? 

1 (33%) Pregnant

0 (0%) On maternity leave

0 (0%) Returning from maternity leave

0 (0%) Prefer not to say

2 (67%) Not applicable

Q21 What is your marital status?

4 (67%) Married/Civil Partnership 

0 (0%) Divorced

2 (33%) Single

0 (0%) Widowed

0 (0%) Other

Q22 Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?

1 (17%) Bisexual 

0 (0%) Gay/Lesbian 

5 (83%) Heterosexual/Straight 

Q23 What is your ethnic background? 

4 (67%) White: English/ Welsh/ Scottish/ Northern Irish/ 
British

1 (17%) White: Irish

0 (0%) White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller

0 (0%) White: Other

0 (0%) Mixed: White and Black Caribbean

0 (0%) Mixed: White and Black African

0 (0%) Mixed: White and Asian

0 (0%) Mixed: Other

0 (0%) Asian: Indian

0 (0%) Asian: Pakistani

0 (0%) Asian: Bangladeshi

0 (0%) Asian: Chinese

0 (0%) Asian: Other

0 (0%) Black: African

1 (17%) Black: Caribbean

0 (0%) Black: Other

0 (0%) Other: Arab

0 (0%) Other: Other ethnic background

0 (0%) Prefer not to say

Q24 What is your religion or belief?

0 (0%) Buddhist 

5 (83%) Christian

0 (0%) Hindu 

0 (0%) Jewish

1 (17%) Muslim 

0 (0%) Sikh

0 (0%) Other

0 (0%) No religion

Page 252



Disability 
The Equality Act 2010 defines a disabled person as a person who has a disability. A person has a 
disability if he or she has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long term 
adverse effect on (his or her) ability to carry out normal day to day activities. 

Q
25

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

0 (0%) Yes

6 (100%) No

Q
26

If yes, is your disability related to any of the following: (Please tick all that apply)

0 (0%) Learning Disability (e.g. dyslexia, dyspraxia) 

0 (0%) Long term illness/health condition (e.g. asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, Multiple Sclerosis) 

0 (0%) Sensory Impairment (e.g. Blind, Deaf, Glaucoma, hearing impairment, visual impairment) 

0 (0%) Mental Health Condition (e.g. anorexia, depression, schizophrenia) 

0 (0%) Physical Impairment (e.g. amputation, wheelchair user, manual dexterity issues) 

0 (0%) Cognitive Impairment (e.g. Autism, Aspergers Syndrome, head injury) 

0 (0%) Other (Please specify if you wish)

0 (0%)

Thank you

If you would like Hammersmith & Fulham Council to keep you informed about this consultation, 
please provide your contact details below. All personal information you provide will be held in 

accordance with provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998 and only used for administration of this 
consultation. It will not be disclosed to any third party.

Name: 6 (100%)

Address: 6 (100%)

Postcode: 6 (100%)

Phone number(s): 4 (100%)

Email address: 6 (100%)

Check If you would like to be included in the free prize draw, please tick below.

4 (100%) Yes, please include me in the prize draw.

If you have any queries, please email the council on phs@lbhf.gov.uk or Karen Etheridge, Research 
Manager at M·E·L Research on Freephone 0800 073 0348 or karen.etheridge@melresearch.co.uk.

PLEASE CLICK THE 'SUBMIT' BUTTON BELOW 

Page 253



30th September 2016 
 
 
 
By email: phs@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 
Private Housing and Health Service 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
1st Floor Town Hall Extension  
King Street 
LONDON  W6 9JU 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Improving Private Rented Housing – Consultation Response 

 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the above consultation. 
 
The RLA believes that the Council is premature on bringing forward proposals for 
additional and selective licensing, and seeking to review HMO standards locally. 
 
As the consultation document briefly notes, the Westminster Government is currently 
reviewing the scope of mandatory HMO licensing.  We believe it would be better for 
the council to await the outcome of this review, as its recommendations may well 
address concerns without the need for an expensive local licensing scheme.  It may 
also introduce new standards for mandatory HMOs that satisfy the council. 
 
Likewise, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 will give local authorities substantial 
new powers to tackle breaches of housing legislation and drive the criminal operators 
from the sector.  The RLA believes the council should wait until the impact of these 
new powers can be assessed before pressing on with more regulation in the form of 
selective licensing. 
 
Should the council decide to proceed to formal consultation on either or both 
licensing proposals the RLA will make a detailed submission at that time. 

Yours Sincerely  

 
 
John Stewart 
 
POLICY MANAGER 

 

 

 
                

1 Roebuck Lane, 
                  Sale, Manchester M33 7SY 

          Tel: 0845 666 5000 
         Fax: 0845 665 1845 
    Email:info@rla.org.uk 

                     Website: www.rla.org.uk 
        Facebook: TheRLA 

                         Twitter: @RLA_News  

Page 254

http://www.rla.org.uk/
http://www.facebook.com/TheRLA


 1 

 

 

 

 

 

National Landlords Association:  

Response to Hammersmith and Fulham Council proposal for Selective and Additional 

Licensing   

  

 

September  2016 

 

 

 

Page 255



 2 

Introduction: 

1. The National Landlords Association (NLA) exists to protect and promote the interests of private 

residential landlords. 

 

2. The NLA represents more than 62,000 individual landlords from around the United Kingdom. We 

provide a comprehensive range of benefits and services to our members and strive to raise 

standards within the private rented sector (PRS). 

 

3. The NLA seeks a fair legislative and regulatory environment for the private rented sector while 

aiming to ensure that landlords are aware of their statutory rights and responsibilities. 

 

4. The NLA would like to thank Hammersmith Council for providing the opportunity to comment on the 

Selective and Additional Licensing consultation. 

Executive Summary: 

5. Having considered the evidence presented and having undertaken its own evaluation of the 

circumstances faced by the residents of Hammersmith, the NLA’s position can be summarised by the 

following brief points: 

 Landlords have very limited authority to deal with matters related to anti-

social behaviour (ASB). 

 You fail to provide evidence or a link between recorded housing crime and 

the private rented sector. 

 The scheme will lead to a further displacement of problem tenants in the 

Hammersmith area. 

 The documentation provided also fails to indicate that sufficient funding 

will be available to support the functions necessary to support licensing. 

 Why have the Council gone ahead with the consultation on additional 

licensing prior to the Government ruling on the definition of HMO. 

 How will the Council prevent malicious ASB claims being made that could 

potentially result in tenants losing their tenancies? 

 

6. The NLA contends that the flaws outlined below in the process and proposals must be rectified prior 

to making any attempt to progress this application. Furthermore, once the necessary data has been 

identified and provided, this consultation exercise should be repeated (if permissible), ensuring 

engagement with all relevant stakeholders. 

General Feedback on Proposals: 

7. The ability to introduce licensing is a powerful tool. If used correctly by Hammersmith Council it 

could resolve specific issues. The NLA has supported many local authorities when licensing schemes 

have been introduced, if they will benefit landlords, tenants and the community. 

 

8. The legislation in relation to Selective and Additional Licensing clearly states that the introduction of 

licensing has to be evidence based. This evidence must support the argument presented by the 

Page 256



 3 

Council, but the NLA would argue that there is no real case for the introduction of licensing as 

proposed. You present an argument about criminal activity but this is not expressly linked by the 

evidence to the private rented sector. Indeed, you make an assumption without any real evidence 

about the link between criminal activity and the private rented sector. 

 

9. The NLA believes that any regulation of the private rented sector needs to be balanced. Additional 

regulatory burdens should focus on increasing the professionalism of landlords, the quality of the 

private rented stock and driving out the criminal landlords who blight the sector. These should be 

the shared objectives of all the parties involved to facilitate the best possible outcomes for landlords 

and tenants alike and, as such, good practice should be recognised and encouraged in addition to 

the required focus on enforcement activity. This is not the case here. 

 

10. In addition, the proposal does not take into account rent to rent, or those that exploit people 

(tenants and landlords), as criminals will always play the system. There is no provision for those 

landlords who have legally rented out a property, which is then illegally sublet. The Council is not 

allocating resources to tackle the problems that criminals will cause; landlords are often victims just 

as much as tenants. The Council has not taken into account either how Newham Council reorganised 

their council service and allocated additional resources to help tenants and landlords. However, 

here, the Council is saying that the schemes can be delivered within the fees of the scheme, but this 

has been shown across the country not to work. Therefore, unless the Council is willing to allocate 

resources, the scheme cannot deliver what it hopes to achieve. 

 

11. Landlords are usually not experienced and do not have a professional capacity that would allow 

them to be able to resolve mental health issues or drug and alcohol dependency. If there are 

allegations about a tenant causing problems (ASB), even if the tenant has the above issues, a 

landlord ending the tenancy will have dispatched their obligations under the discretionary licensing 

scheme. This moves the problems around Hammersmith but does not actually help the tenant, who 

could become lost within the system. There is no obligation within discretionary licensing for the 

landlord to solve the ASB allegation, rather a landlord has a tenancy agreement with the tenant and 

this is the only thing they can legally enforce. 

 

12. Hammersmith Council has many existing powers. Section 57 (4) of the Housing Act 2004 states that a 

local authority “must not make a particular designation ... unless (a) they have considered whether 

there are any other courses of action available to them … that might provide an effective method of 

Hammersmith with the problem or problems in question”. The use of these powers listed below by 

the Council shows that the Council already has powers that can be used to rectify the problems and 

hence the ability to tackle many of the issues that they wish to overcome in all parts of the city: 

 

a) Use of Criminal Behaviour Orders; 

b) Crime Prevention Injunctions; 

c) Interim Management Orders; 

d) Empty Dwelling Management Orders; 

e) Issuing improvement notices to homes that don’t meet the decent homes standard; 

f) Directions regarding the disposal of waste (for example, under Section 46 of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990); 

Page 257



 4 

g) Litter abatement notices under Section 92 of the Environmental Protection Act 

1990; 

h) Powers under the Noise Act 1996 to serve fixed penalty notices or to confiscate 

equipment (Sections 8 and 10); 

i) The power to require rubbish to be removed from land under Sections 2–4 of the 

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

 

13. Landlords will outline to tenants at the start of the tenancy their obligations in relation to noise, just 

as they do with waste and what they have to do to comply with the relevant laws and with a view to 

respecting their neighbours. The landlord can only manage a tenant based on the contract for living 

in the rented property. In the case of noise, the council would need to inform the landlord that the 

tenant’s noise is in excess. The power that a landlord has then is either to warn the tenant or to end 

the tenancy. If the allegation is false or disingenuous, how is the landlord to know? If the same 

allegation is made on more than one occasion, the landlord may still be ending the tenancy on the 

basis of an unproven allegation. This does not solve the problem but rather moves the problem 

around the Borough. The same applies to waste and ASB issues. 

 

14. The risk of introducing licensing is likely to increase the costs for those renting, along with not 

resolving the problems that the Council wishes to resolve, and likely moving the issue around the 

Borough. The issues are thus not fully dealt with but instead are displaced to new landlords, as none 

of the issues are recoded as crimes or will result in ASB orders, so the issue will not show up in 

references. If Hammersmith were to take a more erudite approach with regard to nuisance issues 

and developed a separate policy to tackle criminal landlords, this would be more applicable and 

more likely to result in resolving the issues. 

 

Negative Impacts of Discretionary Licensing: 

15. One of the dangers of the proposed Additional and Selective Licensing scheme is that the costs will 

be passed on to tenants, thus increasing the costs for those who rent in Hammersmith, along with 

increasing the Council’s costs. The increasing costs to Hammersmith residents would particularly hit 

hard the most vulnerable and least able to tolerate a marginal increase in their cost of living. Also, 

the Council has failed to explain that, as well as the Council’s costs for the licence, the landlords 

costs will likely be covered by a rise in rents. The failure to explain this shows a lack of understanding 

of how the private rented sector works. 

 

16. The Council is already placing people out of the Borough, and by introducing such a scheme, which 

will see an increase in costs for renting, a further displacement of tenants across the southeast is 

likely. Has this been explained to members and to the public? 

 

17. Areas that have been subject to the introduction of Additional and Selective Licensing have seen 

lenders withdraw mortgage products, reducing the options to landlords reliant on finance. 

Downstream, this increases landlords’ overheads and subsequently the costs for tenants rise. The 

current consultation documentation does not appear to reference this possibility or to invite 

contributions from financial institutions to address this aspect. As affected stakeholders, this would 

appear unwise and potentially damaging to the application process and scheme implementation. 

Page 258



 5 

 

18. Hammersmith Council, by proposing the introduction of licensing, is implying that there are social 

problems that could deter investment in the area. However, there is no acknowledgement of the 

impact that the stigmatisation of discretionary licensing would likely have on the effected locality. 

This should be explored and detailed in the evidence case supporting this application. The NLA 

would assert that failure to provide such information is an indication of a substandard and ultimately 

superficial consultation exercise. 

 

Resources 

 

19. Often cited as an exemplar, Newham Council has spent an additional £4 million outside what the 

licence fee brings in on additional staff, which has resulted in a prosecution rate of >1% of landlords. 

However, while the London Borough has <37,000 registered landlords, it has so far only banned 18, 

and prosecuted only 560 landlords and 600 tenants. It operates a joined-up approach with police 

and drills down to a street-by-street basis. Does Hammersmith Council propose adopting a similar 

approach? If not, how will their approach be different and more successful? 

 

20. Often when tenants near the end of their contract/tenancy and they are in the process of moving 

out, they will dispose of excess waste by a variety of methods, which often includes putting it out on 

the street for the Council to collect. A waste strategy for the collection of excess waste at the end of 

tenancies needs to be considered by local authorities with a large number of private rented sector 

properties in areas. This is made worse when councils will not allow landlords to access municipal 

waste collection points. The NLA would be willing to work with the Council to help them develop this 

strategy. 

 

21. The social housing sector has made many efforts to remove problem tenants (2/3rd of all court 

evictions were from the social sector). How does the Council expect landlords to solve the issues of 

these tenants when the professional sector has failed? 

 

Current Law 

 

22. There are currently over 100 pieces of legislation that a landlord has to comply with. The laws that 

the private rented sector has to comply with can be easily misunderstood. A landlord is expected to 

give the tenant a “quiet enjoyment”, failure to do so could result in a harassment case being brought 

against the landlord. Thus, the law that landlords have to operate within is not fully compatible with 

the aims that the Council hope for. A landlord keeping a record of a tenant could be interpreted as 

harassment. 

 

23. The introduction of licensing is to tackle specific issues, where many of these are tenant related and 

not to do with the property/landlord. Thus, the challenge is for local authorities to work with all the 

people involved and not to just blame one group – landlords. The NLA is willing to work in 

partnership with the Council and can help with developing tenant information packs, assured short 

hold tenancies, and accreditation of landlords, along with targeting the worst properties in an area. 

 

Page 259



 6 

24. The NLA would also argue that a problem encompassing a few poorly managed and/or maintained 

properties would not be appropriately tackled by a licensing scheme, which is not proportional. In 

many situations, the Council should consider Enforcement Notices and Management Orders. The use 

of such orders would deliver results immediately – why instead does the Council wish to do this over 

five years? Adopting a targeted approach on a street-by-street approach, targeting the specific 

issues and working in a joined-up fashion with other relevant agencies, such as the Council, 

community groups, tenants and landlords, would have a much greater impact. 

 

25. The NLA agrees that some landlords, most often due to ignorance rather than criminal intent, do not 

use their powers to manage their properties effectively. A more appropriate response therefore 

would be to identify issues and to assist landlords. This could allow Hammersmith Council to focus 

on targeting the criminal landlords – where a joint approach is required. 

 

26. The NLA would also like to see Hammersmith Council develop a strategy that could also include 

action against any tenants that are persistent offenders. These measures represent a targeted 

approach to specific issues, rather than a blanket-licensing scheme that would adversely affect the 

professional landlords and tenant alike, while still leaving the criminal able to operate under the 

radar. Many of the problems are caused by mental health and drink and drug issues, these are issues 

that landlords cannot resolve and will require additional resources from the Council. 

 

27. The Council should consider alternative schemes, such as the Home Safe Scheme in Doncaster and 

SEAL in Southend. Both schemes offer alternatives that the Council has not reviewed. 

Consultation Critique: 

 

28. In relation to ASB reduction and the authority a landlord has to tackle such activity within their 

properties, it should be pointed out that landlords and agents can only enforce a contract. They 

cannot manage behaviour (ref: House of Commons briefing note SN/SP 264 paragraph 1.1). In most 

circumstances, the only remedy available to landlords confronted with cases of serious ASB in one of 

their properties will be to seek vacant possession and in many instances they will need to serve a 

Section 21 notice rather than a Section 8 notice identifying the grounds for possession. The former is 

simpler and cheaper and repossession (at present) is more certain. No reason needs be given for 

serving a Section 21 notice and the perpetrator tenant can then hypothetically approach the local 

authority for assistance to be re-housed (ref: Homelessness Guidelines cl 8.2). Crucially, no affected 

party need offer evidence against an anti-social householder, thereby reducing the risk of 

intimidation, harassment and ultimately unsuccessful possession claims. The issue of ASB will thus 

not appear as a factor in the repossession. In providing evidence to support a licensing application, 

the document should clarify for the respondents the position of all the relevant issues under 

landlord and tenant law. 

 

29. At no point in the document does the Council illustrate their argument for either Additional or 

Selective Licensing with examples of cases where a landlord has refused to engage with authorities 

after being approached and being made aware that there is an issue to be investigated in relation to 

their tenants. In this respect, the Council has relied purely on inferring a correlation between a crime 

and the private rented sector, but at no point does it provide any evidence. It is submitted that this 

Page 260



 7 

approach is wholly inappropriate for the consultation process as it does not empower participants to 

give truly informed responses. We would therefore contend that the required consultation process 

is irrevocably faulty. 

 

30. It is also worrying how little reference to the economic impact of increasing the cost of housing 

provision will have on the local community. We wish to understand how the Council believes 

increasing said costs would benefit those on fixed incomes. The logic of this assertion is not clearly 

explained and will arguably lead to incorrect conclusions on the part of those stakeholders relying on 

the Council to inform their input into this consultation. 

Requests for Supplementary Information: 

31. The NLA is extremely concerned about the gaps in evidence and justification that occur throughout 

the licensing proposal. 

 

32. The NLA would like to understand the Council’s reasoning on how charging people more to live in 

rented accommodation will improve housing. Given that successive governments have attempted to 

address the issue of anti-social behaviour, using significant resources to underpin structural causes, 

it seems unreasonable to contend that the licensing of private property will succeed. Could the 

Council provide evidence to support this assumption, especially given they have not committed the 

extra resources required as evidenced in Newham? 

 

33. Newham has allocated money from the general fund for enforcement and received money from 

central government, how much money does the Council envisage will be required for these new 

services? 

 

34. Clarification on the Council’s policy, in relation to helping a landlord when a Section 21 notice is 

served, is required within the proposed Selective Licensing scheme. It would be useful if the Council 

could put in place a guidance document before the introduction of the scheme to outline the 

Council’s position in helping landlords remove tenants who are causing anti-social behaviour. 

 

35. The NLA would like further explanation on how the Council will work with landlords to mitigate the 

issue of tenants leaving a property early but where they still have a tenancy. If a landlord has 

challenges with a tenant, how will the Council help the landlord? 

 

36. With the requirement for formal referencing ahead of new tenancy contracts, delays are likely for 

prospective tenants, along with the inevitable difficulty some people will have in getting a tenancy. 

Could you provide the equalities and diversity assessment that the Council has undertaken into 

referencing? What communication has the Council had with RSL’s concerning the provision of 

referencing, including social housing providers that neighbour Hammersmith Council? Also, how 

have neighbouring councils reacted in response to the proposed requirement to provide references? 

 

37. What provision is there for people who are first-time renters and who will thus not be able to get a 

reference to access decent housing? Will the Council undertake to fill the supply gap created by 

private landlords complying with licensing requirements? 

 

Page 261



 8 

38. Could the Council provide a breakdown of the ASB? Could this also be sub-divided into ASB that is 

proven to be housing related? 

 

Page 262



Levels of support for proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break % Total Survey source Gender Age band

Respondents

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey Male Female 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

65 and 

over

Prefer not 

to say

Base 1977 1077 796 104 1033 942 415 694 279 212 171 195 11

Levels of support for proposals

Additional licensing scheme - support fully/partially 69% 71% 66% 65% 67% 71% 67% 65% 70% 73% 76% 72% 64%

Additional licensing scheme - do not support 24% 20% 29% 30% 27% 21% 26% 28% 23% 22% 19% 16% 27%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Selective licensing scheme - support fully/partially 57% 55% 58% 68% 56% 58% 57% 57% 54% 57% 60% 57% 55%

Selective licensing scheme - do not support 35% 35% 36% 28% 36% 33% 33% 37% 35% 39% 32% 29% 45%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Private landlord’s rental charter - support fully/partially 60% 55% 65% 68% 59% 61% 65% 62% 59% 58% 53% 49% 64%

Private landlord’s rental charter - do not support 27% 29% 23% 26% 29% 24% 20% 26% 24% 35% 33% 30% 36%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Revised HMO minimum standards - support fully/partially 76% 71% 82% 73% 73% 78% 78% 78% 77% 72% 75% 66% 82%

Revised HMO minimum standards - do not support 17% 18% 14% 20% 19% 14% 14% 17% 16% 21% 17% 18% 18%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Introduce a social letting agency - support fully/partially 67% 64% 71% 67% 65% 69% 69% 68% 66% 67% 70% 60% 73%

Introduce a social letting agency - do not support 19% 22% 16% 22% 21% 17% 16% 20% 18% 20% 22% 22% 9%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Keep things as they are - support fully/partially 51% 44% 63% 37% 54% 48% 57% 56% 47% 50% 40% 42% 45%

Keep things as they are - do not support 38% 43% 27% 54% 36% 39% 32% 34% 42% 42% 48% 43% 27%

P
age 263



Levels of support for proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break % Total

Respondents

Base 1977

Levels of support for proposals

Additional licensing scheme - support fully/partially 69%

Additional licensing scheme - do not support 24%

-

Selective licensing scheme - support fully/partially 57%

Selective licensing scheme - do not support 35%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - support fully/partially 60%

Private landlord’s rental charter - do not support 27%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - support fully/partially 76%

Revised HMO minimum standards - do not support 17%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - support fully/partially 67%

Introduce a social letting agency - do not support 19%

-

Keep things as they are - support fully/partially 51%

Keep things as they are - do not support 38%

Gender same as at birth Pregnancy and maternity Marital status

Yes No

Prefer not 

to say Pregnant

On 

maternity 

leave

Returning 

from 

maternity 

leave

Prefer not 

to say

Not 

pregnant 

or on 

maternity 

leave

Married/Ci

vil 

Partnershi

p Divorced Single Widowed Other

Prefer not 

to say

1926 33 17 21 11 10 63 833 551 75 1125 66 64 94

69% 79% 59% 76% 82% 90% 75% 71% 71% 75% 67% 76% 81% 62%

24% 12% 35% 24% 9% 10% 16% 21% 23% 15% 26% 6% 14% 30%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

57% 70% 41% 38% 73% 60% 63% 58% 53% 65% 57% 68% 80% 52%

35% 15% 53% 48% 18% 30% 22% 34% 37% 24% 36% 17% 14% 41%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

60% 45% 35% 62% 55% 60% 63% 60% 57% 56% 62% 55% 66% 53%

26% 27% 29% 24% 18% 20% 17% 25% 31% 25% 25% 21% 22% 33%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

76% 82% 65% 62% 100% 80% 89% 78% 72% 79% 77% 74% 84% 69%

17% 15% 18% 29% - 10% 5% 15% 21% 13% 16% 6% 8% 22%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

67% 70% 71% 67% 45% 80% 78% 69% 64% 65% 69% 65% 77% 60%

19% 18% 18% 24% 36% - 8% 18% 23% 19% 18% 15% 9% 23%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

51% 55% 53% 57% 18% 40% 37% 49% 47% 43% 55% 30% 48% 59%

38% 36% 35% 19% 73% 50% 40% 39% 43% 43% 35% 47% 42% 23%

P
age 264



Levels of support for proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break % Total

Respondents

Base 1977

Levels of support for proposals

Additional licensing scheme - support fully/partially 69%

Additional licensing scheme - do not support 24%

-

Selective licensing scheme - support fully/partially 57%

Selective licensing scheme - do not support 35%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - support fully/partially 60%

Private landlord’s rental charter - do not support 27%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - support fully/partially 76%

Revised HMO minimum standards - do not support 17%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - support fully/partially 67%

Introduce a social letting agency - do not support 19%

-

Keep things as they are - support fully/partially 51%

Keep things as they are - do not support 38%

Ethnicity religion or belief Has disability

White

White 

Others Mixed Asian Black Any Other Buddhist Christian Hindu Jewish Muslim Sikh Other No religion

Prefer not 

to say Yes No

994 532 60 152 140 47 18 724 20 4 110 3 49 888 155 164 1811

69% 67% 73% 66% 73% 68% 67% 70% 70% 75% 73% - 82% 67% 68% 68% 69%

25% 26% 18% 22% 21% 21% 22% 23% 30% 25% 19% 67% 12% 26% 23% 17% 25%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

57% 55% 60% 57% 58% 62% 56% 56% 60% 100% 60% 33% 51% 56% 64% 53% 57%

37% 35% 30% 29% 31% 23% 39% 36% 40% - 27% 33% 27% 36% 29% 35% 35%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

60% 62% 62% 57% 53% 57% 56% 58% 55% 75% 62% 67% 57% 62% 53% 55% 60%

28% 23% 22% 24% 29% 23% 28% 30% 40% 25% 19% 33% 14% 24% 32% 25% 27%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

75% 77% 72% 76% 73% 83% 78% 75% 65% 75% 76% 67% 82% 76% 74% 74% 76%

18% 16% 17% 13% 17% 13% 11% 18% 30% 25% 13% - 4% 17% 17% 15% 17%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

68% 65% 72% 60% 69% 68% 78% 65% 55% 75% 66% 67% 80% 68% 64% 65% 67%

21% 20% 15% 17% 16% 15% 11% 22% 30% 25% 15% 33% 6% 19% 17% 19% 20%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

51% 54% 45% 50% 44% 49% 67% 48% 60% 50% 46% 33% 31% 55% 52% 40% 52%

39% 34% 45% 38% 41% 36% 28% 41% 35% 25% 39% 33% 49% 35% 35% 45% 37%

P
age 265



Levels of support for proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break % Total

Respondents

Base 1977

Levels of support for proposals

Additional licensing scheme - support fully/partially 69%

Additional licensing scheme - do not support 24%

-

Selective licensing scheme - support fully/partially 57%

Selective licensing scheme - do not support 35%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - support fully/partially 60%

Private landlord’s rental charter - do not support 27%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - support fully/partially 76%

Revised HMO minimum standards - do not support 17%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - support fully/partially 67%

Introduce a social letting agency - do not support 19%

-

Keep things as they are - support fully/partially 51%

Keep things as they are - do not support 38%

Sexual orientation

Bisexual

Gay/Lesbia

n

Heterosexu

al/Straight

Prefer not 

to say

10 44 1774 144

80% 80% 68% 69%

10% 11% 25% 24%

- - - -

60% 75% 57% 54%

20% 18% 35% 40%

- - - -

70% 64% 60% 58%

10% 20% 26% 31%

- - - -

90% 82% 75% 78%

- 9% 17% 17%

- - - -

80% 68% 67% 62%

10% 20% 19% 26%

- - - -

60% 36% 51% 53%

30% 59% 37% 33%

P
age 266



Impact of proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break %

Respondents

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey Male Female 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

65 and 

over

Prefer not 

to say

Base 1957 1060 794 103 1027 928 414 687 276 211 170 188 11

Impact of proposals

Additional licensing scheme - positive impact 52% 60% 42% 40% 49% 55% 46% 46% 57% 63% 59% 57% 64%

Additional licensing scheme - no impact 18% 14% 23% 20% 20% 16% 21% 20% 14% 13% 17% 19% 9%

Additional licensing scheme - negative impact 20% 15% 26% 25% 22% 17% 21% 25% 19% 17% 15% 8% 18%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Selective licensing scheme - positive impact 40% 42% 37% 45% 38% 42% 38% 39% 42% 43% 41% 43% 45%

Selective licensing scheme - no impact 18% 16% 21% 19% 19% 17% 18% 18% 13% 20% 23% 18% 18%

Selective licensing scheme - negative impact 30% 28% 33% 20% 31% 28% 30% 33% 32% 29% 24% 22% 27%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Private landlord’s rental charter - positive impact 35% 38% 29% 40% 33% 36% 31% 35% 38% 41% 32% 31% 36%

Private landlord’s rental charter - no impact 32% 25% 41% 35% 33% 30% 37% 34% 24% 27% 32% 31% 18%

Private landlord’s rental charter - negative impact 16% 18% 14% 11% 18% 14% 13% 15% 20% 22% 18% 14% 9%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Revised HMO minimum standards - positive impact 61% 60% 64% 51% 59% 64% 62% 64% 63% 59% 61% 51% 64%

Revised HMO minimum standards - no impact 16% 15% 17% 24% 17% 16% 14% 15% 16% 17% 18% 23% 18%

Revised HMO minimum standards - negative impact 12% 12% 13% 16% 14% 10% 12% 14% 11% 14% 10% 9% -

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Introduce a social letting agency - positive impact 48% 51% 45% 40% 46% 50% 47% 47% 50% 50% 49% 46% 36%

Introduce a social letting agency - no impact 21% 16% 27% 36% 22% 20% 22% 22% 19% 20% 24% 21% 27%

Introduce a social letting agency - negative impact 14% 16% 13% 9% 16% 13% 13% 15% 15% 15% 15% 13% 9%

- - - - - - - - - - - - -

Keep things as they are - positive impact 21% 23% 18% 20% 21% 20% 17% 21% 23% 24% 21% 24% -

Keep things as they are - no impact 37% 28% 50% 32% 41% 33% 41% 42% 33% 28% 32% 31% 36%

Keep things as they are - negative impact 27% 31% 19% 42% 25% 29% 21% 24% 30% 36% 33% 24% 27%

Total

Survey source Gender Age band

P
age 267



Impact of proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break %

Respondents

Base 1957

Impact of proposals

Additional licensing scheme - positive impact 52%

Additional licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Additional licensing scheme - negative impact 20%

-

Selective licensing scheme - positive impact 40%

Selective licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Selective licensing scheme - negative impact 30%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - positive impact 35%

Private landlord’s rental charter - no impact 32%

Private landlord’s rental charter - negative impact 16%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - positive impact 61%

Revised HMO minimum standards - no impact 16%

Revised HMO minimum standards - negative impact 12%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - positive impact 48%

Introduce a social letting agency - no impact 21%

Introduce a social letting agency - negative impact 14%

-

Keep things as they are - positive impact 21%

Keep things as they are - no impact 37%

Keep things as they are - negative impact 27%

Total Yes No

Prefer not 

to say Pregnant

On 

maternity 

leave

Returning 

from 

maternity 

leave

Prefer not 

to say

Not 

pregnant 

or on 

maternity 

leave

Married/Ci

vil 

Partnershi

p Divorced Single Widowed Other

Prefer not 

to say

1907 33 16 21 11 9 63 820 543 75 1119 63 64 91

52% 42% 44% 71% 73% 78% 52% 54% 58% 61% 48% 65% 61% 40%

18% 45% 19% 10% - 22% 16% 17% 15% 15% 20% 13% 16% 24%

20% - 31% 19% 18% - 11% 18% 19% 11% 22% 2% 9% 23%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

41% 18% 25% 33% 45% 33% 43% 42% 40% 44% 39% 52% 59% 27%

18% 55% 25% 19% 18% 33% 19% 17% 16% 17% 19% 14% 13% 26%

30% 9% 38% 29% 27% 22% 17% 29% 31% 17% 31% 16% 14% 30%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

35% 21% 13% 48% 36% 44% 46% 35% 38% 40% 34% 35% 45% 18%

32% 52% 25% 19% 27% 33% 29% 31% 27% 23% 34% 29% 38% 40%

17% - 6% 14% 9% 11% 6% 15% 19% 12% 16% 8% 2% 21%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

62% 36% 63% 48% 55% 67% 75% 64% 59% 65% 63% 65% 61% 52%

16% 52% 13% 24% 27% 22% 10% 16% 16% 19% 16% 11% 25% 18%

12% 6% 6% 14% - - 5% 10% 16% 4% 12% 3% 2% 18%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

48% 36% 31% 57% 27% 67% 62% 49% 48% 51% 48% 57% 56% 32%

21% 48% 44% 10% 36% 11% 17% 21% 18% 23% 23% 21% 20% 27%

15% 3% 13% 24% 27% - 5% 13% 18% 11% 13% 8% 3% 20%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

21% 6% 13% 38% 9% - 13% 21% 22% 21% 20% 13% 19% 30%

36% 55% 63% 24% 27% 44% 33% 33% 34% 39% 39% 24% 38% 41%

27% 18% 19% 14% 55% 22% 27% 29% 31% 27% 25% 32% 27% 13%

Marital statusPregnancy and maternityGender same as at birth

P
age 268



Impact of proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break %

Respondents

Base 1957

Impact of proposals

Additional licensing scheme - positive impact 52%

Additional licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Additional licensing scheme - negative impact 20%

-

Selective licensing scheme - positive impact 40%

Selective licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Selective licensing scheme - negative impact 30%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - positive impact 35%

Private landlord’s rental charter - no impact 32%

Private landlord’s rental charter - negative impact 16%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - positive impact 61%

Revised HMO minimum standards - no impact 16%

Revised HMO minimum standards - negative impact 12%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - positive impact 48%

Introduce a social letting agency - no impact 21%

Introduce a social letting agency - negative impact 14%

-

Keep things as they are - positive impact 21%

Keep things as they are - no impact 37%

Keep things as they are - negative impact 27%

Total White

White 

Others Mixed Asian Black Any Other Buddhist Christian Hindu Jewish Muslim Sikh Other No religion

Prefer not 

to say

986 529 60 146 137 47 18 717 20 4 108 3 48 881 152

52% 50% 45% 54% 61% 53% 50% 54% 50% 75% 60% - 75% 47% 53%

19% 18% 20% 14% 20% 17% 17% 19% 15% - 13% - 6% 19% 19%

21% 22% 17% 19% 13% 15% 22% 17% 30% 25% 14% 67% 8% 23% 17%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

40% 39% 37% 45% 44% 43% 39% 40% 50% 100% 47% 67% 42% 40% 36%

18% 17% 23% 14% 18% 17% 17% 20% 15% - 11% - 10% 18% 23%

31% 31% 22% 26% 23% 17% 39% 28% 35% - 24% 33% 21% 32% 26%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

35% 34% 38% 38% 38% 38% 28% 36% 25% 75% 43% 33% 46% 33% 26%

32% 35% 27% 23% 31% 30% 39% 30% 45% 25% 21% 33% 25% 34% 35%

18% 14% 12% 16% 12% 11% 17% 18% 25% - 13% - 6% 15% 19%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

60% 63% 63% 64% 62% 64% 61% 61% 55% 75% 66% 33% 75% 62% 53%

17% 16% 12% 9% 17% 23% 17% 18% 10% 25% 13% - 10% 15% 24%

13% 12% 13% 12% 8% 4% 11% 12% 25% - 8% - - 14% 11%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

48% 45% 48% 53% 55% 55% 50% 47% 55% 75% 53% 33% 77% 47% 41%

23% 21% 20% 9% 21% 17% 39% 21% 5% - 10% 33% 6% 23% 28%

15% 16% 13% 15% 12% 11% 6% 15% 25% - 13% 33% 2% 15% 12%

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

21% 20% 20% 22% 21% 26% 28% 21% 30% - 22% 33% 23% 19% 24%

37% 38% 38% 36% 32% 32% 50% 34% 35% 25% 29% - 25% 41% 39%

28% 26% 32% 24% 27% 21% 17% 29% 25% 25% 31% - 31% 25% 23%

Ethnicity religion or belief

P
age 269



Impact of proposals by V1(1~3): V2:V3:V4:V5:V6:V7:V8:V9:V10

Break %

Respondents

Base 1957

Impact of proposals

Additional licensing scheme - positive impact 52%

Additional licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Additional licensing scheme - negative impact 20%

-

Selective licensing scheme - positive impact 40%

Selective licensing scheme - no impact 18%

Selective licensing scheme - negative impact 30%

-

Private landlord’s rental charter - positive impact 35%

Private landlord’s rental charter - no impact 32%

Private landlord’s rental charter - negative impact 16%

-

Revised HMO minimum standards - positive impact 61%

Revised HMO minimum standards - no impact 16%

Revised HMO minimum standards - negative impact 12%

-

Introduce a social letting agency - positive impact 48%

Introduce a social letting agency - no impact 21%

Introduce a social letting agency - negative impact 14%

-

Keep things as they are - positive impact 21%

Keep things as they are - no impact 37%

Keep things as they are - negative impact 27%

Total Yes No Bisexual

Gay/Lesbia

n

Heterosexu

al/Straight

Prefer not 

to say

161 1794 10 44 1757 141

54% 51% 70% 61% 52% 45%

19% 18% 10% 16% 18% 21%

9% 21% 10% 11% 20% 21%

- - - - - -

40% 40% 50% 55% 40% 35%

21% 18% 20% 20% 18% 24%

23% 30% 10% 14% 30% 30%

- - - - - -

35% 35% 30% 39% 35% 26%

30% 32% 50% 32% 31% 38%

12% 17% - 11% 16% 18%

- - - - - -

60% 61% 70% 64% 62% 57%

19% 16% 20% 20% 16% 22%

6% 13% - 7% 12% 13%

- - - - - -

51% 48% 70% 57% 48% 36%

20% 22% 20% 23% 21% 29%

11% 15% - 5% 14% 19%

- - - - - -

19% 21% - 11% 21% 21%

26% 38% 50% 36% 36% 45%

35% 26% 20% 36% 27% 20%

Has disability Sexual orientation

P
age 270



Gender by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Male 1047 546 441 56 4 52% 49% 55% 53% 57%
Female 967 558 360 46 3 48% 51% 45% 43% 43%
Not specified 4 - - 4 - 0% - - 4% -
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

Age band by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

18-24 418 129 287 2 - 21% 12% 36% 2% -
25-34 704 257 414 32 1 35% 23% 52% 30% 14%
35-44 283 201 67 15 - 14% 18% 8% 14% -
45-54 221 170 16 31 4 11% 15% 2% 29% 57%
55-64 175 152 4 19 - 9% 14% 0% 18% -
65 and over 203 188 9 5 1 10% 17% 1% 5% 14%
Prefer not to say 12 7 4 - 1 1% 1% 0% - 14%
Not specified 2 - - 2 - 0% - - 2% -
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

Ethnicity by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

White 1013 585 360 63 5 50% 53% 45% 59% 71%
White Others 538 207 309 22 - 27% 19% 39% 21% -
Mixed 60 31 23 6 - 3% 3% 3% 6% -
Asian 157 101 54 2 - 8% 9% 7% 2% -
Black 147 122 21 3 1 7% 11% 3% 3% 14%
Any Other 48 40 7 1 - 2% 4% 1% 1% -
Not specified 55 18 27 9 1 3% 2% 3% 8% 14%
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

P
age 271



Gender same as at birth by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Yes 1961 1077 777 101 6 97% 98% 97% 95% 86%
No 36 21 15 - - 2% 2% 2% - -
Prefer not to say 18 6 9 2 1 1% 1% 1% 2% 14%
Not specified 3 - - 3 - 0% - - 3% -
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

Pregnancy and maternity by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Pregnant 21 18 3 - - 2% 3% 1% - -
On maternity leave 12 11 1 - - 1% 2% 0% - -
Returning from maternity leave 10 7 2 1 - 1% 1% 1% 2% -
Prefer not to say 66 43 19 4 - 7% 8% 5% 9% -
Not pregnant or on maternity leave 851 479 336 36 - 88% 86% 93% 78% -
Not specified 5 - - 5 - 1% - - 11% -
Base 964 558 360 46 - 964 558 360 46 -

Marital status by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Married/Civil Partnership 565 445 74 42 4 28% 40% 9% 40% 57%
Divorced 78 64 9 5 - 4% 6% 1% 5% -
Single 1141 465 633 41 2 57% 42% 79% 39% 29%
Widowed 67 64 2 1 - 3% 6% 0% 1% -
Other 65 33 25 7 - 3% 3% 3% 7% -
Prefer not to say 97 33 58 6 - 5% 3% 7% 6% -
Not specified 5 - - 4 1 0% - - 4% 14%
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

P
age 272



Religion or belief by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Buddhist 18 9 6 3 - 1% 1% 1% 3% -
Christian 746 514 193 34 5 37% 47% 24% 32% 71%
Hindu 20 12 7 1 - 1% 1% 1% 1% -
Jewish 4 2 2 - - 0% 0% 0% - -
Muslim 114 94 16 3 1 6% 9% 2% 3% 14%
Sikh 3 2 - 1 - 0% 0% - 1% -
Other 52 43 8 1 - 3% 4% 1% 1% -
No religion 894 356 492 46 - 44% 32% 61% 43% -
Prefer not to say 158 72 77 9 - 8% 7% 10% 8% -
Not specified 9 - - 8 1 0% - - 8% 14%
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

Has disability by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Yes 167 151 10 6 - 8% 14% 1% 6% -
No 1846 953 791 96 6 91% 86% 99% 91% 86%
Not specified 5 - - 4 1 0% - - 4% 14%
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

Sexual orientation by Survey source

Respondents
Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs Total

Doorstep 

survey

HMO 

survey

Online 

survey

Neighbour 

Boroughs

Bisexual 11 1 7 2 1 1% 0% 1% 2% 14%
Gay/Lesbian 46 28 8 10 - 2% 3% 1% 9% -
Heterosexual/Straight 1807 1011 710 81 5 90% 92% 89% 76% 71%
Prefer not to say 146 64 76 6 - 7% 6% 9% 13% 14
Not specified 8 - - 7 1 0% - - 7% 14%
Base 2018 1104 801 106 7 2018 1104 801 106 7

P
age 273



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultation on improving 
private rented housing in 
Hammersmith & Fulham  
 

LB of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Full Report 

2nd November 2016 

Page 274



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 2 
 

 
 

 
Project details and acknowledgements ............................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 16 

Results ................................................................................................................................................. 24 

1. Support for and impact of proposals ............................................................................................. 24 

2. Licensing costs ................................................................................................................................. 67 

3. Experiences in Hammersmith & Fulham ........................................................................................ 69 

4. Tenant experiences ......................................................................................................................... 77 

5. Landlord experiences ...................................................................................................................... 82 

6. Social Letting agency ....................................................................................................................... 86 

Appendices .......................................................................................................................................... 89 

 
 

 

  

           Contents Page 

Page 275



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 3 
 

Project details and acknowledgements 
 

 

Title 
Consultation on improving private rented housing in Hammersmith & 

Fulham  

Client Hammersmith & Fulham Council 

Project number 16001 

Author Karen Etheridge & Hayley D’Souza 

Research Manager Karen Etheridge 

 

M·E·L Research would like to thank the council for their support with the consultation. We would also like 

to thank residents, tenants, landlords and agents in and around the borough and in neighbouring boroughs 

for taking part in the consultation. Thanks also go to the stakeholders that contributed their views on the 

proposed options for consideration.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

M·E·L Research  

2nd Floor, 1 Ashted Lock, Birmingham Science Park Aston, Birmingham. B7 4AZ  

Email: info@melresearch.co.uk  

Web:   www.melresearch.co.uk 

Tel: 0121 604 4664 

 

Page 276

mailto:info@melresearch.co.uk
http://www.melresearch.co.uk/


                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 4 
 

Executive Summary 
 

This summary provides the main findings from the Private Rented Sector consultation undertaken in the 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) over a 12-week period (7th July 2016 to the 30th 

September 2016). The quantitative results shown are derived from three key methods of consultation – 

residents’ survey (a face-to-face survey with a representative sample of 1,104 respondents across the 

borough), an online consultation (105 respondents) and an HMO consultation (face-to-face survey with 805 

HMO tenants across the borough).  

The findings in this report have also taken into account views of additional stakeholders, gathered from email 

correspondence, online forms, letters and semi-structure qualitative telephone interviews, including those 

from council officers from neighbouring boroughs, residents associations, associations representing landlords 

and managing agents, businesses and others interested in the private rented sector. 

The results include support for and likely impact on respondents for five different options that the council is 

considering introducing to improve the private rented sector: 

1. Implement an additional licensing scheme across the borough 

2. Implement a selective licensing scheme in designated areas of the borough 

3. Introduce a Hammersmith & Fulham Landlords Rental Charter 

4. Introduce revised HMO standards documentation  

5. Introduce a social letting agency. 

The consultation also looked at views on the proposed licensing costs, experiences of neighbourhood issues in 

the borough, tenants experiences of living in the borough, landlords experiences of renting property in the 

borough and experiences of letting property in the borough to help inform ideas around the formation of a 

social lettings agency.   

1. Overall levels of support for and impact of proposals 

Option 1: Implement an additional licensing scheme across the borough 

For the residents’ survey, results showed that: 

 Seven out of ten respondents (70%) support the proposal for additional licensing, whilst a fifth (19%) do 
not support the proposal. Over half (58%) feel it is likely to have a positive impact on them and only 14% 
feel it is likely to have a negative impact on them. 

 Two thirds of privately renting tenants (67%) support additional licensing and a quarter (26%) do not 
support it.  Over half (55%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and one in five (21%) feel it will be 
negative.  

Page 277



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 5 
 

 Around four out of ten landlords (37%) support additional licensing.44% do not support the proposal. 
Around three out of ten (33%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and 33% feel it will have a 
negative impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 27 respondents, so results should be 
used with caution. 

For the HMO consultation:  

 Around two thirds of respondents (65%) support the proposal, although around three out of ten (29%) do 
not support it. Around four out of ten (42%) feel it would have a positive impact on them. Around a 
quarter feel it will have no impact (23%), and 25% feel it will have a negative impact. Almost all 
respondents were privately renting tenants.  

For the online consultation:  

 Around two third of respondents (65%) support additional licensing, whilst 30% do not support it. Around 
four out of ten (39%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and a quarter (25%) feel it will be negative.  

 Around eight out of ten privately renting tenants (79%) support additional licensing. Three out of ten 
(30%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and one in five (14%) feel it will be negative. Results are 
based on a sample size of 43 respondents, so results should be used with caution.  

 Almost four out of ten landlords (38%) support additional licensing, whilst 62% do not support the 
proposal. A quarter (24%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and 62% feel it will have a negative 
impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 29 respondents, so results should be used with 
caution. 

Wider stakeholder views:  

Stakeholders interviewed are mainly positive about the proposal to introduce additional licensing in LBHF. By 

contrast, the landlords’ associations are not in support as they do not feel there is sufficient evidence that 

these types of proposals have worked elsewhere. They also believe that the council already has the powers it 

needs to tackle the issues it is looking to address. Other common themes that came through the stakeholder 

consultation were: 

 Current government consultation may provide the council with the powers it needs to extend HMO 
licensing. These are due to be announced in due course, but no date has been provided. 

 There are some mixed views around the impact of other schemes that have been introduced around the 
country, some saying they have been positive and others saying they have been negative. 

 Having additional licensing makes licensing of HMO properties much clearer for all landlords as all will 
need to be licensed. 

 Landlords associations feel that the council already has powers to tackle substandard housing and criminal 
landlords, but some feel that they do not use these powers. 

 Most feel that additional licensing will have a positive impact in improving standards for tenants living in 
HMO properties. 

 Many feel that additional licensing will discourage criminal landlords from continuing their practices, 
although others feel that the proposals will not achieve anything. 

 A number of stakeholders are concerned about inspections and how these will actually happen; further 
information or consideration should be made by the council. 

Page 278



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 6 
 

 Many feel that communication will be key for any scheme to be successful and the council needs to 
consider how they are going to promote the scheme and make sure all are aware of what it means (both 
landlords and tenants). 

 Most stakeholders feel that the scheme is unlikely to achieve its objectives unless enforcement is a key 
part; the council needs to ensure the right resources are in place to make sure the scheme has ‘teeth’. 

 The landlords’ associations suggest that landlords will simply pass on the costs of any scheme to tenants. 
Other stakeholders involved in the sector suggest that this has been negligible in other schemes they are 
aware of to date.  

 A number of stakeholders feel that rubbish and litter are a big concern with HMO properties and that the 
council should have more effective waste strategies to deal with the amount and storage of waste 
generated by these properties.  

 

Option 2: Implement a selective licensing scheme in designated areas of the borough 

For the residents’ survey: 

 Around half of all respondents (53%) support selective licensing, whilst around a third (34%) do not 
support the proposal. Four out of ten (40%) feel it is likely to have a positive impact on them and only 
Around a quarter (27%) feel it is likely to have a negative impact on them. 

 Similarly, around half of privately renting tenants (52%) support selective licensing, whilst four out of ten 
(39%) do not support it.  Around four out of ten (43%) feel it will have a positive impact on them whilst a 
third (33%) feel it will be negative.  

 Around half of landlords (48%) support selective licensing. Almost four out of ten (37%) do not support 
the proposal. 37% feel it will have a positive impact on them and 33% feel it will have a negative impact. 
These results are based on a sample size of only 27 respondents, so results should be used with caution. 

For the HMO consultation:  

 Around six out of ten respondents (58%) support the proposal, although around 36% do not support it. 
36% feel it would have a positive impact on them, whilst 32% feel it will have a negative impact.  Almost 
all respondents were privately renting tenants.  

For the online consultation:  

 Over two thirds of respondents (68%) support selective licensing, whilst over a quarter (28%) do not 
support it. Over four out of ten (44%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and a fifth (20%) feel it will 
be negative.  

 Around eight out of ten privately renting tenants (79%) support selective licensing and only 14% do not 
support it. Around half (49%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and only 5%  feel it will be 
negative. Results are based on a sample size of 43 respondents, so results should be used with caution.  

 Over half (55%) of landlords support selective licensing, whilst 45% do not support the proposal. One third 
(31%) of landlords feel it will have a positive impact on them and 41% feel it will have a negative impact. 
These results are based on a sample size of only 29 respondents, so results should be used with caution. 

 

Wider stakeholder views:  

Page 279



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 7 
 

As with the additional licensing proposal, we see mixed views amongst stakeholders that took part in the 

consultation. However, fewer are in support of a selective licensing scheme in designated areas, as they are of 

a borough wide additional licensing scheme. Key themes are around:  

 Evidence around the success of similar schemes elsewhere is disputed. The landlords associations feel 
there is no evidence of schemes having a positive impact, whilst others felt that problems in the PRS are 
not just amongst HMO properties and therefore it is important to address the whole industry. 

 A number of stakeholders questioned the evidence of ASB and the direct link between private rented 
housing. Many felt that there is not enough information provided to show this link.  

 Again, a number of stakeholders felt that the council already has powers to tackle with the problems in 
the industry and that these should be used rather than introducing selective licensing. 

 A small number of stakeholders felt that council needs to put the right measures in place to track changes 
over time to demonstrate what impacts the scheme is having on ASB. 

 Similarly, with additional licensing, a number of stakeholders felt that communication of any scheme and 
ensuing that it is properly enforced is crucial to the success of any scheme.   

 

Option 3: Introduce a Hammersmith & Fulham Landlords Rental Charter 

For the residents’ survey, results showed that: 

 Just over half of respondents (54%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst around three out of ten 
(29%) do not support the proposal. 37% feel it is likely to have a positive impact on them and 17% feel it is 
likely to have a negative impact on them 

 Six out of ten privately renting tenants (60%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst over a quarter 
(28%) do not support it. Around four out of ten (42%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and one 
in five (20%) feel it will be negative.  

 Four out of ten (41%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst 37% do not support the proposal. Around 
three out of ten (30%) feel it will have a positive impact on them whilst 33% feel it will have a negative 
impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 27 respondents, so results should be used with 
caution. 

For the HMO consultation:  

 Around two thirds of respondents (65%) support the proposal, although around a quarter (23%) do not 
support it. Around three out of ten (29%) feel it would have a positive impact on them, whilst only 14% 
feel it will have a negative impact.  40% feel it will have no impact at all. Almost all respondents were 
privately renting tenants.  

For the online consultation:  

 Around two third of respondents (68%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst a quarter (26% )do not 
support it. Four out of ten (40%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and only 11% feel it will be 
negative.  

 Seven out of ten privately renting tenants (70%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst a quarter (26%) 
do not support it. Around four out of ten (38%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst only 5% 
feel it will be negative. Results are based on a sample size of 43 respondents, so results should be used 
with caution.  

Page 280



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 8 
 

 Six out of ten landlords (62%) support a landlords rental charter, whilst 34% do not support the proposal. 
Almost four out of ten (38%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and only 10% feel it will have a 
negative impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 29 respondents, so results should be 
used with caution. 

Wider stakeholder views:  

On the whole, stakeholders questioned whether this is likely to have any impact on the private rented sector, 

predominantly because it is a voluntary scheme and also because there are already similar schemes around 

that the council could promote: 

 Many felt that as the scheme is voluntary, it will only attract good landlords who the council do not need 
to be tackling. Most felt it would generally not have any impact on poor landlords that the council needs 
to address. 

 Many stakeholders referred to other schemes that are already in place, and also questioned how 
successful these have been in attracting landlords, therefore how likely is it that this scheme would be 
more successful. 

 A number felt that the standards that the charter is asking landlords to uphold are generally requirements 
in law, so questioned why this is necessary.  

 Many felt that it was not clear what landlords would get out of it and that this should be addressed if the 
council wants to encourage as many to sign up to it as possible. 

 Similar to the licensing options, many felt that the council would need to come down hard on those who 
were found to have signed up to the scheme and then not lived up to those standards, as otherwise this 
would be merely a paper exercise with no teeth. 

 

Option 4:  Introduce revised minimum HMO standards  

This proposal received the highest levels of support out of the five options. 

For the residents’ survey, results showed that: 

 Seven out of ten respondents (70%) support revised minimum HMO standards, whilst  18% do not 
support the proposal. Around six out of ten (58%) feel it is likely to have a positive impact on them and 
11% feel it is likely to have a negative impact on them 

 Around seven out of ten privately renting tenants (69%) support revised minimum HMO standards, whilst 
only 14% do not support it. Around six out of ten (58%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and 17% 
feel it will be negative.  

 Just 37% of landlords support revised minimum HMO standards, whilst another 37% do not support the 
proposal. One third (30%) feel it will have a positive impact on them whilst another third (30%) feel it will 
have a negative impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 27 respondents, so results should 
be used with caution.  

For the HMO consultation:  

 Around eight out of ten respondents (81%) support revised minimum HMO standards, and only 14% do 
not support it. Around two thirds (64%) feel it would have a positive impact on them, whilst only 12% feel 
it will have a negative impact. Almost all respondents were privately renting tenants.  

For the online consultation:  

Page 281



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 9 
 

 Three quarters (75%) support revised minimum HMO standards, whilst a fifth (21% ) do not support it. 
Around half (51%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and 16% feel it will be negative.  

 Around eight out of ten privately renting tenants (81%) support the proposal, whilst 14% do not support 
it. Over half (53%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst only 9% feel it will be negative. Results 
are based on a sample size of 43 respondents, so results should be used with caution.  

 Over half of landlords (55%) support the proposal, whilst four out of ten (41%) do not support the 
proposal. One third of them (31%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst almost four out of ten 
(38%) feel it will have a negative impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 29 respondents, 
so results should be used with caution. 

Wider stakeholder views:  

This proposal seemed to be mainly positive amongst stakeholders. Key themes that emerged were: 

 Many landlords are simply ignorant of their duties, therefore any guidance on what is required of them 
should be beneficial. 

 A small number of stakeholders were not sure whether this was legal and whether the council is trying to 
introduce new minimum standards that are already in current legislation. 

 A small number felt that these would not tackle the worst HMOs, as this cohort of  landlords would 
choose to ignore them as they currently do. 

 Again, we see many stakeholders keen for the council to ensure that inspection and enforcement are key 
parts of this and that this is not a paper exercise. 

 

Option 5:  Introduce a social letting agency  

For the residents’ survey, results showed that: 

 Around six out of ten respondents (62%) support the proposal to introduce a social letting agency, whilst  
around a fifth (21%) do not support the proposal. Just under half (49%) feel it is likely to have a positive 
impact on them and a fifth (20%) feel it is likely to have a negative impact on them. 

 Six out of ten privately renting tenants (60%) support a social letting agency, whilst 28% do not support it. 
Around half (49%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and a fifth (21%) feel it will be negative.  

 Four out of ten landlords (41%) support a social letting agency, whilst another 41% do not support the 
proposal. Around a quarter (26%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst 37% feel it will have a 
negative impact. These results are based on a sample size of only 27 respondents, so results should be 
used with caution.  

For the HMO consultation:  

 Around seven out of ten respondents (71%) support a social letting agency, and only 16% do not support 
it. Over four out of ten (44%) feel it would have a positive impact on them, whilst only 12% feel it will have 
a negative impact. Almost all respondents were privately renting tenants.  

For the online consultation:  

 Around two thirds (67%) support a social letting agency, whilst around a fifth (22% ) do not support it. 
Around four out of ten (39%) feel it will have a positive impact on them and only 9% feel it will be 
negative.  

Page 282



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 10 
 

 Around eight out of ten privately renting tenants (79%) support the proposal, whilst 14% do not support 
it. Four out of ten (40%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst only 2% feel it will be negative. 
Results are based on a sample size of 43 respondents, so results should be used with caution.  

 Over half of landlords (55%) support the proposal, whilst 28% do not support the proposal. One quarter 
(24%) feel it will have a positive impact on them, although only 7% feel it will have a negative impact. 55% 
feel it will have no impact on them. These results are based on a sample size of only 29 respondents, so 
results should be used with caution. 

Wider stakeholder views:  

There are mixed views amongst stakeholders about this option, with many feeling it be positive, but others 

feeling that it is a huge challenge given the industry and high rents in this part of London. 

 Evidence of other schemes working elsewhere is mixed, with Haringey being quoted as one area where a 
huge amount of money has been spent, with little to no effect, whilst Carmarthenshire and Islington were 
quoted as having similar schemes that are working well.  

 Many felt that although it would be positive to have a social letting agent competing in the market place, 
whilst others felt that they would not be able to compete on a social footing due to the high levels of rent 
that landlords can command, therefore whether an agency could sign up landlords to offer rents that 
would support tenants on lower/modest incomes. 

 A number of stakeholders feel that the council needs to think and plan very carefully before committing to 
this and if they do commit, they need to try to attract as many landlords as possible immediately to get 
any momentum, otherwise it will struggle to take off.  

 

2. Licensing costs 

For the residents’ survey, results showed that: 

 Three out of five respondents (59%) to the residents’ survey feel that the licensing costs proposed by the 
council are reasonable, whilst around a quarter (26%) feel they are unreasonable. 

 A similar proportion of privately renting tenants (57%) feel they are reasonable, whilst 27% feel they are 
unreasonable.  

 Almost one third of landlords (30%) feel the costs are reasonable, whilst a higher proportion (56%) feel 
they are unreasonable. 

For the HMO consultation:  

 Support is slightly higher for the HMO consultation, with around three quarters (74%) saying the costs are 
reasonable, and only 19% unreasonable. 

For the online consultation:  

 Similar to the residents’ survey, three out of five respondents (59%)  to the online consultation feel that 
the licensing costs are reasonable. However, over a third (36%) feel they are unreasonable. 

 Two thirds (67%) of privately renting tenants feel they are reasonable, and only 14% feel they are 
unreasonable.  

 Over four out of ten landlords (43%) feel the costs are reasonable, whilst 43% feel they are unreasonable. 

 

Page 283



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 11 
 

3. Experiences in Hammersmith and Fulham 

Anti-social behaviour issues 

 Respondents were asked to rate a list of 6 common neighbourhood issues from 1 to 10 (where 1 is not a 
problem and 10 is a major problem). The top three neighbourhood issues for those responding to the 
residents’ survey are small-scale rubbish dumping (mean score of 4.1), followed by noise (3.8) and 
neglected/untidy properties (3.1). For privately renting tenants, small sale rubbish dumping was top (3.5), 
followed by noise (3.4) and pest/vermin issues (2.9). 

 For HMO consultation respondents, the most common problem is noise (3.3), followed by small scale 
rubbish dumping (3.0). Private tenants make up almost all of this group.  

 Pest and vermin featured top of the list for those responding to the online consultation (mean score of 
4.7), followed by noise (4.2) and neglected/untidy properties (4.0). For privately renting tenants, small 
scale rubbish dumping was top (5.7, followed by pest/vermin issues (4.8) and noise (4.2). 

Feelings of safety 

 The overwhelming majority of respondents to the residents’ survey say they feel safe, with 97% feeling 
safe outside during the day, 95% safe when home alone at night and 84% feel safe outside after dark. 
Figures are very similar for privately renting tenants (98%, 97% and 88% respectively).  

 Similarly, the overwhelming majority of respondents to the HMO consultation feel safe, with 98% safe 
outside during the day, 96% safe when home alone at night and 90% safe outside after dark.  

 Results are again fairly similar for respondents to the online consultation, with 95% feeling safe outside 
during the day, 87% safe when home alone at night, although only 72% say they feel safe outside after 
dark (20% feel unsafe). Results are relatively similar for privately renting tenants (98%, 86% and 72% 
respectively). 

Effectiveness of council in dealing with anti-social behaviour 

 When asked how effective the council is at dealing with ASB (where 1 is not at all effective and 10 is totally 
effective), a mean score of 5.5 was calculated For the residents’ survey. The same figure was calculated for 
privately renting tenants.  

 A mean score of 4.3 was calculated for those who took part in the online consultation and 4.5 for those 
who are privately renting tenants.  

 A mean score of 6.8 was calculated for those who took part in the HMO consultation.  

Affected by or witness ASB 

 When asked whether they have been affected by or witness ASB, 70% of respondents to the resident 
consultation say they hadn’t been, whilst 13% had witnessed and 10% say they had been affected by ABS. 
Results are relatively similar for privately renting tenants.  

 Around four out of ten (38%) of respondents to the online consultation say they have been affected 
by/witnessed ASB, with the same proportion saying they have not. 28% say they have witnessed ASB. 
Results are again similar for privately renting tenants. 

 Around two thirds (68%) of HMO consultation respondents say they have not been affected by/witnessed 
ASB. 6% have been affected and 9% witnessed.  

 Views on private rented property standards 

 When asked whether respondents felt that privately rented properties in their area are maintained to a 
good standard, around six out of ten (61%) respondents to the residents’ survey say they are and a fifth 

Page 284



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 12 
 

(21%) say they are not. Around three quarters of privately renting tenants (77%) say they are and 14% say 
they are not. 

 Just under half (46%) of respondents to the online consultation say they are maintained to a good 
standard, whilst 30% say they are not. 77% of privately renting tenants also say they are, and 29% say they 
are not. 

 Around three quarters (76%) of respondents to the HMO consultation say that properties are maintained 
to a good standard, whilst 12 say they are not.  

Views on landlords and letting agents 

 When asked whether respondents think that private landlords or agents act responsibly in letting, 
managing and maintaining their properties, around four out of ten (44%) respondents to the residents’ 
survey say that most do, 4% say all do and 26% say some do. Only 5% say none do. Results are relatively 
similar for privately renting tenants . 

 Results are fairly similar for the online consultation. Around four out of ten (43%) say that most do, 6% say 
all do and 37% say some do. 9% say none do. Results differ for privately renting tenants, with only 16% 
saying most. However, 47% say they don’t know.  

 Half of respondents to the HMO consultation (50%) say that most act responsibly, 5% say all do and 19% 
say some do. 3% say none do.  

Actions to take to keep private rented properties tidy 

 When asked what action should be taken to keep private rented properties tidy, around four out of ten 
(38%) of respondents to the residents’ survey say that landlords/agents should undertake routine 
external inspections, followed by 33% who say that new/existing tenants should be advised of their legal 
responsibility and 32% who say they want a contractor to be engaged to routinely clean/maintain 
external areas.  

 Around eight out of ten (79%) of respondents to the online consultation say that that new/existing 
tenants should be advised of their legal responsibility, followed by 64% who say that landlords/ agents 
should inspect properties when a tenancy ends and clear/remove any small scale dumping.   

 Under half (46%) of respondents to the HMO consultation want additional bins to be provided, followed 
by 38% who want external storage to be provided.  

 

4. Tenant experiences 

Satisfaction with aspects of the home 

 Around eight out of ten (82%) respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the overall 
quality of their home and 12% dissatisfied. Results are similar for the HMO consultation (87% satisfied but 
only 5% dissatisfied) and lower for the online consultation (69% satisfied and 17% dissatisfied).  

 Around three quarters (73%) of respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the overall 
repairs and maintenance of their home, whilst 17% are dissatisfied. Results are slightly higher for HMO 
consultation respondents (82% satisfied and 9% dissatisfied) and lower for the online consultation (61% 
satisfied and 23% dissatisfied). 

 Around three quarters (73%) of respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the 
management of their home by their landlord/letting agent, and13% dissatisfied. Results are slightly 
higher for HMO consultation respondents (83% satisfied and 7% dissatisfied) and lower for the online 
consultation (55% satisfied and 30% dissatisfied). 

Page 285



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 13 
 

 Around two thirds (67%) of respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the cleanliness of 
communal areas inside the property, whilst 18% are dissatisfied. Results are slightly higher for HMO 
consultation respondents (85% satisfied and 7% dissatisfied) and lower for the online consultation (59% 
satisfied and 27% dissatisfied). 

 Again, around two thirds (67%) of respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the 
cleanliness of their shared kitchens, toilet or bathroom, and only 9% are dissatisfied. Results are slightly 
higher for HMO consultation respondents (87% satisfied and 5% dissatisfied) and lower for the online 
consultation (57% satisfied but only 2% dissatisfied). 

 Around seven out of ten (72%) respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied with the 
maintenance of outside areas, whilst 16% are dissatisfied. Results are relatively similar for HMO 
consultation respondents (70% satisfied and 11% dissatisfied) and lower for the online consultation (40% 
satisfied and 40% dissatisfied). 

 Privately renting tenants are slightly more satisfied than the overall figures reported For the residents’ 
survey and slightly less satisfied than the overall figures reported for the online consultation.  

Issues affecting tenants 

 Respondents were then asked to what extent a variety of issues have affected them in the last 12 months. 
The top response for those taking part in the residents’ survey is rubbish and litter (42% as a problem), 
followed by damp and mould (39%) and disrepair (33%). These issues are the same for privately renting 
tenants, although damp and mould is the top issue (34%).  

 Rubbish and litter is also the top problem for respondents to the online consultation, although a much 
higher proportion view it is a problem (72). However, this is followed by noise or disturbance from 
another tenant/neighbour (57%) and poor management of properties (54%). These issues are the same 
for privately renting tenants, although poor management (61%) and noise/disturbance (56%) feature as 
second and third respectively.  

 For HMO respondents, the top response is damp and mould (38% as a problem), followed by rubbish or 
litter (34%) and disrepair (31%).  

 

5. Landlord experiences 

 30 landlords responded to the online consultation and 27 to the residents’ survey.  

Membership of landlords associations 

 Membership of landlords associations is relatively low, with only 30% (9 landlords) of online respondents 
members of the London Landlords Accreditation Scheme, 20% are members of the National Landlords 
Association (6), 13% are members of the Residential Landlords Association and 7% other. 47% say they are 
not members. Of resident consultation respondents, only 1 (4%) is a member of the London Landlords 
Accreditation Scheme, 1 is a member of the Residential Landlords Association (4%) and 1 of an ‘other’ 
body (4%).   

Problems with properties 

 15% say that they had problems with tenants causing anti-social behaviour (such as noise, litter or 
putting rubbish out on the wrong day) and the same proportion stated that problems in neighbouring 
properties affected their property/tenants. 7% (2) say they have had problems with poor property 
conditions. 4% say that they had difficulty finding new tenants and 4% also say that they had difficulty 
obtaining new references for tenants. 

Page 286



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 14 
 

 50% of landlords (5) who responded to the online consultation had problems in neighbouring properties 
that affected their property/tenants. 40% (4) say that they experienced tenants causing anti-social 
behaviour. 30% of the same group (3) say that they had difficulty finding new tenants, with 20% (2) 
having problems evicting tenants and 10% (1) experiencing poor property conditions.     

Problems affecting landlords in the borough  

 The most common problem felt by landlords responding to the online consultation is the supply of 
property to rent (mean score of 4.2), followed by the poor perception of private landlords or properties 
(4.1) and littering (4.0). 

 The most common problem felt by landlords responding to the residents’ survey is small scale rubbish 
dumping (mean score of 3.1), followed by littering (2.6) and noise (2.4). 

Other problems affecting landlords 

 Around three quarters of landlords (74%) who respondent to the online consultation say they had issues 
with rent arrears, followed by problems with rubbish (53%) and not keeping the property in good 
condition (47%). 

 Landlords were then asked what other problems they had encountered with tenants they had rented 
their properties to. For landlords who responded to the online consultation, the most common issue is 
rent arrears (74% - 14 respondents). Followed by problems with rubbish e.g. small scale rubbish 
dumping, not putting the rubbish out correctly or not storing rubbish properly (53% -10 respondents).  

 The most common response for landlords who responded to the residents’ survey is ‘other‘ (56% - 15 
respondents). The next most common response is not keeping the property in good condition (19% - 5 
respondents).  

Demand for properties  

 Landlords were also asked how much demand there is for their property. Over three quarters of landlords 
(78% - 21 respondents) who responded to the online consultation say that they could let their property 
quickly but did not currently have a waiting list. 19% (5 respondents) have a waiting list for their 
property.  

 Over half of landlords (56% - 15 respondents) who took part in the residents’ survey say that they could 
let their property quickly, but do not currently have a waiting list.  

 41% of landlords (11 respondents) who took part in the residents’ survey say that demand for their 
property has increased over the last two years, whilst 56% (15 respondents) say it has stayed the same, 
and 4% (1 respondent) say it has decreased. In comparison, 19% of landlords (5) who responded to the 
online consultation say that demand for their property has increased over the last two years, compares to 
67% (18) who say it has stayed the same, and 15% (4) who say it has decreased.   

 

6. Social letting agency 

 Respondents were asked where they search for a room, properties or tenants. The most popular response 
to the residents’ survey was that they use letting agents to search for a room/properties/tenants (57%). 
The most popular response for HMO and online respondents is to use websites to search for a 
room/properties/tenants (71% and 74% respectively).  

 Just under six out of ten (58%) of respondents to the resident consultation say they would like letting 
agents to find properties to rent. This was followed by around half (51%) who want them to deal with 
complaints about their property/landlord. 37% wanted help finding a room(s) to rent.  

Page 287



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 15 
 

 Almost three-quarters (73%) of respondents to the HMO consultation say that they want letting agencies 
to deal with complaints about their property/landlord. Around six out of ten (62%) want them to provide 
a service of finding a room(s) to rent. 45% say they would like them to find a property to rent. 

 The most common response for respondents to the online consultation is finding properties to rent 
(65%), followed by 58% who want letting agencies to deal with complaints about the property/landlord.  

 Over half of respondents to the residents’ survey (57%) would prefer to access letting agents face to face. 
This is followed by just under half (48%) who would prefer using a website. For those responding to the 
HMO consultation, the most preferred methods are via a website and by telephone (63% each). For 
respondents to the online consultation, the most popular choice is online (74%), followed by face-to-face 
(51%). 

 Just under half (46%) of resident consultation respondents, say they would consider letting/renting a 
property or room through the council, compared to 58% of HMO respondents and 47% of online 
respondents.  

 Around four out of ten respondents (39%) to the resident consultation say they would consider buying or 
selling their home through the council, compared to 36% for online consultation respondents and 28% of 
HMO consultation respondents.  

 Around a third of respondents (34%) to the resident consultation say they are a prospective landlord or 
tenant, compared to 42% of HMO consultation respondents and 51% of online consultation respondents.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 288



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 16 
 

Introduction 

Background 

The private rented sector (PRS) in the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) has grown rapidly 

in the last 10 years and accounts for approximately 27,500 properties; a third of the borough’s housing. It is 

likely that this trend is to continue and grow. The council feels that the increase in demand and competition 

from tenants to find accommodation that is in short supply means that there is little market driven incentive 

for poor landlords to maintain minimum safe housing standards.  

LBHF believe that parts of the PRS are badly managed and the quality of some rented accommodation is poor 

and in a few cases unsafe. This is borne out by the Council’s Housing Market Assessment published in 2010 

which noted that private rented dwellings had the highest levels of ‘unfitness’. The most common reasons for 

unfitness were disrepair (43%), food preparation (35%) and bath/shower (34%). According to tenure, the 

report revealed that private rented dwellings had the highest level of unfitness (8%). An estimated 44% of all 

unfit dwellings were privately rented. 

The council aims to improve the standard, safety and conditions for residents in the private rented sector in 

the borough and address issues around anti-social behaviour, but do this in a way that benefits both tenants 

and landlords.  The Council is therefore considering a number of different options to help improve housing and 

conditions within the private rented sector in the borough.  

Public consultation 

Public consultation was undertaken to determine the levels of support for the council’s proposals. The 

consultation took place over 12 weeks from 7th July 2016 to the 30th September 2016. The council produced 

a detailed document (appendix 1) entitled ‘Improving the private rented sector’. This provided:  

 background to private sector housing in the borough; 

 the Council’s business case; 

 how the plans support the Council’s wider objectives; 

 a summary of the proposals; 

 what the benefits are to landlords and tenants; 

 five proposed options; 

 the licensing fees and how they have been calculated; 

 the structure of the proposed licensing scheme; 

 details of the public consultation and timeframes; 

 how the results will be analysed and the decision making process. 

Page 289



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 17 
 

Proposals 

The consultation document gave detailed information on each of five proposals that the council wished to 

consult on: 

Option 1 – Implement an additional licensing scheme 

This option would involve implementing a borough-wide additional licensing scheme. This would require 

landlords who let a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) property to licence the property. The criteria would 

be any HMO, which is occupied by at least three people who do not make up a single household, who share 

one or more basic amenities such as kitchen, bathroom or toilet. 

Option 2 – Implement a selective licensing scheme in designated areas 

Selective licensing relates to private rented sector properties that are let to single families, couples and 

individuals. This proposal relates to those private rented sector properties that are not covered by the 

mandatory licensing scheme or the proposed additional licensing scheme. This option proposes the 

introduction of a scheme to designated areas with evidence of high levels of anti-social behaviour. 

Option 3 – Introduce a Hammersmith & Fulham Landlords Rental Charter 

This option proposes the introduction of a ‘H&F Landlords Rental Charter’ that commits landlords to best 

practice on rents, housing standards, charges, tenants’ deposit protection and security of tenure. The proposal 

aims to be self-certified and the council would not verify that landlords are upholding the principles set out in 

the charter. However, landlords who have signed the charter but do not uphold the principles will have their 

chartered status removed, subject to review. 

Option 4 – Introduce revised HMO standards documentation  

This option would see the introduction of revised local HMO standards for the council to decide whether a 

property is reasonably suitable for occupation by a certain number of persons. By amending local standards, 

the council could ensure that licensed accommodation is maintained above minimal national standards that 

do not adequately reflect the built form, size, layout and type of HMO that is typically found in the borough. 

New local standards would provide information for landlords on what is required of them to comply with the 

law, including the management, safety, facilities, waste storage, collection, and living space for the occupiers.  

Option 5 – Introduce a social letting agency 

The council have started a project to look at the feasibility of establishing a social letting agency in the borough 

and identify a recommended model. The idea is to help residents on low or modest incomes to overcome the 

barrier to accessing homes in the private rented sector and to help landlords in this part of the market find 

suitable tenants. 

Page 290



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 18 
 

Methodology 

The consultation was undertaken using a range of methods including face-to-face interviews, online surveys 

and feedback forms, letters and email correspondence, a public event and semi-structured telephone 

interviews. 

Residents’ survey  

To provide the council with robust data for the consultation, that is representative of the adult (18+) 

population, we undertook a doorstep face-to-face survey across the borough. A stratified random sample of 

1,104 households were interviewed, representative by gender, age, ethnicity and wards using a computer 

assisted personal interview (CAPI) methodology. Interviewers used showcards that contained relevant 

background information on each proposal to allow respondents to make informed choices. Interviews were 

undertaken by experienced M·E·L Research interviewers, who are trained to Market Research Society 

standards.  

HMO tenants consultation 

An additional sample of 801 HMO tenants were interviewed using a doorstep face-to-face survey by 

experienced M·E·L Research interviewers. We used GIS mapping information to identify areas with higher 

concentrations of HMO properties, which was used by interviewers to approach tenants of HMO properties.  

Online consultation  

A wider publically available online survey was publicised to encourage responses from landlords, agents, 

tenants, residents and other interested parties. This was hosted on the Council’s website, and was publicised 

on the main page of the website. This included a downloadable version of the consultation document. A 

dedicated consultation email address was set up to which interested parties could email directly should they 

have any additional comments or suggestions (lbhfconsultation@m-e-l.co.uk).  

The council also printed c.18,000 flyers (see appendix 2) which were distributed to properties in the areas 

where selective licensing was being proposed (where there are also HMO properties), to promote the online 

consultation. It was also promoted via the council’s Twitter account and advertised in the local press and the 

London Property Licensing website/twitter (see appendix 3 for coverage). 

An e-shot with details about the consultation, along with a link to the consultation page was sent to all known 

landlords, letting agents and managing agents by the council. An email with the link to the consultation page 

was also sent by M·E·L Research to a range of community groups to gather views from these groups and 

support an Equality Impact Assessment.  

Page 291

mailto:lbhfconsultation@m-e-l.co.uk


                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 19 
 

Finally, the council ran a Landlords Forum on the 14th July 2016 and M·E·L Research were asked to present on 

the consultation. Landlords were given information on the consultation options and details on how they could 

take part in the online survey and have their say. In total, over 50 landlords attended the forum.  

Online consultation for neighbouring boroughs 

A separate online survey for interested parties in neighbouring boroughs was developed and hosted on the 

Council’s website. It was also hosted on neighbouring borough council’s websites or sent via mailshots and 

emails to local authorities including Brent, Richmond upon Thames, Kensington and Chelsea, Wandsworth and 

Hounslow. Mailshots to landlords in Richmond and Brent by their local council were also undertaken to 

promote the consultation.   

Stakeholder consultation 

Semi-structured telephone interviews were also undertaken with a range of stakeholders. These included 

neighbouring authorities, third sector organisations and charities working within the sector, landlords groups 

and alternative PRS schemes that are operating in England.  

Report scope and purpose 

This report provides the main findings from each of the different consultation methods listed above, as well as 

considering views of additional respondents gathered from email correspondence, online forms, letters, etc. It 

provides the findings of:   

The overall level of support for the proposed schemes 

 What are respondents overall views of the proposed scheme?  

 What are their views on the five specific options and an option to keep things as they are (i.e. ‘to do 
nothing’)?  

 

The likely impact of the proposed schemes 

 The extent to which respondents feel the scheme will have an impact on them. 

 

Licensing fees 

 The degree to which respondents feel the proposed licensing fees are reasonable. 

 

Views and experiences of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and the private rented sector (PRS) in the borough 

 The extent to which respondents view there to be ASB problems in Hammersmith and Fulham, such as 
noise, crime, litter etc. 

 The extent to which they have experienced or witnessed any anti-social behaviour. 

 The extent to which they feel private rented sector properties are maintained to a good standard. 

Page 292



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 20 
 

 The extent to which they feel landlords and agents act responsibly in letting, managing and maintaining 
their properties. 

 

Additional Private Rented Property tenant views and experiences 

 The extent to which PRS tenants have experienced any issues with their property or landlord in the last 12 
months. 

 

Additional Landlord (and agent) views and experiences 

 Whether they are members of accreditation or associations. 

 Whether they have experienced a range of difficulties with their properties. 

 The extent to which they have experienced a range of problems in Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 Their experiences of problems with tenants. 

 The level of demand for their properties. 

Reporting conventions 

We have used the term ‘landlord’ in this report to collectively refer to both landlords and/or their managing 

agents. 

Owing to the rounding of numbers, percentages displayed visually on graphs or charts in the report may not 

always add up to 100% and may differ slightly when compared with the text. The figures provided in the text 

should always be used. For some questions, respondents could give more than one response (multi choice). 

For these questions, the percentage for each response is calculated as a percentage of the total number of 

respondents and therefore percentages do not add up to 100%.  

The consultation findings have been analysed by the different methods of consultation (primarily the 

Residents’ survey, HMO consultation and online consultation) and by type of respondent (landlord/agent or 

tenant/resident).  

 

 

 

  

Page 293



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 21 
 

Consultation methods and profile of respondents 
 

There were five main methods that we used to gather responses for the consultation. These are detailed 

below, along with the responses rates that we received by survey method.  

Residents’ survey (face-to-face doorstep survey) 

A door-to-door, face-to-face interview was undertaken with 1,104 residents from across the borough and 

results are broadly representative by ward, gender and ethnicity. Based on a total estimated population 

(Census 2011) of 182,493 in the borough, the results provide a confidence interval of +/-3% based on a 50% 

statistic at the 95% confidence level. This means that if 50% of the sample supported any proposal then the 

real figure, had the whole borough been interviewed, lies somewhere between 47% and 53%. A breakdown 

by age, gender and ethnicity is provided in the table below: 

Table 1: Breakdown of respondents by ward, age, gender and ethnicity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Each respondent was asked whether they were a resident, and/or a landlord, and/or a managing agent and/or 

they classified themselves in some other way.  A breakdown of responses by respondent type is provided in 

the table below: 

Table 2: Respondent profile to the residents’ survey 

Respondent profile  Number % of responses 

A resident of Hammersmith & Fulham 1,090 99% 

and/or a landlord with a property (or number of properties) in H&F 21 2% 

and/or a landlord with properties in neighbouring boroughs. 5 *% 

and or/ an agent managing properties in H&F 3 *% 

and/or other  4 *% 

* Less than 0.5%                                                    (multiple answers possible) 

Page 294



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 22 
 

1. HMO tenant consultation (face-to-face doorstep survey)  

A door-to-door survey of HMO properties was undertaken by M·E·L Research interviewers. In total, 801 

surveys were completed.  

Table 3: Respondent profile to the HMO survey 

Respondent profile  Number % of responses 

A resident of Hammersmith & Fulham 799 100% 

and/or landlord with a property (or number of properties) in H&F 4 0.5% 

 

2. Online consultation   

The online consultation was widely promoted by the council and encouraged landlords, agents, tenants, 

residents and other interested parties to participate. In total, 105 responses were received to the online 

consultation. A breakdown of responses by respondent type is provided in the table below: 

Table 4: Respondent profile to the online survey  

Respondent profile  Number % of responses 

A resident of Hammersmith & Fulham 81 77% 

and/or a landlord with a property (or number of properties) in H&F 24 24% 

and/or a landlord with properties in neighbouring boroughs. 3 3% 

and or/ an agent managing properties in H&F 8 8% 

and/or Other 4 4% 

 

It should be noted that due to the relatively small number of respondents participating in the online survey 

and the fact that the survey was self-selection, the results are not necessarily representative of the borough as 

a whole.  

3. Online consultation with neighbouring borough councils 

An online consultation with neighbouring boroughs was promoted by neighbouring councils, encouraging 

local residents, landlords, tenants and other interested parties to participate. Mailshots to local landlords was 

undertaken by Richmond upon Thames and Brent council. In total, four responses were received.  Due to 

there being such a small number, these have not been included within the main report. However, the results 

from this survey are provided in appendix 4.  

 

Page 295



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 23 
 

In total, 2018 respondents participated in one of the four surveys identified above. The table below 

summarises the responses by respondent type for the four surveys when combined. 

Table 5: Combined respondent profile to all four surveys  

Respondent profile  Number % of responses 

A resident of Hammersmith & Fulham 1,972 98% 

and/or a landlord with a property (or number of properties) in H&F 50 2% 

and/or a landlord with properties in neighbouring boroughs. 9 *% 

and or/ an agent managing properties in H&F 12 1% 

and/or Other 9 *% 

* Less than 0.5%                                                    (multiple answers possible) 

4. Stakeholder consultation 

Interviews with a number of stakeholders were undertaken as part of the consultation by M·E·L Research. The 

council provided a list of potential stakeholders and 16 interviews were completed in total (although a larger 

number were provided with the opportunity to participate). These were undertaken across a range of 

stakeholders, which included neighbouring councils and the GLA, third sector organisations working in the 

housing arena in the local area, residents associations, landlords associations and public health. Through the 

interviews, a number of alternative schemes that are being run by/in conjunction with other local authorities 

in England were also identified and contacted. In addition, the National Landlords Association (NLA) and 

Residential Landlords Association (RLA) wished to submit written responses to the consultation, which have 

been included in the Appendices.  

Table 6: Stakeholder profile  

Respondent profile  
No of stakeholders 

spoken to 

Local third sector providers 6 

Other local government (neighbouring/London based) 3 

Alternative schemes in England 3 

Landlords associations/organisations 2 

Residents associations 1 

Public health  1 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 296



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 24 
 

Results 
 

This section of the report presents the results from the consultation by the different consultation methods. 

The face-to-face resident consultation gives us the most statistically robust figures, which are broadly 

representative of the borough population and accurate1 to ±3.0% for the top line results. Results from the 

online neighbouring borough consultation are not included in this section due to there being such a small 

number of responses (just 4). These are provided in Appendix 4. 

1. Support for and impact of proposals 

Below is a summary of the support shown for each of the five proposed options by consultation methods.  

Respondents were provided with details of each proposal that the council is considering and were then asked 

a series of questions about the proposal. They were asked the extent to which they support each proposed 

scheme and what impact each of the proposals would have on them if they were introduced. Respondents 

were then given the opportunity to provide any further comments they wish to add.  Support for each of the 

proposals is presented in the table below, showing the percentage who support and those who oppose each 

of the five proposals.  

Table 7: Support and opposition for proposed options (by consultation methods) 

Proposal option  

Residents’ 
survey 

HMO 
Consultation 

Online 
Consultation 

%  
support 

% 
oppose 

%  
support 

% 
oppose 

%  
support 

% 
oppose 

1. Introduce additional licensing scheme to HMOs 70% 20% 65% 29% 65% 30% 

2. Introduce selective licensing in designated 
areas 

53% 34% 58% 36% 68% 28% 

3. Introduce a H&F landlords rental charter 54% 29% 65% 23% 68% 26% 

4. Revise minimum HMO standards 70% 18% 81% 14% 75% 21% 

5. Introduce a social letting agency 62% 21% 71% 16% 67% 22% 

 

We can see from the table above that, while there are differences in levels of support for each proposal by 

method of consultation, overall, there are more people in support of each of the options than there are 

opposed to the options. The highest level of support, across all three consultations, is for the council to revise 

the minimum HMO standards.  

                                                      
 
1
 The total sample of 1,104 interviews provide a confidence interval of ±3.0% for a 50% statistic at the 95% confidence level. 

Page 297



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 25 
 

Table 8: Likely impact of proposal on individuals (by consultation methods) 

Proposal option  

Residents’ 
survey 

HMO 
Consultation 

Online 
Consultation 

%   
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

%   
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

%   
positive 
impact 

% 
negative 
impact 

1. Introduce additional licensing scheme to HMOs 57% 14% 42% 25% 39% 25% 

2. Introduce selective licensing in designated 
areas 

40% 27% 37% 32% 44% 20% 

3. Introduce a H&F landlords rental charter 37% 17% 29% 14% 40% 11% 

4. Revise minimum HMO standards 58% 11% 64% 12% 51% 16% 

5. Introduce a social letting agency 49% 16% 44% 12% 39% 9% 

 

The table above shows that for each of the proposed options, proportionally more respondents indicate that 

they will have a positive impact on them than a negative impact.  

The following sections detail each proposal in turn and look at the support for and against each option, 

followed by the likely impact should they be introduced. The analysis is led by the residents’ survey as this 

provides the most robust and representative data, followed by the HMO survey and then the online survey. 

Please note that there are only a relatively small number of landlord responses (27 to the residents’ survey 

and 30 to the online consultation), so these results should be viewed as indicative only. 

  

Page 298



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 26 
 

Option 1: Introduce additional licensing scheme for houses in 
multiple occupation  

 

 

 
 
 

Introducing a borough-wide additional licensing scheme for HMO properties received strong support from 

respondents to the residents’ survey, with seven out of ten (70%)  in support. Over two-fifths (44%) say they 

fully support the proposal and 26% partially support the proposal.  One in five (20%) say they do not support 

the proposal. 

A similar proportion of respondents to the HMO consultation support the proposal (65%). Support for this 

proposal was also similar for those taking part in the online consultation (65%).  A higher proportion of 

respondents to the HMO (29%) and online consultation (30%) were against the proposal. 

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, which have been grouped to show landlords and agents responses (for 

simplicity referred to as landlords) and residents and private rented sector tenants responses (for simplicity 

referred to as residents). Residents are more in favour of the proposal than landlords. Seven out of ten (70%) 

residents who took part in the residents’ survey are in support of additional licensing; when split out, around 

two thirds (67%) of private rented tenants are in support, whilst a quarter (26%) do not support the proposal.  

This proposal would see the introduction of additional licensing for HMOs across the entire 
borough, which would require landlords who let a HMO property to licence the property. 
The criteria would be any HMO that is occupied by at least three people who do not make 
up a single household, who share one or more basic amenities such as a kitchen, bathroom 
or toilet. 
 

52% 

36% 

44% 

13% 

29% 

26% 

30% 

29% 

20% 

5% 

6% 

11% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 1: Support for Proposal 1 (by consultation method)   

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

Page 299



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 27 
 

Around three-quarters (76%) of residents  responding to the online consultation are in support. Just 26% of 

landlords who took part in the residents’ survey are in support, whilst 24% of those taking part in the online 

consultation are in support; 44% and 62% respectively do not support the proposal.   

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were then asked what impact, if any, introducing additional licensing would have on them. Over 

half (57%) of respondents to the residents’ survey say it will have a positive impact, 14% say it will have a 

negative impact and a further 14% say it will have no impact at all. 15% say that they do not know what impact 

it is likely to have on them.  

Around four out of ten (42%) respondents to the HMO consultation feel that this will have a positive impact on 

them, whilst a quarter (25%) feel it will have a negative impact. Respondents to the online consultation are 

slightly less positive, with around four out of ten (39%) saying they feel it will have a positive impact on them 

and a quarter (25%) saying it will have a negative impact on them.  

24% 

26% 

62% 

44% 

14% 

11% 

14% 

26% 

62% 

44% 

18% 

19% 

19% 

7% 

11% 

Landlords (online
survey)

(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents
survey)

(Base size: 27)

Residents (online
survey)

(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident
survey)

(Base size: 1076)

Figure 2: Support for proposed option 1 (by resident and landlord responses) 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

39% 

42% 

57% 

20% 

23% 

14% 

25% 

25% 

14% 

15% 

10% 

15% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 3: Likely impact of Proposal 1 (by consultation method)   

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 300



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 28 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ between type of respondent. Again, we see more positive results for residents than landlords, 

with around six out of ten residents (58%) who took part in the residents’ survey feeling it is likely to have a 

positive impact on them and only one third of landlords (33%) feeling the same. When split out, over half 

(55%) of private rented tenants feel it will be positive, whilst 21% feel it will be negative.  

46% of residents via the online consultation feel it will have a positive impact while only 24% of landlords via 

online consultation could say the same. Conversely, 33% of residents and 62% of landlords feel it will have a 

negative impact on them.  

 

Respondent comments on option 1 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments about the option. These results have been grouped 

into themes and then analysed.  

The most common comment from respondents to the residents’ survey were that they were generally in 

support of the proposal (37% of respondents commented about this). 19% of comments were around the 

quality and safety of housing will be likely to improve as a result of additional licensing. This is followed by 12% 

of respondents commenting on the need for better regulation and enforcement of the private rented sector.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common response is that they were generally in support 

of the proposal (25%). This is followed by 20% of respondents commenting on the need for better regulation 

and enforcement of the private rented sector. 18% commented on the need for licensing to apply to other 

property types (also not just the PRS).  

24% 

33% 

46% 

58% 

10% 

11% 

24% 

14% 

62% 

33% 

11% 

14% 

3% 

22% 

19% 

14% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 4: Likely impact of option 1 by resident and landlord responsess  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 301



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 29 
 

The most common responses to the online consultation were around the need for better 

regulation/enforcement of the PRS sector (43%). This is followed by 41% who generally in support of the 

proposal. 28% of respondents commented on a range of ‘other’ issues, which included individual reasons or 

comments for their support/non -support of the proposal.  

 

37% 

5% 

7% 

19% 

1% 

0% 

0% 

3% 

9% 

12% 

2% 

1% 

2% 

3% 

2% 

4% 

25% 

20% 

13% 

0 

0% 

18% 

0% 

2% 

3% 

0 

5% 

4% 

3% 

1% 

0% 

2% 

41% 

43% 

19% 

0 

17% 

0% 

16% 

9% 

0 

0 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

28% 

Generally support proposal

PRS industry needs regulation

Rent is too high already/costs will be passed
onto tenants

Quality and safety will improve

Unfair for good landlords

Should be for all properties, not just HMOs

More consultations/information needed

Do not need licensing

Generally do not support proposal

Need to control overcrowding

Licence fees too high

Happy with things as they are

Council just trying to make money

Council shouldn't interfere

Support, but no fee/keep properties in good
condition

Other

Figure 5.Additional comments on option 1 

Residents

HMO

Online

Page 302



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 30 
 

Stakeholder views 

There is generally a divide in support for the proposal. Landlords Associations such as the NLA and RLA do not 

support additional licensing scheme, whilst almost all other stakeholders interviewed feel that additional 

licensing schemes are a positive step and can have a positive impact on improving the private rented sector in 

the borough. Some of the key themes from the semi-structured stakeholder interviews are detailed below.  

Current government consultation on licensing in progress 

A few stakeholders referenced the forthcoming government announcement on the recent consultation 

around changes to HMO licensing. The government is shortly due to announce the findings of the consultation 

(although no date is yet known) and some believe that the implications of this may have an impact on the 

council’s proposals, particularly those around additional licensing.  

“We believe it would be better for the council to await the outcome of this review, as its 

recommendations may well address concerns without the need for an expensive local 

licensing scheme. It may also introduce new standards for mandatory HMOs that satisfy 

the council.” (Residential Landlords Association) 

Evidence on impact of additional licensing schemes 

There is mixed views around the evidence available on what impact existing additional licensing schemes have 

had. The landlords associations state that there is no evidence that they work.  

“All it will mean is that there will be less property to house those in shared housing and that 

means costs will increase. This has been evidenced across the whole of England.”                                                                        

(National Landlords Association) 

A third sector organisation say that they had seen an increase in homelessness in Brent when this borough had 

introduced licensing,  as “criminal landlords try to get around licensing by throwing tenants out” or others 

leave the market, particularly where there may only be a small number of tenants.   

“The worst landlords tend to think they can get around being prosecuted by throwing 

tenants out. I'm sure Hammersmith & Fulham has least as big a challenge with 

homelessness as we do. The way licensing has been brought in here (Brent), we see it with 

our own eyes that it has led to an increase in homelessness… Tenants don’t have any 

information, they are often migrants or refugees and they don't know what their rights are 

and if landlords tell them to go, they don't know they have a right to remain.” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

Page 303



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 31 
 

However, most stakeholders say they feel it is a positive step for the council to take; they did not reference 

any evidence they had seen as to whether schemes had or had not worked elsewhere.  

Licensing of HMOs is clearer 

A number of stakeholders suggest that landlords are often confused about mandatory licensing and what 

constitutes an HMO under mandatory licensing. By introducing additional licensing, this will remove any 

ambiguity around HMO licensing, as all HMOs will need to be licensed. 

“It is at least significantly easier if the only criteria is whether it is or not an HMO…It makes 

it a lot simpler for landlords and tenants.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“…it is just going to be a fairer and consistent way of applying the legislation.” (Public sector 

stakeholder) 

Identifying HMO properties 

A number of stakeholders feel that it is difficult for the council to identify HMO properties in the first place and 

therefore are unsure whether the council are going to be able to licence the properties intended to be 

licenced through the scheme.   

“Unless local authorities have the data on where these properties are,  who owns them and 

who lives in them, it’s hard to enforce against the worst landlords.” (Third sector 

stakeholder)           

Existing powers already in place to tackle substandard housing 

The landlords associations feel that the council already has the powers that it needs to tackle the issues that 

are being cited for introducing additional licensing. They say that the council has sufficient legal powers to 

tackle landlords who have substandard properties that are unsafe and put tenants at risk and therefore feel 

that licensing schemes are unnecessary.  

“All these powers exist in the council’s … 'armoury'. If they want to, they could use criminal 

behaviour orders, they could use crime prevention injunctions, interim management 

orders, environmental protection act for waste issues, use the noise nuisance act. So they 

have all these powers already by statute.” (National Landlords Association) 

Improving standards for tenants 

A number of stakeholders feel that introducing additional licensing will be beneficial for tenants because 

HMOs are often found to be the properties in the worst condition and often house the most vulnerable in 

Page 304



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 32 
 

society. By tackling sub-standard housing and landlords who do not fulfil their duties, it was felt that this could 

improve the health of these tenants and their general wellbeing.  

“This is where you see some of the worst landlords operate, some of the worst conditions 

and some of the worst exploitation of tenants” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“As property prices become increasingly unaffordable and home ownership unattainable 

we recognise the importance of regulating the rented sector, especially for the most 

vulnerable and those residing in the worst conditions. Houses in multiple occupation 

(HMO’s) historically have always suffered disproportionately from disrepair and general 

neglect.” (Public sector stakeholder) 

Tackling criminal landlords 

Most stakeholders feel that licensing will discourage criminal landlords from continuing their practices, 

although a small number feel that they will continue to flout the laws and will simply not apply for a licence.   

“Where we have seen licensing before, we have seen landlords driven out of areas, but 

mainly because they've been prosecuted and they've either had to up the standards or 

leave.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“If people don't sign up they can't be detected, and if there are no resources in detection 

then you just produce paper and all you do is put a tax on people that you don't want to be 

dealing with.” (Residential Landlords Association) 

“The evidence suggests that rogue landlords can't be identified by licensing alone. It gives 

you more effective powers to prosecute or deal with them when you do find them. It’s 

helpful as a tool to support, identify and enforce.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Others feel that some landlords are victims themselves and tenants are actually breaking the laws, such as 

sub-letting the property they rent, which could result in landlords breaking the law without knowing about it: 

“The proposal does not take into account rent to rent, or those that exploit people (tenants 

and landlords), as criminals will always play the system. There is no provision for those 

landlords who have legally rented out a property, which is then illegally sublet. The Council 

is not allocating resources to tackle the problems that criminals will cause; landlords are 

often victims just as much as tenants.” (National Landlords Association)  

However, most stakeholders feel that licensing will tackle rogue landlords: 

Page 305



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 33 
 

“The responsibility will now shift... This is asking landlords to have a look at their property, 

understand the condition that your property is in, understand the licence conditions and 

bring your property up to scratch. Hopefully it will bring rogue landlords into line or free up 

enforcement time to deal with them...” (Public sector stakeholder)  

Inspection considerations 

A number of stakeholders, although in support of the scheme, feel that further clarification is needed around 

how the scheme will be implemented. One stakeholder feels that prior inspections should be a key part of any 

agreement to licence a property. Inspections should therefore not be done after a licence has been granted, as 

this could have serious implications if something happened to a tenant in a house that should not have been 

licensed. Others feel that the inspections should happen within a very short period of time following granting 

of a licence, or that the most vulnerable tenants are prioritised to make sure that the scheme has as great an 

impact as possible from the start.  

“I would suggest they think carefully about inspections. If they have a policy that allows 

them to recruit and to allow them to inspect before [they issue the licence]. That they cost 

that into the licence fees. Thinking about it afterwards makes it more difficult.” (Third 

sector stakeholder) 

“Surely we could target those households where there are vulnerable people. We know 

this from our doctors lists, we know that through our adult social care team… we could 

ensure that any known vulnerable families were seen… These are the least likely to 

complain but are the most likely to have their health compromised by poor housing 

conditions.” (Public health stakeholder) 

Communication 

Many of those in favour of the proposals say that communication between the council and landlords (and 

tenants) is key and needs to be done effectively. The reasons why the council is doing this needs to be clear to 

gain buy in from landlords, along with what is expected of them and the consequences of non-compliance.  

“The messaging around it needs to work. To encourage landlords who are not that au fait 

with the terminology; that needs to be clear and how actually to encourage them to licence 

needs to be clear.” (Public sector stakeholder)  

“We think it would be really important for the local authority to be really clear about what 

it is and why they are doing it [additional licensing]. For other stakeholders involved, if they 

know that this is happening and they know that the local authority is taking steps in the 

Page 306



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 34 
 

right direction, it would also reassure people in the PRS that they are doing something 

about it.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Others feel that tenants need to know about licensing and what their rights are.  

“All communication is between the local authority and the landlords and none is with the 

tenant. We have suggested to Brent that they employ tenant liaison officers, so when the 

surveyor does go in to inspect… the tenant liaison officer is talking to the tenant, explaining 

what licensing is about, specifically that they can’t be evicted, making sure they know who 

they can go to if they need advice…” (Third sector provider) 

Enforcement not just licensing 

A number of stakeholders feel that a licensing scheme without the proper resources to inspect and enforce is 

just a paper exercise and will not help improve the sector. The council needs to ensure it has the right 

resources and skills in place to make sure enforcement can happen and are able to ‘hit the ground running’.  

“It [the impact] all depends on the time and effort that the council is going to spend on 

enforcing the scheme”. (Public sector stakeholder) 

“It will not work without heavy enforcement”. (Public sector stakeholder) 

Increases in rent for tenants 

Again, we see mixed views here, with some stakeholders saying that tenants are likely to suffer more because 

landlords will simply pass on the cost of licences to tenants through rental increases. However, other 

stakeholders say that they have not seen any evidence of this taking place in other schemes. 

“One of the dangers of the proposed Additional and Selective Licensing scheme is that the 

costs will be passed on to tenants, thus increasing the costs for those who rent in 

Hammersmith, along with increasing the Council’s costs. The increasing costs to 

Hammersmith residents would particularly hit hard the most vulnerable and least able to 

tolerate a marginal increase in their cost of living. Also, the Council has failed to explain 

that, as well as the Council’s costs for the licence, the landlords costs will likely be covered 

by a rise in rents.” (National Landlords Association)  

“We have not actually seen evidence that these [licensing schemes] necessarily do drive up 

rent, because landlords are more or less charging in their local area what the market will 

bear so they need to incorporate  it into their running costs and we see this as a legitimate 

business cost, in the same way that shops and restaurants or clubs have to deal with 

licensing as part of their business costs.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Page 307



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 35 
 

“From experience, I would say it is negligible [rent increases]. People say that rents go up, 

but I've not seen landlords put their fees up.” (Public sector stakeholder)  

Need for more effective waste strategies  

The landlords associations feel that rubbish and litter is often a key issue when ASB is mentioned, particularly 

around HMO properties. This is sometimes down to tenants’ ignorance, but more often than not it is due to 

inadequate storage or a lack of volume of storage needed to deal with HMO properties. In addition, in areas 

where there are such high proportions of rented properties, the level of waste is high, particularly when short-

term tenancies are more common than longer-term arrangements. A waste strategy, on how to deal more 

effectively with issues around HMOs, is therefore say to be needed. 

“It’s a subject that’s of current interest due to the amount of rubbish that is being 

generated by HMOs that just ends up in black bags on the street.” (Residents association 

stakeholder)  

“Often when tenants near the end of their contract/tenancy and they are in the process of 

moving out, they will dispose of excess waste by a variety of methods, which often includes 

putting it out on the street for the Council to collect. A waste strategy for the collection of 

excess waste at the end of tenancies needs to be considered by local authorities with a 

large number of private rented sector properties in areas.”  (National Landlords Association) 

 

  

Page 308



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 36 
 

Option 2: Introduce a selective licensing scheme in designated areas 

 

 

 

Introducing a selective licensing scheme receives a positive amount of support, with over half of respondents 

(53%) to the residents’ survey in favour of the proposal; three out of ten (30%) say that they fully support the 

proposal, and around a quarter (23%) partially support the proposal. Around a third (34%) say they do not 

support the proposal, whilst 13% are unsure. 

Almost six in ten (58%) of those who took part in the HMO consultation support this option.  Support for this 

option is more positive amongst those taking part in the online consultation, with 68% in support.  

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results are similar between residents and landlords who took part in the resident survey, with 53% and 49% 

respectively in favour of the proposal; 34% and 37% respectively do not support the proposal.  When split out, 

around half (52%) of private renting tenants, responding to the residents’ survey, support the proposal, whilst 

39% do not support it.  

Results differ slightly for those taking part in the online consultation, with around three quarters of residents 

(73%) in support compared to 55% of landlords. 22% and 45% respectively are against the proposal.  Around 

eight out of ten (79%) private renting tenants support the proposal, whilst only 14% do not support it. 

46% 

32% 

30% 

22% 

26% 

23% 

28% 

36% 

34% 

4% 

6% 

13% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 6: Support for Proposal 2 (by consultation method)  

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

This proposal would see the introduction of a selective licensing scheme to designated 
areas of the borough with evidence of high levels of anti-social behaviour. The majority of 
this accommodation is in streets with a mixed commercial/ residential make up i.e. 
predominantly along major roads and nearby streets. 

Page 309



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 37 
 

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were then asked what impact, if any, introducing a selective licensing scheme would have on 

them. Four out of ten respondents (40%) to the residents’ survey say it will have a positive impact and 15% say 

it will have no impact at all.  Around a quarter (27%) say it will have a negative impact. 17% say that they do 

not know what impact it is likely to have on them.  

Again, we see similar results for the online consultation, with 44% of respondents feeling it will have a positive 

impact on them. One in five (20%) feel that it will have a negative impact on them. Respondents to the HMO 

consultation are slightly less positive, with 37% feeling it is likely to have a positive impact and 32% feeling it is 

likely to have a negative impact.  

 

24% 

30% 

55% 

30% 

31% 

19% 

18% 

23% 

45% 

37% 

22% 

34% 

15% 

5% 

13% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents
survey)

(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident
survey)

(Base size: 1076)

Figure 7: Support for proposed option 2 by resident and landlord responses 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

44% 

37% 

40% 

19% 

21% 

15% 

20% 

32% 

27% 

16% 

10% 

17% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 8: Likely impact of Proposal 2 (by consultation method)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 310



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 38 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with residents slightly more positive than landlords who responded to 

the resident consultation. 40% of residents feel it will have positive impact, compared to 37% of landlords. 

27% and 33% respectively feel that it will have a negative impact on them. When split out, 43% of privately 

renting tenants feel it will have a positive impact, whilst a third (33%) feel it will have a negative impact.  

 In terms of the online consultation, half of residents (50%) and a third of landlords (31%) feel it will be 

positive, whilst four out of ten landlords (41%) and only 12% of residents feel it will have a negative impact on 

them. Similarly, when split out, around half (49%) of privately renting tenants feel it will have a positive 

impact, whilst 5% feel it will have a negative impact. 

 

Respondent comments on option 2 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments they may wish to about the option. These results 

have been grouped into themes, then analysed.  

The most common comment from respondents to the residents’ survey is that they are generally in support of 

the proposal (25% of respondents commented about this). 18% of comments are around whether the scheme 

should be borough-wide, rather than in certain areas. This is followed by 14% of respondents who generally do 

not support the proposal.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common response is whether the scheme should be 

borough-wide, rather than in certain areas. (62%). This is followed by 26% of respondents who are generally in 

support of the proposal. 17% of comments relate to whether costs will be passed onto tenants and rents 

increased as a result.  

31% 

37% 

50% 

40% 

17% 

11% 

20% 

16% 

41% 

33% 

12% 

27% 

10% 

19% 

18% 

17% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 9: Likely impact of option 2 by resident and landlord responsess  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 311



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 39 
 

The most common responses to the online consultation are that they are a range of ‘other’ issues that lead 

them to choose to support or not support the proposal. 22% are generally in support of the proposal, while 

21% feel the scheme is generally unfair on landlords and a further 21% feel that regulation of the industry is 

needed. 

 

18% 

25% 

8% 

2% 

14% 

3% 

4% 

6% 

8% 

1% 

0% 

4% 

1% 

0% 

3% 

1% 

1% 

0% 

4% 

62% 

26% 

5% 

17% 

5% 

0% 

7% 

8% 

0% 

5% 

5% 

0% 

3% 

3% 

0% 

2% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

19% 

22% 

21% 

12% 

6% 

21% 

5% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

38% 

Should be for whole borough

Generally support proposal

Unfair

Can increase rent/More expenses for landlord

Generally do not support proposal

Regulation needed

Do not need it

Help improve quality/safety/no overcrowding

May deal with ASB/problems caused by tenants

Money making idea

No relation between ASB and this system

No benefits/redundant option/difficult to
implement/unsure of efficacy

Could save time/money/resources

Fee too high

Support if no charge/no rise in rent

Council should not get involved

Landlords need to be accountable

Additional cost for landlords

Other

Figure 10. Additional comments on option 2 

Residents

HMO

Online

Page 312



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 40 
 

Stakeholder views 

As with the additional licensing scheme option, there is generally a divide in views between the landlords 

associations and other stakeholders, although fewer stakeholders are as supportive of selective licensing as 

they are of additional licensing. Some of the key themes are detailed below.  

Existing evidence on impact of selective licensing schemes 

There are mixed views around the evidence on what impact selective licensing in designated areas has had 

elsewhere in the country, where it has been introduced. The landlords associations feel that there is no 

evidence that these have had any impact elsewhere. However, a number of other stakeholders feel that the 

problems with housing in the private rented sector is not just  down to HMOs therefore selective licensing 

allows the council to tackle the industry more fully.  

“I think it will definitely have an impact.  I'm sure your evidence shows that it’s not just 

HMOs but the whole sector… If we look at the evidence coming from Newham, it definitely 

does have an impact.” (Public sector stakeholder)   

“I think there is very good evidence that it targets them [rogue landlords], as it makes it 

nice and clear that if they live in an area they need a licence.” (Public sector stakeholder) 

However, there are a number of stakeholders who although are in support the scheme, feel that available 

evidence suggests that borough-wide schemes are more effective than those introduced in designated areas.   

“Licensing has worked well only in the boroughs that have borough-wide licensing. 

Waltham Forest etc... For people like ourselves who have partial licensing, it hasn't worked 

well. In most cases, if you rent, you need a licence, regardless of what licence you have, you 

have them in [the system] and you can clean it up afterwards.” (Public sector stakeholder) 

“It probably needs to be everywhere not just in certain areas. ASB changes a lot and I don't 

think we've seen the benefits in those areas. It needs to apply to everyone.” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

Anti-social behaviour evidence to support the proposal 

A number of stakeholders feel that there is not enough evidence provided within the proposal to demonstrate 

that there is a direct link between the private rented sector and ASB and that the council should be clearer 

about the link.  

“It’s not clear at all what the data sources are. Has the data been credibly looked at and a 

causal link between ASB and the PRS been established? It needs to be much more robust 

Page 313



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 41 
 

than I can see in the document. It looks like main roads, shopping areas etc., where ASB 

may be as a result of this rather than PRS. It may be that it just happens to overlap with the 

PRS. Flats over shops generally have poor provisions for rubbish. At the bottom end of the 

market, it is not ASB in particular but they are just on main roads, shopping areas and it 

tends to concentrate in these areas.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“They haven't provided information about whether the ASB is housing related. They are 

not providing any information on what the evidence base is on why they are introducing 

it.” (National Landlords Association)  

“I'm just not sure about the linkage there. You could have the ASB being linked to a pub or 

a betting shop or a pawn shop, and it’s not clear whether that can that be put down to 

housing.” (Public health stakeholder) 

“I don’t know the way they have identified this and whether it’s over a year. I don't know 

whether it’s the same people or whether its different people coming in.” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

Legal powers  

As with additional licensing, the landlords associations feel that the council already has the legal powers that 

they need to tackle the issues that they are looking to tackle via additional licensing. Another stakeholder 

suggested that if the council already has powers it is not using, a licensing scheme is unlikely to change this.   

“I don't think there are any London authorities who use interim management orders… even 

when they have a statutory duty they still don't. They worry they don't have things in place 

to manage these properties. They are very nervous about it.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Communication  

A number of stakeholders feel that communication is crucially important where there are so many different 

parts of the borough affected as it is likely to cause confusion amongst landlords and potentially that the 

council could receive a great number of incorrect applications.  

“The size of the area will be confusing. If you go by postcode, landlords and agents don't 

know what postcode it is. One of the things that will come out of this will be incorrect 

applications…There needs to be a policy on refunds built in at an early stage.” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

 

Page 314



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 42 
 

Measuring impacts on ASB 

Several stakeholders feel that the council needs to put in place measures to establish what the current levels 

of ASB are that are caused by private rented sector housing, and track these if a scheme is introduced, to 

identify whether licensing is having an impact.  

“How we measure that and over what time we measure that is important, so we need to 

know what we've got before we start. Then what is success, what are the measures we put 

in place and certainly what resources to make sure that is working.” (Public sector 

stakeholder) 

“It would be really important for Hammersmith & Fulham to monitor the levels of ASB and 

the impact of the selective licensing once it is in place.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Enforcement not just licensing 

As with additional licensing, a number of stakeholders feel that without the proper resources to inspect and 

enforce, this would merely be a paper exercise and will not help improve the sector. They also feel that the 

council needs to ensure it has the right resources and skills in place to effectively deliver the scheme from day 

one.  

“There are a significant number of landlords that don't take any notice of legislation or 

requirements, so it’s how you would enforce it that’s the difficulty.” (Residents Association) 

 

 

 

  

Page 315



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 43 
 

Option 3: Introduce a Hammersmith & Fulham landlords rental 
charter 

 

 

 

Just over half of all respondents to the residents’ survey (54%) support the proposal to introduce a 

Hammersmith & Fulham landlords rental charter. Around three out of ten (29%) fully support the proposal, 

and a quarter (25%) partially support the proposal. Around three out of ten (29%) do not support the 

proposal. 

Support for this proposal is more positive for those taking part in the HMO consultation (65%) and for the 

online consultation (68% in support). Around a quarter of respondents to these consultations (23% to the 

HMO consultation and 26% to the online consultation), do not support the proposal.  

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with residents more positive than landlords who responded to the 

resident consultation. Over half of residents (54%) support of the proposal, compared to 41% of landlords. 

29% and 37% respectively do not support the proposal.  Six out of ten (60%) privately renting tenants are in 

support, whilst 28% do not support the proposal.  

In terms of the online consultation, seven out of ten residents (70%) and six out of ten landlords (62%) are in 

support, whilst 34% of landlords and 23% of residents do not support the proposal. Seven out of ten (70%) 

privately renting tenants are in support, whilst around a quarter (26%) do not support the proposal. 

48% 

26% 

29% 

20% 

39% 

25% 

26% 

23% 

29% 

6% 

13% 

18% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 11: Support for Proposal 3 (by consultation method)  

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

This proposal would see the introduction of a Hammersmith & Fulham Landlords Rental 
Charter that commits landlords to best practice on rents, housing standards, charges, tenants’ 
deposit protection and security of tenure. The proposal aims to be self-certified and the council 
would not verify that landlords are upholding the principles set out in the charter. 

Page 316



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 44 
 

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were then asked what impact, if any, introducing an H&F landlords rental charter would have on 

them. 37% of respondents to the residents’ survey feel it will have a positive impact, whilst 17% feel it will 

have a negative impact. Around a quarter (24%) feel it will have no impact at all. Around one in five (22%) do 

not know what impact it is likely to have on them.  

Again, we see similar results from respondents of the online consultation with four out of ten (40%) saying 

they feel it will have a positive impact on them. Only one in ten (11%) feel that it will have a negative impact 

on them.   Around three out of ten HMO consultation respondents (29%) feel it is likely to have a positive 

impact and 14% a negative impact.  

 
 

38% 

11% 

51% 

29% 

24% 

30% 

19% 

25% 

34% 

37% 

23% 

29% 

3% 

22% 

7% 

18% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 12: Support for proposed option 3 by resident and landlord responses 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

40% 

29% 

37% 

35% 

40% 

24% 

11% 

14% 

17% 

15% 

16% 

22% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 13: Likely impact of Proposal 3 (by consultation method)   

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 317



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 45 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results are relatively similar by type of respondent, with residents slightly more positive than landlords who 

responded to the resident consultation. 37% of residents feel it will have positive impact, compared 30% of 

landlords. 17% and 33% respectively feel it will have a negative impact on them.  Around four out of ten (42%) 

privately renting tenants feel it will have a positive impact, compared to 20% who feel it will be negative.  

In terms of the online consultation, 41% of residents and 38% of landlords feel it will be positive, whilst only 

11% and 10% respectively feel it will have a negative impact on them. Around four out of ten (38%) privately 

renting tenants feel it will have a positive impact, compared to only 5% who feel it will be negative. 

 

Respondent comments on option 3 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments they may wish to about the option. These results 

have been grouped into themes, then analysed.  

The most common comment from respondents to the residents’ survey were that they were generally in 

support of the proposal (40% of respondents commented about this). 13% were from respondents saying that 

the generally do not support the proposal. 12% commented on whether the option should be voluntary and 

why should it not mandatory for landlords to sign up to.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common response is that they were generally in support 

of the proposal (53%). This is followed by 12% of respondents concerned about the costs being passed on to 

tenants/rents would generally increase as a result. 6% feel that things are working okay as they are currently.  

The most common responses to the online consultation were queries around whether the proposal is likely to 

work or have any impact (42%). This is followed by 29% who feel that there is a need for regulation and 

38% 

30% 

41% 

37% 

45% 

11% 

32% 

24% 

10% 

33% 

11% 

17% 

7% 

26% 

16% 

22% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 73)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 14: Likely impact of option 3 (by resident and landlord responses)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 318



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 46 
 

enforcement if this is put in place. 16% commented on whether the option should be voluntary and why 

should it not mandatory for landlords to sign up to. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40% 

5% 

4% 

12% 

4% 

3% 

13% 

3% 

0% 

6% 

4% 

1% 

5% 

0% 

2% 

2% 

1% 

1% 

2% 

53% 

3% 

1% 

5% 

6% 

12% 

2% 

3% 

0% 

0% 

2% 

0% 

0% 

3% 

1% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

11% 

42% 

29% 

16% 

11% 

2% 

0 

4% 

9% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

13% 

Generally support proposal

Unsure whether it will work/have any impact

Needs regulation/enforcement

Should not be optional/voluntary scheme

Things already working as they are

Bigger costs for tenants

Generally do not support proposal

Council making money

Already other schemes

Positive for tenants e.g. giving back deposits

Good incentive

incentive not sufficient/irrelevant

Support but only if no fees for any party

Fee too much

Council shouldn't interfere

Tackles problems with tenants

Not a fair system

Already laws

Other

Figure 15.Additional comments on option 3 

Residents HMO Online

Page 319



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 47 
 

Stakeholder views 

There are mixed views amongst stakeholders as to whether a landlords charter is likely to have any impact on 

improving the private rented sector. Many feel it is a good idea in principle, but are unsure what impact it will 

have. Some of the key themes are detailed below.  

Voluntary scheme will only attract good landlords 

Most stakeholders feel that as the scheme is voluntary, it is likely to only get ‘good’ landlords to sign up to it 

because they already adhere to the standards that the charter sets out. Most feel that landlords who the 

council will wish to tackle to improve housing standards, are unlikely to sign up to the scheme. 

“We are generally quite sceptical about voluntary schemes. They generally get very small 

coverage - only around 2-5% sign up to that. So what does that do to the majority of the 

sector?” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“By their nature, voluntary schemes only attract those that do comply… it has no impact 

whatsoever on anyone else.” (Advice4Renters) 

“The reputable landlords would certainly sign up to that. The difficulty rises from those that 

aren't and even if they did sign up, they would just fail to comply with it” (Residents 

Association) 

Although in general disagreement with introducing it, one stakeholder feels that there will still be a group of 

landlords outside of any licensing scheme that could be targeted, but this is the only group that will benefit 

from a voluntary scheme: 

“The charter may work for those outside of the HMO and selective licensing.”  (Public sector 

stakeholder)  

Standards are already requirements for landlords to adhere to 

A small number of stakeholders comment that the items on the charter are generally things that landlords are 

already required to do by law and therefore question the need for it.  

“In theory, the tenant’s charter is a good idea. However, there is already legislation in place 

protecting tenant’s interests regarding deposits, security of tenure and protection from 

illegal evictions.” (Public sector stakeholder) 

Page 320



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 48 
 

 “All they are talking about within it is what’s in the law...what they are proposing is the 

law. Therefore what they are talking about is enforcing the current law, so why aren't they 

doing that today…” (National Landlords Association)  

Landlord schemes already available 

A number of stakeholders suggest that there are other schemes and accreditations already in existence (such 

as the London Rental Standards or London Landlords  Accreditation Scheme) which landlords are able to sign 

up to, so they question why a landlord is likely to want to sign up to yet another scheme.  

“This seems to be another form of accreditation, and there is already the London Landlord 

Accreditation Scheme (LLAS) which could be promoted instead. The LLAS also has the 

advantage of being autonomous and independent from any individual borough.” (Public 

sector stakeholder) 

“… They won't sign up. These codes exist already. There is the private rented sector 

code…which is pretty much this. It already exists. But you also have the London Landlords 

accreditation scheme which applies to all of London and had less than 1,000 people sign up 

across the whole of London.” (Residential Landlords Association) 

“Why are you bothering with that when you have the London ones” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

“You've got the London Rental standards and take up has been very poor. You've got the 

London accreditation scheme, the NLA and RLA have tried.” (Public sector stakeholder)  

“I'm not sure how receptive landlords are going to be to signing up to yet another scheme.” 

(Public sector stakeholder) 

Benefits to landlords to encourage uptake 

A number of stakeholders feel that there needs to be a clear benefit to landlords to encourage them to sign up 

to a charter.  

“This is what we feel is needed. It’s not easy for them to understand all the things they 

need, but it needs to be made attractive to them.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“I think there would need to be some form of carrot to encourage them to sign up to 

them.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Page 321



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 49 
 

 “If you were a landlord, what is the point, why would you sign up? You would be better 

signing up to a landlords body that has a code of conduct and can get something in return.” 

(National Landlords Association) 

Paper exercise if not enforced 

As with the other proposals, most stakeholders feel that those who join the scheme but who are subsequently 

found to not live up to the charter need to be brought to task, otherwise the scheme has no ‘teeth’ at all and is 

just a piece of paper. However, the  fact that it is voluntary may not enable the council to really enforce it.  

“Some may just lie and they are on the register claiming to meet standards that they 

don't… There should be some threat if they sign up and then are found not to meet them. 

Something like a check or a stiff penalty if they lie. I like that this is a strong carrot and that 

it’s voluntary... But it needs to have some kind of stick that if you claim to be a good 

landlord and they are not, that there is a penalty that goes alongside that.” (Public health 

stakeholder) 

“If landlords don't uphold what they have signed, what happens then? Maybe an element 

where the council could revoke it? What value does the charter have if potentially there is 

no enforcement?” (Third sector stakeholder) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 322



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 50 
 

Option 4: Introduce revised minimum HMO standards 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Support for proposed option 

This proposal attracted the highest levels of support from the residents’ survey, with seven out of ten (70%) 

supportive of the council revising their minimum HMO standards. Just under half (48%) say that they fully 

support the proposal and around one in five (22%) say they partially support the proposal. 18% say they do 

not support the option. 

Those taking part in the HMO consultation feel more strongly about this proposal, with 81% in support and 

only 14% opposing it. Similarly, this proposal attracted the highest levels of support in the online consultation, 

with three quarters (75%) in support.  

 

 

61% 

57% 

48% 

14% 

24% 

22% 

21% 

14% 

18% 

5% 

4% 

13% 

Online
(Base size: 102)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 16: Support for Proposal 4 (by consultation method) 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

This proposal would see the revision of the local HMO standards that the council use to decide 
whether a property is reasonably suitable for occupation by a certain number of persons. By 
amending local standards, the council could ensure that licensed accommodation is 
maintained above minimal national standards that do not adequately reflect the built form, 
size, layout and type of HMO that is typically found in the borough. New local standards would 
provide information for landlords on what is required of them to comply with the law, which 
would include the management, safety, facilities, waste storage and collection and living space 
for the occupiers. 

Page 323



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 51 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with seven out of ten residents (71%) who responded to the resident 

consultation in support of the proposal, compared to 37% of landlords. The proportion of those who do not 

support the proposal differ considerably; 17% of residents and 37% of landlords. When split out, around seven 

out of ten (69%) privately renting tenants are in support, whilst 22% do not support the proposal.   

In terms of the online consultation, around eight out of ten residents (82%) and just over half of landlords 

(55%) are in support, whilst four out of ten landlords (41%) and some one in ten (13%) residents do not 

support the proposal. When split out, around eight out of ten (81%) privately renting tenants are in support, 

whilst 14% do not support the proposal.   

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were asked what impact, if any, introducing revised minimum HMO standards will have on 

them. From the residents’ survey, around six out of ten (58%) feel it will have a positive impact, 11% feel it will 

have a negative impact and 17% say it will have no impact at all. One in five (20%) do not know what impact it 

is likely to have on them.  

As we found in terms of support for this proposal, a higher proportion of respondents taking part in the HMO 

consultation feel that this will have a positive impact on them (64%). A majority of respondents to the online 

consultation also agreed, with around half (51%) feeling it will have a positive impact on them. 

 

31% 

15% 

74% 

49% 

24% 

22% 

8% 

22% 

41% 

37% 

13% 

17% 

3% 

26% 

6% 

12% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 72)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 17: Support for proposed option 4 (by resident and landlord responses) 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

Page 324



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 52 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with residents more positive than landlords who responded to the 

resident consultation; 58% of residents feel it will have positive impact, compared to 30% of landlords. The 

proportions of those who feel it will have a negative impact also differ considerably; 11% of residents and 30% 

of landlords.  When split out, some three fifths (58%) of privately renting tenants feel it will have a positive 

impact, whilst 17% feel it will have a negative impact.  

In terms of the online consultation, six out of ten residents (60%) and three  out of ten landlords (31%) feel it 

will positive impact them, whilst 38% of landlords feel it will negative impact them (compared to only 7% of 

residents). When split out, just over half (53%) of privately renting tenants feel it will have a positive impact, 

whilst 9% feel it will have a negative impact. 

 

31% 

30% 

60% 

58% 

28% 

7% 

23% 

15% 

38% 

30% 

7% 

11% 

3% 

33% 

10% 

16% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 73)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 19: Likely impact of option 4 (by resident and landlord responses)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

51% 

64% 

58% 

24% 

17% 

15% 

16% 

12% 

11% 

9% 

7% 

17% 

Online
(Base size: 103)

HMO
(Base: 801)

Residents
(Base: 1104)

Figure 18: Likely impact of Proposal 4  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 325



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 53 
 

52% 

31% 

1% 

3% 

0% 

5% 

0% 

10% 

0% 

5% 

2% 

0% 

2% 

2% 

1% 

5% 

45% 

17% 

1% 

12% 

0% 

3% 

0% 

2% 

0% 

1% 

3% 

5% 

1% 

0% 

0% 

3% 

23% 

8% 

41% 

13% 

26% 

7% 

13% 

0% 

17% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

Generally support proposal

Minimum standard quality and safety/no
overcrowding

Needs regulation/enforcement of the market

Costs already too high/rent will go up

Standards already sufficient

Don't need it/current standards sufficient

Will have a negative affect on housing

Generally do not support proposal

Unfair

Market needs more regulation

Council making money

Will protect tenants

Council shouldn't interfere

Support if it doesn't increase rent/implies more
costs/no charge

Need to /will deal with ASB issues

Other

Figure 20. Additional comments on option 4 

Residents

HMO

Online

Respondent comments on option 4 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments they may wish to about the option. These results 

have been grouped into themes, then analysed. The most common comment from respondents to the 

residents’ survey were that they were generally in support of the proposal (52% of respondents commented 

about this). 31% of comments were around the proposal raising the minimum quality standards and safety 

and improve issues of overcrowding.  This is followed by 10% of respondents saying that in general they did 

not support the proposal.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common response is that they were generally in support 

of the proposal (45%). This is followed by 17% of comments around the proposal raising the minimum quality 

standards and safety and improve issues of overcrowding.  This is followed by 12% of respondents who feel 

that it will result in bigger costs/higher rents for tenants.  

The most common responses to the online consultation were that the market needs regulation and 

enforcement (41%). This is followed by 26% saying that the current standards are already sufficient (26%). This 

is followed by 23% who are generally in support of the proposal.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 326



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 54 
 

Stakeholder views 

All stakeholders other than the landlords associations were in support of the proposal to update the minimum 

HMO standards. Some of the key themes are detailed below.  

Provides landlords with guidance on their duties 

Many feel that landlords sometimes are ignorant of their duties rather than wilfully flouting the law, therefore 

any information and guidance to help them should be beneficial. A small number of stakeholders suggested 

that training and briefing landlords on the documentation will help take it a step further and bring the 

guidance to life for landlords. It will also give them the opportunity to clarify any areas of confusion for them 

with the council.   

“There are currently over 100 pieces of legislation that a landlord has to comply with. The 

laws that the private rented sector has to comply with can be easily misunderstood… The 

NLA agrees that some landlords, most often due to ignorance rather than criminal 

intent, do not use their powers to manage their properties effectively. A more 

appropriate response therefore would be to identify issues and to assist landlords.” 

(National Landlords Association) 

 “It makes it more explicit about what they [the minimum standards] are. Some [landlords] 

genuinely don't know. It’s not through a lack of wanting to know, it’s just hard to find out.” 

(Third sector organisation) 

“We know shared accommodation is incredibly popular due to rising rents and the element 

of affordability. Having a focus on HMO standards is really, really positive. Sometimes it can 

get really jargony, it would be really useful for Hammersmith & Fulham to do workshops or 

sharing sessions so if landlords have any questions. Reading is one thing, but actually 

having a meeting where it isn't intimidating and landlords could really understand your 

ideas, would be really useful.” (Third sector organisation) 

“It would give landlords the understanding they need to have HMOs. It will give them a 

framework. For some landlords where they have no idea… we know that potentially they 

don't understand the framework… so maybe this could be a leg up in this instance.” (Third 

sector organisation) 

 

Page 327



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 55 
 

Revising ‘minimum’ legal standards questioned 

There were a number of questions raised around whether the council are trying to ‘raise’ the minimum 

standards or are updating the set of standards that they have in line with current legislation. The landlords 

associations feel that the council is acting unlawfully as HMO standards are based on legal standards set by 

government and the council does not have the powers to raise those standards. The RLA feel that the council 

should consider lobbying government to raise standards.  

“From a legal point of view, we have prescribed standards in the legislation. I don't see how 

we can change that. We can play about with the space, but the others are prescribed. We 

can't ask for anything more rigorous than the national standards.” (Public sector 

stakeholder)  

“Hammersmith & Fulham can't do that. It’s completely unlawful and they can't do that. 

HMO standards are set nationally. There is no power for local authorities to set minimum 

standards. They can set guidance as to what they consider acceptable. They have to apply 

that holistically…Hammersmith & Fulham should also consider whether they should be 

lobbying the government. Standards are set by the government and if they want higher 

standards, which I don't disagree with, they should push the government to set higher 

standards.” (Residential Landlords Association)   

Enforcement and inspection 

Many feel that a document will have no effect on improving HMO standards unless properties are inspected 

and enforced. As with all options, the council needs to make sure this is not simply a paper exercise and that 

inspections take place and any necessary enforcement action is taken.  

“HMOs are notorious and I'd have through a better ability to oversee their management 

along with the opportunity to extend the licensing to bring others under the banner, it can 

only be a good thing.” (Public health stakeholder) 

 “Who will access it is the question. You would hope this would be a way of getting those 

properties and restating those principles. It needs to become a commitment to 

enforcement and understanding that this goes hand in hand with any legislation and it can't 

work without it.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“It could have an impact provided it is backed up by inspection. From what I can see, I am 

not sure that the council does enough to inspect houses for compliance.” (Residents 

Association stakeholder) 

Page 328



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 56 
 

Tackling worst HMOs 

A small number of stakeholders feel that the standards will not tackle the criminal landlords where HMO 

conditions are likely to be the worst for residents, as they will continue to operate outside of the law and will 

not follow whatever guidelines are introduced and only enforcement will be truly effective 

“It will tackle bad landlords to the extent that it is enforced against.” (Third sector 

stakeholder) 

 

 

 

  

Page 329



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 57 
 

Option 5: Introduce a Social Letting Agency  

 

 

 

 

Around six out of ten respondents (62%) to the residents’ survey are in support of the proposal to introduce a 

social letting agency. Four out of ten (40%) fully support the proposal, whilst 22% partially support the 

proposal. Around one in five (21%) do not support the proposal. 

Overall, support for this proposal is strongest for HMO respondents, with around seven out of ten (71%) in 

support (fully or partially) and 16% who oppose the proposal. Results are also relatively strong for those taking 

part in the online consultation, with around two thirds (67%) saying they are in support.  

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with around six out of ten residents (63%) who responded to the resident 

consultation in support of the proposal, compared to four out of ten landlords (41%). A higher proportion of 

landlords do not support the proposal, compared to residents (41% and 21% respectively). When split out, six 

out of ten (60%) privately renting tenants are in support of the proposal, whilst 28% are not.  

In terms of the online consultation, seven out of ten residents (72%) and just over half of landlords (55%) are 

in support, whilst 28% of landlords and 20% of residents do not support the proposal. When split out, around 

eight out of ten (79%) privately renting tenants are in support of the proposal, whilst 14% are not. 

46% 

37% 

40% 

21% 

33% 

22% 

22% 

16% 

21% 

11% 

13% 

16% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 21: Support for Proposal 5 (by consultation method)  

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

This proposal would see the introduction of a social letting agency in the borough. The idea is 
to help residents on low or modest incomes to overcome the barrier to accessing homes in the 
private rented sector and to help landlords in this part of the market find suitable tenants. It is 
expected that the proposed model to be advantageous to both tenant and landlord. Through 
the agency, the council could aim to let properties or rooms in the private rented sector 
through provision of tenant sourcing and letting services at competitive fees and rates. 

Page 330



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 58 
 

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were asked what impact, if any, introducing a Social Letting Agency would have on them. Around 

half of respondents to the residents’ survey (49%) feel it will have a positive impact, 16% feel it will have a 

negative impact and a further 15% feel it will have no impact at all. On in five (20%) do not know what impact 

it is likely to have on them.  

HMO respondents were also positive, with just over four out of ten (44%) feeling this will have a positive 

impact on them. Around four out of ten respondents (39%) to the online consultation feel it will have a 

positive impact on them; only around one in ten (9%) feel that it will have a negative impact on them.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24% 

22% 

54% 

41% 

31% 

19% 

18% 

22% 

28% 

41% 

20% 

21% 

17% 

19% 

8% 

16% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 22: Support for proposed option 4 (by resident and landlord responses) 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

39% 

44% 

49% 

36% 

26% 

15% 

9% 

12% 

16% 

16% 

17% 

20% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 23: Likely impact of Proposal 5 (by consultation method)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 331



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 59 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with residents more positive than landlords who responded to the 

resident consultation. Half of residents (50%) feel it will have positive impact, compared to around a quarter of 

landlords (26%). The proportion of those who feel it will have a negative impact also differ, with 15% of 

residents and 37% of landlords feeling it will have a negative impact.  When split out, around half (49%) of 

privately renting tenants feel it will be positive, whilst 21% feel it will be negative.  

In terms of the online consultation, just under half of residents (46%) and only 24% of landlords feel it will be 

positive, however 9% of residents and 7% of landlords feel it will have a negative impact. When split out, four 

out of ten (40%) of privately renting tenants feel it will be positive, whilst only 2% feel it will be negative. 

 

Respondent comments on option 5 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments they may wish to about the option. These results 

have been grouped into themes, then analysed.  

The most common comment from respondents to the residents’ survey were that they were generally in 

support of the proposal (30% of respondents commented about this). 18% of comments were around the 

proposal being positive in that it will make housing more accessible/affordable for lower income tenants.  This 

is followed by 9% of respondents saying that in general they did not support the proposal.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common response is that they were generally in support 

of the proposal (59%). This is followed by 13% of comments around the proposal making housing more 

accessible/affordable for lower income tenants.  This is followed by 11% of respondents who feel that it will 

result in bigger costs/higher rents for tenants.  

24% 

26% 

46% 

50% 

55% 

11% 

28% 

16% 

7% 

37% 

9% 

15% 

14% 

26% 

16% 

20% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 29)

Landlords (residents
survey)

(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 24: Likely impact of Proposal 5 (by resident and landlord responses)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 332



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 60 
 

The most common responses to the online consultation were that the scheme cannot address the real issues 

which are mainly around the lack of demand for/high cost of renting in the borough (44%). This is followed by 

35% of respondents commenting that it will be costly for the council to run and whether this is a good use of 

money. This is followed by 33% who are generally in support of the proposal.  

 

30% 

18% 

0% 

0% 

3% 

0% 

2% 

9% 

0% 

3% 

3% 

2% 

2% 

2% 

1% 

1% 

0% 

5% 

59% 

13% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

0% 

11% 

1% 

0% 

5% 

2% 

0% 

3% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

3% 

33% 

24% 

44% 

35% 

21% 

24% 

0% 

0% 

10% 

0% 

0% 

2% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

19% 

Generally support proposal

Make housing more accessible/affordable for lower
income tenants

Doesn't address the real issues in market place - e g
high price of housing

Costs too high to run/good use of money?

Council shouldn't interfere

Landlords wary of lower income tenants

Bigger costs for tenants

Generally do not support proposal

Better control of landlords and housing standards,
gainst ASB, overcrowding and irresponsable landlords

No need

Help improve quality/standards

Waste of time/money/council resources

Council making money

Support if: no fee/affordable prices/ council not
making money as a letting agency

Council should improve own stock too

Provides better choice in market

Not a fair system

Other

Figure 25. Additional comments on option 5 

Residents

HMO

Online

Page 333



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 61 
 

Stakeholder views 

There are mixed views amongst stakeholders about the strength and validity of the council setting up a social 

letting agency. Some of the key themes are detailed below.  

Evidence around impact of existing schemes 

A number of stakeholders referenced existing agencies that had been set up by other local authorities, with 

Haringey being referred to as one where a scheme has been set up and has had very little take up.  

“Haringey spent £1.5 million pounds and they had 3 properties on their books” (National 

Landlords Association) 

“I’m not sure if anyone has studied the evidence, but it seems to be working in other 

boroughs.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Others referred to Carmarthenshire and Islington as areas where this has worked well. 

“Carmarthenshire have done well from it and got really good buy in from landlords.” (Third 

sector stakeholder) 

“Islington have Islington Lets. They were one of the stakeholders that worked with us on 

the guide [social letting guide]” (Third sector stakeholder) 

Competition with existing agents 

Again, we see mixed views amongst stakeholders about a social letting agency competing with other letting 

agents, with many feeling it could only be a positive thing to have a social letting agency competing with 

agents who charge high fees and do not deal with tenants who are receiving benefits to pay for their housing, 

therefore it gives this group who cannot access social housing but cannot access many forms of private rented 

sector housing, to gain access to a greater number of properties.  

“The social letting agency we feel is a good initiative. There is plenty of expertise in house 

to provide many services and of course it would be ethical. However, the difficulty lies in 

acquiring suitable/affordable properties in expensive parts of London.” (Public sector 

stakeholder) 

“Any agency that you are going to set up to assist vulnerable people has to be supported. I 

think it’s a good idea that the council are wanting to help their tenants in this way, so yes 

this is something very positive, provided that it’s going to be managed correctly.” (Public 

sector stakeholder) 

Page 334



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 62 
 

“I find in the work we do, people find it very difficult to access private rented 

accommodation… You've got the working people who can afford it… and then you've got 

people who can access social housing and then you've got this lump of people in between. I 

think it’s a good idea to help that section of the community.” (Third sector stakeholder)   

“It’s important to really understand the market and see what other letting agents charge 

and decide what you are going to offer. Are you going to have a tenants service, are you 

going to have a management service etc…?” (Third sector stakeholder)   

“The letting agents market is extremely competitive… it’s hard for local authorities to 

provide a better offer for landlords. By and large it’s not a model that works very well in 

London… because demand is so high, landlords can pick and choose tenants.” (Public sector 

stakeholder) 

Resourcing and attracting large numbers of landlords 

Many who support the idea feel that the council needs to throw resources and time into drumming up a large 

number of landlords in a very short period for the scheme to have any chance of success. If other landlords see 

it being successful, they are more likely to join the agency. If tenants have a decent amount of choice, then 

they are more likely to be encouraged to use the agency.  

“There are so many letting agents in London, it can be quite difficult to get the numbers to 

make it worthwhile.” (Third sector stakeholder) 

“How are you going to get landlords to go through that agency if tenants are going to be 

paying lower rents? What is the advantage to them and how do you make that work for 

them?” (Third sector stakeholder) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 335



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 63 
 

23% 

15% 

15% 

15% 

48% 

28% 

55% 

27% 

42% 

8% 

10% 

15% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 26: Support for keeping things as they are 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

Keep things as they are 

The consultation also provided respondents with the option of ‘keeping things as they are’, i.e. for the council 

to not make any changes to the way they currently operate. The same questions were asked as with the other 

options – to what extent respondents support the option for the council to keep things as they are, and what 

impact if any, will keeping things as they are have on them. This question was not asked to stakeholders.   

Views are mixed for those participating in the residents’’ survey; around four out of ten respondents (43%) say 

they support the council keeping things as they are, with 15% fully supporting this and 28% partially 

supporting this, while a similar proportion (42%) say they do not support this option.  15% say they don’t 

know.  

Support is higher for those who took part in the HMO consultation, with over six out of ten (63%) in support of 

keeping things as they are and around a quarter (27%) in opposition.  Support is less positive for those taking 

part in the online consultation, with 37% in support and 55% opposing the option.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ between the types of respondent, with around eight out of ten landlords (78%) who responded 

to the resident consultation in support of keeping things as they are, compared to 42% of residents. A higher 

proportion of residents are not in support of things remaining the same, compared to landlords (43% and 15% 

respectively). When split out, around half (51%) of privately renting tenants are in support, whilst 41% do not 

support keeping things as they are.  

In terms of the online consultation, three quarters of landlords (75%) are in favour of things being kept as they 

are, compared to around only a quarter (24%) of residents. Seven out of ten residents (71%) are not in support 

Page 336



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 64 
 

of things being kept as they are, compared to 14% of landlords. Only a quarter (26%) of privately renting 

tenants are in support, whilst 67% do not support keeping things as they are. 

 

Likely impact on respondents 

Respondents were asked what impact, if any, keeping things as they are will have on them. Around one in five 

respondents (22%) to the resident consultation feel it will have a positive impact on them and around a 

quarter (26%) say it will have no impact at all. Three out of ten (30%) feel it will have a negative impact, and 

around one in five (21%) don’t know what impact it is likely to have on them.  

Again, we see similar results for both the HMO consultation and the online consultation, with around one in 

five (18% and 21% respectively) saying they feel it will have a positive impact on them. Around four out of ten 

of online respondents (42%) feel it will have a negative impact on them, compared to only 18% HMO 

respondents.  

 

 

46% 

52% 

14% 

14% 

29% 

26% 

10% 

28% 

14% 

15% 

71% 

43% 

11% 

7% 

5% 

15% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 28)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 73)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 27: Support for keeping things as they are (by resident and landlord) 

Fully support Partially support Do not support Don't know / not sure

21% 

18% 

22% 

32% 

50% 

26% 

42% 

18% 

30% 

5% 

14% 

21% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 28: Likely impact of keeping things as they are 

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 337



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 65 
 

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with landlords more positive than residents who responded to the 

resident consultation. Around six out of ten landlords (59%) feel it will have positive impact, compared to 21% 

of residents. The proportions of those who feel it will have a negative impact also differ, with 30% of residents 

and 15% of landlords. 28% of privately renting tenants feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst 31% 

feel it will have a negative impact.  

 In terms of the online consultation, 43% of landlords and only 12% of residents feel it will be positive, whilst 

14% of landlords and 53% of residents feel it will have a negative impact.  Only 9% of privately renting tenants 

feel it will have a positive impact on them, whilst 53% feel it will have a negative impact. 

 

Respondent comments on keeping things as they are 

Respondents were invited to add any further comments they may wish to about the consultation and any 

ideas that respondents may have to address any issues experienced with private rented properties. These 

results have been grouped into themes, then analysed.  

The most common comment from respondents to the residents’ survey were around the need for 

improvements to be made around safety and quality of housing (23% of respondents commented about this). 

13% of comments were around respondents being happy with things as they currently are, followed by a 

similar proportion who say that in general they support the proposals (13%).  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common responses is that they were generally in support 

of the proposals (37%). This is followed by comments around concerns that rent is already very high and that 

43% 

59% 

12% 

21% 

43% 

22% 

29% 

27% 

14% 

15% 

53% 

30% 

4% 

5% 

22% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 28)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 73)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 29: Likely impact of keeping things as they are (by resident and landlord)  

A positive impact No impact A negative impact Don't know / not sure

Page 338



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 66 
 

any scheme may result in increases of rent passed onto tenants (23%).This is followed by 13% who cited their 

being a need for better regulation/enforcement of the PRS sector.  

The most common responses to the online consultation were around the need for better 

regulation/enforcement of the PRS sector (45%). This is followed by 14% who are happy with things as they 

are but would like more enforcement using existing powers. 12% of responses were then around the council 

needing to deal with ASB problems or tenants that cause them, 12% around the need for affordable housing in 

the borough and 12% around the need for more information when a tenant becomes a tenant of a property.  

 

13% 

9% 

7% 

10% 

23% 

6% 

4% 

0% 

3% 

13% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

0% 

0% 

2% 

1% 

13% 

37% 

6% 

11% 

23% 

1% 

6% 

4% 

0% 

10% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

4% 

3% 

0% 

0% 

13% 

7% 

2% 

45% 

5% 

0 

12% 

12% 

14% 

0% 

0 

12% 

7% 

0% 

0 

0% 

0% 

0% 

17% 

Generally support proposals

Generally do not support proposals

Better regulation/enforcement of PRS needed

Rent is too high already/costs will be passed onto
tenants

Improve quality/safety/cleanlinness

Council needs to deal with ASB problems/tenants
who cause them

More affordable housing

Enforce using existing legislation

Fee too high

Happy with thing as they are

More information re tenancies

Improve and support tenants rights

Check tenant to prevent subletting/overcrowding

Need more information

Council making money

Landlords/letting agents need to do more to look
after their tenants

Reward system

Other

Figure 30. Additional comments/issues experienced 

Residents

HMO

Online

Page 339



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 67 
 

2.  Licensing costs 
As part of the consultation document, the proposed fees for the options, primarily the licensing fees were 

provided along with how they had been calculated. Respondents to the consultations were asked whether 

they feel the fees are reasonable.  

Around three out of five (59%) respondents to the residents’ survey feel that the costs are reasonable, with 

broadly an even split between those feeling they are totally reasonable (30%) and those who feel they are 

fairly reasonable (29%). Around a quarter (26%) feel they are unreasonable, with 12% who say they are fairly 

unreasonable and 14% very unreasonable. 15% say they are not sure.  

Results for the online consultation are fairly similar, with 59% saying that the costs are reasonable. However, 

36% feel they are unreasonable. Only 5% say they are not sure. Support is higher amongst those who took 

part in the HMO consultation, with around three quarters (74%) saying the costs are reasonable and only 19% 

unreasonable.  

Results by resident and landlord 

Results differ by type of respondent, with a higher proportion of residents feeling that the licensing costs 

proposed are reasonable, than landlords. Around six out of ten residents (59%) who responded to the 

residents’ survey feel the costs are reasonable, compared to three out of ten landlords (30%). 56% of landlords 

feel they are unreasonable, compared to 13% of residents. 57% of privately renting tenants feel the costs are 

reasonable, compared to around a quarter (27%) feel they are unreasonable.  

31% 

36% 

30% 

28% 

38% 

29% 

13% 

13% 

12% 

23% 

6% 

14% 

5% 

7% 

15% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size:

1104)

Figure 31: How reasonable is he proposed licensing fee (by consultation method)? 

Totally reasonable Fairly reasonable Fairly unreasonable Totally unreasonable Don't know/not sure

Page 340



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 68 
 

In terms of the online consultation, 65% of residents feel costs are reasonable compared to 43% of landlords. 

16% of residents feel they are unreasonable, compared to around four out of ten landlords (43%). Two thirds 

(67%) of privately renting tenants feel the costs are reasonable, compared to only 14% who feel they are 

unreasonable. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11% 

11% 

38% 

30% 

32% 

19% 

27% 

29% 

14% 

4% 

12% 

12% 

43% 

56% 

16% 

13% 

11% 

7% 

15% 

Landlords (online survey)
(Base size: 28)

Landlords (residents survey)
(Base size: 27)

Residents (online survey)
(Base size: 74)

Residents (resident survey)
(Base size: 1076)

Figure 32: How reasonable is the proposed licensing fee (by respondent type)? 

Totally reasonable Fairly reasonable Fairly unreasonable Totally unreasonable Don’t know / not sure 

Page 341



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 69 
 

3.8 
3.1 3.0 

4.1 

2.9 3.0 

4.2 4.0 
3.5 

5.9 

3.8 

4.7 

3.3 

2.6 2.5 
3.0 

2.3 
2.8 

Noise Neglected/untidy
properties

Untidy gardens Small scale rubbish
dumping

Nuisance from
neighbours

Pest and vermin
issues

Figure 34: Experience of anti social behaviour (by consultation method) 

Residents Online HMO

3.  Experiences in Hammersmith & Fulham 
As part of the consultation, respondents were asked a series of questions about their views and experiences of 

living in Hammersmith & Fulham, focusing on their experiences of anti-social behaviour (such as noise, crime, 

litter etc.), their views of the private rented sector and issues they may have experienced as a tenant. 

Experience of anti-social behaviour issues in the borough 

Respondents were firstly asked to rate to what extent they had experienced a range of issues in the borough 

on a scale of 1 to 10 (where 1 is not a problem at all and 10 is a major problem). The results have been 

compiled and the mean score calculated for each issue (i.e. the average of the number - a calculated "central" 

value out of the full set of numbers).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The most common problem for those who responded to the residents’ survey is small-scale rubbish dumping 

e.g. not putting the rubbish out on the right day or not storing rubbish correctly, with a mean score of 4.1. This 

is followed by noise, with a mean score of 3.8. The next most common problem is neglected/ untidy 

properties, with a mean score of 3.1.  For private rented tenants, the most common problem is small-scale 

rubbish dumping, with a mean score of 3.5. This is followed by noise (3.4) and pest and vermin issues (2.9). 

For respondents to the online consultation, the most common problem is small-scale rubbish dumping (5.9). 

This is followed by pest and vermin issues with a mean score of 4.7. This is followed by noise with a mean 

score of 4.2. For private rented tenants, the most common problem is small-scale rubbish dumping, with a 

mean score of 5.7. This is followed by pest and vermin issues (4.8), and noise issues (4.2). 

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the most common problem is noise, with a mean score of 3.3, 

followed by small-scale rubbish dumping, with a mean score of 3.0. As private rented tenants make up the 

vast majority of this group, the results are the same as the overall HMO consultation figures quoted.  

The table below shows results for private rented tenants, by consultation method.  

Page 342



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 70 
 

Table 8. Neighbourhood issues for private rented tenants (by consultation method) 

Issues  (major and minor combined) 
Residents’ 

survey 
Online 

Consultation 

HMO 
Consultation 

Noise 3.4 4.2 3.3 

Neglected/untidy properties 2.7 3.7 2.6 

Untidy gardens 2.7 3.3 2.5 

Small scale rubbish dumping 3.5 5.7 3.0 

Nuisance from neighbours  2.6 3.9 2.3 

Pest and vermin issues 2.9 4.8 2.8 

 

Feelings of safety  

Respondents were asked how safe or unsafe they feel at various times of the day. For respondents to the 

residents’ survey, the overwhelming majority of respondents (97%) say that they feel safe outside during the 

day.  A similar proportion (95%) say that they feel safe whilst home alone at night. 84% of the same group say 

that they feel safe outside after dark, whilst 11% say they feel unsafe at this time. For private rented tenants, 

almost all (98%) say they feel safe outside during the day, 97% feel safe at home at night and 88% outside 

after dark.  

 

 

For respondents to the online consultation, the majority (95%) also feel safest outside during the day. Only 5% 

feel unsafe during this time. 87% say they feel safe whilst home alone at night, with only 6% unsafe. The 

lowest levels of safety were reported for ‘outside after dark’, with a fifth saying they feel unsafe (20%). 

46% 

27% 

47% 

68% 64% 
77% 

65% 

50% 

70% 

38% 

45% 

43% 

29% 31% 

22% 

30% 

37% 

26% 
5% 

8% 

6% 
7% 

8% 
14% 

5% 5% 6% 

Residents Online HMO Residents Online HMO Residents Online HMO

Outside after dark Outside during the day Home alone at night

Figure 35: How safe or unsafe respondents feel 

Very safe Fairly safe Neither Fairly unsafe Very unsafe Don't know

Page 343



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 71 
 

However, around seven out of ten (72%) feel safe during this time. For private rented tenants, almost all (98%) 

say they feel safe outside during the day, 86% feel safe at home at night and 72% outside after dark. 16% say 

they feel unsafe outside after dark.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the majority (98%) also feel safest outside during the day. 96% say 

they feel safe when home alone at night. Nine out of ten respondents (90%) say they feel safe when outside 

after dark, with only 4% feeling unsafe during this time. For private rented tenants, almost all (98%) say they 

feel safe outside during the day, 96% feel safe at home at night and 90% outside after dark.  

Table 9. Feelings of safety for private rented tenants (by consultation method) 

Issues   Residents’ survey Online Consultation HMO Consultation 

 Safe Unsafe Safe Unsafe Safe Unsafe 

Outside after dark 88% 7% 90% 5% 72% 16% 

Outside during the day 98% 1% 98% 1% 98% 2% 

Home alone at night 97% 2% 96% 2% 86% 7% 

 

Effectiveness of the council in dealing with anti-social behaviour 

Respondents were asked how effective they think Hammersmith & Fulham Council is in dealing with anti-

social behaviour (e.g. noise, crime, litter etc.) on a scale of 1 to 10 (where 1 is not at all effective and 10 is 

totally effective). A mean score has been calculated for each consultation group.  For respondents to the 

residents’ survey, a mean score of 5.4 is given. A mean score of 5.5 has been calculated for private rented 

tenants.  

A mean score of 4.3 is given for those who took part in the online consultation, while a mean score of 4.5 has 

been calculated for private rented tenants in this survey. Respondents to the HMO consultation are the most 

positive, with a mean score of 6.8; a score of 6.8 has also been calculated for private rented tenants in this 

survey. 

 

4.3 

5.4 

6.8 

Online Residents HMO

Figure 36: How effective is H&F council at dealing with anti social behaviour? 

Page 344



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 72 
 

Have respondents been affected by or witnessed anti-social behaviour? 

When asked to think about privately rented properties in the area, seven out of ten (70%) respondents to the 

resident consultation say that they have not been affected by or witnessed anti-social behaviour. One in ten 

(10%) say that they had been affected by anti-social behaviour, whilst a slightly higher proportion (13%) had 

witnessed ASB. 6% say that they ‘don’t know’ and 4% were unaware of private rented properties in their area. 

Figures are relatively similar for private rented tenants, which are shown in the table below.  

For respondents to the online consultation, almost two-fifths (38%) have not been affected by or witnessed 

anti-social behaviour. The same proportion (38%) say that they have been affected by this whilst almost one 

out of three respondents (28%) say that they have witnessed this behaviour. 5% say that they ‘don’t know’ 

and 3% are unaware of private rented properties in their area. Results are again relatively similar for private 

rented tenants.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, almost seven out of ten (68%) have not been affected by or 

witnessed anti-social behaviour. 6% have been affected by this, whilst 9% have witnessed this issue. 5% say 

that they ‘don’t know’ whilst 12% are unaware of private rented properties in their area. Results are almost 

identical for private rented tenants. 

Table 10. % of private rented tenants who have been affected by/witnessed ASB (by consultation method) 

Issues   Residents’ survey Online Consultation HMO Consultation 

Yes, affected by 9% 40% 6% 

Yes, witnessed 13% 37% 9% 

No 76% 33% 69% 

Don't know 4% 5% 5% 

Unaware of private rented 
properties in my area 

1% 5% 12% 

 

Views on private rented property standards 

Respondents were asked if the privately rented properties they know of in their area are maintained to a good 

standard. For respondents to the residents’ survey, around six out of ten (61%) say yes, with around a fifth 

(21%) answering no. Around a fifth (19%) say that they don’t know. Around three quarters (77%) of private 

rented tenants say yes, whilst only 14% say no. 9% say they don’t know. 

46% of respondents to the online consultation say that private rented properties are maintained to a good 

standard. Three out of ten (30%) of the same group say no, whilst 23% say that they don’t know. Around three 

quarters (77%) of private rented tenants say yes, whilst only 14% say no. Around half (49%) of private rented 

tenants say yes, whilst 29% say no. However, 22% say they don’t know. 

Page 345



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 73 
 

5% 

6% 

4% 

50% 

43% 

44% 

19% 

37% 

26% 

3% 

9% 

5% 

10% 

4% 

13% 

13% 

8% 

HMO

Online

Residents

Figure 37: To what extent private landlords or their agents act responsibly 

All Most Some None or very few Don't know Unaware

Over three-quarters (76%) of respondents to the HMO consultation say that privately rented properties in 

their area are maintained to a good standard. 12%  that they are not, and the same proportion (12%) say they 

‘don’t know’.  Three quarters (75%) of private rented tenants say yes, whilst only 13% say no. 12% say they 

don’t know. 

Views on landlords and letting agents standards in managing and maintaining properties 

Respondents were asked whether they think private landlords or their agents act responsibly in letting, 

managing and maintaining their properties. For respondents to the residents’ survey, 4% say that all private 

landlords or their agents that they know of in their area act responsibly. 44% say that most act responsibly. 

Around a quarter (26%) say that some act responsibly, whereas 5% say none or very few act responsibly. 

Results are fairly similar for private rented tenants; these are presented in the table below.  

For the online consultation, results were similar with 6% saying that all act responsibly and 43% saying most. 

37% say that some private landlords or their agents act responsibly in letting, managing and maintaining their 

properties. This compares to 9% who say that none or very few act like this.  Results differ when we look at 

private rented tenants, with only 16% saying most. However, 47% say they don’t know.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, 5% say that all private landlords or their agents that they are aware 

of in their area act responsibly. Half (50%) say that most act responsibly whilst around a fifth (19%) say that 

some act responsibly. Only 3% stated that none, very few private landlords, or their agents act responsibly. 

Results are almost identical for private rented tenants.  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 346



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 74 
 

Table 11. Extent to which private rented tenants feel private landlords/their agents act responsibly (by 
consultation method) 

Issues   Residents’ survey Online Consultation HMO Consultation 

All 6% 0% 5% 

Most 57% 16% 50% 

Some 27% 37% 20% 

None or very few 3% 20% 3% 

Don't know 6% 47% 9% 

Unaware 2% 6% 12% 

 

Actions to take to keep private rented properties tidy 

Respondents were asked what action should be taken to keep private rented properties tidy, prevent small 

scale dumping and ensure that refuse is put out on the correct day for collection. Results for private rented 

tenants are provided in the table below.  

Just under four out of ten respondents (38%) who took part in the residents’ survey say that they want 

landlords or their agents to undertake routine external inspections.  A third (33%) say that new and existing 

tenants should be advised of their legal responsibility. Around a third (32%) say that they want a contractor to 

be engaged to routinely clean/maintain external areas.  

For the online consultation, around eight out of ten (79%) say that new and existing tenants should be advised 

of their legal responsibilities. Almost two-thirds (64%) say that landlords or their agents should inspect 

properties when a tenancy ends and clear and remove any small scale dumping. Around six out of ten (61%) 

respondents of the same group say that they want landlords to place signage in properties to remind tenants 

of waste collection days/rules.  

For respondents to the HMO consultation, under half (46%) say they wanted additional bins to be provided. 

Around four out of ten (38%) say that they want external storage to be provided. Three out of ten (30%) say 

that additional routine rubbish collection should be paid for and that a pest control contractor should be 

engaged to routinely monitor private rented properties. 

Page 347



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 75 
 

27% 

22% 

18% 

38% 

32% 

30% 

33% 

19% 

29% 

18% 

53% 

34% 

25% 

55% 

47% 

36% 

79% 

61% 

64% 

0% 

46% 

38% 

30% 

27% 

26% 

30% 

25% 

26% 

28% 

14% 

Provide additional bins

Provide external storage

Pay for additional
routine rubbish collection

Landlord/agent to undertake
routine external inspections

Engage contractor to routinely
clean/maintain external areas

Engage a pest control
contractor to routinely monitor

Advise new/existing tenants
of their legal responsibilities

Landlords to place signage
in property to remind tenants of waste

collection days/rules

Landlords/agents to inspect
properties when tenancy ends and clear and

remove…

None

Figure 38: How to keep private rented properties tidy, prevent small scale dumping and 
ensure that refuse is put out on the correct day for collection  

Residents Online HMO

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 348



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 76 
 

Table 12. Private rented tenants views on how to keep private rented properties tidy, prevent small scale 
dumping and ensure that refuse is put out on the correct day for collection (by consultation method) 

Issues   
Residents’ 

survey 
Online 

Consultation 

HMO 
Consultation 

Provide additional bins 28% 62% 47% 

Provide external storage 23% 36% 39% 

Pay for additional routine rubbish collection 16% 24% 30% 

Landlord/agent to undertake routine external 
inspections 

35% 50% 27% 

Engage contractor to routinely clean/maintain 
external areas 

31% 48% 27% 

Engage a pest control contractor to routinely 
monitor 

33% 43% 30% 

Advise new/existing tenants of their legal 
responsibilities 

35% 62% 25% 

Landlords to place signage in property to remind 
tenants of waste collection days/rules 

16% 62% 26% 

Landlords/agents to inspect properties when 
tenancy ends and clear and remove any small 
scale dumping 

31% 57% 28% 

None  12% 62% 13% 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 349



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 77 
 

4.  Tenant experiences  
As part of the consultation, respondents who say they were tenants in the borough were asked a series of 

questions around their experiences.  

Satisfaction with aspects of the home 

Respondents were asked how satisfied or dissatisfied they are with various aspects of their home in the last 12 

months. 82% of respondents to the residents’ survey, say that they are satisfied with the overall quality of 

their home, whilst 12% were dissatisfied. Around seven out of ten respondents (69%) to the online 

consultation say they are satisfied, whilst 17% say they are dissatisfied. 87% of respondents to the HMO 

consultation are satisfied with the overall quality of their home, whilst 5% are dissatisfied. When we look at 

private rented tenants, we can see that levels of satisfaction are slightly higher for those who took part in the 

residents’ survey, whilst they are lower for those who took part in the online consultation. Dissatisfaction 

levels are also higher for this group. HMO responses are identical, as privately renting tenants made up the 

vast majority of this group.  

Regarding the overall repairs and maintenance of their home, almost three-quarters (73%) of resident 

consultation respondents are satisfied, whilst 17% are dissatisfied. Over six out of ten (61%) online 

respondents are satisfied and almost one-quarter (23%) are dissatisfied.  Over eight out of ten respondents 

(82%) to the HMO consultation are satisfied in this area, whilst 9% are dissatisfied. When we look at private 

rented tenants, we can see that levels of satisfaction are again slightly higher for those who took part in the 

residents’ survey, whilst they are lower for those who took part in the online consultation. Dissatisfaction 

levels amongst those who took part in the online consultation are again higher. HMO responses are again 

identical. 

When asked how satisfied they are with the management of their home by their landlord or letting agent, 

almost three-quarters (73%) of resident respondents are satisfied whilst 13% are dissatisfied. 55% of online 

respondents are satisfied with this, whilst three out of ten (30%) are dissatisfied. HMO respondents are the 

most satisfied in this area with 83% satisfied and 7% dissatisfied. When we look at private rented tenants, we 

can see that levels of satisfaction are again slightly higher for those who took part in the residents’ survey. 

Results are very similar for those taking part in the online consultation and the HMO consultation.  

For the next two options, all those who say that it is not applicable to them have been removed, to allow for 

comparison across the consultation surveys.  

Regarding the cleanliness of communal areas inside the property, two thirds (67%) of respondents to the 

resident consultation are satisfied, whilst 18% are dissatisfied. Around six out of ten (59%) of respondents to 

the online consultation are satisfied whilst around a quarter (27%) are dissatisfied. Again, respondents to the 

Page 350



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 78 
 

HMO consultation are the most satisfied in this area with 85% satisfied and 7% dissatisfied. When we look at 

private rented tenants, we can see that levels of satisfaction are higher for those who took part in the 

residents’ survey (79%). Results are similar for those taking part in the online consultation and the HMO 

consultation. 

Around two thirds  (67%) of respondents to the residents’ survey are satisfied with the cleanliness of their 

shared kitchens, toilet or bathrooms whilst 9% are unsatisfied. 57% of respondents to the online consultation 

are satisfied with this aspect of their home and 2% are dissatisfied. Again, respondents to the HMO 

consultation  are the most satisfied with this area, with 87% satisfied and 5% dissatisfied.  When we look at 

private rented tenants, we can see that levels of satisfaction are again slightly higher for those who took part 

in the residents’ survey. Results are very similar for those taking part in the online consultation and identical 

for those taking part in the HMO consultation. 

For the maintenance of outside areas, 72% of respondents to the resident consultation are satisfied and 16% 

are dissatisfied. For respondents to the online consultation, equal proportions of respondents are satisfied and 

dissatisfied (both 40%). 70% of HMO respondents are satisfied and 11% are dissatisfied.  When we look at 

private rented tenants, we can see that levels of satisfaction are again slightly higher for those who took part 

in the residents’ survey. Satisfaction levels are similar for those taking part in the online consultation, but 

dissatisfaction levels are higher (51%). Results are identical for HMO respondents. 

Table 13. Satisfaction with aspects of home for private rented tenants (by consultation method) 

Issues   Residents’ survey Online Consultation HMO Consultation 

 Satisfied Dissatisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied 

The overall quality of your home 87% 9% 63% 28% 87% 5% 

The overall repairs and 
maintenance of your home 

80% 11% 53% 33% 82% 9% 

The management of your home 
by your landlord or letting agent 

80% 9% 55% 33% 82% 7% 

The cleanliness of the communal 
area inside the property 

79% 9% 56% 32% 85% 7% 

The cleanliness of shared kitchen, 
toilet, bathroom 

77% 7% 63% 0% 87% 5% 

The maintenance of outside area 81% 10% 41% 51% 70% 11% 

Page 351



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 79 
 

 

Issues affecting tenants 

Respondents were asked to what extent a variety of issues had affected them as a tenant in the last 12 

months. We have removed any ‘not applicable’ responses to allow for comparison .Results for private rented 

tenants are provided in the table below by consultation method. 

For those who took part in the residents’ survey, the top issue is rubbish and litter, with 42% finding it to be a 

problem, with 30% feeling it is a major issue. This is followed by damp and mould, with 39% feeling this to be a 

problem. This is followed by disrepair, with a third (33%) finding this to be a problem. The top three issues are 

the same for private rented tenants, although damp and mould features as the top issue (34% feel it is an 

issue). 

For respondents to the online consultation, the top three problems differ from the other two groups. The 

biggest issue is rubbish and litter (72%), with 30% feeling it to be a major issue. This is followed by noise or 

disturbance from another tenant/neighbour (57%), with 20% feeling it to be a major issue, and poor 

management of properties (54%).  The top three issues are the same for private rented tenants, although poor 

management of properties (61%) and noise/disturbance from tenants/neighbours (56%) feature as the second 

and third issues.  

82% 

69% 

87% 

73% 
61% 

82% 
73% 

55% 

82% 

67% 
59% 

85% 

67% 
57% 

87% 

72% 

40% 

70% 

6% 

14% 

8% 

10% 

16% 

10% 

14% 

16% 

10% 

15% 

14% 

9% 

25% 40% 

8% 

11% 

20% 

19% 

12% 
17% 

5% 
17% 

23% 

9% 13% 

30% 

7% 
18% 

27% 

7% 9% 
2% 5% 

16% 

40% 

11% 

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

R
es

id
en

ts

O
n

lin
e

H
M

O

The overall quality
of your home

The overall repairs
and maintenance of

your home

The management of
your home by your
landlord or letting

agent

The cleanliness of
the communal area
inside the property

The cleanliness of
shared kitchen,

toilet, bathroom

The maintenance of
outside area

Figure 39: Satisfaction with aspects of home (by consultation method)  

Satisfied Neither Dissatisfied

Page 352



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 80 
 

For respondents to the HMO consultation, the top three issues are the same as above, although the biggest 

problems they have experienced differ. The biggest issue is felt to be damp and mould (38%), with 20% feeling 

it to be a major issue. This is followed by rubbish and litter (34%) and disrepair (31%). As the HMO 

respondents were almost wholly private rented tenants, results are identical. 

Table 14.  Issues experienced by private rented tenants in the last 12 months (by consultation method) 

Issues   
Residents’ 

survey 
Online 

Consultation 
HMO 

Consultation 

Poor management of properties 20% 61% 27% 

Inadequate heating system 13% 43% 11% 

Damp or mould 34% 46% 38% 

Inadequate fire safety 8% 27% 7% 

Disrepair 28% 46% 31% 

Overcrowding 6% 13% 5% 

Harassment from other tenants 4% 9% 3% 

Harassment from landlord 2% 11% 2% 

Noise or disturbance from another tenant/ neighbour 19% 56% 11% 

Vermin or pests 26% 55% 29% 

Rubbish or litter 33% 67% 34% 

ASB from other tenants 10% 16% 4% 

Drug use or dealing 12% 17% 4% 

Other crime 8% 21% 3% 

Other  5% 23% 3% 

Page 353



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 81 
 

 

P
age 354



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 82 
 

5.  Landlord experiences 
As part of the consultation, landlords who took part were asked a series of questions about their views and 

experiences of being a landlord/agent in Hammersmith and Fulham.  

Recognised landlord body 

30 landlords responded to the online consultation and 27 to the residents’ survey. Membership of landlords 

associations is relatively low, with only 30% (9 landlords) of online respondents members of the London 

Landlords Accreditation Scheme, 20% are members of the National Landlords Association (6), 13% are 

members of the Residential Landlords Association and 7% other. 47% say they are not members. Of resident 

consultation respondents, only 1 (4%) is a member of the London Landlords Accreditation Scheme, 1 is a 

member of the Residential Landlords Association (4%) and 1 of an ‘other’ body (4%).   

Manage properties in other local authority areas 

15% of landlord respondents to the residents’ survey indicated that they manage property in other local 

authority areas. This compares to 67% of online respondents.  

Subject to licensing in other local authority areas 

Landlord respondents were asked if they had property that is subject to selective or additional licensing in 

other local authority areas. 20% of online landlord respondents (6 respondents) answered ‘yes’ to having 

properties that are subject to selective licensing in other local authority areas. This compares to 13% (4 

respondents) of the same group who have properties that are subject to additional licensing in other local 

authority areas. For landlord respondents to the residents’ survey, 1 respondent (4%) say that he/she had 

property that is subject to selective licensing in other local authority areas. In addition, 2 respondents (7%) say 

that they had property that is subject to additional licensing in other local authority areas. 

Problems with property  

Landlords were then asked if they had encountered any problems with their property. To allow for 

comparison between the online and residents’ surveys, all ‘no problem’ responses have been removed. 15% 

of landlords say that they had problems with tenants causing anti-social behaviour (such as noise, litter or 

putting rubbish out on the wrong day) and the same proportion stated that problems in neighbouring 

properties affected their property/tenants. 7% say they have had problems with poor property conditions. 4% 

say that they had difficulty finding new tenants and 4% also say that they had difficulty obtaining new 

references for tenants. 

50% of landlords (5) who responded to the online consultation say they had problems in neighbouring 

properties that affected their property/tenants. 40% (4 respondents) say that they experienced tenants 

Page 355



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 83 
 

causing anti-social behaviour. 30% of the same group (3 respondents) say that they had difficulty finding new 

tenants, with 20% (2 respondents) having problems evicting tenants and 10% (1 respondent) experiencing 

poor property conditions.     

Problems affecting them in the borough  

Landlords were then asked to rate to what extent a list of problems affected them in Hammersmith and 

Fulham on a scale of 1 to 10 (where 1 is not a problem at all and 10 indicates that they have experienced 

major problems). A mean score for each option has been calculated. Results are presented in the chart below. 

The most common problem felt by landlords who responded to the residents’ survey, is small-scale rubbish 

dumping, with a mean score of 3.1. This is closely followed by littering (anti-social behaviour) with a mean 

score of 2.6. The third most common issue in this category is noise, with a mean score of 2.4. 

For landlords who responded to the online consultation, the most common problem is the supply of property 

to rent, with a mean score of 4.2. This is closely followed by the poor perception of private landlords or 

properties, with a mean score of 4.1. The next most common issue is littering, with a mean score of 4.0.   

 

 

2.2 
2.0 

2.4 
2.6 

3.1 

2.1 

1.7 

2.1 2.2 2.1 2.1 

2.8 

3.3 

4.0 

3.5 
3.2 

2.8 

4.1 4.2 

3.4 

Lo
w

 d
em

an
d

 fo
r h

o
u

sin
g (d

ifficu
lty

le
ttin

g)

H
igh

 tu
rn

o
ver (te

n
an

ts n
o

t stayin
g

lo
n

g)

N
o

ise (A
SB

)

Litter (A
SB

)

P
u

ttin
g ru

b
b

ish
 o

u
t o

n
 th

e w
ro

n
g

d
ay/in

ad
e

q
u

ate
 sto

rage (A
SB

)

P
o

o
r p

ro
p

erty co
n

d
itio

n
s

Em
p

ty p
ro

p
ertie

s

P
o

o
r p

e
rcep

tio
n

 o
f p

rivate lan
d

lo
rd

s
o

r p
ro

p
e

rties

Su
p

p
ly o

f p
ro

p
erty to

 ren
t

P
o

o
r p

e
rcep

tio
n

 o
f ten

an
ts

Figure 41: Problems for landlords in H&F Residents Online

Page 356



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 84 
 

Other problems affecting landlords  

Landlords were then asked what other problems they had encountered with tenants they had rented their 

properties to. For landlords who responded to the online consultation, the most common issue is with rent 

arrears (74% - 14 respondents). The next most common issues are problems with rubbish (e.g. small scale 

rubbish dumping, not putting the rubbish out correctly or not storing rubbish properly), with 53% (10) 

choosing this option, followed by 47% (9) who feel not keeping the property in good condition is a problem.  

In comparison, the most common response for landlords who responded to the residents’ survey is ‘other‘ 

(56% - 15 respondents). The next most common response is not keeping the property in good condition (19% - 

5 respondents). The third most common response is problems with rubbish at 15% (4 respondents).  

 

Demand for properties  

Landlords were also asked how much demand there is for their property. Over three quarters of landlords 

(78%) who responded to the online consultation say that they could let their property quickly but did not 

currently have a waiting list. Around a fifth (19%) say that they have a waiting list for their property. There are 

an equal proportion of respondents who say that they find it hard to tenant their property and have empty 

properties waiting to be filled (both 4% ).   

Over half of landlords who took part in the residents’ survey say that they could let their property quickly, but 

do not currently have a waiting list (56% - 15 respondents). 15% (4 respondents) say that they have a waiting 

list of prospective tenants. On the other hand, the same proportion (15% - 4 respondents) say that they find it 

hard to tenant their property.  

74% 

53% 
47% 

42% 

32% 32% 

11% 
15% 

19% 

4% 
11% 

4% 

56% 

Rent arrears Problems with
rubbish

Not keeping the
property in

good condition

Damage to your
property

Noise Complaints
from

neighbours

Other

Figure 42: Problems experienced with tenants  
Online…

Page 357



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 85 
 

19% 

41% 

67% 

56% 

15% 

4% 

Online

Residents

Figure 44: Changes in property demand over last two years   

Increased Stayed the same Decreased

 

41% of landlords (11 respondents) who took part in the residents’ survey say that demand for their property 

has increased over the last two years, whilst 56% (15 respondents) say it has stayed the same, and 4% (1 

respondent) say it has decreased. In comparison, 19% of landlords (5) who responded to the online 

consultation say that demand for their property has increased over the last two years, compares to 67% (18) 

who say it has stayed the same, and 15% (4) who say it has decreased.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Licensing conditions  

Landlords were also asked if they had read the licensing conditions as shown in the Consultation document. 

Around a fifth (19% - 5 respondents) of landlords who responded to the residents’ survey had read this 

licence. This compares to 89% of landlords (25) who responded to the online consultation. 

15% 

56% 

15% 

0% 

19% 19% 

78% 

4% 4% 4% 

H
ave

 w
aitin

g list o
f

p
ro

sp
e

ctive ten
an

ts

C
o

u
ld

 le
t q

u
ickly, b

u
t n

o
cu

rre
n

t w
aitin

g list

Fin
d

 it h
ard

 to
 ten

an
t

p
ro

p
erty

H
ave

 em
p

ty p
ro

p
ertie

s
w

aitin
g to

 b
e fille

d

O
th

er

Figure 43: Demand for property 

Residents
(Base size: 27)

Online
(Base size: 27)

Page 358



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 86 
 

6. Social Letting agency  
Respondents were asked a number of questions around letting and their experiences to provide further 

information for the council to consider what a social letting agency may deliver.  

Just over a third of respondents to the resident consultation (35%) say that they have obtained housing 

through the Council before. This compares to 4% of both online (4 respondents) and HMO respondents (30 

respondents). 

In contrast, 42% of respondents to the resident consultation (469 respondents) say that they have previously 

rented through a letting agency. This compares to 69% of online and 81% of HMO respondents. 

Respondents were asked where they search for a room, properties or tenants. As this was multiple choice, 

respondents were able to select as many options as they needed, therefore figures do not add to 100%. The 

most popular response amongst respondents to the residents’ survey is that say that they use letting agents to 

search for a room/properties/tenants (57%). This compares to HMO and online respondents of which the 

highest proportion say that they use websites to search for a room/properties/tenants (71% and 74% 

respectively).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

When asked what services respondents will like to receive from letting agents, 58% of respondents to the 

resident consultation say finding properties to rent. This is followed by around half (51%) who want letting 

agencies to deal with complaints about their property/landlord. 37% wanted help finding a room(s) to rent.  

58% 

50% 

57% 

74% 

71% 

31% 

6% 

11% 

29% 

6% 

18% 

15% 

Online
(Base size:

104)

HMO
(Base size:

801)

Residents
(Base size:

1104)

Figure 45: Where respondents search for a room / properties / tenants 

Other (Please specify below) Newspapers Websites (Please specify below) Letting agents

Page 359



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 87 
 

Almost three-quarters (73%) of respondents to the HMO consultation say that they want letting agencies to 

deal with complaints about their property/landlord. Around six out of ten (62%) want letting agencies to 

provide a service of finding a room(s) to rent. 45% of the same group chose finding a property to rent. 

The most common response for respondents to the online consultation is finding properties to rent (65%). 

This is followed by 58% who want letting agencies to deal with complaints about the property/landlord. 

Almost half of online respondents want letting agencies to provide advice on contracts (47%) and housing 

standards (46%).  

 

The chart below shows the preferred access channels for all respondent types. This was a multiple-choice 

question, so respondents could choose more than one option, therefore figures do not add to 100%. Over half 

of respondents to the residents’ survey (57%) will prefer to access letting agents face to face. This is followed 

by just under half (48%) who will prefer using a website. For those responding to the HMO consultation, the 

most preferred methods are via a website and by telephone (63% each). For respondents to the online 

consultation, the most popular choice is online (74%), followed by face-to-face (51%). 

 

37% 

58% 

22% 

24% 

51% 

28% 

18% 

37% 

65% 

42% 

34% 

58% 

46% 

47% 

62% 

45% 

17% 

15% 

73% 

40% 

33% 

Finding a room(s) to rent

Finding properties to rent

Finding tenants for your
properties

Managing your properties

Deal with complaints about the
property/landlord

Provide advice on housing
standards

Provide advice on contracts

Figure 46.Services respondents would like to receive from letting agents  

Residents Online HMO

Page 360



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 88 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were asked whether they would consider letting or renting a property or room through the 

council. 46% of those who took part in the resident consultation, say they would consider letting/renting a 

property or room through the council, compared to 58% of HMO respondents and 47% of online respondents.  

Respondents were asked if they would consider buying or selling their home through the council. 39% of those 

who took part in the resident consultation say they would, compared to 36% for online consultation 

respondents and 28% of HMO consultation respondents.  

Finally, respondents were asked if they are a prospective landlord or tenant. Around a third of respondents 

(34%) to the resident consultation say they are, compared to 42% of HMO consultation respondents and 51% 

of online consultation respondents.  

 

 

 

51% 

54% 

57% 

74% 

63% 

48% 

42% 

63% 

40% 

8% 

1% 

4% 

Online
(Base size: 104)

HMO
(Base size: 801)

Residents
(Base size: 1104)

Figure 47: Preferred access channels 

Other (Please specify below) Telephone Website Face to Face

Page 361



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 89 
 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1: Consultation document  

Appendix 2:  Consultation flyer  

Appendix 3:  Coverage of consultation 

Appendix 4:  Neighbouring borough results 

Appendix 5:  Residential Landlords Association response 

Appendix 6:  National Landlords Association response 

Appendix 7:  Equality impact assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 362



                     

   
 

                                                     Measurement Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                     Page 90 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 363



  
                               Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                                                                 Page 1  
 

M·E·L Research: Protected Characteristics Assessment for consultation on proposals to improve the Private Rented Sector 2016 
Completed 3rd November 2016 
 

 

Section 02  Scoping of Full EIA 

Plan for completion Timing: 
Resources: 
 

Analyse the impact of 
the policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme 

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in 
more than one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive, 
neutral or negative impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality. 
 

Protected 
characteristic 

Borough Analysis  
 
The main external stakeholders are, in terms of persons likely to be affected by 
the introduction of additional and selective licensing: 

- Private landlords in Hammersmith and Fulham 
- Managing agents  
- Associations representing landlords and  managing agents  
- Private rented sector tenants, including HMO’s 
- Residents associations 
- Residents of Hammersmith and Fulham 
- Businesses in Hammersmith and Fulham 
- The above groups in neighbouring Boroughs 

 

Impact: 
Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

Age The results of any subsequent enforcement may lead to premises being 
withdrawn from the private rented sector where they do not meet the minimum 
standards. This may have a potential negative affect on younger residents (88% 
of HMO survey sample are under 35) in the short term but is likely to have a 
positive impact in the medium to longer term as overall standards improve.  
 

Potentially 
negative in 
the short 

term, positive 
in the longer 

term 

Disability There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

Gender 
reassignment 

There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

P
age 364



  
                               Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                                                                 Page 2  
 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

Race There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 
 

Neutral 

Religion/belief 
(including non-
belief) 

There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

Sex There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

Sexual 
Orientation 

There is no evidence found to show additional and selective licensing has a 
potential impact on this characteristic. 

Neutral 

 
Human Rights or Children’s Rights 
If your decision has the potential to affect Human Rights or Children’s Rights, please contact your Borough Lead for 
advice 
 

 

 

Please refer to the following appendices accompanying the main report: 
 

1. Appendix 7a Protected characteristics profiles - levels of support for proposals 

2. Appendix 7b Protected characteristics profiles impact of proposals 

3. Appendix 7c Protected characteristics profiles 

 

 

P
age 365



 
NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which it intends to consider at its next meeting and at future meetings. The list 
may change between the date of publication of this list and the date of future Cabinet meetings. 
 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
PRIVATE  
The Cabinet also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations  that it intends to meet in private after its public meeting to consider Key Decisions  
which may contain confidential or exempt information.  The private meeting of the Cabinet is 
open only to Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  
 
Reports relating to key decisions which the Cabinet will take at its private meeting are indicated 
in the list of Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in private.  Any 
person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the decision should 
instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting. If you want to make such representations, 
please e-mail  Katia Richardson on katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will then be sent a 
response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the Executive’s 
response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON 5 DECEMBER 2016 
AND AT FUTURE CABINET MEETINGS UNTIL MARCH 2017 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the 
above Cabinet meeting and future meetings. The list may change over the next few 
weeks. A further notice will be published no less than 5 working days before the date of 
the Cabinet meeting showing the final list of Key Decisions to be considered at that 
meeting.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

 Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £100,000)  in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

 Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

 Anything significantly affecting communities within one ward (where practicable); 
 

 Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website on a 
monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet.  
If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 

Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368  or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 366

Agenda Item 17

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk/


 
 

 
Access to Cabinet reports and other relevant documents 

 
Reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Cabinet’s public meeting 
will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 working days 
before the meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents as they become 
available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All decisions taken by Cabinet may be implemented 5 working days after the relevant Cabinet 
meeting, unless called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet. Full details of how to do this (and the date by 
which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM: CABINET 2016/17 
 
Leader:           Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:           Councillor Michael Cartwright 
Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident Satisfaction:  Councillor Ben Coleman  
Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion:       Councillor Sue Fennimore  
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents Services:   Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
Cabinet Member for Housing:        Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration:   Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:     Councillor Vivienne Lukey  
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:      Councillor Sue Macmillan  
Cabinet Member for Finance:        Councillor Max Schmid  
 
 
 
 
 
Key Decisions List  No. 49 (published 4 November 2016) 

Page 367

http://www.lbhf.org.uk/


 

KEY DECISIONS LIST - CABINET ON 5 DECEMBER 2016 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

5 December 2016 

Leader of 
the Council 
 

Not before 
1st Nov 2016 
 

Approval to make a direct award 
to provide parking enforcement 
services 
 
Approval was given to undertake a 
joint tendering exercise for RBKC 
and H&F to procure a shared 
enforcement agent service to 
recover outstanding PCN debts for 
RBKC and H&F for a term of 
seven years, with the option for a 
break clause in years three, and 
five to review performance.  
 
That approval be given to make a 
direct award to Marston Group 
Limited for a concessions contract 
to provide Enforcement Agent 
(Bailiff) Services for Penalty 
Charge Notice (PCN) Debt 
Recovery (on the same terms and 
conditions as the previous 
contract) from the date this 
decision takes effect but for no 
more than six months in the 
notional sum of £500,00. 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mai 
Kebbay 
Tel: 0208 753 
3275/4262 
Mai.Kebbay@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Leader of 
the Council 
 

Not before 
1st Nov 2016 
 

Lilla Huset 
 
Lilla Huset is currently occupied by 
Libraries and Children’s Services. 
The existing lease expires in June 
2016. This report will consider and 
recommend whether the Council 
should renew its lease.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown, Lzhar Haq 
Tel: 020 8753 2835, Tel: 
020 8753 2692 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk, 

Page 368



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

izhar.haq@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 5 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 5  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2016/17 (SECOND 
QUARTER) 
 
This report provides a financial 
update on the Council’s Capital 
Programme and seeks approval 
for budget variations as at the end 
of the second quarter, 2016/17.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara, Christopher 
Harris 
Tel: 020 8753 2501, Tel: 
020 8753 6440 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Harris.Christopher@lbhf.gov
.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

ICT Transition - assuring 
service continuity phase 3 
 
ICT Transition - assuring service 
continuity phase 2.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jackie 
Hudson 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 
Jackie.Hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 369



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Emission Linked Parking 
Permits 
 
A report reviewing the current 
parking permit structure and 
recommending options to change 
the residents parking permit 
structure to a sliding scale of 
charges based on emissions 
produced by the vehicle  
 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Edward Stubbing 
Tel: 020 8753 4651 
Edward.Stubbing@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

TfL funded integrated transport 
investment programme 2017/18 
 
This report refines and details the 
council’s integrated transport 
investment programme which 
forms part of the council’s 2011 – 
2031 Transport Plan (Local 
Implementation Plan 2 or LIP2) to 
be delivered in 2017/18 and 
funded entirely by Transport for 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Boyle 
Tel: 020 8753 3069 
nick.boyle@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 370



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

London (TfL). This report seeks 
the approval of the submission of 
the programme to TfL and the 
design, consultation and 
implementation of various 
elements of the programme. It 
further seeks approval for the 
delegation of the approval of 
construction of the capital 
programme to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment, 
Transport and Residents Service 

papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Contract Award for a shared 
service Enforcement Agent 
(Bailiff) Services  for the 
recovery of Penalty Charge 
Notice (PCN) debts 
 
The report seeks permission to 
award contracts to the most 
economically advantageous 
tenders following an OJEU 
procurement exercise carried out 
by the shared Parking Service. 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mai 
Kebbay 
Tel: 0208 753 
3275/4262 
Mai.Kebbay@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Commissioning & Procurement 
Strategy for Translation and 
Interpreting Service for LBHF 
 
Strategy paper for the 
commissioning and procurement 
of Translation and Interpreting 
Service for LBHF  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Annabel Saunders, 
Labibun Nessa-
O’Sullivan, Kevin 
Churchill 
Tel: 07739 317332, 
Annabel.Saunders@rbkc.go
v.uk, Lnessa-
O'Sullivan@rbkc.gov.uk, 
Kevin.Churchill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Extra Care Procurement & 
Commissioning Strategy 
 
Approval sought for the 
procurement strategy to procure a 
care and support provider for a 
new Extra Care facility and to 
modify existing two existing 
contracts.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Julia 
Copeland 
Tel: 0208 753 1203 
julia.copeland@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 371



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Roll-out of Telephone Parking 
and Procurement of 
Replacement Pay and Display 
Machines – Approval for 
Consequential Direct Award of 
Contract for the Collection, 
Counting and Banking of 
Monies from Pay and display 
Machines to the Royal Borough 
of Kensi 
 
This report seeks approval to 
make a direct award to RBKC for a 
new 12-month contract to provide 
the collection, counting and 
banking of monies from pay and 
display machines on the existing 
terms and conditions at a cost of 
approximately £486,000 to be met 
from existing budgets. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mai 
Kebbay 
Tel: 0208 753 
3275/4262 
Mai.Kebbay@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 372



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Riverside Studios / Queens 
Wharf highway improvements 
 
To seek approval for implementing 
highway improvement works 
funded by a developer under 
section 278 of the Highways Act, 
1980  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Michael Masella 
 
michael.masell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Seagrave Road - Highway 
Improvement Works 
 
To seek approval for the 
implementation of highway 
improvement works funded by a 
developer under a Section 278 
agreement (Highways Act, 1980).  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
North End; Fulham 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Michael Masella 
 
michael.masell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

SUBSCRIPTIONS/AFFILIATIONS 
FOR EXTERNAL 
ORGANISATIONS 2017/18 
 
To delegate authority to Cabinet 
Member for Finance to take 
decision to subscribe to London 
Councils, London Councils Grant 
scheme and the Local 
Government Association in 
2017/18  
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

5 Dec 2016 
 

Hammersmith and Fulham Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2016-2021 
 
The CCG and Council have a joint 
duty through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to produce a plan 
that promotes integration and says 
how it will improve the health and 
wellbeing of people in its area. The 
strategy is a five year plan based 
on evidence of local need and 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Harley 
Collins 
 
Harley.Collins@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 373



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

informed by the views of the 
public, patients and health and 
care professionals via consultation 
and engagement. Cabinet are 
asked to approve a high level plan 
which sets out a vision for the 
borough and the health and 
wellbeing priorities for the CCG 
and Council over the next five 
years.  
 

considered. 
 

16 January 2017 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Banking Contract Direct Award 
 
The Council currently has a 
contract with Nat West (part of the 
Royal Bank of Scotland Group Plc 
- RBS) for banking services, the 
contract expires on the 31st March 
2017.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Halfield Jackman 
 
Halfield.Jackman@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Award of Tree Maintenance 
Contract 
 
Award of term contract for the 
maintenance of the council's trees 
along streets, in parks and 
housing estates and open spaces.  
 
PART OPENPART 
PRIVATEPart of this report is 
exempt from disclosure on the 
grounds that it contains 
information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of a particular 
person (including the authority 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn, Gavin 
Simmons 
Tel: 020 8753 3058, 
ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk, 
gavin.simmons@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 374



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

holding that information) under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, 
and in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Economical Development Plan 
 

To inform members of progress 
against economic growth 
objectives and to  request 
authority for spend of allocated 
Section 106 monies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Penny 
Davis-Heinz, Mark 
Brayford 
Tel: 020 8753 2596, Tel: 
020 8753 4159 
Penny.Davis-
Heinz@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Mark.Brayford@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Economic Development and 
Growth Strategy 
 
Economic Development and 
Growth Strategy  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Beth 
Morgan, Mark 
Brayford 
Tel: 020 8753 3102, Tel: 
020 8753 4159 
beth.morgan@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Mark.Brayford@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Pryors Bank Grant of a further 
lease to the London Diocesan 
Fund 
 
Grant of a further lease to the 
London Diocesan Fund in respect 
of premises at “Pryors Bank” in 
Bishop’s Park, SW6 3LA  
 
PART OPENPART 
PRIVATEPart of this report is 
exempt from disclosure on the 
grounds that it contains 
information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of a particular 
person (including the authority 
holding that information) under 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown, Breda Kiely 
Tel: 020 8753 2835, Tel: 
020 8753 2801 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Breda.Kiely@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 375



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, 
and in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Confirm On Demand Business 
Case 
 
Moving Confirm From HFBP 
Hosting to a Hosted Solution by 
the software vendors Pitney 
Bowes (PB)  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Eustace Dunkwu 
Tel: 020 8753 3010 
Eustace.Dunkwu@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

School Kitchen Repair & 
Maintenance - Award Report 
 
The purpose of this report is to 
seek approval to award the 
contract for School Kitchen Repair 
and Maintenance contract across 
all three boroughs; The Royal 
Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 
(RBKC), The London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham 
(LBHF); and Westminster City 
Council (WCC)  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Annabel Saunders, 
Samantha Denny 
 
Annabel.Saunders@rbkc.go
v.uk, 
Samantha.Denny@rbkc.gov.
uk 

 

Page 376



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Award report from Genito-
Urinary Medicine 
 
The report recommends award to 
the winning tenderer following 
procurement process.  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Gaynor Driscoll, 
Nicola Lockwood, 
Helen Byrne 
Tel: 0207 361 2418, Tel: 
020 8753 5359, 
gaynor.driscoll@rbkc.gov.uk
, 
Nicola.Lockwood@lbhf.gov.
uk, 
Helen.Byrne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Tracking and Survey of NEETs 
and the Careers Information 
Advice and Guidance for young 
people with learning difficulties 
& disabilities 
 
Agree commissioning strategy and 
approach for the Tracking and 
Survey of NEETs in LBHF and the 
Careers information, advice and 
guidance for young people with 
learning difficulties  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Annabel Saunders 
 
Annabel.Saunders@rbkc.go
v.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 6 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 6  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 377



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Contract Award Decision to 
appoint the construction 
contractor for the 
redevelopment of the Bridge 
Academy site for the provision 
of a range of young people 
services, as described in the 
report 
 
Following a procurement exercise 
over the summer 2016 this 
decision will be to award the 
contract to the successful 
contractor  
 
PART OPENPART 
PRIVATEPart of this report is 
exempt from disclosure on the 
grounds that it contains 
information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of a particular 
person (including the authority 
holding that information) under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, 
and in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: David 
Mcnamara 
 
David.Mcnamara@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Innovations for Future Delivery 
of H&F Libraries 
 
Update on the Library 
Transformation programme 
including  
I. alternative delivery model  
ii. Sweating the assets / 
commercialisation  
iii. Shared services update  
iv. commercial quick wins progress  
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Helen 
Worwood 
Tel: 0208 753 2601 
helen.worwood@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Council Tax Base and 
Collection Rate 2017/18 and 
Delegation of the Business 
Rates Estimate 
 
This report contains an estimate of 
the Tax Base and Collection Rate 
for 2017/18 which is used in the 
calculation of the Band D council 
tax charge undertaken in the 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Steve 
Barrett 
Tel: 020 8753 1053 
Steve.Barrett@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 378



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Revenue Budget Report for 
2017/18.  
The report also seeks approval to 
delegate the determination of the 
business rates tax base for 
2017/18 to the Strategic Finance 
Director in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Finance  

 background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Procurement of water risk 
assessment (Legionella) 
 
Strategy report for the 
procurement of water risk 
assessment contract (Legionella)  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Paul 
Monforte 
Tel: 020 8753 6985 
Paul.Monforte@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Procurement of Enforcement 
Agents 
 
To approve the re-procurement of 
enforcement agents to assist in 
the recovery of unpaid Council Tax 
and Business Rates through the 
use of a Dynamic Purchasing 
System set up by the Yorkshire 
Purchasing Organisation (YPO).  
 
To note and approve the cost 
involved in accessing the YPO’s 
Dynamic Purchasing System is 
£1500.00` 

 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jamie 
Mullins 
Tel: 020 8753 1650 
Jamie.Mullins@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Commissioning Higher 
Education Partner for Step-up to 
Social Work Programme 
 
This report seeks approval for the 
procurement strategy to 
commission a Higher Education 
Partner to work with the local 
authority to deliver “Step Up to 
Social Work” Programme.  
 
Fully funded by central 
Government via a grant from the 
Department for Education, this 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Steve 
Comber 
Tel: 07739 317 307 
Steve.Comber@RBKC.gov.
uk 

 

Page 379



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

innovative programme seeks to 
train children’s social workers so 
that, at the end of the course, they 
gain a Post-Graduate Diploma 
with the opportunity to obtain 
credits towards a Master’s degree 
in Social Work; the objective being 
that participating local authorities 
will be better able to attract and 
retain well-qualified children’s 
social workers at a time when this 
is proving difficult nationally.  
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Section 278 - 28 - 36 Glenthorne 
Road 
 
Highway Improvements, which 
include; footway improvements in 
Southerton Road junction with 
Glenthorne Road, footway 
improvements on both sides of 
Overstone Road at the junction 
with Glenthorne Road. 
Modification of the entry treatment 
in Overstone Road at the junction 
with Glenthorne Road, installation 
of new anti-skid road surfacing on 
the approach to the existing zebra 
crossing in Glenthorne Road  

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transport 
& Residents Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Stephen Daway 
 
Stephen.daway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Relet of HR Contracts 
 
Relet of Recruitment Advertising 
and associated contracts  
Relet of Internship Framework 
contract  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Veronique Vermeer 
Tel: 07747 007300 
Veronique.Vermeer@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Council Tax Support Scheme 
2017/18 
 
This report outlines the council's 
council tax support scheme for 
2017/18  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Paul 
Rosenberg 
Tel: 020 8753 1525 
paul.rosenberg@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 380



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 
 

 background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Grant funding for Community 
Legal Advice Services 
 
This report outlines the business 
case and recommendations for 
grant funding Hammersmith & 
Fulham based Community Legal 
Advice Services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Louise 
Raisey 
Tel: 020 8753 2012 
Louise.Raisey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

6 February 2017 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

LBHF Older People's Housing 
Strategy 
 
Report setting out framework and 
direction of travel for older 
people's housing.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
Martin 
Tel: 0208 753 5666 
Jane.Martin@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

Rough Sleeper/Single Homeless 
Supported Accommodation 
Contract Extensions 
 
Commissioning Strategy for seven 
supported housing contracts for 
rough sleepers single homeless 
people with support needs  
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Julia 
Copeland 
Tel: 0208 753 1203 
julia.copeland@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 381



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 7 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 7  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

Economic Development 
Priorities Refresh 
 
Programme funding for Economic 
Growth. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jo 
Rowlands, Antonia 
Hollingsworth, Wendy 
Reade 
Tel: 020 8753 1313, Tel: 
020 8753 1698, Tel: 020 
8753 4375 
Jo.Rowlands@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Antonia.Hollingsworth@lbhf.
gov.uk, 
wendy.reade@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 
22 Feb 2017 
 

FOUR YEAR CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2017/18 TO 
2020/21 
 
This report presents the Council’s 
four-year Capital Programme for 
the period 2017-21.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 
 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara, Christopher 
Harris 
Tel: 020 8753 2501, Tel: 
020 8753 6440 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Harris.Christopher@lbhf.gov
.uk 

 

Page 382



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2016/17 (THIRD 
QUARTER) 
 
This report provides a financial 
update on the Council’s Capital 
Programme and seeks approval 
for budget variations as at the end 
of the third quarter, 2016/17  
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara, Christopher 
Harris 
Tel: 020 8753 2501, Tel: 
020 8753 6440 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Harris.Christopher@lbhf.gov
.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 
22 Feb 2017 
 

REVENUE BUDGET AND 
COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 2017/18 
 
This report sets the revenue 
budget and council tax for 2017/18  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

6 Feb 2017 
 

Procurement of Lift 
Maintenance Services 
 
Strategy report for the 
procurement of lifts maintenance 
services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Paul 
Monforte 
Tel: 020 8753 6985 
Paul.Monforte@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

6 March 2017 

Cabinet 
 

6 Mar 2017 
 

Strategy Report for 
Procurement of Professional 
Services Framework 
 
This report is a strategy report for 
the procurement of professional 
(Multi-disciplinary) services 
framework.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Henrietta Jacobs 

Page 383



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Tel: 020 8753 3729 
Henrietta.Jacobs@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

6 Mar 2017 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 8 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 8  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

27 March 2017 

Cabinet 
 

27 Mar 2017 
 

2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 9 
 
2016/17 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor for Month 9  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Hitesh 
Jolapara 
Tel: 020 8753 2501 
hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 384



 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF AN ADDITIONAL KEY 
DECISION PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON  
5 DECEMBER 2016 (published on 11 November 2016) 
 
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of a 
Key Decision which it intends to consider at its next meeting. 
 

If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 
Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368 or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

 
The decision may be called in by Councillors; if a decision is called-in, it will not be capable of 

implementation until a final decision is made. 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

16 Jan 2017 
 

Improving private renting 
 
Measures to improve private 
renting, public consultation 
feedback and recommendations.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Richard Buckley 
 
richard.buckley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 385

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting Held on 7 November 2016
	4 Corporate Revenue Monitor 2016/17 - Month 5
	5 Capital Programme Monitor & Budget Variations 2016/17 - Second Quarter
	6 ICT Transition - Assuring Service Continuity Phase 3 - Transformation of Telephony and Network Services
	7 Subscriptions/Affiliations For External Organisations 2017/18
	8 Commissioning and Procurement Strategy for the Translation and Interpreting Service
	9 Extra Care Procurement & Commissioning Strategy
	10 Developing The Joint Health And Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021
	Appendix 1 - DRAFT hf jhws v0.27_TRACKCHANGE
	Appenix 2 - JHWS engagement summary_v0.3

	11 Emission Linked Parking Permits
	12 TfL Funded Integrated Transport Investment Programme 2017/18
	appendix 1 - borough speed limits
	appendix 2 - 2017-18 TfL funded integrated transport programme plan

	13 Roll-out of Telephone Parking and Procurement of Replacement Pay and Display Machines
	14 Riverside Studios And Queens Wharf, Queen Caroline Street & Crisp Road - Section 278 Highway Works
	15 Seagrave Road, Rickett Street And Lillie Road - Section 278 Highway Works
	16 Improving Private Renting
	Appendix 1 Consultation document
	Appendix 2 Consultation flyer
	Appendix 3 coverage of consultation
	Appendix 4 Neighbouring boroughs consultation results
	Appendix 5 RLA Response to consultation
	Appendix 6 NLA response to consultation
	Appendix 7a Protected characteristics profiles - levels of support for proposals
	Appendix 7b Protected characteristics profiles impact of proposals
	Appendix 7c Protected characteristics profiles
	Consultation on improving private rented housing in Hammersmith & Fulham - Full Report
	Consultation on proposals to improve the Private Rented Sector 2016 - EqIA 3rd November 2016

	17 Forward Plan of Key Decisions
	KD List December 2016 - additional item


